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THE AUDITING ENVIRONMENT has changed dramatically since we introduced
the fifth edition two short years ago. Auditors better understand their public
responsibilities. The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)
and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) have emerged as
major players in regulating the profession. Audit firms are challenged to find
efficient ways to integrate risk and control analysis into the design of audits of
financial statements and control systems. In our various professional roles, the
authors have been at the center of this change, and have infused the sixth edi-
tion with our unique knowledge of internal control evaluation and the inte-
grated audit.

In the first edition, we raised two fundamental questions that ought to be
asked of all textbooks:

e Does the textbook cover the fundamental elements that all students should know?
e Does the textbook facilitate learning?

We also emphasize a third question that we have stressed from the very first
edition:

® Does the text encourage students to develop a reasoning process that facilitates
their growth in an audit and business environment that will continue to change?

We encourage each potential adopter to evaluate this text, as well as others, on
these dimensions. We believe that users will find that the sixth edition continues
to meet these standards. Since the first edition, we have believed that students must
understand frameworks for audit judgments—and then apply judgment within
those frameworks. Consequently, we have worked hard to increase the capacity of
the chapters to present these important conceptual frameworks, while the end-of-
chapter assignment material is designed to challenge students to think and apply
these concepts, not just repeat them back to the instructor.

Addition of New Coauthor

We are pleased to announce Dr. Karla Johnstone, associate professor of account-
ing at the University of Wisconsin, as our first addition of a coauthor. Karla is
highly respected in the academic community with leading research on client
acceptance, risk analysis, and auditor judgment. She has the unique perspective
of a researcher who has been granted access to confidential firm acceptance and
discontinuance data at the highest levels of international public accounting firms.
In addition, she is a leading educator with a unique talent for facilitating group
work as a basis of learning, and for integrating ethics into the accounting and
audit curriculum.

Karla has been a welcome addition to the sixth edition. She has used her
knowledge as a user of previous editions to suggest ways in which to better
explain fundamental concepts. In addition, Karla has worked to:

e Add ethical dilemma cases at the end of selected chapters throughout the text

e Increase the number of group discussion cases especially designed to facilitate
learning

e Increase our coverage of fraud
All of these contributions help prepare students to learn to think like auditors

in a time of change, to be better attuned to business risks, and to be better pre-
pared to work in groups.
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Major Themes in the Sixth Edition

The sixth edition continues the fundamental themes developed earlier, but we’ve
updated and changed the subtitle of the text to better reflect the fundamental
focus of the text: A Business Risk Approach. These themes are consistent with the
changing nature of the business and audit practice environment.

1.

The sixth edition integrates the understanding of business risk and financial
reporting risk. We continue the overriding theme that a good auditor must first under-
stand business risk.When we develop the business risk model and talk about internal con-
trols, we show that it is important to answer the fundamental question: “What are we
trying to control?” The answer is: the risk of material misstatements. Thus, we demonstrate
that controls only exist within a risk context. The sixth edition continues the concept of
risk as an overarching theme throughout the text.

The sixth edition reflects changes in the regulatory environment. The current
regulatory environment has changed since the publication of the fifth edition. It now
includes new opinions on internal control over financial reporting, the role of the PCAOB
in both setting standards and performing inspections of audit firms, and the reemergence
of the Auditing Standards Board in setting standards for nonpublic companies. The sixth
edition shows how these changes affect auditor judgment and the audit engagement.

. The sixth edition reflects the latest implementation of Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX).

Auditors, companies, and other stakeholders now have experience with the implementa-
tion of SOX, and especially Section 404.The text points the way through the implemen-
tation challenges of public companies as they meet the internal control objectives
contained in Section 404 of SOX.

The sixth edition provides a framework and a demonstration of an Integrated
Audit. The environment of today’s audit practice is filled with innovation and reflects
the integrated audit of financial statements and internal controls built on a thorough risk
assessment by the auditor. In a new Chapter 7, the sixth edition not only outlines the
rationale for the integrated audit, but also covers (a) ways in which it should be performed,
and (b) decisions that have to be made in performing such an audit. It develops the
nature of the integrated audit and talks about what is needed to implement it, including
a commitment by management for effective controls. Most importantly, it takes a holistic
view regarding improvements in the practice of auditing and develops expectations of’
the challenges new auditors will face as their careers develop.

. The sixth edition reflects pervasive changes in the technology environment in

which auditors work. Students who know how to use data analysis software—ACL or
other generalized audit software—and who can evaluate the efficacy and effectiveness of’
computer controls will have a competitive advantage in their careers. By integrating
ACL software into homework and cases, and providing ACL at no additional charge
with each new copy of the text, the sixth edition helps students gain that competitive
edge. The text further challenges students to put their ACL assignments into a larger
context—to evaluate audit evidence on an integrated basis to explore the ways in which
audits can be both more effective and more efficient.

. The sixth edition fully explores the fundamental role that auditing plays in

corporate governance. Auditing is a critical element in the functioning of the capital
market system. The sixth edition explores corporate governance as a foundation to
better understand the unique function of the audit.

. The sixth edition continues to challenge students to expand their judgment

process:

e Discussion questions and problems emphasize application of the concepts developed
in each chapter.

¢ Group exercises have been better identified for advance assignment.

¢ Research questions allow students to expand their knowledge beyond the textbook
and introduce them to life-long learning.
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Major Changes to the Sixth Edition

The nature of auditing has changed. Students entering the profession must find
ways to demonstrate their knowledge of controls and auditing to add value to
their audit engagements. While retaining the basic structure of the previous edi-
tions, there have been major changes to this edition, including the following:

1. A new and separate chapter on the integrated aundit. Public accounting firms have struggled
with the need to gain efficiency through an integrated audit of controls and financial state-
ments. This edition devotes a full chapter (chapter 7) to the concept of the integrated audit
and demonstrates how an integrated audit can drive efficiency in the audit process.
We’ve added significant end-of-chapter materials that allow students to think through an
integrated audit approach and demonstrate their knowledge of integrated audits.

2. Additional ethics cases. Several ethics cases have been added, particularly in the chapters
dealing with audit approaches to address account balances. The cases are derived from
real-world experiences and depict the dilemmas that students are likely to face in their
first few years in the profession.

3. Expansion of internal control coverage, principles, and attributes of control. The text
draws heavily on the recent COSO guidance for smaller businesses but is also appli-
cable to larger businesses. The guidance emphasizes a “principles-based” approach to
designing and implementing internal controls over financial reporting. The new
material represents a conceptual improvement in the discussion of internal control
that has not existed in any prior textbook.

4. Internal control is presented as a process. The new guidance on internal control facili-
tates a process approach to internal control analysis. The process approach better ties into
risk factors and assists the auditor and management in more effectively mitigating the
risk of misleading financial reports.

5. Newest version of ACL. We include a CD containing Version 9 of ACL Desktop Education
Edition at no additional charge with every new copy of the text, and we've better integrated
ACL into our homework and cases. ACL is the most popular generalized audit software
on the market. The software enhances the analysis of cases that are couched in significant
account balances such as inventory and accounts receivable. A new fraud case has been
added using Benford’s Law. The exercises facilitate knowledge of how ACL or similar query
products should be used to enhance both audit effectiveness and audit efficiency.

6. Enhanced coverage of corporate governance. Corporate governance is emphasized
throughout the text as it relates to the audit function as well as to the auditor’s evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. This places audit
thinking into its natural context.

7. Biltrite Computerized Practice Case is updated from the fifth edition and is inte-
grated into the end-of-chapter materials rather than presented in a separate appendix at
the end of the textbook.This better integrates the case into chapters and their assignments.

Understanding
Auditor
Responsibilities

New Pedagogy

The sixth edition features two new pedagogical elements that help students see
the larger picture of the audit process while providing additional detail and guid-
ance on steps in that process.

New Audit Workflow Diagram at the start of each chapter provides an
overview of the seven phases in the audit process and shows where the chapter
fits within the overall sequence of audit planning, process, and reporting. For
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Understanding Auditor Responsibilities
L/

For What:
Financial Statements
Internal Control Reports
Corporate Governance

Attributes Needed:
Ethics
Standards
Legal Responsibilities
High Quality Decision-
Making
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each chapter, the relevant stage in the audit workflow discussed in that chapter is
highlighted for reference.

New Workflow Detail Sidebars provide additional detail as well as specific
steps and procedure summaries within the audit performance phase.

Organization of the Sixth Edition

The sixth edition is organized around three important ideas: (a) because auditing
is an integral part of corporate governance, the profession must continue to win
the respect of the investing public (Chapters 1-3); (b) the business risk approach
is fundamental to efficient and effective auditing (Chapter 4); and (c) students
need to learn to apply judgment, not repeat definitions (Chapters 5-18).

Chapters 1-3: Understanding Auditor Responsibilities. The first three chapters
discuss the importance of audit and assurance services in the context of cor-
porate governance and the economic market place. Chapter 3 introduces eth-
ical principles derived from the SEC instead of just focusing on the rules
developed by the AICPA.

Chapter 4: Understanding the Risk Approach to Auditing. Chapter 4 intro-
duces risk concepts and links them to internal control. The auditor’s under-
standing of risk facilitates the evaluation of internal controls.

Chapters 5-10: Understanding Audit Concepts and Tools. Chapter 5 develops
the concepts of audit evidence. It draws on the new Auditing Standards Board
standards in developing an assertion approach for testing transactions and
account balances. Increased attention is paid to determining the reliability of
evidence. Chapters 6-8 develop a structure for understanding and evaluating
internal controls, including approaches to using the computer as an audit tool.
The new Chapter 7 provides insight on how an integrated audit should be
performed. Chapter 9 provides an understanding of factors that make fraud
more likely to occur, going beyond a listing of the ‘red flags’ literature to pres-
ent the fraud risk model. Numerous illustrations from corporate frauds are
used to illustrate needed audit approaches. Chapter 10 follows the develop-
ment of these frameworks with a framework for answering the sufficiency of
evidence question and understanding how sampling can be used.

Chapters 11-16: Performing Audits. These chapters focus on the application
of the concepts developed earlier to assessing risk and testing account bal-
ances. Traditional audit areas such as accounts receivable and inventory are
covered. We continue the coverage of EDI and e-commerce environments, as
well as vendor-managed inventory (VMI). Students are asked to develop audit
programs that identify needed controls in these environments. The coverage is
expanded to cover high-risk areas that apparently have been overlooked on
some audit engagements. These include the need to review material journal
entries. We also expand the coverage of subjective estimates including an
in-depth discussion of auditing goodwill and fixed asset impairments.

Chapter 17: Auditor Reporting. Chapter 17 discusses audit and assurance
reports and provides a broad overview of fundamental precepts that under-
score all reporting. Examples are given of various types of audit reports.

Chapter 18: Managing Audit Firm Risk and Minimizing Liabilities. Legal
liability remains important. However, Chapter 18 also considers the added
importance of the regulatory environment and the need for auditors to
operate in an environment in which the principles may not uniformly apply
for each jurisdiction in which the auditor performs services.

Chapter 19: Adding Value. Internal auditing is a dynamic and growing profes-
sion that is an integral part of public company compliance with the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. The Institute of Internal Auditors has over 100,000 members in
countries across the globe. Internal auditing is a growing field for the public
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accounting profession. We discuss the nature of internal auditing, which
focuses on providing value-added services to clients.

Biltrite Bicycle Case. Modules of this practice case are embedded in the end-
of-chapter material of related chapters. Excel worksheets needed to complete
the case appear on the Student Resources page of the product support Web
site (www.thomsonedu.com/accounting/rittenberg).

ACL Cases Appendix. The ACL Appendix at the end of the text contains an
overview of the ACL basic functions followed by a brief, illustrated tutorial to
help students learn how to use the basic features of Version 9 of the ACL
Desktop Education Edition. These are followed by four ACL cases:

1. Pell Grants, a fraud investigation case related to this student grant program

2. Benford’s Law case, a new fraud case dealing with employee expense reimburse-
ments and the application of Benford’s Law of numbers

3. NSG Accounts Receivable, which includes an audit program of procedures for
which the students can use ACL and analyze the results

4. NSG Inventory, which requires students to develop an audit program and then
perform those procedures and analyze the results

Data files for these cases appear on the Student Resources page of the
product support Web site (www.thomsonedu.com/accounting/rittenberg).

Suitability for Alternate Presentation Formats

The sixth edition is designed to fit virtually all one-semester courses in auditing
or assurance services. While the text still emphasizes traditional financial state-
ment audits, this edition develops the audit service within the context of a wider
array of assurance services. We have retained material in end-of-chapter appen-
dices should the instructor wish to expand coverage of certain areas.

Supplements

The sixth edition contains a full range of supplements to aid instructors and stu-
dents to get the most from the course.

Instructor’s Resource CD (IRCD). This all-in-one tool places all the
resources instructors need to plan and teach in one convenient tool: Solutions
Manual, PowerPoint® slides, Instructor’s Manual, Test Bank in Microsoft® Word,
and ExamView® testing software. ISBN 0-324-37559-X

e The Solutions Manual. This manual, written by the text authors, offers the highest
accuracy as it provides solutions for all end-of-chapter material, plus solutions to ACL
cases and the Biltrite Practice Case. The Solutions Manual is available on the IRCD and
is downloadable to instructors under password protection on the text web site.

® PowerPoint® Presentation Slides. Lectures come alive with these engaging
PowerPoint® slides that are interesting, visually stimulating, and paced for student
comprehension. These slides are ideal as lecture tools and provide a clear guide for
student study and note-taking. PowerPoint® slides are available on the IRCD and are
downloadable by chapter on the Instructor’s Resources page of the product web site.

e Instructor's Manual. This manual contains all the resources instructors need to minimize
class preparation time while maximizing teaching effectiveness. Chapter overviews,
learning objectives, lecture notes with teaching suggestions, and guides to equip you
with the tools for positive outcomes throughout your course. The Instructor’s Manual
is available on the IRCD and downloadable from the product web site.

e Test Bank in Word. A proven Test Bank, found on the Instructor’s Resource (D, features
the questions instructors need to efficiently assess students’ comprehension. Bank in
word is available on the IRCD and downloadable from the product web site.

vii
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e ExamView™ Computerized Testing Software. This easy-to-use test-creation program
contains all questions from the Test Bank, making it simple to customize tests to your
specific class needs as you edit or create questions and store customized exams. This
is an ideal tool for online testing. This software is available on the IRCD.

Product Web Site. Instructors and students can teach and understand auditing
and business risk topics with the help of this resource-rich text companion Web
site (www.thomsonedu.com/accounting/rittenberg). Students will find
chapter summaries, online quizzes, and other accounting resources for review, as
well as links to other valuable accounting Web sites. Instructors can easily down-
load password-protected teaching resources and solutions.

Also featured are valuable links to other accounting web sites.
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CHAPTER

Auditing: Integral
to the Economy

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Through studying this chapter, you will be able to:

e Understand the important dimensions of reliable financial information for the efficient
functioning of economies.

e Understand the demands for more timely information about both financial information
and the processes used to develop that information.

e Understand how the public accounting profession has changed and how those
changes affect the nature of the audit process.

e Understand the need for reporting on internal control over financial reporting and the
unique reporting requirements for publicly-held companies.

e Describe the unique roles of internal, external, and governmental auditors in improv-
ing the reliability of financial information and the processes that lead to the record-
ing and presentation of financial information.

e Define the term “auditing” and describe its unique nature as an assurance service.

e Identify and evaluate the factors that affect the credibility of parties performing
audit and assurance services.

e Identify various users of financial data, the diversity of their perspectives, and the
need for objectivity in preparing financial data.

e Describe the types of assurance (audit) reports that can be issued.

e Identify the important regulatory bodies that affect the nature and quality of assur-
ance services, as well as the scope of services provided.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The capital markets depend on accurate, reliable, and objective (neutral) data
that portray the economic nature of an entity’s business and in turn provide a
base to judge current progress toward long-term objectives. If the market does
not receive reliable data, investors lose confidence in the system, make poor
decisions, may lose a great deal of money, and ultimately, the system may fail.
It is a complex process. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) define accounting princi-
ples; management applies the accounting principles and develops systems of
internal control; and the auditing profession independently tests management’s
reports to ensure reliable reporting of financial information. But that is not
enough. Once a year is not sufficient! Investors and other users rely on infor-
mation that is developed throughout the year. They want assurances that this
interim information, not just the annual financial statements, is also accurate.
The capital markets have responded by requiring reports on a company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting for all public companies.

The auditor’s task is both difficult and crucially important. The auditor
must gather independent evidence to gain assurance that management’s
processes and reporting are reliable. In the United States, the quality of man-
agement control processes is judged with reference to the Committee of
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Understanding
Auditor

Responsibilities

Sponsoring Organization’s (COSO) Internal Control Integrated Framework.
At the same time, the auditor must determine that management has properly
applied generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), in other words,
that the client has properly interpreted the FASB’s and GASB’s intent for
recording transactions. To perform these tasks, the auditor must be knowl-
edgeable about auditing and internal control processes, and must understand
how to apply accounting principles to complex transactions or legal agree-
ments between companies.

. Understanding Auditor Responsibilities
Introduction —

For What:
Financial Statements
Internal Control Reports
Corporate Governance

The external audit profession performs a unique task. It does not create the
financial statements; it is precluded from designing the internal control systems
for a public audit client. Rather it must function as an independent examiner to
determine if the financial statements are fairly stated and internal controls of the
organization are effective. It is a profession rife with risks and potential conflicts.
But its value is attained when the public has confidence in its objectivity and the
accuracy of its reports. When it fails, much of the financial system fails. This chap-
ter defines the' brogd nat.ure of audit apd assurance servic.es, discusses the demand el Fespams s
for such services, identifies the providers of such services, and focuses on the ielh @by Besion
audit of an organization’s financial statements and its internal controls over finan- Making

cial reporting.

Attributes Needed:
Ethics
Standards

A free market economy can exist only if there is sharing of accurate, reliable
information among parties that have a vested interest in financial performance
and future prospects of an organization. The market is further enhanced if the
data are transparent and neutral; i.e., the data do not favor one party over anoth-
er. The reported data must reflect the economics of transactions and the current
economic condition of assets controlled and obligations owed. Increasingly the
market also wants to know that the resources entrusted to the organization have
been used appropriately; i.e., management is not indirectly taking money from
the stockholders through manipulation of stock options, misuse of corporate
assets for personal pleasure, or outright fraud committed through presenting mis-
leading and inaccurate financial results. The markets are tired of the Enron and
WorldCom-type failures and want assurance that those kinds of problems are not
happening in companies in which they invest.

The audit function must:

e Perform tests on an organization’s records to determine that they are accurate

e Interpret FASB and other authoritative pronouncements to ensure that financial state-
ments are fairly presented

e Make judgments about the fairness of complex accounting processes such as inventory
valuation or a pension liability estimate

e For public companies, evaluate, and then test, the organization’s system of internal
control over financial reporting

e Do all this in a totally objective, unbiased, and professionally skeptical manner

This textbook addresses the unique challenges that Certified Public
Accountants (CPAs) in the United States or Chartered Accountants (CAs) in
other parts of the world face every day. Auditing is fundamental to the operation
of a free economys; it is like a good referee in a sporting event in that hardly any-
one ever notices it when it does its job correctly. However, if the audit process
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Auditing is a unique function that
is licensed by the state to promote
the effective functioning of the
capital markets.
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fails, investors, creditors, and employees are harmed and everyone notices. This
textbook is designed to develop the skills that you need to excel in performing
this very important societal function.

Auditing: A Special Function

The audit function is “special” in that it exists to serve not just the organization
audited, but also third parties. The importance of this special function has been
reiterated in the U.S. Supreme Court. Chief Justice Warren Burger described the
importance of auditing, and the scope of responsibilities of the audit function in
a 1984 Supreme Court decision:

By certifying the public reports that collectively depict a corporation’s financial status,
the independent auditor assumes a public responsibility transcending any employment
relationship with the client. The independent public accountant performing this spe-
cial function owes ultimate allegiance to the corporation’s creditors and stockholders,
as well as to the investing public. This “public watchdog” function demands . .. complete
fidelity to the public trust.!

Chief Justice Burger’s statement captures the essence of public accounting.
Certified public accountants serve a number of diverse parties, but the most impor-
tant is the public as represented by investors, lenders, workers, and others who make
decisions based on financial and operating information about a company or other
entity. That function requires the highest level of technical competence, freedom
from bias in assessing the fairness of financial presentations, and concern for the
integrity of the financial reporting process.

There Were Failures within the Profession There is little disagreement
that there were major failures in the accounting profession during the late
1990s and early 2000s. We need not repeat all of them as most individuals are
well aware of Enron’s, WorldCom’s, Lucent’s, Adelphia’s, and other corporations’
significant financial frauds. We mention them here because those failures have
had a profound effect on the auditing profession. The failures were also far
beyond Arthur Andersen or other public accounting firms that suffered through
significant lawsuits.

What happened? There is no single answer, but some of the problems can be
identified as follows:

1. The profession lost track of Judge Burger’s admonition to be responsible to the public.

2. GAAP became viewed as a set of rules that could be interpreted (with very minor
boundaries) to suit the reporting objectives of management.

3. A significant portion of management compensation was in the form of stock or stock
options because the IRS limited the deductibility of salary to $1 million. Thus manage-
ment was motivated to increase stock price—even if operations did not mirror or justify
an increase in stock price.

4. Auditors, in essence, were hired and fired by management even though the companies
had independent boards of directors.

5. Auditors had strong motivation to please management. Finding a way to accomplish a
management reporting objective, e.g., moving losses off balance sheet as in the Enron
case, often resulted in lucrative consulting contracts for the firms.

6. The profession was not ready for the judgment required in principles-based accounting,
in part, because they felt if they did not apply rules they would either be questioned by
regulatory agencies or in the court system.

7. Many trained accountants—most working within industry—felt it was perfectly accept-

able to manipulate accounting to achieve objectives. In other words, the mindset was
wrong. It was: “If the FASB does not prohibit the activity, it must be acceptable.”

! United States v ArthurYoung & Co. et al., U.S. Supreme Court, No. 82-687 [52 U.S.L.W.4355 (U.S., Mar. 21, 1984)].
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8. The auditing profession needed to be more profitable in order to retain partners and
managers. In order to be more profitable, many of the firms reduced the amount of
audit testing by stating that they were applying the risk-based approach to auditing.

At one time the public accounting profession was one of the most highly
regarded professions in the country. But, like the baseball player who has just
signed a large contract, you are only as good as your next bat—and that next bat
must be played within the rules of the profession. Fortunately, many of the
changes of the past few years, including regulatory requirements, have provided
an opportunity for the profession to earn back its reputation. It also has provided
significant opportunities for new entrants into the profession.

Understanding the Unique Challenges of the Profession As you work
your way through this text and your course, keep in mind the significant challenges
faced by the profession. Remember, the auditor is not recording transactions and
is not designing the audit client’s control systems. Consider the challenges faced by
auditing firms:

® The audit procedures must be designed to detect material fraud and assure users that
the statements are free from fraud.

e Accounting is highly complex—often, in part, because companies are entering into
increasingly complex transactions and organizational structures.

e Computer systems are complex and when used properly provide opportunities for con-
trols; when not used properly, they create additional risks.

® Many companies are global and the audit firm must operate in multiple countries or
have expertise among its auditors in various countries (many coming from diverse
educational systems).

e Auditors must now evaluate the quality of internal control over financial reporting on
public companies and must report that evaluation to users.

e There is increasing time pressure to get the audit done and to report more quickly.

® Finally, there is a need to bill the clients for the work done at sufficient billing rates to
both (a) attract new people like you to the profession, and (b) retain managers and
partners who often operate under heavy stress to fulfill this most important obligation.

We proceed slowly in building the core values for you to meet these challenges.
We start first with a fairly simple, but quite revealing, definition of auditing.

Auditing Defined

Auditing is often thought of as examinations of a company’s financial statements,
which is the emphasis of this text. However, as you proceed through the book, it is
important to know that auditing is a process that can be applied in many different
situations, including processes to evaluate the efficiency of a process, a governmen-
tal agency, or the compliance of information technology practices with standards of
excellence. Thus, we need to first understand the components of the auditing
process and then determine to whom it is applied across various auditable entities
or auditable processes.
Financial statement auditing has been defined as a:

systematic process of objectively obtaining and evaluating evidence regarding assertions about
economic actions and events to ascertain the degree of correspondence between those
assertions and established criteria and communicating the results to interested users (emphasis

added).?

Financial statement auditing, in its broadest context, is the process of attesting
to assertions about economic actions and events. It is therefore frequently
referred to as an attestation service. Attestation is a three-part process: gathering

2 Auditing Concepts Committee, “Report of the Committee on Basic Auditing Concepts,” The Accounting Review,
47, Supp. (1972), 18.

Point

Employing a risk-based approach to
auditing is perfectly acceptable and
is encouraged throughout this text.
However, it must be based on a
thorough understanding of risks. It
is not accomplished by just saying
property is not a high risk account
without considering management
incentives to manipulate earnings.

Point

Auditing is defined as an assurance
service that objectively gathers
evidence and communicates to
third parties.
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evidence about assertions, evaluating that evidence against objective criteria, and
communicating the conclusion reached. In most cases, the communication goes
to third parties and provides independent, objective information that is useful to
their decision-making. We adopt this broad approach for describing a financial
audit. However, please note that auditing, in addition to economic actions and
events, could also refer to the following:

e Compliance with company policies and regulations
e QOperation of processes, such as control systems, in compliance with particular criteria

e Efficiency of processes

Thus, in a broader sense auditing is a process of gathering evidence to attest
to assertions (usually made by management, but could be by other parties), eval-
uating those assertions against objective criteria (e.g., standards for control or
GAAP), and communicating the audit conclusion to interested parties (some-
times outside parties such as users, but sometimes to management, or sometimes
to members of Congress or governmental agencies).

An overview of an audit of financial statements and the parties involved is
shown in Exhibit 1.1. The board of directors has oversight responsibility over man-
agement and engages the auditor to audit the financial statements and prepare an
independent opinion on the fairness of the financial statements. Management has
responsibilities for (a) managing the organization, (b) safeguarding the assets
entrusted to it, and (c) preparing financial statements that portray the economic
condition of the company and the results of its activities over a period of time.The
financials statements are provided to third parties who have invested or might invest
in the company, lend the organization resources, or who otherwise have a vested
interest in the organization. Auditors gather evidence to determine whether the
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance to GAAP and prepare an
independent opinion that is in turn shared with third-party users, management,
and the board of directors. The audit adds value only if the auditor:

® Has expertise in both obtaining and evaluating evidence regarding the financial state-
ments and the economic assertions embodied in the financial statements

e Is independent of management and the third parties

e (an thus provide an objective opinion on the fairness of the financial statements

For public companies, the diagram in Exhibit 1.1 shows that management also
prepares a report on the quality of its internal control over financial reporting,
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and the board engages the auditor to also attest to management’s report on inter-
nal control.

Whether attesting to internal control, financial statements, or to efficiency of
operations, the basic nature of auditing is based on the same process as will now

be described.

Auditors Obtain and Evaluate Evidence Auditors gather evidence that the
client’s processes are working correctly, the financial data are properly recorded,
and the financial statements as a whole are fairly presented. Thus, an auditor is
part investigator, evaluator of evidence, and assessor of the meaning of the evi-
dence. Unlike lawyers, the auditor’s gathering and evaluation of evidence must
be unbiased. Thus, the requirement is that the auditor must be systematic and
objective in obtaining and evaluating evidence. Stated simply, at its basic compo-
nents (1) the process of auditing is to gather and evaluate evidence to test asser-
tions; (2) the audit process is systematic; and (3) when auditors provide reports to
third parties, it is important that the auditor be independent of the entity audited
and the audit process is unbiased.

Assertions and Established Criteria An assertion is a positive statement
about an action, event, condition, or performance over a specified period of time.
To have unbiased and clear communication, criteria must exist whereby inde-
pendent observers can assess whether such assertions are appropriate. GAAP pro-
vide those criteria for financial statement audits. COSO provides criteria for
evaluating the design and operation of internal controls. Internal auditors may
refer to management’s policies and procedures in determining a department’s
compliance with company policies. An internal revenue agent will refer to the
tax code to determine if taxable income is correctly computed.

When management prepares financial statements, they assert that those state-
ments are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. Generally accepted account-
ing principles become the criteria by which “fairness” of a financial statement
presentation is judged. However, accounting majors know that interpreting
authoritative pronouncements is difficult. The auditor’s task is to consider whether
the application of a generally accepted accounting principle best portrays eco-
nomic activity of the company.

The assertions embodied in the financial statements provide directions for the
design of the audit. For example, by showing inventory valued on the financial
statements at $25 million, management is asserting that the inventory exists, is
complete, is owned, and is properly valued at the lower of cost or market. The
auditor thus needs to gather objective evidence to test each of the assertions that
are implied by showing inventory at $25 million.

Similarly, management may assert that it has implemented an internal control
system such that the likelihood of material misstatements occurring in the finan-
cial statements is remote. The auditor will examine the quality of internal con-
trols using the COSO framework to determine whether there is a sound basis
for management’s conclusions.

Communicating Results to Users Communication of audit results to man-
agement and interested third parties completes the audit process. To minimize
misunderstandings, this communication usually follows a prescribed format by
clearly outlining the nature of the work performed and the conclusions
reached. A financial statement audit results in an audit report directed to the
audit committee, shareholders, and/or the board of directors of the client organ-
ization. The report delineates the responsibilities of both management and the
auditor, summarizes the audit process, and expresses the auditor’s opinion on the
financial statements.

Most audits of public companies include an integrated report on the financial
statements and internal control. When there are no reservations about manage-
ment’s statements, the report is referred to as an unqualified audit report.
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Integrated Audit Rep

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of NSG Company:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of NSG Company (the Company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 25, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), NSG’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 14, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Rittenberg & Schwieger LLP
Madison, Wisconsin
March 14, 2008

Such a report is shown in Exhibit 1.2. If the auditor had reservations about the
fair presentation of the financial statements, the audit report would be expanded
to explain the nature of the auditor’s reservations (covered in Chapter 17).

The Need for Unbiased Reporting

The capital markets are built on transparent financial reporting; i.e., the state-
ments reflect, within the limits of the accounting model, a true and fair view
of the organization’s financial results. The statements do not favor one user
over another. All users are considered important. In many cases, the interests
of the various users can conflict. Current shareholders might want manage-
ment to use accounting principles that result in higher levels of reported
income, but lending institutions generally prefer a conservative approach to
valuation and income recognition. Exhibit 1.3 presents an overview of poten-
tial financial statement users. The auditor must also consider whether a mis-
statement might be material to a user. The need for unbiased reporting can
easily be seen by examining a situation in which a bank is considering a com-
pany’s loan request. In preparing its report, the management of the company
wishes to obtain the loan and prefers that its auditors agree with its own
assessment of its financial accomplishments. The bank relies on the financial
statements of the company, among other information, to assess the riskiness of
the loan—i.e., the likelihood that the company will not be able to repay the
loan and its interest in a timely fashion. If the loan is made at a good rate, the
bank will prosper and may be able to offer higher savings rates to attract more
depositors. The company receiving the loan will be able to expand, hire new
workers, and increase the community’s work force. All parties benefit from
accurate, unbiased information that portrays economic results. The more accurate
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Users of Audited Financial Statements

User Primary Use of Report

Management Review performance, make decisions, report results to capital markets

Stockholders Assess performance, vote on organizational matters including board of directors,
make decision to buy or sell stock, or purchase more stock as part of a stock offering

Financial Institutions Loan decisions—interest rates, terms, and risk

Taxing Authorities Determine taxable income and tax due

Potential Investors Buy stock or bonds

Regulatory Agencies Compliance with regulations, need for regulatory action

Labor and Labor Unions Collective bargaining decisions

Bondholders Buy or sell bonds

Court System Assess financial position of a company in litigation involving valuation

Vendors Assess credit risk

Retired Employees Protect employees from surprises concerning pensions and other post-retirement

benefits due to accounting restatements

the financial information provided to the bank, the more positive the overall
results of its decision will be, not merely for the company and the bank, but
also for society as a whole.

Need for Assurance

Why do you need assurance? More importantly, can we generalize from the rea-
sons you might need assurance to the broader market for assurance services? The
need for assurance services arises because of several factors:

e Potential bias in providing information, i.e., the providing party may want to convey a
better impression than real circumstances merit

® Remoteness between a user and the organization or trading partner

e Complexity of the transactions, information, or processing systems such that it is diffi-
cult to determine their proper presentation without a review by an independent expert

e Need to minimize financial surprises

Potential Bias in Providing Information Management has a vested interest in Point
providing information that will make management look good. Management has

inside information that they may or may not want to share with users. For exam- Diverse users require objective,
ple, management’s compensation may be tied to company profitability or stock  unbiased, accurate information.
price and they may want to “bend” GAAP to make their performance look bet-

ter. There must be an unbiased arbiter to ensure fairness to users. That is the audit

function.

Remoteness of Users The Internet has enabled us to become a global society.
The advantages are tremendous, but a significant disadvantage is that we no longer
either know or interact directly with many parties, including those in which we
might own stock. Most users cannot interview management, tour a company’s
plant, or review its financial records firsthand; instead, they must rely on the finan-
cial statements to communicate the results of management’s performance.

Complexity Many business transactions are more complex than they were a
decade ago. Third-party users depend on managers and auditors to deal with
complexities such as financial instruments, derivatives, long-term contracts, and
other complex transactions to ensure that they are fairly presented and fully dis-
closed in financial statements.
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Increased reliability in financial
reporting should lead to decreased
variability in the capital markets
because there will be fewer sur-
prises. The capital markets will be
more efficient.

Point

There was a confluence of comple-
mentary factors that influenced the
changes that are taking place in
the auditing profession. It was not
one failure; rather, it was viewed as
a systemic problem by society.

Chapter 1 Auditing: Integral to the Economy

Avoid Surprises During the past decade, many financial statement users such
as pension funds, private investors, venture capitalists, and banks lost billions of
dollars because financial information and, in some instances, the audit function
had become unreliable. Financial statements were restated because misstatements
were found subsequent to the original issuance of the statements. The reasons for
the restatements varied, but ranged from (a) misapplication of GAAP, (b) out-
right fraud, (c) aggressive accounting—for example in developing estimates, and
(d) recording sales transactions in the wrong period. The surprises most often
were negative restatements that showed decreases in earnings and equity. Usually,
the restatements were followed by precipitous drops in stock prices—and in a
number of cases—bankruptcy.

Increased Demand for Accountability

The accounting profession has undergone a decade of turmoil that is unprecedented
and on a scale that has occurred only once before.® The factors leading up to the
change include: (a) the failure of one of the largest public accounting firms in the
world (Arthur Andersen & Co.), (b) four of the largest bankruptcies in history—and
cach of the bankruptcies occurred in companies where financial statement misrep-
resentation had taken place, (c) billions of dollars in investment and retirement fund
losses, (d) a sense that auditors could not remain independent when they were hired
and fired by the managers of a company, and (e) a general question as to whether
the public accounting profession could govern itself to ensure society that they
would always act in the public interest. The culmination of these failures led to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,* which may be the single most important legislation
affecting the public accounting profession in our lifetime. The Act focused on five
critical improvements related to auditing and the financial statements:

Improved corporate governance
Required reporting on internal controls
Improved independence of the external audit function

Acknowledgment of greater audit responsibility

M e

Audit standard setting moved to a new quasi-public organization

Demand for Improved Corporate Governance

Corporate governance is a complex subject; however, the bottom line is that an
organization needs to have in place an oversight structure that is designed to ensure
that there are constraints on management and that the organization acts in the best
interests of the shareholders. That structure usually starts with the board of direc-
tors. There were two major criticisms of many boards during the past decade:

e The board often was not independent of management; the board members either
included a majority of management members or the board members were chosen by
management, and thus were beholden to management.

e The independent members of the board did not assume ownership of the audit function;
it did not take an active role in oversight of the audit or in the decisions to retain or
change the audit firm.

Management, rather than the board, was seen as the audit client. The Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, as well as most stock exchanges, required companies to establish inde-
pendent audit committees as a subcommittee of the board of directors to provide

>The other change of the magnitude described here occurred in 1933 when the Securities and Exchange
Commission was developed in response to abuses in financial reporting that took place in the 1920s and fired
speculation on Wall Street.

* Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H.R. Bill 3762.



Increased Demand for Accountability

oversight over all audit functions—internal and external. The audit committee
becomes “the client,” and helps assure that the auditor’s opinion on management
reports is unbiased.

The demand for increased governance does not stop with the board.
Management—at all levels of the organization—has a responsibility for improved
governance. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that a whistleblowing function be
established that provides an avenue to report perceived wrongdoing to an appro-
priate, independent body within the organization. Further, the board or audit
committee has a responsibility to review substantive allegations made by employ-
ees or outside stakeholders.

The internal and external audit professions both play expanded roles in
improving corporate governance. The external auditors have a responsibility to
discuss with the audit committee the appropriateness of accounting choices made
by management. The external auditors also have an increased responsibility to
search for the existence of fraud, including the identification of fraud risk factors.
An internal audit function is required by all major stock exchanges. Most inter-
nal audit charters require that there is a direct relationship to the chair of the audit
committee and a responsibility to bring questionable items to the chair of the
audit committee. Thus, when looking at the auditing professions, it is clear that
the responsibilities have expanded well beyond that of just auditing a company’s
financial statements. Auditing is an extremely important component of better cor-
porate governance.

Required Reporting on Internal Controls

Congress and financial statement users were shocked with billion-dollar frauds at
companies such as WorldCom, Adelphia, and Enron. In many of the major frauds,
senior management had overridden the accounting system and in virtually all cases
the companies had poor internal controls over financial reporting. Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires management to independently assess and
publicly report on the quality of its internal controls over financial reporting. The
external auditor is required to independently test internal controls of public com-
panies and report their assessment of internal controls, as well as their opinion on
management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting.

Section 404 has reiterated that management has accountability to its users
beyond that contained in the financial statements. Management has a responsibil-
ity to establish and maintain a system of effective internal controls that produces
reliable information throughout the year. If there are significant deficiencies in
the internal control system, management and the auditors must report those
deficiencies in public reports so that users can assess the impact of those defi-
ciencies on the performance of management and the potential impact on the
future of the organization. For example, a company with poor controls often
does not have reliable information to make good management decisions.

There is a growing body of evidence to support the concept that good inter-
nal control is good business. The need for public reporting on internal control
was advanced by the Treadway Commission’s report on Fraudulent Financial
Reporting in 1987 when they identified a high correlation between fraudulent
reporting and poor internal controls. Don Nicolaisen, former Chief Accountant
of the SEC, reinforced this concept in a speech in 2004:

I believe that, of all of the recent reforms, the internal control requirements have the
greatest potential to improve the reliability of financial reporting. Our capital markets
run on faith and trust that the vast majority of companies present reliable and complete
financial data for investment and policy decision-making. . . . It is absolutely critical that
we get the internal control requirements right.®

> Don Nicolaisen, Securities & Exchange Commission, October 7, 2004, Keynote Speech to the 11" Annual
Midwestern Financial Reporting Symposium, http://www.sec.gov.
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The Sarbanes-Oxley Act specified
that the PCAOB develop audit stan-
dards for public companies. The
American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) still
sets standards for the audits of
non-public companies. There is a
mood of cooperation between the
AICPA and the PCAOB that should
lead to greater convergence
between the two sets of standards.

Point

Students who want to be “business
advisors” as well as perform attes-
tation services for clients may want
to work for a smaller-sized CPA firm
that has a significant amount of
non SEC work.
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Reecall that Sarbanes-Oxley applies only to the audits of public companies. Thus,
the guidelines presented here do not necessarily apply to audits of non-public
companies, but may be considered best practices for all companies. Some smaller
audit firms and companies may have difficulty in meeting each of the require-
ments. For example, a privately-held company might not have an audit commit-
tee; an audit firm may be too small to rotate partners across smaller engagements.
Further, many smaller-sized public accounting firms believe that performing some
kinds of consulting for smaller businesses is an integral part of their services and
helps their clients succeed.

Audit Standard Setting and Auditor Independence

In the midst of recent cases of corporate fraud, Congress created the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and gave the Board the
authority to set audit standards for the audits of public companies.

Further, to ensure the independence of the audit firm, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
strengthened the independence of auditors by requiring:

e The audit committee of the board of directors to have the authority to hire and fire
the external auditors

e Mandatory rotation every five years of the partner in charge of the audit engagement
e That consulting work cannot be performed for audit clients

e Increased oversight of potential independence conflicts, including potential conflicts
that may affect performance by the independent auditing firm

Although many non-public companies and smaller audit firms may want to
follow these same guidelines, they are not required to do so.

Public Expectation of Auditors

The public, particularly as expressed by Congress, expects auditors to (a) find
fraud, (b) enforce accounting principles that best portray the spirit of the con-
cepts adopted by the FASB, and (c) be neutral to users, but it also expects audi-
tors to be advocates of economic reality. The public wants auditors to be more
active in detecting fraud.

Audit Standard Setting Moved to a Quasi-Public Board

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act created the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (PCAOB) and gave the Board the full authority to develop audit standards
for the audits of public companies that have stock listed on U.S. stock exchanges
and that must register with the SEC (including some foreign entities). The
PCAOB is comprised of five public members appointed by the SEC, no more
than two of whom can be CPAs. The board is funded from a levy on all public
companies. The Board also reviews the quality of the practice of independent
accounting firms that are registered with it.

Scope of Services: Other Assurance Services

Although the recent focus on the auditing profession has been on the audit of
financial statements, the concept of assurance services is much broader. In this
section, we discuss the broader nature of assurance services that might be per-
formed by auditors.

What Is Assurance?
The AICPA’s Special Committee on Assurance Services defines assurance as:

independent professional services that improve the quality of information, or its con-
text, for decision makers.
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EXHIBIT 1.4 Nature of Assurance Services

Broad Area of Assurance Service Nature of Assurances Provided

Risk Assessment The quality of processes implemented by an organization to identify, assess, and

manage risks.

Business Performance Measurement The processes to identify, measure, and communicate alternative measures of perform-
ance; assurances on the accuracy of the performance measurements utilized by an

organization.

Information System Reliability The quality of controls built into information system processes to ensure system security,
reliability, timeliness, and accuracy. Assurances on the accuracy of financial and other
information provided electronically to users on a continuous basis.

Health Care Performance Assurance on performance measures in health care would provide assurance to patients,
employers, unions, and other customers of health care services that the quality of those

services met specified criteria.

Electronic Commerce Provide assurance to various participants (e.g., consumers, retailers, credit card issuers,
EDI users, network service providers, software vendors) in electronic commerce that the
systems and tools in use are designed and functioning in accordance with accepted

criteria for integrity and security.

ElderCare Plus Provide assurance to elders and their families that specified goals regarding care for the
elderly are being met by various caregivers. This service focuses on elder persons who
want to live independently in their own homes and those individuals who care for the
elderly (e.g., sons and daughters), but might live at a distance apart from the elderly.

Assurance is a broad concept. It includes information contained in financial state-
ments. It also includes information about the context of a process such as shipping
goods for a web-based firm or how the company handles returned goods. Assurance
services are designed to improve the quality of decision-making by improving con-
fidence in the information on which decisions are made, the process by which that
information is developed, and the context in which the information is presented
to users.

The AICPA’s Special Committee on Assurance Services depicts the scope of
potential services as shown in Exhibit 1.4.The field of assurance services is much
broader than traditional audits of financial statements. Assurance services depict:

e A wider spectrum of services
® A more diverse group of users
e Potential users with needs broader than audited financial statements

Because of the recent emphasis on implementing the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
development of these extended services has been slow.

Assurance vs. Attestation vs. Audit Sometimes the terms assurance, attesta-
tion, and audit are used interchangeably. However, in the context of assurance
services, they are related but differ on two fundamental dimensions:

e Existence of an outside third party that relies on the auditor’s opinion

e Nature of services provided

The broadest concept is that of assurance. Assurance services can be provided
to management or to external users. Assurance services include both attestation
and audit services. Assurance services can be provided on financial information or
on other information such as the quality of business processes, the reliability of
computer information systems, or the accuracy of performance data. Attestation
services are a subset of assurance services and always involve a report that goes to
a third party. For example, the auditor might provide a report to third parties on
the quality of a company’s internal control processes. The narrowest service is an
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Interrelationship of Assurance, Attestation, and Audit Services
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Type of Service Report to Third Party Scope of Items Reported On
Assurance Service Optional, but not required Broad, can include:
Can include report only to party requesting - business processes
the assurance + control processes
- risk analysis

Attestation Service

Audit Service

- non-financial performance data
-+ financial information

Independent Auditor’s Report is used by third Same as assurance services
party as part of their decision-making process Can be broad as long as objective criteria exist

on which to evaluate fairness of management’s
report or information reported on

Third parties are primary users of the audit report Audit of financial statements and related

financial information

audit of a company’s financial statements. An audit is a crucial function that must
be performed reliably in order to have the financial statements work properly.
However, it should be noted that the audit is simply a subset of the other services
that an auditor can provide. An overview of the three different levels of services is
shown in Exhibit 1.5.

The processes used in performing audits of financial statements apply equally
well to other types of assurances. The difference is in the subject area knowledge
and the specific evidence that will need to be gathered to provide the assurance.

Not all assurance services are provided by the external auditor. For example,
internal auditors often provide a wide variety of assurance services for their
organization. The Institute of Internal Auditors (ILA) has identified a number of
assurance services that internal auditors perform for an organization, including:

e The effectiveness of a company’s process to identify and manage risk

e The quality of an organization’s governance processes

e The effectiveness and efficiency of an organization’s control processes

Characteristics of Assurance Services Assurance services involve three crit-
ical components:

e Information or a process on which the assurance service is provided
e A user or a group of users who derive value from the assurance services provided
e An assurance service provider

Item on Which Assurance is Given The items on which assurance is pro-
vided can range from financial statements to computer systems integrity to qual-
ity of products and services sold via the Internet to compliance with regulatory
requirements. The assurance can be on information or processes. The adequacy
of a process is just as important to most users as the information that goes into
the process. Thus, assurance can also be provided on the process.

Attributes Needed to Perform Assurance Assurance creates confidence by
reducing information risk—the risk that the information is not reliable. Investors
can make decisions because they have reliable financial information. The attributes
needed for all assurance services are the same—whether for financial statements or
for information systems security:

e Subject matter knowledge

¢ Independence
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e Agreed-upon criteria to evaluate quality of presentation

e Expertise in the process of gathering and evaluating evidence

Requirements to Enter the Public
Accounting Profession

Meeting the expectations of diverse groups requires considerable expertise.
Because of the increasing complexity of the business environment, the demands
made on the professional auditor have certainly increased. Most states now require
150 semester hours for CPA licensure. Beyond required auditing and accounting
skills, today’s auditor must understand the client’s business and industry; identify
problems and propose solutions; understand economic and political conditions;
utilize computer technology; communicate eftectively with management, users,
and colleagues; and identify elements of business risk.

Accounting and Auditing Expertise The complexity of today’s environment
demands that the auditor be fully versed in the technical accounting and audit-
ing pronouncements. In addition to that technical understanding, the auditor
must have a sound conceptual understanding of the basic elements underlying
financial reporting. This conceptual understanding is necessary to address the
ever-increasing infusion of new types of transactions and contracts for which
accounting pronouncements do not exist. As an example of these new transac-
tions, many financial instruments, such as derivatives, did not exist a few years
ago. The auditor is expected to discern the economic substance of these new
transactions and use the financial conceptual model to “reason” to the appropri-
ate accounting treatment for these newer transactions which the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) may not have specifically addressed.

Likewise, the auditor must fully understand the fundamental concepts of
auditing. Understanding the concepts, as opposed to just the rules, will allow the
auditor to adapt to changing economic situations or to plan different kinds of
audit or assurance engagements.

Internal Control Expertise An auditor of a public company must perform an
“integrated audit” that results in an audit of both the company’s internal controls
and 1its financial statements. The auditor must understand how deficiencies in
internal control will most likely affect the recording and disclosure of transac-
tions and adjust audit procedures to search for errors in account balances. The
auditor must be able to analyze the organization’s internal controls to determine
if there are weaknesses that should be reported to the general public, to the audit
committee, and to management.

Knowledge of Business and Its Risks Most audit firms utilize a “business
risk” approach to performing audits. The fundamental premise behind the busi-
ness risk approach is that the auditor must understand the basic structure of the
business in order to identify significant risks affecting the client. For example, an
auditor of a bank should have substantial knowledge about the business economy
in the area served by the bank. It is only with this knowledge that the auditor can
adequately assess the allowance for loan loss reserves. In a similar fashion, an
understanding of the strategies used by management will assist the auditor in eval-
uating preliminary financial results and pinpoint areas needing more attention.

Understanding Accounting System Complexity Simple, manual account-
ing systems are things of the past. Today’s companies are actively involved in
e-commerce and electronic data interchange (EDI). Traditional paper documents
will not be present in many systems. Further, systems will be integrated across
companies. Today’s auditors must understand the audit challenges posed in a sys-
tem in which traditional source documents do not exist.
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Smaller CPA firms are not subject
to the same regulation as are firms
that audit SEC clients. The provi-
sion of services to clients is limited
only by (1) the willingness of the
client to purchase the services and
(2) the AICPA's Code of Ethics that
the firm must maintain independ-
ence in attitude and appearance
when performing an audit of the
company.

Point

Public accounting firms can provide
consulting, tax planning, and inter-
nal audit services to non-audit
clients. Most CPA firms still provide
such services and have targeted
non-audit clients as their potential
market for such services. The
amounts are still substantial and
have the potential to exceed audit
revenues for the firms.
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The Providers of Assurance Services

There are three primary providers of assurance services:

e The public accounting profession
e The internal audit profession

e The governmental audit profession

Within each there are a wide variety of providers. For example, internal audit
services are performed by both internal audit departments housed in an organi-
zation as well as external auditors performing internal audit work for a client.

The Public Accounting Profession

The public accounting profession varies from sole-practitioner firms to large multi-
national professional services firms such as the Big 4. Many of the regional and local
CPA firms provide a variety of services to both audit and non-audit clients. The large
public accounting firms may provide many of the same services—but not for audit
clients. For example, all of the Big 4 firms provide significant internal audit services
to companies that obtain their financial statement audits from other public account-
ing firms. Smaller accounting firms that do not have public clients are still con-
strained by AICPA rules on services that they may perform for an audit client, but
for the most part, the smaller firms do provide information systems consulting,
financial planning, tax planning, and internal audit services to both audit clients and
non-audit clients.

Organization and Size of Public Accounting Firms The organizational
structure of the accounting firms varies dramatically. For example, most of the
Big 4 firms operate under one firm name across all countries, and often they
operate with global accounting and auditing practices. In some cases, however,
each firm is organized as a partnership in its own country, or in its own part of
the world. The individual partnerships then belong to a global partnership under
the firm’s broad name, e.g., KPMG.

Some other firms practice internationally through an affiliation with a net-
work of firms. In some cases, it is not clear to the user what the relationship is to
a parent firm. For example, when the Parmalat scandal hit in Italy in 2003, there
was a lawsuit against Grant Thornton Italia, a member firm of Grant Thornton
International. The Italian firm was immediately “kicked out” of the international
firm because the international firm did not want to assume any liability for the
work performed by its Italian member.

The organization hierarchy of CPA firms has most often functioned in a
pyramidal structure. Partners (or owners) form the top of the pyramid and are
responsible for the overall conduct of each audit and other services. Next in the
hierarchy are the managers, who review the detailed audit work performed by
staff personnel (the base of the pyramid). Seniors are responsible for overseeing the
day-to-day activities on a specific audit. Staft personnel typically spend two to four
years at a staff level, after which they increasingly assume supervisory responsibil-
ities as seniors, managers, and ultimately partners. Partners and managers are
responsible for many audit engagements being conducted simultaneously, while
seniors and staft are usually assigned to only one audit at a time.

Although the hierarchical structure will remain for some time in the future,
the expectations of those entering the profession have changed significantly. The
more prevalent changes are as follows:

® Audits are performed in teams where each member is expected to contribute to ana-
lyzing and understanding the business.

e All auditors are engaged from the very beginning in analyzing potential fraud risks
associated with the clients.
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e Auditors, at all levels, are expected to understand computer processing and be able to
access and audit electronic data.

Many public accounting firms have also organized their practices along
industry lines to better serve clients in those industries. The industry lines often
include categories such as financial services, retailing, not-for-profit, manufac-
turing, and distribution. The rationale is that an auditor needs to understand
the industry as well as management does in order to identify (1) risks that the
organization faces and the controls the company uses to mitigate those risks,
(2) risks of financial statement misstatements, and (3) opportunities to improve
business operations.

The Internal Audit Profession

Internal auditing is defined as:

an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and
improve an organization’s operations. It helps an organization accomplish its objectives
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the etfective-
ness of risk management, control, and governance processes.®

Internal auditing has emerged as an exciting discipline and an excellent training
ground for future management positions. The emphasis on adding value and
improving operations squarely aligns internal auditing with stockholders, the board
of directors, and management. The scope of internal auditing is broad and includes
the evaluation of processes to identify and manage risk, to develop and implement
effective controls including those designed to ensure efficient operations, and to
ensure that the governance process is working effectively.

Internal auditing, whether it is performed in a company or in the practice of
a public accounting firm, is increasingly becoming a strong alternative entry
point into the auditing profession. The role of internal auditing is enhanced by
requirements of both the NYSE and NASDAQ for listed companies to retain an
internal audit function. The existence of an effective internal audit function is
considered an important part of an organization’s internal controls.

Internal auditing provides both assurance and consulting services. Assurance
comes in the form of assuring management and the board of directors on the
company’s compliance with policies or regulatory requirements, or the eftective-
ness of processes and operations. Internal audit activities often identify significant
problem areas and the question has been: “Can the auditor assist the company in
identifying potential solutions?” The profession has answered that question with
an unequivocal “yes.” Internal auditing has unique data analysis skills and an
independence from operations that can add value to task forces or other
approaches taken by management to deal with problems.The internal audit func-
tion can analyze and identify potential solutions. However, management is
responsible for making the choice of which solution to implement and must take
responsibility for implementing the solution.

Internal auditing has been very active in assisting organizations in document-
ing and evaluating the quality of internal control as part of the organization’s
Section 404 compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. An interesting task of
internal auditing is the analysis of company operations, often referred to as an
operational audit. Operational audits are designed to evaluate the effectiveness,
economy, and efficiency with which resources are employed. An operational
audit can be applied to virtually every facet of an organization’s operations.
Operational audits are both challenging and interesting because the auditor must
develop objective criteria to evaluate the effectiveness of an operation. The audi-
tor must become familiar with best practices across companies as well as within
the organization to develop such criteria. The auditor then must develop
methodology, including the analysis of market data as well as internal information,

‘Institute of Internal Auditors, Standards for the Practice of Internal Auditing.

Point

Internal auditing is much more
diverse than external auditing and
provides opportunities to learn more
about all aspects of the business.

Information

http://www.theiia.org provides
information on internal audit stan-
dards, recent activities affecting
the profession, and recent research
studies.


http://www.theiia.org

Information

A complete list of GAO audits can
be obtained at http://www.gao.
gov. The GAO recently performed
studies of “principles vs. rules-
based accounting” and mandatory
rotation of audit firms.

Information

http://www.pcaobus.org has up-to-
date information about the Board,
new standards, and recent activities.

Point

Congress was concerned that the
AICPA’s approach to performing
quality control reviews—consisting
of one firm reviewing the practices
of another for adherence to AICPA
standards—was too inbred.
Congress wanted an outside group
to assess whether the firms were
meeting the public’s expectations.
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to evaluate the effectiveness of operations. The auditor will have to thoroughly
understand business processes and how various processes fit together across the
organization. The emphasis is on improving operations and the profitability of
the organization.

Governmental Auditing Profession

Governmental auditors are employed by various federal, state, and local agen-
cies. The work performed by these auditors ranges from internal audits of a
specific agency to audits of other governmental units to audits of reports fur-
nished to the government by outside organizations. The requirement of
accountability has created a demand for more information about government
programs and services. Public officials, legislators, and private citizens want
and need to know not only whether government funds are being handled
properly and in compliance with laws and regulations, but also whether gov-
ernment organizations, programs, and services are achieving the purposes for
which they were authorized and funded and whether they are doing so eco-
nomically and efficiently.

Governmental auditors perform all the types of audits that internal auditors
perform; the major difference is the governmental orientation. The U.S.
Government Accountability Office (GAO), headed by the Comptroller
General, places a great deal of emphasis on performance audits. These audits
determine (1) whether the entity is acquiring, protecting, and using its resources
economically and efficiently, (2) the causes of inefficiencies or uneconomical
practices, (3) whether the entity has complied with laws and regulations, (4) the
extent to which the desired results or benefits established by the legislature or
other authorizing body are being achieved, and (5) the effectiveness of organi-
zations, programs, activities, or functions.

Professional and Regulatory Organizations

Auditing is a unique profession. It is a private enterprise that operates in the pub-
lic interest. However, it also operates to improve company operations. Further, it
is a diverse profession ranging from large multinational CPA firms to small one-
person accounting firms specializing in tax. It includes both public accounting
and internal auditing. Thus, it is not surprising that there are a number of regu-
latory and professional organizations that help shape and regulate the nature of
services provided by the auditing profession. Because the major focus of this
book is on public accounting and financial statement audits, we start with the
regulatory bodies that most influence the practice of auditing financial state-
ments of public companies.

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board was established by Congress
as part of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The PCAOB has full authority to:

e Set auditing standards for audits of public companies
® Require all firms that audit public companies to register with it
e Perform quality reviews of all firms that are registered with it

The Board has a staft that helps it set audit standards for audits of public compa-
nies, including audits of both financial statements and internal controls. The PCAOB
has been granted wide authority. Although its members are appointed by the SEC,
its budget comes from required payments by all SEC registered companies.

Besides setting auditing standards, the PCAODB has responsibility for registering all
CPA firms to practice before it, and has broad regulatory authority over those firms.
For example, it could choose, should it so decide, to require mandatory rotation of


http://www.gao.gov
http://www.gao.gov
http://www.pcaobus.org

Professional and Regulatory Organizations

audit firms every seven years. The PCAOB has a responsibility to perform quality
reviews of all registered CPA firms and can take either remedial action if they have
questions about the firm’s quality practices or, in an extreme case, can prohibit a firm
from performing audits on public companies, or prohibit a firm from accepting a
new public company for some period of time.

The Securities and Exchange Commission

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) was established by
Congress in 1934 to regulate the capital market system. The SEC has oversight
responsibilities for the PCAOB, and oversight responsibilities for all public com-
panies that are required to register with it to gain access to the U.S. capital mar-
kets. The SEC has the authority to establish GAAP for companies whose stock
is publicly traded, although it has generally delegated this authority to the FASB.
However, the SEC has not shown a reluctance to act when it believed existing
accounting standards were being abused by registrants.

The SEC developed independence rules in 2001 that essentially prohibited
public accounting firms from performing consulting work for SEC companies.
The SEC has issued accounting bulletins clarifying concepts of revenue recogni-
tion and materiality. The SEC is an active player in maintaining a “level playing
field” for companies and investors participating in the U.S. capital market system.

The SEC also has a responsibility to prosecute companies and managers who
have violated SEC laws, including the application of inappropriate accounting
that might be considered fraudulent. In recent years, the SEC has brought action
against companies such as HealthSouth for accounting fraud, Xerox for inappro-
priate accounting for leases, and Lucent for inappropriate revenue recognition;
and more recently, the SEC has investigated companies for unacceptable back-
dating of stock options.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) has
long served as the primary governing organization of the public accounting pro-
fession. That role has diminished with the identification of the PCAOB to set
auditing standards for the audits of public companies.

The AICPA, however, continues to develop standards for audits of non-public
companies, as well as to perform other significant services. It provides continuing
education programs and, through its Board of Examiners, prepares and adminis-
ters the Uniform CPA Examination. It is developing an active program to make
its members aware of frauds that have taken place in companies and how mem-
bers can do a better job of detecting fraud.

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

COSO is the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. COSO performed the seminal study on fraudulent financial reporting
and made a number of recommendations similar to those enacted in the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. In 1992, COSO issued the Internal Control, Integrated Framework
that serves as a primary criterion for evaluating the quality of a company’s internal
control system. COSO has provided additional guidance on implementing internal
controls in 2006 that articulates the basic principles of internal control.

Accounting Standard Setters

Auditors increasingly must be aware of global accounting standards, as well as stan-
dards that may apply to the audits of particular organizations, e.g., governmental
accounting standards set by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

Information

See http://www.sec.gov for more
information about the SEC, includ-
ing current staff accounting bul-
letins and legal actions brought
against companies for accounting
fraud or securities violations.

Information

See http://www.aicpa.org for a host
of information about the public
accounting profession, professional
standards, assurance services, and a
special section on fraud.

Information

See http://www.coso.org for more
information about COSO guidelines,
fraud studies, and recommendations
for improving internal control in
organizations.


http://www.sec.gov
http://www.aicpa.org
http://www.coso.org
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Information

The GAO is a major player in setting
auditing standards for all audits of
governmental entities—even those
entities audited by CPA firms. See
http://www.gao.gov.
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Auditors must be aware of accounting standards set by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB), which is the primary accounting standard setter in the
United States. Auditors must increasingly understand the pronouncements of
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which sets standards for
the global practice of accounting.

State Boards of Accountancy

CPAs are licensed by state boards of accountancy, which are charged with regu-
lating the profession at the state level. All state boards require the passage of the
Uniform CPA Examination as one of the criteria for licensure. However, educa-
tion and experience requirements vary by state. Some states require candidates to
have public accounting audit experience before issuing them a license to practice;
other states allow audit experience related to public or governmental account-
ing. The work experience requirement can also vary with the level of education.
A candidate with a graduate degree or 150 semester hours of college credits, for
example, may need only one year of auditing experience, but a candidate with a
baccalaureate degree may be required to have two years of auditing experience.
Most states have reciprocal agreements for recognizing public accountants from
other states; in some instances, however, a state may require either additional
experience or course work before issuing a license.

The Institute of Internal Auditors

The Institute of Internal Auditors is a voluntary organization dedicated to
enhancing the professionalism and status of internal auditing. With more than
85,000 members located in 102 countries, the IIA is responsible for issuing stan-
dards and interpretations of those standards. The ITA administers the Certified
Internal Auditor program and has established a peer review process to ensure
that the practice of internal auditing around the globe is consistent with the
professional standards.

The U.S. Government Accountability Office

The U.S. Governmental Accountability Office (GAO) is the nonpartisan
audit agency for Congress. Congress has delegated to the GAO the responsibility
for developing auditing standards for governmental audits. The GAO periodically
updates Governmental Auditing Standards, setting forth standards for the conduct
of audits of governmental organizations, programs, activities, and functions, and of
government funds received by contractors, nonprofit organizations, and other
nongovernmental entities. The standards cover the auditor’s professional qualifica-
tions, the quality of the audit effort, and the appropriate audit reports. The stan-
dards are similar to those established by the AICPA and the IIA, but relate to the
nature of the work performed by governmental auditors.

The Court System

The court system acts as an effective quality control mechanism for the practice
of auditing. Third parties may sue CPAs under federal securities laws, various
state statutes, and common law for substandard audit work. Although the profes-
sion often becomes alarmed when large damages are awarded to plaintifts in suits
against CPA firms, the courts help ensure that the profession does not fail to
meet its responsibilities to third parties. During the past several decades, court
cases have led to the codification of additional auditing standards for such areas
as related-party transactions, “subsequent events” affecting the financial state-
ments, and clarification of the auditor’s report.


http://www.gao.gov
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Summary

Efficient operation of the capital markets requires reliable financial information. The
crucial importance of the fundamental product of the auditing profession—the
financial statement audit—has been reiterated in the past decade. Financial statement
users need an independent, objective, and competent review of financial statement
data. The public accounting profession is truly a unique profession in that it
operates in the private sector but performs a public service. Recent failures in the
auditing profession led Congress to enact the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that has
changed the regulatory oversight of the auditing profession. However, with all these
changes, the profession still operates in the private sector: It can compete for audit
engagements, it competes with others in hiring qualified personnel, and it can dis-
tinguish its service by the quality of its audits. More than anything, the failures of
the past decade have reiterated the importance of a sound audit function.

Oversight of the public accounting profession has shifted from the AICPA to the
PCAORB for audits of public companies. Public accounting firms will continue to
be under public scrutiny. The AICPA has positioned itself as a standard setter for
audit firms that do not audit public companies, as well as to promote the develop-
ment of a broader array of assurance services beyond financial statement audits.

Auditing is more diverse than public accounting. Internal and governmental
auditing provides valuable services for their organizations, are broader than pub-
lic accounting, and expose auditors to more aspects of a business, including risk
management and operational efficiencies.

The CPA has been given a position of public trust. The profession has earned
a reputation for quality through its actions, including setting standards against
which you will be measured as a CPA and on which you will build a profes-
sional career. If the profession should ever fail to meet user needs, the court sys-
tem and Congress will intervene to protect the public interest.

Significant Terms

between those assertions and established criteria and
communicating the results to interested users.

American Institute of Certified Public Account-
ants (AICPA) The primary professional organization
for CPAs, it has a number of committees to develop
professional standards for the conduct of non-public
company audits and other services performed by its
members and to self-regulate the profession.

corporate governance The process of providing
accountability back to stakeholders for the resources
entrusted to the organization. Corporate governance
describes the broad procedures related to proper over-
assertion A positive statement about an action, event,  sight of the organization.
condition, or the performance of an entity or product

. . . . . financial audit A systematic process to determine
over a specified period of time; the subject of attestation Y P

services.

assurance services Independent professional services
that improve the context or quality of information for
decision-making purposes.

attestation services An expression of opinion by an
auditor to third parties concerning the correctness of
assertions contained in financial statements or other
reports against which objective criteria can be identified
and measured.

auditing A systematic process of objectively obtaining
evidence regarding assertions about economic actions
and events to ascertain the degree of correspondence

whether an entity’s financial statements or other
financial results are fairly presented in accordance
with GAAP, if applicable, or another comprehensive
basis of accounting.

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
Accounting principles formulated by the FASB and its
designers, which have general acceptance and provide
criteria by which to assess the fairness of a financial
statement presentation.

Government Accountability Office (GAO)
Governmental organization directly accountable to
the Congress of the United States that performs
special investigations for the Congress and establishes
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broad standards for the conduct of governmental SEC, to provide oversight of the firms that audit public

audits.

internal audit An independent and objective assur-
ance and consulting activity designed to add value and

companies that are registered with the SEC. It has the
authority to set auditing standards for the audits of’
public companies.

improve an organization’s governance, risk manage- Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

ment, and control processes.

operational audit A systematic appraisal of an entity’s
operations to determine whether an organization’s

The governmental body with the oversight responsi-
bility to ensure the proper and efficient operation of
capital markets in the United States.

operations are being carried out in an efficient manner unqualified audit report The standard three-
and whether constructive recommendations for opera- paragraph audit report that describes the auditor’s

tional improvements can be made.

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) A quasi-public board, appointed by the

work and communicates the auditor’s opinion that
the financial statements are fairly presented in accor-
dance with GAAP.

Review Questions

1-1

1-2

1-3

1-4

1-7

1-8

1-10

1-11

What is the “special function” that auditors perform? Whom does the
public accounting profession serve in performing this special function?

What types of reports does management of public companies prepare
that are subject to audit?

Does an audit always require a report to a third-party user? Explain how
an audit differs from an assurance function in providing reports to third
parties.

What are the primary factors that create a need for assurance services?
Explain how these factors are important to the public accounting
profession.

What kind of surprises should an audit be designed to avoid? Why is it
important that the audit function operate to avoid surprises?

The fairness of financial statements and the adequacy of internal controls
are judged only by reference to pre-established criteria. What serves as
the criteria to judge the fairness of financial statements and the adequacy
of internal controls? Explain why “reference to criteria” is important to
the audit function and the results communicated by the audit function.

How does complexity affect (1) the demand for auditing services and
(2) the performance of auditing services?

What are user’s interests in reports on internal control over financial
reporting? Identify the factors that influenced congress in developing
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that requires reports on inter-
nal control that supplement the annual financial statements.

Who is the most important user of an auditor’s report on a company’s
financial statements: company management, the company’s sharehold-
ers, or the company’s creditors? Briefly explain your rationale and indi-
cate how auditors should resolve potential conflicts in the needs of the
three parties.

How does an audit enhance the quality of financial statements and its
reports on internal control? Does an audit ensure a fair presentation of
a company’s financial statements or that internal control systems are
free of material deficiencies? Explain.

Who is primarily responsible for choosing the accounting principles that
are used to portray the company’s financial position and results? Explain.



1-12

1-13

1-14

1-15

1-16

1-17

1-18

1-19

1-20

1-21

1-22

1-23

1-24

1-25

1-26

1-27

1-28

1-29

Review Questions

What is corporate governance and why is it important? Explain how
an independent and competent audit committee improves corporate
governance.

In what other areas, besides the audit committee, did the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act improve corporate governance?

‘Why is independence important to the auditing profession? Who
decides whether an auditor is independent?

How do assurance services differ from audit services? What are the
primary drivers of the need for assurance services? Does a market
for assurance services already exist or do auditors need to develop
the market?

Who generally pays for assurance services—those receiving the assur-
ance or the party on which the assurance is given? Why is it important
who pays?

‘What is an attestation function? What are major factors that create a
demand for the performance of attestation services by the public
accounting profession?

In what ways is the auditing profession uniquely qualified to expand
into the broader arena of assurance services?

‘What are the six areas identified by the Special Committee on
Assurance Services that represent the largest market potential for pro-
viding new assurance services for the next decade? Which service, in
your view, has the greatest appeal as you enter the profession?

‘What is the major difference between auditing services and assurance
services?

What are the four attributes needed to perform assurance services?
Brietly describe each attribute and its importance. Are these attributes
also required for audits of a non-public company?

It is noted that an auditor can provide (1) positive assurance, (2) nega-
tive assurance, or (3) no assurance. Briefly describe these three levels of
service and when they might be used.

In what ways does the practice of internal auditing difter from the
practice of public accounting? To whom is the internal auditing func-
tion responsible?

In what ways might a public accounting practice of a firm that has no
public audit clients differ from audit firms that audit public companies?
In formulating your answer, focus on the nature of services that can be
provided for the audited organization as opposed to focusing on the
size of the firm.

What is the GAO? What types of audits does it perform? What is its
role in setting standards for municipal audits?

‘What is the role of the SEC in setting accounting and auditing standards?

What is the role of the PCAOB and the AICPA in (a) setting audit
standards, (b) performing quality control reviews of member firms, and
() setting accounting standards?

What is COSO? Why is COSO, as a non-regulatory body, important
to the auditing profession?

Are small, local CPA firms that serve only small businesses and other
local clients subject to the same auditing and accounting standards as
the large international CPA firms? If there are differences, what is the
rationale for the differences?
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1-30

1-31

Many public accounting firms are legally formed as networks of account-
ing firms. Explain what the term “network of accounting firms” means.

In what ways does the court system serve as a major regulatory body
for the public accounting profession? Does the court system have a
role in setting either accounting or auditing standards? Explain.

Multiple-Choice Questions

1-32

1-33

In determining the primary responsibility of the external auditor for
the audit of a company’s financial statements, the auditor owes primary
allegiance to

a. The management of the company being audited because the audi-
tor is hired and paid by management.

b. The audit committee of the company being audited because that
committee is responsible for coordinating and reviewing all audit
activities within the company.

c. Stockholders, creditors, and the investing public.

d. The SEC because it determines accounting principles and auditor
responsibility.

Which of the following would not represent one of the primary prob-

lems that creates the demand for independent audits of a company’s

financial statements?

a. Management bias in preparing financial statements.

b. The downsizing of business and financial markets.

c. The complexity of transactions affecting financial statements.

d. The remoteness of the user from the organization and thus the
inability of the user to directly obtain financial information from
the company.

1-34 Which of the following is not one of the rationales used by Congress

1-35

1-36

in developing the requirement for companies to report on the quality

of their internal control processes over financial reporting?

a. Better internal control puts management in a position to make bet-
ter financial decisions.

b. Many of the corporate failures took place in companies with inade-
quate internal controls.

c. In some of the largest frauds, e.g., WorldCom, management had the
ability to override the internal control system.

d. Investors rely on a flow of financial information throughout the
year. That information will be more reliable if internal control is
more reliable.

Which of the following statements is true regarding the provision of
assurance services?
I. The third party who receives the assurance generally pays for the
assurance received.
II. Assurance services always involve a report by one person to a third
party on which an independent organization provides assurance.
III. Assurance services can be provided either on information or on
processes.
a. Iand III
b. II only
c. I only
d. L 1I, and IIT

‘Which is not a properly worded assertion that would be tested by the

auditor in an integrated audit of internal controls and financial statements?

a. The financial statements are fairly presented.

b. Internal control operates effectively as judged by the COSO inter-
nal control criteria.



1-37

1-38

1-39

1-40

1-41

1-42

Discussion and Research Questions

c. Inventory is fairly presented at the lower of cost or market as deter-
mined by GAAP.

d. The financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with
the principles established by the International Accounting Standards
Board.

Internal auditing is viewed as an integral part of all of the following
organizational functions except:

a. Risk management

b. Governance

c. Control

d. Operations

Which of the following statements are correct regarding the setting of

auditing standards in the United States?

a. The AICPA is responsible for the setting of audit standards for audits
of non-public entities.

b. The GAO is responsible for setting audit standards for audits of gov-
ernmental entities.

c. The PCAOB is responsible for setting audit standards for audits of
public companies.

d. All of the above.

Which of the following statements are correct? As a result of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

a. Public companies must report on the quality of their internal controls
over financial reporting.

b. CPA firms cannot provide consulting services to any public
company.

c. CPA firms can provide tax services only to non-public companies.

d. Accounting standards are set by the PCAOB.

e. All of the above.

The GAO is responsible for all of the following except:

a. Developing standards for audits of federal agencies.

b. Developing standards for audits of state agencies.

c. Performing special investigations at the request of Congress.
d. Developing standards for external audits of public companies.

The AICPA is a private governing organization of the public account-

ing profession that does all of the following except

a. Perform quality peer reviews of companies performing audits.

b. Issue auditing standards dictating acceptable auditing practice for
financial audits of public companies in the United States.

c. Establish standards for attestation services other than audits.

d. Prepare and grade the Uniform CPA Examination.

All of the following are true of the PCAOB except:

a. No more than two of its members can be a CPA.

b. It sets auditing standards for all CPAs engaged in the practice of
auditing throughout the United States.

c. It sets standards for the audits of internal control of public
companies.

d. It is responsible for quality reviews of all CPA firms that audit pub-
lic companies.

Discussion and Research Questions

1-43

(Users of Financial Statements) It has been stated that auditing
must be neutral because audited financial statements must serve the
needs of a wide variety of users. If the auditor were to favor one
group, such as existing shareholders, there might be a bias against
another group, such as prospective investors.
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1-44

1-45

1-46

Required

a. What steps has the public accounting profession taken to minimize
potential bias toward important users and thereby encourage neu-
trality in financial reporting and auditing?

b. Who are the primary users of audited financial statements? Identify
four user groups you believe are the most important. For each one
identified, (1) briefly indicate their primary use of the financial state-
ments and (2) indicate how an accounting treatment might benefit
one party and potentially act to the detriment of another user.

(Purposes of an External Audit) The Rasmus Company manufac-
tures small gas engines for use on lawnmowers and other power equip-
ment. Most of its manufacturing has historically been in the Midwest,
but it has recently opened plants in Asia that account for about 30%
of its production. It is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Required

a. Briefly explain the rationale and value of an audit of a publicly-held
company to investors, creditors, and to the broader community as a
whole.

b. Explain why an audit of internal controls provides value to the
investing public.

c. Explain the importance of an audit committee to the reliability of
the financial statements and the audit function.

Quello Golf Distributors is a relatively small, privately-held golf distribut-
ing company handling several product lines including Ping, Callaway, and
Taylor-Made in the Midwest. It sells directly to golf shops, pro shops, etc.,
but does not sell to the big retailers. It has approximately $8 million in
sales and wants to grow at about 20% per year for the next five years. It is
also thinking of a takeover or a merger with another golf distributorship
that operates in many of the same areas.

Required

a. Explain why management might want an independent audit of its
financial statements. Identify the specific benefits to Quello Golf
Distributors.

b. What are the factors that Quello might consider in deciding whether
to seck an audit from a large national public accounting firm, a
regional public accounting firm, or a local firm?

c. Is Quello required to have an audit committee? Explain.

(Nature of Auditing and the Public Accounting Profession).

Do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Explain

your rationale.

a. A primary purpose of an audit is to ensure that all fraud that might
be significant to a user is detected and reported.

b. There 1s a not an independence problem in a privately-held firm
when the auditor is to be engaged by the manager because the
manager is also the owner.

c. Sarbanes-Oxley requires mandatory reporting on internal control
for public companies. That requirement should be extended to
major charities like the Red Cross.

d. The expectations of the auditors of public companies are too high;
the expectations simply cannot be met; the public should be better
educated on what the auditor does and is capable of doing.

e. Consulting by public accounting firms for privately-held companies
is a value-added proposition and does not impair the independence
of the audit; rather, it enhances the effectiveness of the audit because
of greater knowledge of the company.

f. The PCAOB greatly enhances the reputation of the public account-
ing profession because it not only sets standards, it determines
whether firms audit according to those standard’s.
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Discussion and Research Questions

g. Fairly presented in accordance to GAAP is not as precise of a
criterion as one thinks because GAAP allows a wide variety
of choices, e.g., FIFO vs. LIFO, accelerated vs. straight-line
depreciation.

h. The auditor should be forced to state both (a) whether the
financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and
(b) whether he or she feels that the choices made by the client
best portray the economic substance of transactions within the
GAAP framework.

i. Tax consulting, including preparing the tax return for top management,
does not create a contlict of interest with the conduct of the audit.

(Understanding the Business) It is stated in the chapter that under-
standing a client’s business is important to the conduct of an audit.

Required

a. Explain how an understanding of a business and the business envi-
ronment would be important to the auditor in evaluating accounts
such as:
1. Inventory
2. Allowance for uncollectible accounts
3. Warranty liability and warranty expenses

b. Explain how the understanding of the business may provide value-
added services that the auditor might be able to utilize to assist a
privately-held client.

(Implementing an Assurance Service) Assume an e-commerce coOm-

pany that sells to electronic consumers, e.g., Amazon.com, E-Toys, or

eBay, wants to obtain assurance services from a CPA firm that:

. All goods are shipped in a timely fashion.

The goods are exactly as advertised.

. The company stands behind any goods that are damaged in-transit.

. The company fulfills promises made in its credit policies.

. Credit card and billing information is kept safe and is not sold to
other e-tailers or retailers.

o0 o

Required

a. For each of the assurances (a—e), indicate the evidence the auditor
would gather in order to provide the assurance desired.

b. How often would the assurances have to be provided in order to
meet the objectives sought by both the merchant and consumers?

c. What would be the best way to present the assurance; i.e., how
would a potential user become aware of the assurances provided?

d. Why would a CPA be a good provider of such assurances?

e. What are the major attributes of companies that might not need
such assurances?

f. Who are alternative providers of the above assurances?

(Internal Audit Profession) The internal audit profession has
grown rapidly in the past decade and has developed its own certifi-
cation program. Many companies are developing policies to recruit
new personnel into internal audit departments directly from college
campuses.

Required

a. Briefly describe the nature of internal auditing. What does it mean
when it is described as an assurance and consulting activity? How
does consulting differ from assurance?

b. Briefly explain what the internal auditor’s role is regarding risk
management and controls.

c. What might be the primary arguments for hiring individuals into
internal auditing who are not CPAs or who might not even be
trained in accounting?

27




28

Chapter 1 Auditing: Integral to the Economy

1-50

1-51

1-52

(Auditing Professions) Briefly describe the roles and responsibilities

of the following professional organizations in developing and maintain-
ing auditing standards and monitoring the quality of the various audit-
ing professions:

a. AICPA

b. ITA

c. GAO

d. SEC

e. PCAOB

(Internal Auditing) You are aware that most of the first courses in
auditing focus on public accounting rather than internal auditing.
Yet your professor states that most of the concepts related to audit
approach and evidence gathering are applicable to both internal and
external auditing.

Required

a. If you decide to start your career in internal auditing, how will your
first two years of work differ from your first two years in public
accounting?

b. Assume that you are interested in eventually developing your skills as
a manager in a large organization. Explain why beginning a career in
internal auditing would be compatible with those objectives.

(Nature of Auditing and the Public Accounting Profession)
You and a colleague are carrying on a heated discussion. The colleague
makes a number of statements about the public accounting profession
that you believe are in error. Welcoming an opportunity for rebuttal,
you are ready to reply.

Required

a. For each of the following colleague statements, develop a brief
response indicating erroneous assumptions made by the colleague or
your agreement with the statements.

b. Cite relevant evidence in support of your response.

Colleague’ Statements

1. “Auditing neither creates goods nor adds utility to existing goods
and therefore does not add value to business. Auditing exists only
because it has been legally mandated.”

2. “The failure of the public accounting profession to warn us of the
problems that existed in the economy is an example of a profession
not adding utility to society.”

3. “The only reason I would hire an auditor is with the expectation
that the auditor search for and find any fraud that might exist
within my company. Searching for fraud should be the primary
focus of an audit.”

4. “Auditors cannot legitimately serve the ‘user’ public because they
are hired and fired by the management of the company being
audited. If management does not like the opinion given by an
auditor, it can simply hire another auditing firm that would be
more amenable to the arguments made by management.”

5. “The switch to the PCAOB in setting audit standards will
enhance the reputation of the profession because they must act in
the public’s interest.”

6. “Auditors cannot add significant value to financial statements as
long as GAAP allow such diversity in accounting principles. How;,
for example, can the same auditor issue unqualified opinions on
identical companies—one that uses FIFO and the other LIFO to
account for the same set of transactions—recognizing that the
reported income and balance sheets will be materially difterent?
How can both be fairly presented?”



1-53

1-54

10.

11.

Discussion and Research Questions

. “Auditing is narrow—just nitpicking and challenging the organiza-
tion in an attempt to find mistakes. I would rather pursue a career
where I really understand a company’s business and would be in a
position to make recommendations that would improve it.”

. “Auditing would add greater value if it analyzed company per-
formance and presented a report on company performance along
with the audited financial statements.”

. “If auditors make recommendations to clients based on weaknesses

in the company operations, the auditors ought to make those rec-

ommendations public. This would help increase the public trust by
providing more accountability by both management and auditors.”

“Adding reports on the quality of internal control will enhance

the value of the audit function to society.”

“The auditor’s report admits that transactions are evaluated only

on a ‘test’ basis; thus, the results embodied within an auditor’s report

must be treated with a great deal of skepticism.”

(Types of Audits) Internal audits can generally be classified as (1) oper-
ational audits, (2) compliance audits, or (3) financial audits.

Required

a.

For each of the following audit procedures, briefly indicate which
of these three classifications best describes the nature of the audit
being conducted.

. Briefly indicate the type of auditor (public accounting firm, internal

auditor, or governmental auditor) who would most likely perform
each of the audits.

Audit Procedures Conducted

1.

Evaluate the policies of the Department of Housing and Urban
Development to determine their adequacy and whether they are
effectively implemented.

. Determine the presentation in conformity with GAAP of a munici-

pality’s statement of operations for the year just ended.

. Evaluate the procedures used by the service department of a tele-

phone utility to respond to customer maintenance. Determine
whether responses are timely and are correctly and completely

billed.

. Determine the costs of a municipality’s garbage pickup and disposal

and compare these costs to those for similar services that might be
obtained by contracting with a private contractor.

. Determine whether all temporary investments by a company have

been made in accordance with company policies and procedures
and whether cash 1s handled economically and efficiently to maxi-
mize the benefits to the organization.

. Conduct a tour of a manufacturing plant as a basis for determining

the extent of waste and inefficiency. Study alternatives that might be
utilized to cut down waste and inefficiency.

. Review and test the security of the company’s computer system

used for Internet processing.

. Review the operations of an organization that has received a gov-

ernment grant to assist in training the jobless. The grant specifies
criteria that must be utilized in using the grant money for job
retraining, and so on.The audit is designed to determine whether
such criteria are being utilized by the grantee organization.

. Analyze the financial statements of a company that has been targeted

for a takeover. Present your analysis to management and the board
of directors.

(Internal Auditing) Ramsay Mfg. Co. has an active internal audit
department that has a major objective to ensure compliance with
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company policies and to identify ways in which an organization can
improve its operational eftectiveness.

Required

Describe how an operational audit might be conducted in the follow-
ing areas:

a. The treasury function

b. Inventory management and control

c. Customer service

d. Order entry and shipment

(Public Accounting Profession) In their review of the public
accounting profession, Lou Harris and Associates warn that an audit
report too often is viewed as a “certificate of health” for a company.
The report states:

The most serious consequences stemming from such a misunderstanding
are that the independent auditor can quickly be portrayed as the force that
represents all good in financial accounting and the guarantor of anything
positive anyone wants to feel about a given company.

Required

a. Why is public accounting often viewed as a guarantor of results
or even as a provider of assurance that one’s investment is of high
quality?

b. To what extent is it reasonable to view the auditor as a guarantor?
Explain.

c. How does the auditing profession work to create or communicate a
reasonable set of expectations that users should hold?

d. To what extent do you believe that user expectations of the public
accounting profession appear to you to be unwarranted? Explain.

(PCAOB) Access the PCAOB home page at http://www.pcaobus.org:

a. Identify the five members of the Board and their background. What
is their background in accounting or using financial statements?

b. Identify the most recent auditing standard issued, or in exposure
draft. Identify the nature of the standard and discuss the reason that
the Board is issuing the standard.

(SEC) Access the SEC home page at http://www.sec.gov:

a. Identify the most recent litigation brought by the SEC against a
public firm or against an accounting firm. Read the abstract of the
complaint and download the document filed with the court.

b. Comment on the nature of the litigation.

(SEC) Access the SEC home page at http://www.sec.gov:

a. Identify the most recent Staff Accounting Bulletin that provides
guidance to the profession.

b. Identify the guidance given.

User expectations of auditors may differ markedly from goals that
the profession is capable of meeting. For example, a committee
recommended that “the auditor evaluate the measurements and dis-
closures made by management to determine whether the financial
statements are misleading, even if they technically conform with
authoritative accounting pronouncements.” Similarly, surveys by
Lou Harris and Associates indicate that many users expect the
auditors to detect fraud.

Required

a. Review recent studies or news articles that comment on auditor
responsibilities. Evaluate the recommendations made regarding audit
responsibilities and indicate whether or not you believe the recom-
mendations are reasonable. Briefly support your opinion.


http://www.pcaobus.org
http://www.sec.gov
http://www.sec.gov
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b. What are the current requirements for auditors to communicate to
any parties their overall assessment of accounting used by the organ-
ization being audited; i.e., are auditors required to communicate to
anyone if they believe that the financial statements technically con-
form to GAAP, but another treatment would result in a “fairer”
presentation?

1-60 The large public accounting firms no longer provide consulting services Activity

for audit clients. However, many public accounting firms that do not
audit public companies continue to provide such services to their clients.

Required

a. Log on to the web site of one of the Big 4 firms and identify the
breadth of services that the firm provides to non-audit clients.

b. Log on to the web site of two firms in your area that provide serv-
ices primarily to non-public companies. Identify their “business
motto” and identify the nature of non-audit services provided to
clients.

c. Contrast the breadth and nature of services provided by the Big 4
firms vs. the local firms that you have examined.

Cases

1-61 In a report to Congress entitled: “Superfund: A More Vigorous and
Better Managed Enforcement Program Is Needed,” the GAO made
the following observations:

Because cost recovery has been considered a low priority within EPA [the
Environmental Protection Agency] and received limited staff resources, it has
faltered. To provide a systematic approach for implementing its Superfund
enforcement initiatives, EPA should establish long-term, measurable goals for
implementing the Administrator’s Superfund strategy and identify the
resource requirements that will be needed to meet these long-term goals.
GAO also makes other recommendations to improve EPA’s enforcement
activities.

Discussion Issues

a. How would the GAO go about developing evidence to reach the
conclusion that cost recovery has been a low priority within the
EPA?

b. Why is it important to the EPA, Congress, and the GAO that the
EPA establish long-term, measurable goals? How would the estab-
lishment of such goals facilitate future audits of the EPA?

c. Based on the conclusions identified earlier, would you consider the
work performed on the EPA by the GAO to be an audit? Explain
why or why not.

d. In what substantive ways does it appear that the audit work of the
GAO difters from that of the public accounting profession?




CHAPTER

Corporate Governance,
Audit Standards

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

The overriding objective of this textbook is to build a foundation to analyze
current professional issues and adapt audit approaches to business and eco-
nomic complexities. Through studying this chapter, you will be able to:

e Define the term “corporate governance,” describe recent failures in corporate gover-
nance, and identify actions that the public perceived necessary to improve the quality
of corporate governance.

e Identify the expectations of the audit profession by major user groups and the
actions these groups have taken to increase audit responsibilities.

e Identify and analyze the public implications of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on
corporate management and the auditing profession.

e Identify and analyze the key components of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

e Identify management’s role as the key communicator of financial and control informa-
tion to stakeholders.

e Identify the key responsibilities of the audit committee as the primary audit client of
public companies.

e Identify the generally accepted auditing standards and describe how the standards
affect the nature of audits.

e Describe the differences in audit standards, scope of allowable work, and standard
setting processes for large CPA firms that audit public companies and smaller CPA
firms that audit private companies.

e Describe the overall audit process as a foundation for fulfilling audit responsibilities
to the public.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The public accounting profession has been widely criticized during the past
decade for failing to protect investor interests. While much of the audit profes-
sion performed admirably during this time period, the failures were spectacu-
lar: Enron, WorldCom, Global Crossing, and HealthSouth. Congress reacted to
these failures by enacting the most extensive legislation affecting the audit pro-
fession since the enactment of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 fundamentally changed the auditor-client relation-
ship and moved the process of setting audit standards for public companies
from the private sector to the public sector.

However, the failures that occurred during the past decade were not solely
attributable to failures in the audit profession. They also represented funda-
mental failures at the very heart of organization—failures of the corporate gov-
ernance structure. The failures in ethical standards and corporate governance
continue with new issues every year. In the past few years, there have been
questions about management greed associated with backdating of stock
options, and whether a board has enough power, time, and resources to pro-
vide proper oversight of management.



Corporate Governance and Auditing

Understanding
Auditor

Responsibilities

The landscape for the auditing profession has changed with increased respon-
sibilities, changed expectations, and greater regulatory oversight. This chapter
describes the changes in audit responsibilities, describes generally accepted
auditing standards, and presents a brief overview of the audit process.

Corporate Governance and Auditing

The financial failures of the past decade were not exclusively the fault of the
public accounting profession. Rather, the failures represented fundamental break-
downs in the structure of corporate governance. Nor were the failures limited to
the United States. Similar failures occurred in major companies located in Italy,
France, the UK., as well as other parts of the world. Greed simply overwhelmed
all parts of the system. Thus, much of the regulation that took place in response
to the financial failures addressed fundamental problems in corporate gover-
nance. The auditing profession is an integral part of corporate governance. To
fully understand audit responsibilities, we need to first understand the auditor’s
role in corporate governance.
Corporate governance is defined as:

a process by which the owners and creditors of an organization exert control and require
accountability for the resources entrusted to the organization. The owners (stockholders)
elect a board of directors to provide oversight of the organization’s activities.

There are many parties involved in corporate governance. Exhibit 2.1 pro-
vides a broad schematic of the overall governance process. Governance starts

Understanding Auditor Responsibilities
2

For What:
Financial Statements
Internal Control Reports
Corporate Governance

Attributes Needed:
Ethics
Standards
Legal Responsibilities
High Quality Decision-
Making
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EXHIBIT 2.1 Overview of Corporate Governance
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with the owners (shareholders) delegating responsibilities through an elected
board of directors to management and, in turn, to operating units. In return
for those responsibilities (and power), governance demands accountability
back through the system to the shareholders. The owners need accountability
as to how well the resources that have been entrusted to management and the
board have been used. For example, the owners want accountability on such
things as:

e Financial performance

e Financial transparency, i.e., the financial statements are clear with full disclosure and
reflect the underlying economics of the company

e Stewardship, including how well the company protects and manages the resources
entrusted to it

e Quality of internal controls

e Composition of the board of directors and the nature of their activities, including
information on how well management incentive systems are aligned with the share-
holders” best interests

Further, the owners want assurances that the representations made by manage-
ment and the board are accurate and objectively verifiable. It is the audit func-
tion’s responsibility to meet this broad requirement. Formerly, the auditor’s
assurances were limited to the financial statements. It is now expanded to include
financial transparency and internal controls. The board has a responsibility to
report on its activities, including management incentive systems, but its reports are
not independently attested to by auditors.

The following are the primary parties involved in corporate governance:

e Stockholders

e Boards of Directors

e Audit committees of the Board

® Management

e Self-regulatory accounting organizations, e.g., AICPA

e Qther self-requlatory organizations, e.g., New York Stock Exchange
e Regulatory agencies, e.g., SEC

e External auditors

e Internal auditors

Corporate Governance Responsibilities

To understand the nature of the changes in corporate governance dictated by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, it is necessary to understand the interrelationships
of the primary parties and how they each failed. A brief summary is presented in
Exhibit 2.2. All of the failures occurred in companies such as WorldCom, Enron,
and HealthSouth. But it would be a mistake to think that these were the only
companies involved. The failures were pervasive across all corporate structures
and in various parts of the world.

Investment analysts focused on “earnings expectations” and further con-
tributed to the problem by relying on management guidance rather than per-
forming their own fundamental analysis. The problems were further exacerbated
with the prevalence of stock options as a major part of management compen-
sation. Finally, there was a loss in confidence in accounting numbers since ana-
lysts recognized that company management had the ability to make accounting
judgments to manipulate reported earnings through estimates or other account-
ing choices.
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Corporate Governance Responsibilities and Failures

Party

Overview of Responsibilities

Overview of Corporate Governance Failures

Stockholders

Board of Directors

Management

Audit Committees of
the Board of
Directors

Self-Regulatory
Organizations:
AICPA, FASB

Broad Role: Provide effective oversight through elec-
tion of board members, approval of major initiatives
such as buying or selling stock, annual reports on
management compensation from the board

Broad Role: The major representative of stockhold-

ers to ensure that the organization is run according

to the organization’s charter and that there is proper

accountability

Specific activities include:

- Selecting management

+ Reviewing management performance and deter-
mining compensation

- Declaring dividends

+ Approving major changes, e.g., mergers

+ Approving corporate strategy

+ Overseeing accountability activities

Broad Role: Operations and accountability. Manage

the organization effectively; provide accurate and

timely accountability to shareholders and other

stakeholders

Specific activities include:

- Formulating strategy and risk management

- Implementing effective internal controls

- Developing financial and other reports to meet
public, stakeholder, and regulatory requirements

- Managing and reviewing operations

- Implementing an effective ethical environment

Broad Role: Provide oversight of the internal and

external audit function and the process of preparing

the annual financial statements and public reports

on internal control

Specific activities include:

- Selecting the external audit firm

+ Approving any non-audit work performed by audit
firm

-+ Selecting and/or approving the appointment of
the Chief Audit Executive (Internal Auditor)

- Reviewing and approving the scope and budget of
the internal audit function

- Discussing audit findings with internal auditor and
external auditor and advising the board (and man-
agement) on specific actions that should be taken

Broad Role: Set accounting and auditing standards
dictating underlying financial reporting and auditing
concepts, set the expectations of audit quality and
accounting quality

Focused on short-term prices; failed to perform long-
term growth analysis; abdicated most responsibilities
to management as long as stock price increased

- Inadequate oversight of management

- Approval of management compensation plans, par-
ticularly stock options that provided perverse incen-
tives, including incentives to manage
earnings

- Directors often dominated by management

- Did not spend sufficient time or have sufficient
expertise to perform duties

- Continually re-priced stock options when market
price declined

- Earnings management to meet analyst expectations

- Fraudulent financial reporting

- Utilizing accounting concepts to achieve reporting
objectives

- Created an environment of greed, rather than one
of high ethical conduct

+ Similar to board members—did not have expertise or
time to provide effective oversight of audit functions.

- Were not viewed by auditors as the “audit client”;
Rather, the power to hire and fire the auditors often
rested with management

- AICPA: Peer reviews did not take a public perspec-
tive; rather, the reviews looked at standards that
were developed and reinforced internally

- Inadequate enforcement of existing audit standards

(continued)
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ibilities and Failures (continued)

Party Overview of Responsibilities Overview of Corporate Governance Failures
Specific roles include: - AICPA: Did not actively involve third parties in stan-
- Establishing accounting principles dard setting
- Establishing auditing standards - FASB: Became more rule-oriented in response to
+ Interpreting previously issued standards (a) complex economic transactions, and (b) an
+ Implementing quality control processes to ensure auditing profession that was more oriented to push-
audit quality ing the rules rather than enforcing concepts
- Educating members on audit and accounting - FASB: Pressure from Congress to develop rules
requirements that enhanced economic growth, e.g., allowing
organizations to not expense stock options
Other Self-Regulatory Broad Role: Ensure the efficiency of the financial - Pushed for improvements for better corporate gover-

Organizations: NYSE,
NASDAQ

Regulatory Agencies:
the SEC

External Auditors

Internal Auditors

markets including oversight of trading and oversight

of companies that are allowed to trade on the

exchange

Specific activities include:

- Establishing listing requirements—including
accounting requirements and governance require-
ments

- Overseeing trading activities

Broad Role: Ensure the accuracy, timeliness, and fair-

ness of public reporting of financial and other informa-

tion for public companies

Specific activities include:

- Reviewing filings with the SEC

+ Interacting with the FASB in setting accounting
standards

- Specifying independence standards required of
auditors that report on public financial statements

- ldentify corporate frauds, investigate causes, and
suggest remedial actions

Broad Role: Perform audits of company financial
statements to ensure that the statements are free
of material misstatements including misstatements
that may be due to fraud

Specific activities include:

+ Audits of public company financial statements

+ Audits of non-public company financial statements
- Other services such as tax or consulting

Broad Role: Perform audits of companies for compli-
ance with company policies and laws, audits to eval-
uate the efficiency of operations, and periodic
evaluation and tests of controls

Specific activities include:

- Reporting results and analyses to management
(including operational management) and audit
committees

- Evaluating internal controls

nance procedures by its members, but failed to
implement those same procedures for its governing
board, management, and trading specialists

- ldentified problems but was not granted sufficient
resources by Congress or the Administration to deal
with the issues

- Helped companies utilize accounting concepts to
achieve earnings objectives

- Promoted personnel based on ability to sell “non-
audit products”

- Replaced direct tests of accounting balances with
inquiries, risk analysis, and analytics

- Failed to uncover basic frauds in cases such as
WorldCom and HealthSouth because fundamental
audit procedures were not performed

- Focused efforts on “operational audits” and
assumed that financial auditing was addressed by
the external audit function

+ Reported primarily to management with little report-
ing to the audit committee

+ In some instances (HealthSouth, WorldCom) did not
have access to the corporate financial accounting
records
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The SEC, led by Arthur Levitt, had been pushing for reform of the auditing
profession. He summed up the problem as follows:

Auditors are the public’s watchdogs in the financial reporting process. We rely on audi-
tors to put something like the good housekeeping seal of approval on the information
investors receive. The integrity of that information must take priority.'

Levitts concerns led the NYSE and NASDAQ to appoint a Blue Ribbon
Committee to improve the effectiveness of audit committees. He also pushed the
SEC to further develop concepts of audit independence because the consulting fees
(mostly from audit clients) of public accounting firms became higher than audit fees.
The problem had been seen for over a decade. As early as 1988, Arthur Wyatt, a long-
time accounting standard setter at Arthur Andersen and then at the FASB, said:

Practicing professionals should place the public interest above the interests of clients,
particularly when participating in a process designed to develop standards expected to
achieve fair presentation . . .. Unfortunately, the auditor today is often a participant in
aggressively seeking loopholes.”

Not a Perfect Storm

The SEC was increasingly concerned with what they viewed as a decline in pro-
fessionalism and cited numerous instances in which the accounting that had been
certified by public accounting firms did not reflect economic reality, although
they might be in accordance with GAAP. Chairman Levitt cited numerous prob-
lems with the profession, including the use of the following:

e “Cookie jar reserves” to manage earnings
e Improper revenue recognition
e (reative accounting for mergers and acquisitions that did not reflect economic reality

e Increased use of stock-based compensation that put increased pressure on meeting
earnings targets

Chairman Levitt was concerned that public accounting firms did not have
either the aptitude nor the desire to say no to client accounting that pushed all the
bounds of financial reporting reasonableness. He proposed a change that would
require auditors to make independent judgments on the economic substance of
transactions and certify reports that were fully transparent of company activities.

In a separate study of the auditing profession, the Public Oversight Board
(POB) issued a report citing concerns with the audit process and methods of
audit partner compensation. Specifically, the POB had concerns that:

e Analytical procedures were being used inappropriately to replace direct tests of
account balances.

e Audit firms were not thoroughly evaluating internal control and applying substantive
procedures to address weaknesses in control.

e Audit documentation, especially related to the planning of the audit, was not up to
professional standards.

e Auditors were ignoring warning signals of fraud and other problems.

e Auditors were not providing sufficient warning to investors about companies that
might not continue as “going concerns.”

The warning signs were present, but company management ignored them, and
the auditing profession did not recognize them.

It is against this backdrop that Congress acted in developing the Sarbanes-
Oxley legislation and empowered the SEC to take more effective action in polic-
ing governance, financial reporting, and auditing.

! Arthur Levitt, “The Numbers Game,” Remarks at the NYU Center for Law and Business Reporting,
September 28, 1998.

2 Arthur Wyatt, “Professionalism in Standard Setting,” CPA Journal (July 1988), 20-26.
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The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

After the debacles of the Enron and WorldCom frauds, Congress felt it necessary
to act to protect the investing public. In these companies, and unfortunately in
many others, significant operational failures were covered up with clever account-
ing frauds that were not detected by the public accounting firms. The press,
Congress, and the general public continued to ask why such failures could have
occurred when the public accounting profession was given the sole license to
protect the public from financial fraud and misleading financial statements.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 is comprehensive and will be subject to
regulatory adjustment by the SEC or PCAOB for many years to come. Some of
the more significant provisions of the Act include:

e Establishing the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) with broad
powers, including the power to set auditing standards for audits of public companies

® Requiring that the CEO and CFO certify the financial statements and the disclosures in
those statements

® Requiring management of public companies to provide a comprehensive report on
internal controls over financial reporting with independent auditor attestation to
management’s report

® Requiring management to certify the correctness of the financial statements, its dis-
closures and processes to achieve adequate disclosure, and the quality of its internal
controls

® Empowering audit committees to be the formal “audit client,” with responsibilities to
hire and fire its external auditors and pre-approve any non-audit services provided by
its external auditors; audit committees must also publicly report their charter, and
issue an annual report on its activities

® Requiring that audit committees have at least one person who is a financial expert
and must disclose the name and characteristics of that individual; other members
must be knowledgeable in financial accounting as well as internal control

® Requiring that partners in charge of audit engagements, as well as all other partners
or managers with a significant role in the audit, are rotated off public company
engagements every five years

® Increasing the disclosure of all “off-balance sheet” transactions or agreements
that may have a material current or future effect on the financial condition of the
company

® Requiring the establishment of an effective “whistleblowing program” whereby impor-
tant violations of the company’s ethical code (including those related to accounting
transparency) are reported to the appropriate levels of the organization and the audit
committee

® There must be a “cooling off” period before a partner or manager can take a high-
level position in an audit client; without the cooling off period, it is presumed that
the independence of the public accounting firm is jeopardized

In addition to these provisions, the Act mandated studies of the accounting
profession—most of which were performed by the GAO. These studies included:

e The effect of consolidation of the accounting profession on the competitiveness of
the profession

e An analysis of “principles-based accounting” vs. “rules-based accounting” and what it
would take to implement a principles-based accounting approach for U.S public com-
pany reporting

e An analysis of public company failures in the last decade and the implications for the
public accounting profession and for corporations

e An analysis of mandatory audit firm rotation and whether there are serious impedi-
ments to implementing mandatory rotation requirements
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These studies have been completed. The GAO has concerns about the continu-
ing competitiveness of the public accounting profession. They view the potential
failure of one of the remaining Big 4 firms as a serious impediment to competition
in the profession. They have urged non-Big 4 firms to seeck new clients and the
national firms such as Grant Thornton, BDO, and McGladrey have all increased
market share. The GAO’s analysis of the rotation of audit firms led them to conclude
that there are significant costs to changing audit firms on a frequent basis and that it
is best for the audit committees to exercise their judgment in selecting audit firms.

The SEC performed a comprehensive study on principles-based accounting
and suggested that the profession needed to move toward a more “objectives-
based” accounting approach. However, to date, there has not been much move-
ment in this area. The analysis of audit failures yielded insight regarding the basic
skepticism of auditors, the inappropriate use of risk-based auditing, failure to per-
form basic audit procedures, and a failure to fully understand the business and its
industry—all as contributing factors to audit failures. The SEC and PCAOB
were quite critical of the nature in which partners were compensated, citing too
much emphasis on revenue generation and not enough on audit quality.

The PCAOB

With the establishment of the PCAOB, Congress, in essence, has said that the
profession was not capable of setting its own standards for the audits of public
companies. The PCAOB has been given the authority to set standards for audits
of public companies and will define the profession’s responsibilities for detecting
fraud and other financial misdeeds. The PCAOB has five members, only two of
whom can be CPAs.! The PCAOB has the ability to make choices including:

e Setting auditing standards; the Board sets new audit standards, although it has
chosen to incorporate some of the existing AICPA auditing standards

e Setting standards for reports on internal control over financial reporting

e Performing inspections of public accounting firm performance and recommending
penalties, including censure, if the firms fail to perform at required levels

® Requiring all public accounting firms that audit public companies to register with the
PCAOB and become licensed to perform such audits

The PCAOB is firmly established with a strong staft that is serious about setting
audit standards that serve the public interest. They have also established an inspec-
tion process where they are not only looking at the effectiveness of the audits of
public companies, but whether the audits have been carried out efficiently.

Auditor Independence Provisions

Rule 201 of the Act prohibits any registered public accounting firm from providing
certain non-audit services contemporaneously with audit services. Essentially the
audit firms are prohibited from performing consulting work for their audit clients.
The specific practices that are prohibited are covered in more detail in Chapter 3.

The Act does not stop with the broad prohibition of consulting services. It
goes further by:

® Making the audit committee the auditor’s client
e Requiring the audit committee to pre-approve all non-audit services by the audit firm
e Requiring partner rotation on all public companies every five years

The Act recognized that other services, besides those normally designated
as consulting, may impair the objectivity, or the appearance of objectivity, of
the audit firm. For example, many users have been concerned that tax planning

! Interestingly, the first two CPAs appointed to the board were both lawyers who had significant previous roles
at the SEC.
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for the audit client, or more especially for the top management of audit
clients, might impair the auditor’s objectivity because tax planning usually
necessitates an advocacy position in favor of the client. The PCAOB prohibits
providing any tax services for an audit client except for preparing the client’s
tax returns.

Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports

Management has always had the primary responsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of an organization’s financial statements. It is management’s respon-

sibility to:

e Make choices on which accounting principles best portray the economic substance of
company transactions

e Implement a system of internal control that assures completeness and accuracy in
financial reporting

e Ensure that the financial statements contain full and complete disclosure

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act goes a step further: It requires management (both the
CEO and the CFO) to certify the accuracy of the financial statements and pro-
vides for criminal penalties for materially misstated financial statements. Further,
management has to describe whether they have implemented a Corporate Code
of Conduct, including provisions for whistleblowing, and processes to ensure that
corporate actions are consistent with the Code of Conduct.

Many of the corporate failures took place in an environment in which inter-
nal controls over financial reporting were not operative. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act
creates a new responsibility for management to develop a public report on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and requires auditors to
attest to management’s report. The key elements of the internal control attesta-
tion process are discussed in more detail in Chapter 6.

Two other provisions will affect management’s approach to financial reporting.
The first deals with restatements. Section 302 requires executives of an issuer to
forfeit any bonus or incentive-based pay or profits from the sale of stock received
in the 12 months prior to an earnings restatement. The second provision makes it
a criminal act to provide false or misleading information about the financial con-
dition of the company to the accounting firm that is conducting an audit.

Enhanced Role of Audit Committees

Audit committees for public companies take on added importance under
Sarbanes-Oxley—they are clearly designated as the audit client. Further, the audit
committee has broad oversight responsibilities over the internal audit and finan-
cial reporting processes. See Exhibit 2.3 for an overview of audit committee
responsibilities.

The audit committee must be composed of “outside directors,” i.e., directors
who are not members of management and do not have other relationships with
the firm (e.g., a vendor, consultant, or general counsel). The audit committee has
important oversight roles. It is important that we remember these are oversight
roles; i.e., the audit committee does not replace the CFO or divisional con-
trollers—the responsibility for all of these functions lies with management. The
audit committee should:

e Be apprised of all significant accounting choices made by management

e Be apprised of all significant changes in accounting systems and controls built into
those systems

e Have the authority to hire and fire the external auditor and should review the audit
plan and audit results with the auditors
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Audit Committee Oversight Responsibilities
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e Have the authority to hire and fire the head of the internal audit function, and set
the budget for the internal audit activity and should review the audit plan and discuss
all significant audit results

e Receive all the regulatory audit reports and periodically meet with the regulatory
auditors to discuss their findings and their concerns

Audit committees are increasingly expanding their functions to include over-
sight over the risk management processes utilized by the organization. In most
organizations, the audit committee also reviews the annual report filed with the
SEC, including an analysis of the Management Discussion and Analysis section
of the report to determine that management’s discussion is consistent with their
understanding of operational performance.

The audit committee is not intended to replace the important processes per-
formed by the auditors. But the audit committee must make informed choices
about the quality of work it receives from the auditors. For example, the audit
committee must monitor and assess the independence and competence of all
audit functions; it should review quality control reports on both the external
audit firm and the internal audit function; and it should evaluate the quality of
reports it receives from the auditors and the quality of financial reporting and
control discussions.

The independence of the audit committee is further enhanced by require-
ments of the NYSE to limit the number of non-independent members of the
board of directors and to suggest that positions of the Chairman of the Board
and the CEO be separated. The external auditor should discuss any controversial
accounting choices with the audit committee and must communicate all signif-
icant adjustments made to the financial statements during the course of the audit.
The audit committee will receive feedback from both the internal auditors and
external auditors on the quality of internal controls over financial reporting.
Finally, the audit committee must be aware of all regulatory audit findings that

Point
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may provide feedback on the quality of controls, or may have operational or
financial implications.

Prior to the introduction of Sarbanes-Oxley, audit committees typically met
three to four times a year—usually an hour before the annual board meeting.
Clearly that has all changed: The audit committee is a key component of effec-
tive corporate governance; their members must have both sufficient time and
expertise to fulfill their function; and the chair of the audit committee must be
a strong individual who is willing to have frequent contacts with auditors and
management.

Required Audit Communication to the Audit Committee

It is important that auditors and audit committee members have clear expecta-
tions of the audit profession. The AICPA developed SAS 61 over a decade ago
to promote better communication between auditors and audit committees by
specifying certain things that must be communicated on every engagement. The
required communication is shown in Exhibit 2.4 and forms the foundation on
which all communication takes place with the audit committee. The auditor
must discuss all significant accounting and audit issues with the audit committee.
This includes any restrictions by management on the conduct of the audit, or any

Required Communication to Audit Committees

REQUIRED COMMUNICATION TO AUDIT COMMITTEE AICPA AUDITING STANDARDS

Auditor’s Responsibility under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

The auditor must clearly communicate the audit firm’s responsibility to perform the audit according to GAAS and independently
assess the fairness of the financial statements; to assess the quality of the entity’s internal controls over financial reporting; to
attest to the fairness of management’s report on internal accounting over financial reporting; and to design the audit to detect
material misstatements.

Significant Accounting Policies
The auditor should ensure that the audit committee is informed about the initial selection of, and changes in, significant accounting
policies or their application, and discuss the quality of accounting principles used.

Management Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Many corporate failures have involved manupulated accounting estimates such as loan loss reserves. The auditor should ensure that
the audit committee is aware of the processes’ used by management in making sensitive accounting estimates, and the auditor’s
assessment of those processes and accompanying estimates.

Significant Audit Adjustments

Significant audit adjustments may reflect on the stewardship and accountability of management. The audit committee should be made
aware of such adjustments, even if management readily agrees to make them. Significant adjustments, by definition, suggest that
there have been internal control failures that must be communicated to management and the audit committee.

Other Information in Annual Reports
The auditor should briefly describe the auditor’'s responsibility to review other information contained in an annual report and whether
such information is consistent with the audited financial statements.

Disagreements with Management

All major accounting disagreements with management, even if eventually resolved, should be discussed with the audit committee.
This requirement is intended to insulate the auditors from management pressure to change or bend accounting treatments to suit
management and should remove any subtle hints that the auditing firm may be replaced because it disagrees with management’s pro-
posed accounting treatments.



Enhanced Role of Audit Committees

disagreements with management on how to account for something. In addition,
the auditor is required to communicate all significant deficiencies in internal
control to the audit committee.

The audit committee must be assured that the auditor is free of any restrictions
and has not been influenced by management during the course of the audit. Thus,
the auditor must also communicate whether there were major issues discussed with
management before the auditor was engaged, or whether management has con-
sulted with other audit firms. These last two issues are far less frequent than they
had been in the past since the audit committee has taken responsibility for the
engagement of the auditors. Finally, it is important to remember that this required
communication is not limited to public companies, but is required for all compa-
nies that have an audit committee, and if a company does not have an audit com-
mittee, the issues must be communicated to the board as a whole or its equivalent.

Auditors have a responsibility to exercise informed judgment beyond simply
determining whether the statements reflect generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP). The auditor must have a discussion with the audit committee
about not only the acceptance of an accounting principle chosen, but whether
or not the auditor believes the accounting treatment best portrays the economic
substance of the transaction.

The required communication provides the audit committee with a pivotal
role in corporate governance. The auditing role is enhanced with the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act as CPA firms cannot provide non-audit services without the explicit
approval of the audit committee. Further, audit committees are motivated to
make sure the auditors do their job because poor performance or non-objective
performance on the part of the auditors will directly reflect on the performance
of the audit committee members.

Importance of Good Governance to the Audit Good governance is impor-
tant to the conduct of an audit for one very simple reason: Companies with good
corporate governance are less risky. These companies are less likely to engage in
“financial engineering”; will usually have a code of conduct that is reinforced by
actions of top management; will have independent board members who take their
jobs seriously and have sufficient time and resources to perform their work; and will
take the requirements of good internal control over financial reporting seriously and
make a commitment to needed financial competencies. Recent empirical studies
have shown that companies with good corporate governance also have (a) lower
costs of capital and (b) superior stock returns as compared to companies with lower
levels of corporate governance.

More and more, many audit firms are not willing to accept potential audit
clients unless the clients demonstrate a strong commitment to good corporate
governance. Stated simply, a public company that does not commit to good cor-
porate governance is too much of a risk for an audit firm. Such a company is
more likely to have violations of its corporate code of conduct, is more suscep-
tible to financial fraud, have a less robust internal control system, and will be
more difficult to audit. Most audit firms look at the governance issues when
making decisions to become associated with, or to remain associated with, an
audit client.

As public accounting firms continue to expand their services to non-audit
clients, the governance issues remain important. Even though not rendering an
audit opinion, a public accounting firm cannot afford the risk of being associated
with a company that has a reputation for poor governance. For example, assume
that a Big 4 public accounting firm performed only internal audit work for a
company with a less than reputable corporate governance structure and manage-
ment was found to have illegally backdated the exercise dates for stock options.
Outside users would ask why the internal audit function had not looked at the
risk associated with management compensation and brought it to the attention of
the board, and further, seen to it that the board had taken proper action.
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Audit Standard Setting

The PCAOB has the authority to issue auditing standards for the audits of public
companies in the United States. It has shown that it will recognize other auditing
standards either retroactively or as they arise. To date, they have adopted the exist-
ing AICPA standards as a starting point, but have indicated an interest in greater
harmonization with international auditing standards.

Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

The Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA developed ten generally accepted
auditing standards for the audit of financial statements that serve as a foundation
for all other standards, including those that have been adopted by the PCAOB.
Because the standards are conceptual in nature, an understanding of them pro-
vides a foundation to better understand other standards. The standards are devel-
oped in three categories:

e General Standards—those applying to the auditor and audit firm

e Fieldwork Standards—those applying to the conduct of the audit
e Reporting Standards—those applying to communicating the auditor’s opinion

The standards are shown in Exhibit 2.5

General Standards The general standards guide the profession in selecting
and training its professionals to meet that public trust. These standards are repre-
sented by the broad concepts underlying technical training and proficiency, inde-
pendence from the client, and the exercise of due professional care.

Generally Accepted Auditing Standards for Audits of Financial Statements

GENERAL STANDARDS

1. The audit must be performed by a person or persons having adequate technical training and proficiency as an auditor.
2. The auditor must maintain independence in mental attitude in all matters relating to the assignment.
3. The auditor must exercise due professional care in the performance of the examination and the preparation of the report.

STANDARDS OF FIELDWORK

1. The auditor must adequately plan the work and must properly supervise any assistants.
2. The auditor must obtain a sufficient understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control, to assess the
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to design the nature, timing, and

extent of further audit procedures.

3. The auditor must obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by performing audit procedures to afford a reasonable basis for an
opinion regarding the financial statements under audit.

STANDARDS OF REPORTING

1. The auditor must state in the auditor’s report whether the financial statements are presented in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

2. The auditor must identify in the auditor’s report those circumstances in which such principles have not been consistently observed
in the current period in relation to the preceding period.
3. When the auditor determines that informative disclosures are not reasonably adequate, the auditor must so state in the auditor’s

report.

4. The auditor must either express an opinion regarding the financial statements, taken as a whole, or state that an opinion cannot be
expressed in the auditor’s report. When the auditor cannot express an overall opinion, the auditor should state the reasons therefore
in the auditor’s report. In all cases in which an auditor's name is associated with financial statements, the auditor should clearly indi-
cate the character of the auditor’'s work, if any, and the degree of responsibility the auditor is taking in the auditor’s report.

(Emphasis added)
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Technical Training and Proficiency The audit is to be performed by individuals
having adequate technical training and proficiency as an auditor. The standard does
not precisely define what constitutes adequate technical training and proficiency
because required elements of audit proficiency evolve as the environment changes.

Auditors must understand the client’s business and industry and be proficient
in using current technologies to perform an eftective and efficient audit. They
must have technical knowledge in both auditing and accounting. The auditor
must be able to dissect complex accounting problems and make judgments on
the appropriateness of accounting treatments. Similarly, auditors must be able to
select and apply auditing procedures that will be efficient and have a high likeli-
hood of detecting material misstatements. More than a detailed knowledge of
rules is needed: Auditors are increasingly called upon to exercise expert judgment
in accounting, auditing, and internal controls.

Independence Independence is often referred to as the cornerstone of auditing—
without independence the value of the auditor’ attestation function would be nil.
Auditors must not only be independent in their mental attitude in conducting the
audit (independence in fact), but also must be perceived by users as independent of
the client (independent in appearance). Independence requires objectivity and free-
dom from bias: The auditor must favor neither the client nor third parties in gath-
ering evidence and evaluating the fairness of the financial statements.

Due Professional Care The public expects that an audit will be conducted with
the skill and care of a professional. Following GAAS is one benchmark for due
professional care. However, following GAAS is not always sufficient. If a “rea-
sonably prudent person” would have done more, such as investigating for a poten-
tial fraud, it is often asserted that the professional should have done at least as
much. Due professional care is also determined by evaluating whether someone
with similar skills in a similar situation would have performed the same way as the
auditor. For example, would a competent auditor have performed the same or
additional audit procedures? Public accounting firms use supervision and review
of audit work to ensure that audits are conducted with due professional care.

Fieldwork Standards

Planning and Supervision Planning an audit involves more than developing a
schedule and determining when to conduct the audit. The most visible product of
the planning process is the audit program, which lists the audit objectives and
the procedures to be followed in gathering evidence to test the accuracy of account
balances. Exhibit 2.6 is an example of a partial audit program for trade receivables.
It contains columns for indicating the estimated time to complete the procedure,
a reference to the documentation of the work done, and the initials of the auditor
carrying out each audit procedure. The program helps those in charge of the audit
to monitor the progress and supervise the work.

Understanding the Entity and its Internal Controls Organizations are expected
to have effective internal control over financial reporting. When a company has
weaknesses in internal control, it is more likely that misstatements will occur and
will not be detected by the organization. Thus, an auditor is required to obtain
an understanding of the client’s internal controls over financial reporting to
determine if there are weaknesses in the controls, and if so, what account bal-
ances would most likely be affected by the weaknesses.

The quality of internal controls varies greatly across different entities. In some
organizations, few control procedures exist; in others, strong control procedures
are in place. Even within a particular company, there may be very good control
for some transactions and weaknesses in other areas. An analysis of the accounting
system is necessary to determine (a) risks that are not addressed by controls, (b)
the potential impact of those risks on the company’s financial position, (c) the
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Trade Receivables Client

Closing Date

The objectives of this program are to determine that: (a) receivables exist, are authentic obligations owed to the entity, contain no sig-
nificant amounts that should be written off, and the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate and not excessive; (b) proper disclo-
sure is made of any pledged, discounted, or assigned receivables; and (c) the presentation and disclosure of receivables is in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Procedure

Time Est. Done By Ref.

1. Foot subsidiary receivable records and select balances for confirmation.

2. Send confirmation requests to all major customers.

3. Reconcile and evaluate all confirmation replies and clear any exceptions.
Nonreplies must be verified by use of alternative procedures.

4. Summarize results of confirmation procedures.

Alternate Procedures Performed:

Point

Deficiencies in internal controls
increase the likelihood of misstate-
ments or other forms of financial
manipulation.

type(s) of misstatements that could occur, and (d) the likelihood that financial mis-
statements could take place. The auditor’s analysis of how a misstatement could
occur is important in developing audit procedures to determine its existence.

Obtaining Audit Evidence Sufficient (enough) appropriate (reliable and relevant)
evidence must be obtained to evaluate the assertions embodied in the financial
statements, including the related footnotes. The types and extent of procedures
used to gather evidence will depend on the auditor’s assessment of the likelihood
of material misstatements and the persuasiveness of potential evidence that may
be gathered. Tests of account balances that are not likely to contain material mis-
statements may be limited. More persuasive and extensive testing is required for
accounts that are likely to contain material misstatements.

Reporting Standards Have you ever communicated something explicitly to
people only to find out that they did not seem to understand what you said or
meant? Providing clear and concise communication is a difficult task. It is even more
difficult when the communication involves information on a complex subject such
as financial statements and audits. The reporting standards provide guidelines to:

e Standardize the nature of reporting

e Facilitate communication with users by clearly specifying the auditor’s responsibility
regarding the report

e Identify and communicate all material situations in which accounting principles have
not been consistently applied

e Require the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements examined or
indicate all substantive reasons why an opinion could not be rendered

Presentation in Accordance with GAAP The auditor is required to state explicitly
whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. It
the auditor determines that the statements materially depart from GAAP, the audi-
tor describes the departures from GAAP, including the dollar effects (whenever
determinable). In most cases, GAAP is the intended basis for financial reporting.
However, there are some non-public companies that prepare financial statements
on another comprehensive basis of accounting such as the cash or income tax basis.
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Consistency The consistency standard requires that the same accounting principles
be consistently used from year to year. Consistency enhances comparability and
understandability of results over a period of time. If there is a change in account-
ing principles that has a material effect on the financial statements, the auditor is
required to note the change and the effect of the change in the audit report.

Disclosures Readers of the financial statements are usually not in a position to
know whether the disclosures in the financial statements and related footnotes
are adequate and meet the disclosure standards required by the FASB and other
authoritative bodies issuing accounting pronouncements. If nothing is men-
tioned in the auditor’s report, the reader can assume that the disclosures meet the
requirements of authoritative pronouncements.

Opinion The fourth standard of reporting requires the auditor to issue an audit
opinion or, if there are reasons why an opinion cannot be issued, to inform the
reader of all of the substantive reasons why an opinion cannot be issued. The type
of opinion rendered depends on the results of the auditor’s examination. The
auditor’s report should indicate the type of examination performed and the
degree of responsibility taken for it. Therefore, the report should clearly state
whether the financial statements were audited, reviewed, or compiled.

Standards for Other Audit Engagements Financial statement audits repre-
sent only a part of the demand for assurance services. As the demand for other
assurance services has emerged, new attestation standards have been developed to
ensure quality for a broader array of services beyond financial statement audits.
Other standards have been developed for the practice of internal auditing, gov-
ernmental auditing, information systems audits, and audits of international clients,
among others.

Attestation Standards

Auditing is a specific and important part of a broader set of services referred to
as attestation services. All attestation services, including the financial statement
audit, involve gathering evidence regarding specific assertions and communicat-
ing the attester’s (auditor’s) opinion on the fairness of the presentation to a third
party. Financial statement audits are unique in that they are broadly disseminated
and have very specific standards developed solely for that service. The AICPA has
anticipated the expansion of the audit profession’s work into other areas and has
developed broader attestation standards to apply to that work. Thus far, the
AICPA has established specific standards for attesting to financial forecasts and
projections, pro forma financial information, internal controls, compliance with
contracts or regulatory requirements, and agreed-upon procedures. Because it is
difficult to anticipate all the areas in which the demand for attestation services
might evolve, the attestation standards framework includes a set of general attes-
tation standards to cover newly evolving services. The standards developed for
attestation services are shown in Exhibit 2.7.

Future of Audit Standard Setting

Standard setting will be divided among a number of parties in the future; how-
ever, as with auditing standards, there is a movement across domestic and interna-
tional standard setting to harmonize existing standards. The most important
standard setter in the United States is the PCAOB because of their role in setting
standards for audits of public companies in the United States. A summary of audit
standard setting bodies and their base of authority is presented in Exhibit 2.8.
Audit standard setting will continue to be diverse because the practice of
auditing is diverse. The PCAOB has emerged as the primary audit standard setter
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Attestation Standards

GENERAL STANDARDS

1. The engagement shall be performed by a practitioner or practitioners having adequate technical training and proficiency in the
attest function.

2. The engagement shall be performed by a practitioner or practitioners having adequate knowledge in the subject matter of the assertion.

3. The practitioner shall perform an engagement only if he or she has reason to believe that the following two conditions exist:

+ The assertion is capable of evaluation against reasonable criteria that either have been established by a recognized body or are
stated in the presentation of the assertion in a sufficiently clear and comprehensive manner for a knowledgeable reader to be
able to understand them.

+ The assertion is capable of reasonably consistent estimation or measurement using such criteria.

4. In all matters relating to the engagement, an independence in mental attitude shall be maintained by the practitioner or practitioners.
5. Due professional care shall be exercised in the performance of the engagement.

STANDARDS OF FIELDWORK
1. The work shall be adequately planned and assistants, if any, shall be properly supervised.
2. Sufficient evidence shall be obtained to provide a reasonable basis for the conclusion that is expressed in the report.

STANDARDS OF REPORTING

1. The report shall identify the assertion being reported on and state the character of the engagement.

2. The report shall state the practitioner’s conclusion about whether the assertion is presented in conformity with the established or
stated criteria against which it was measured.

3. The report shall state all of the practitioner’s significant reservations about the engagement and the presentation of the assertion.

4. The report on an engagement to evaluate an assertion that has been prepared in conformity with agreed-upon criteria or on an
engagement to apply agreed-upon procedures should contain a statement limiting its use to the parties who have agreed on such
criteria or procedures.

Summary of Audit Standard Setting and Authority

Audit Standard Setter Scope and Basis of Authority

Public Company Accounting Authority Base: U.S. Congress: Expressed in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Standards Board (PCAOB) Scope: Sets audit standards for the audits of financial statements and internal controls over
financial reporting for public companies that are registered with the SEC.

American Institute of Authority Base: Historical, as self-regulatory organization that had earned the public’s trust.

CPAs (AICPA) Scope:

- Auditing standards for audits of non-public companies.

- Attestation standards for areas other than public company reports on internal control.

+ Assurance services that are less in scope than an audit such as reviews and compilations.
Governmental Accountability Authority Base: Congressional laws establishing the GAO as the audit arm of Congress and
Office (GAO) delegating to them the authority to set standards for audits of governmental entities.

Scope: Sets auditing standards for audits of all governmental entities in the U.S and any organi-

zation that expends at least $500,000 of federal financial assistance during the year. Standards

are published in a document often referred to as the “yellow book” and have broad applicability.
International Audit Standards Authority Base: As agreed upon by countries who agree to abide by their standards. Leadership
Committee (IASC) historically has come from members of the European Economic Commission.

Scope: Standards for financial statement audits across most of Europe and many developing coun-

tries. Harmonization across countries, including the United States, will continue to be an objective.
Internal Audit Standards Authority Base: Developed by the Institute of Internal Auditors as a self-regulating organization.
Board (IASB) Scope: Standards for the professional practice of internal auditing around the world.

Internal auditing standards help protect internal audit departments from managers who want

to restrict the scope of the internal audit activity. Such restrictions need to be reported to the

audit committee and the board.
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because of its importance in clarifying directives contained in Sarbanes-Oxley
and because the companies that are audited under its jurisdiction are the com-
panies traded on the largest stock exchanges in the world. The AICPA has
reestablished itself as a conscientious standard setter. The GAO sets the standards
for audits of governmental units within the United States. While the GAO does
not have the formal due process considerations of some of the other standard set-
ters, it does seek input on its standards. The GAO has been at the forefront in
addressing auditor independence issues and in encouraging auditors to examine
both the efficiency and effectiveness of operations. The International Auditing
Standards Committee is taking on added importance as the economy becomes
increasingly global and companies wish to register on multiple stock exchanges.

Finally, the Internal Auditing Standards Board has attained recognition as the
premier standard setter for the professional practice of internal auditing on a
world-wide basis. However, it is important to note that use of the internal audit
standards is voluntary. For example, the internal audit departments at Enron,
HealthSouth, and WorldCom did not follow the professional standards for the
conduct of internal audit. Had they done so, they would have reported the
restrictions on the scope of their activities to the audit committee and the board.

Overview of Audit Process:
A Standards-Based Approach

Audits of financial statements and public reports on internal control are an
important part of the governance process of organizations and help fulfill the
accountability function. Audits involve numerous parties, but the primary parties
are the auditors (CPA firm), audit committees, management (owners of financial
reporting process), and internal auditors. The fieldwork standards provide the
framework for the audit process.

Planning the Audit

Understanding with Audit Client Audit planning starts with a meeting with
the audit client—the audit committee and the management of the company
being audited.? These are the key people involved in the governance process. The
purpose of the planning meeting is to develop an understanding of:

e The scope of audit services to be performed

® Management’s preparedness

e Materiality

e Audit committee and management’s assessment of risks associated with internal control
and reliable financial reporting
e Potential coordination of work with the internal auditor

e Audit fees and expectations of each party

The meeting ensures that the key governance parties, particularly the audit
committee, are aware of the audit approach and the responsibilities of each party.
While the overall audit approach is shared with management, the details of the
plan, including the determination of materiality, is not shared with management.

Develop an Understanding of Materiality The audit must be planned to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that material misstatements will be detected. The concept

2 Throughout the text, we refer to the company being audited as the “client,” while the audit client (party for
whom the audit is intended) is the audit committee.
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(Small Business

Many smaller businesses will not
have audit committees. The audi-
tor's materiality decision will focus
on important debt covenants, firm
guidelines, and interaction with the
owner-manager.
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of materiality is pervasive and guides the nature and extent of auditing both finan-
cial statements and a company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The FASB defines materiality as the

magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in light of
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person
relying on the information would have been changed or influenced by the omission
or misstatement.

Materiality is not simply a function of specific dollar amounts in the orga-
nization’s financial statements. One advantage of clearly identifying the audit
committee as the audit client is that the auditor can have meaningful discus-
sions with the audit committee about quantitative, as well as qualitative, dimen-
sions of materiality as a basis to design the audit process to address material
misstatements.

Although many audit firms have provided guidelines to audit staft for materi-
ality decisions, it is important to note that any guideline is just a starting point
that is adjusted for other relevant information. For example, if the client has a
loan with a restrictive covenant that requires a current ratio of 2:1, any dollar
amount that would bring that ratio under 2:1 would be material.

Materiality guidelines usually involve applying percentages to some base, such as
total assets, total revenue, or pretax income. A simple guideline for small business
audits could be, for example, to set overall materiality at 1% of total assets or rev-
enue, whichever is higher. The percentage may be smaller for large clients. Other
CPA firms have more complicated guidance that may be based on the nature of
the industry or a composite of materiality decisions made by experts in the firm.

The SEC has been very critical of the accounting profession in the past few
years for not sufficiently examining qualitative factors in making materiality
decisions. In particular, the SEC has criticized the profession for:

o Netting (offsetting) material misstatements and not making adjustments because the
net effect may not be material to net income.

e Not applying the materiality concept to “swings” in accounting estimates; for example, an
accounting estimate could be misstated by just under a material amount in one direc-
tion one year and just under a material amount in the opposite direction the next year.

e (onsistently “passing” on individual adjustments that may not be considered material.

Develop a Preliminary Audit Program Detailed planning leads to the devel-
opment of a detailed audit program designed to discover material misstatements,
if they exist, in the financial statements. Planning is the foundation for the audit
program and includes the following:

e Developing an understanding of the client’s business and the industry within which it
operates

e Developing an understanding of risks the company faces and determining how those
risks might affect the presentation of a company’s financial results

e Developing an understanding of management compensation plans and how those plans
may motivate management actions

e Developing a preliminary understanding of the quality of the client’s internal controls
over financial reporting

e Building a detailed audit program on audit risk, internal control quality, accounting
assertions, and materiality

e Determining management’s approach to assessing internal control over financial report-
ing and whether management has sufficient documentation of the design and operation
of internal controls over financial reporting

Developing an understanding the client’s accounting policies and procedures
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e Anticipating financial statement items likely to require adjustment, as well as those
that are subjective in nature

e Identifying factors that may require extension or modification of audit tests, such as
potential related-party transactions or the possibility of material misstatements

e Determining the type of reports to be issued, such as consolidated statements or
single-company statements, special reports, internal control reports, or other reports
to be filed with the SEC or other requlatory agencies

Subsequent chapters deal with each of these topics in detail.

Gathering Audit Evidence: Testing Assertions The third standard of field-
work requires the auditor to gather “sufficient, appropriate audit evidence” in
order to reach a conclusion on the fairness of the organization’s financial pre-
sentations. As noted in Chapter 1, the audit process is designed around assertions
that are inherent in the accounting communication. For example, if a company
represents that it has property, plant, and equipment net of depreciation of $42
million, the company is representing that:

e Tt owns the equipment and has title to the equipment.
e The equipment is actively used in the conduct of the organization’s business.

e The equipment is properly valued at cost and the cost amounts add up to the balance
shown in the financial statements.

e Depreciation accurately reflects the economic usage of the equipment.
e All disposals of assets are fully recorded.

e All non-productive assets, or assets that are intended to be sold, are separated and
accounted for at its net realizable value.

e The amounts reflected on the financial statements accurately portray amounts that are
in the general ledger.

Similarly, for companies that must report publicly on internal control over
financial reporting, management is making an assertion that their internal con-
trols are designed effectively and are operating effectively to provide reasonable
assurance of reliable financial reporting.

Example: Testing Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment Throughout
this text, we will develop audit programs for many areas in the audit. The fol-
lowing demonstrates the overall structure of an audit program based on financial
statement assertions. The audit procedures, constituting the individual elements
of an audit program, address fundamental assertions in each account balance.
Consider an audit of property, plant, and equipment (PPE) and the valuation
assertion implied in a company’s financial statement:

The equipment shown on the financial statements is properly valued at cost (not to
exceed its assessed value) with applicable allowances for depreciation.

This assertion can be broken down into three major components:

e The valuation of assets that were acquired in previous years
e The valuation of new assets added this year
e The proper recording of depreciation

For illustration purposes, we assume that the previous year’s financial statements
had been audited and that the auditor had verified cost and accumulated depre-
ciation for the previous years. Thus, the auditor is concerned that the current
year’s additions to equipment are properly valued. An audit procedure that would
address the assertion is:

Auditing Additions to PPE: Take a statistical sample of all additions to prop-

erty plant and equipment and verify the cost through reference to vendor
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FOCUS ON FRAUD

Testing Procedures at WorldCom

The procedures described herein, while simple, would, if per-  as if they were new capital items (property, plant, and equip-
formed correctly, have discovered the significant fraud that ment). Tests of asset additions, as described in the text,

took place at WorldCom. The fraud took place when the com-  would have found the fraud.

pany inflated income by capitalizing line rental expenditures

invoices to determine that cost is accurately recorded and that title has passed
to the company.
Additional Audit Procedure for Company Considered to be “High
Risk”’: For the items selected, verity that the asset has been put in production
by physically verifying its existence and operation.

Note the major elements in the audit procedures:

e Statistically select a sample of items to test. The auditor needs to take a representa-
tive sample because it is often too costly to examine all additions to PPE.

® Review documentary evidence of cost and title. The auditor examines outside, objective
evidence of the amount paid, the nature of the equipment purchased, and the con-
veyance of title to the company.

o \erify existence of the asset. In situations where the auditor has doubts about manage-
ment’s integrity or there are other factors that point to the potential existence of fraud,
the auditor should visually inspect the asset to determine its presence and operation.

Other audit procedures, e.g., estimating the life of the asset and the proper
application of depreciation, would also be performed in the audit of PPE. The
important point to understand here is that audit programs are built on the fol-
lowing three important points:

e Audit procedures are all based on a thorough understanding of the underlying
assertions.

e Audit procedures are adjusted for the risk of potential misstatement in the account
balance.

e There are many factors that influence the risk of misstatement. The auditor must
understand these risks.

Summarize Audit Evidence and Reach Audit Conclusion The last step in
an audit process is to summarize the audit evidence related to the assertions tested
and reach a conclusion about the fairness of the client’s financial presentation. If
the evidence supports that an account balance is fairly represented, the auditor
will continue with the audit of other account balances. If the evidence does not
support a fair presentation, the auditor will gather additional evidence through
detailed testing. The additional information gathered will lead the auditor to one
of three conclusions:

e The account balance is misstated and the client agrees to adjust the financial state-
ments to eliminate the misstatement.

e The account balance is misstated, but the client disagrees. The auditor will issue an
audit report indicating that the financial statements, in his or her opinion, are not
fairly presented.

e Sufficient evidence has not been gathered to reach a conclusion on whether there is a
misstatement in the accounts. For example, the client’s controls may be so poor that
documentary evidence does not exist. The auditor would issue a report that he or she
cannot render an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements.
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Reach an Audit Conclusion and Issue a Report For most audit engage-
ments, the auditor will reach a conclusion that the financial statements are fairly
stated, and for public companies, that their reports on internal control are also
fairly presented. In these situations, the auditor will issue an “unqualified audit
report” similar to the unqualified report shown in Chapter 1.

Summary

The business failures of the past decade have been closely associated with corporate
governance failures. The governance failures involved a number of parties: manage-
ment, boards of directors, auditors, audit committees, and some investor groups. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 is more than a new work requirement: It addresses
many of the causes of corporate governance failures. The bill also established a new,
independent quasi-governmental board to set audit standards. The bill also severely
restricts the types of non-audit services that can be provided to an audit client.

Audit standard setting will continue to be a mixture of public standard setting
(PCAOB, GAO) and self-regulatory setting (AICPA, IIA). Standards provide
conceptual foundations and minimum performance levels for a profession and
should guide the conduct of every audit engagement.

The generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) provide the foundation for
all audit engagements. This chapter introduces those standards and illustrates
them through the design of an audit program.

Significant Terms

audit committee A subcommittee of the board of
directors responsible for monitoring audit activities and
serving as a surrogate for the interests of shareholders;
should be composed of outside members of the board,;
that is, members who do not hold company manage-
ment positions.

individuals conducting an audit and the standard of care
expected of those conducting an audit.

independence Being objective and unbiased while
performing professional services. It requires being inde-
pendent in fact and in appearance.

materiality Magnitude of an omission or misstate-
ment of accounting information that, in light of sur-
rounding circumstances, makes it probable that the
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the infor-
mation would have been changed or influenced by the
omission or misstatement.

audit program An auditor-prepared document that
lists the specific procedures and audit tests to be per-
formed in gathering evidence to test assertions.

corporate governance A process by which the
owners and creditors of an organization exert control
and require accountability for the resources entrusted to
the organization. The owners (stockholders) elect a
board of directors to provide oversight of the organiza-

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) A public board established under the

tion’s activities.

due professional care A standard of care expected
to be demonstrated by a competent professional in his
or her field of expertise, set by the generally accepted
auditing standards but supplemented in specific imple-
mentation instances by the standard of care expected by
a reasonably prudent auditor.

fieldwork standards The three generally accepted
auditing standards that deal with the actual conduct of
an audit.

general standards The three generally accepted
auditing standards that deal with the qualification of

jurisdiction of the SEC to set auditing standards
for the conduct of audits of public companies, con-
duct peer reviews of public accounting firms, and
provide oversight of the audit process for public
companies.

reporting standards The four generally accepted
auditing standards that deal with the nature of the audi-
tor’s report and required communication.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Encompassing legis-
lation mandating new standard setting for audits of
public companies and new standards for corporate
governance.
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Review Questions

2-1

2-2

2-3

2-4

2-7

2-8

2-9
2-10

2-11

2-12

2-13

2-14

2-15

2-16

2-17

2-18

2-19

Define the term “corporate governance” and identify the key parties
involved in effective corporate governance.

Identify the parties that, at least in some part, failed to meet their
corporate governance objectives in the past decade.

In what ways was the board of directors responsible for corporate
governance failures?

In what ways was the auditing profession partially responsible for
corporate governance failures?

What role did the use of stock options play in the failures of corpo-
rate governance?

Arthur Levitt criticizes companies for using “cookie jar reserves” to
help manage earnings. What are “cookie jar reserves” and how might
they be used to manage corporate earnings?

‘What was the Public Oversight Board’s (POB) primary criticism of the
audit profession?

What was the Sarbanes-Oxley Act designed to accomplish? What

were the major factors that led Congress to develop the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act?

What is the PCAOB and what is its authority?

What studies were conducted by the GAO and SEC as part of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act? What were the general conclusions of their studies?
‘What are the implications of their studies for the auditing profession?

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act contains certification requirements of man-
agement. What are the certification requirements and what are the
penalties for false certifications?

What requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are intended to
strengthen the independence of the external auditor?

In which ways did Sarbanes-Oxley change oversight of the auditing
profession? Distinguish between the audit firms that audit public com-
panies and the audit firms that audit private companies.

‘What 1s whistleblowing? What are the whistleblowing provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act?

A company issues financial statements. Whose statements are they:
management’s, the audit committee’s, or the auditor’s? Explain and
discuss why the ownership issue is important.

What is an audit committee? What critical role does the audit commit-
tee play in corporate governance?

An audit committee should be composed of outside directors. Define
“outside directors” within the context of an audit committee. How
does the existence of an audit committee affect the auditor’s independ-
ence? Explain.

‘What oversight responsibilities does an audit committee have? Explain
the difference between an “oversight responsibility” and a “primary
responsibility”” llustrate using an example regarding the choice of
accounting principles.

Explain the difference between the audit committee’s responsibilities
regarding the external auditor and the audit committee’s relationship
to the internal audit and regulatory audit functions.



2-20

2-21

2-22

2-23

2-24

2-25

2-26

2-27

2-28

2-29

2-30
2-31

2-32

2-33

2-34

2-35

2-36

Review Questions

Are non-public companies, such as a small business, required to have
audit committees that represent outside stakeholders such as banks or
other lending institutions? Distinguish between small privately-held
businesses and larger privately-held businesses that operate in a broader
public domain.

What are the audit committee’s responsibilities regarding financial
reporting and internal control reporting?

Identify the specific items that must be communicated by the external
auditor to the audit committee on every engagement.

What responsibility does the audit committee have regarding the pro-
vision of non-audit services to a company, its management, or mem-
bers of its audit committee? Explain.

Why is the governance structure of an organization important to the
external auditor? What are the implications to the auditor if a com-
pany has not made a commitment to good governance practices?

How would an auditor go about assessing the quality of an organiza-
tion’s corporate governance? In formulating your answer, consider the
possibility that a company may have a good governance structure on
paper, but its actual implementation may be significantly less than what
1S on paper.

‘What are the three major categories of audit standards? What are the
purposes served by each category of the standards?

Explain the concept of “due professional care” and how it might be

used in a court case regarding the conduct of an audit. How does an
independent third party evaluate whether or not an auditor met the
standard of due professional care?

‘What are the major procedures an audit firm can implement to help
ensure that audits are conducted in accordance with due professional
care?

What is the independence standard? Why is it important that users
perceive auditors to be independent? Can an auditor be independent
in fact, but not in appearance? Explain.

‘What four objectives are the reporting standards designed to accomplish?

Identify the roles of each of the following parties in audit standard
setting:

« PCAOB

+ AICPA

* GAO

* International Auditing Standards Committee

* Internal Auditing Standards Board

How does the development of an audit program for a client follow
audit standards and the principles of good corporate governance?

What are the major planning steps that should be performed in devel-
oping an audit program?

Define the term “materiality” and describe how an auditor would go
about determining materiality to be used in the planning of an audit
of an organization’s financial statements.

What is the relationship of audit procedures to assertions that are
embodied in financial statement representations?

‘What procedures should an auditor use to determine that all items
that are debited to a fixed asset account in the current year represent
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purchases of property that is now owned by the company and is
properly valued?

Multiple-Choice Questions

2-37  All of the following are parts of corporate governance except:
a. Oversight of management by the board of directors.
b. Established processes to provide accountability to stockholders.
c. Whistleblowing processes.
d. Independent review of financial statements by the SEC.

2-38 Which of the following would not be correct regarding corporate gov-
ernance failures that took place in the past two decades?
a. Boards of directors approved stock option plans that did not align
management and shareholder objectives.
. Audit committees met infrequently, often only for an hour at a time.
Boards of directors were often dominated by management.
. Accounting rules became more specific to address the complexities
that existed in new transactions.

oo o

2-39  Which of the following is not a Sarbanes-Oxley requirement of audit
committees of public companies?
a. The audit committee must be chaired by the chair of the board of
directors.
. Audit committee members must be financially literate.
Audit committee members must be outside directors.
. The audit committee should view itself as the “client” of the exter-
nal auditor.

oo o

2-40 In which way did the public accounting profession bring about the prob-
lems that resulted in Congress passing the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002?
a. Failed to detect egregious frauds.
b. Emphasized generating revenues over audit quality.
c. Viewed helping the clients find an accounting solution to show
increased earnings as value-added auditing.

d. All of the above.

2-41 Which of the following is an inappropriate description of management’s
role in preparing financial statements and reports on internal control
over financial reporting? Management has the primary responsibility for
a. Determining the scope of internal and external audit activities.

b. Preparing financial statements that are fairly presented in accordance
with GAAP.

c. Selecting accounting principles that best portray the economic real-
ity of the organization’s transactions and current state.

d. Developing, implementing, and assessing the internal control
processes over financial reporting.

2-42  An audit committee should do all of the following except:
a. Decide whether to retain or dismiss the outside auditors.
b. Determine whether material fraud ought to be reported in the
company’s financial statements.
c. Determine the budget for the internal audit department.
d. Appoint, or concur with the appointment of, the Chief Audit
Executive (internal audit).

2-43  Which of the following would not be required to be communicated to
the audit committee by the outside auditor?
a. Significant audit adjustments made during the course of the audit.
b. Significant disagreements with management regarding accounting
principles.




2-44

2-45

2-46

Discussion and Research Questions

c¢. The auditor’s knowledge of management’s consultation with other
public accounting firms regarding the proposed treatment of a con-
troversial accounting item.

d. The extent to which the internal auditors assisted in the conduct of
the audit.

The application of due professional care means that the auditor’s work

conforms with all of the following except:

a. Current auditing standards as defined by Statements on Auditing
Standards.

b. The work that a reasonably prudent auditor would have performed
in the same situation.

c. The work that would have been performed by a reasonable person
who was not necessarily trained in auditing.

d. The work was at least equal to that which had been performed on
the audit engagement during the preceding year.

The second standard of field work requires the auditor to do all of the

following except:

a. Understand the business and the risks the business faces in pursuing
its strategic objectives.

b. Gather sufficient, appropriate audit evidence to provide the basis for
an opinion on the financial statements.

c. Perform analytical procedures to identify potential misstatements in
the financial statements.

d. Obtain an understanding of internal control and potential weaknesses
in controls.

The auditor uses the following audit procedure as part of the audit of
fixed assets: “take a statistical sample of all additions to property plant and
equipment and trace to invoices received from the vendor.”

Which of the following outcomes would most likely alert the
auditor to the possibility of a misstatement of the account balance?

a. Most of the items chosen are small in dollar amount even though
the invoices are typical of items that last 3—5 years.

b. About one-third of the items chosen are large dollar items that are
traced to journal entries, but there are no underlying purchase
documents.

c. About one-fourth of the items are from the same vendor and relate
to the equipment purchased for a new factory.

d. Vendor invoices cannot be located for a number of the purchases.
However, all the items for which the invoices cannot be found relate
to purchases from a related company.

. All of the above.

b and d only.

o

Discussion and Research Questions

2-47

(Corporate Governance) One component of good corporate gover-
nance is a code of ethics that has been developed for a company. For
example, Enron had one of the most complete codes of ethics in cor-
porate America.

Required

a. How would an auditor go about determining whether a corporate
code of ethics is actually being adhered to? What evidence would the
auditor gather to support an assessment of the corporate code of ethics?

b. Can an auditor make meaningful decisions about areas such as cor-
porate governance where considerable judgment must be applied in
making the decision? Are auditors equipped to make subjective
judgements?
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2-48

2-49

2-50

2-51

c. How would an auditor go about assessing the financial competence
of an audit committee? What are the implications for accepting an
audit engagement if the auditor does not believe the audit commit-
tee has sufficient expertise?

d. In what ways is an effective internal audit department part of good
corporate governance? Explain.

(Corporate Governance) One of the criticisms of corporate America
in the last decade has been that there was a failure in corporate
governance.

Required

a. Define the term “corporate governance” and identify the major par-
ties that are involved in corporate governance, as well as their roles.

b. Identify the failures in corporate governance that took place in the
past decade. Include the failures of each major party in the process.

(Public Accounting and Corporate Governance) Public accounting
serves an important role in corporate governance.

Required

a. Describe the role that external auditing fills in promoting good cor-
porate governance.

b. In what ways might the public accounting profession have failed its
important role prior to the issuance of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002?

c. A former chairman of the SEC described auditors as “public watch-
dogs.” What does the term “public watchdog” convey regarding the
responsibility of the external auditor to the public?

(Auditor Expectations) In a major speech, Arthur Levitt, former

chairman of the SEC, chided auditors for failures in four areas:

» Allowing companies to use “cookie jar reserves” used by firms to
manage earnings.

» Allowing improper revenue recognition.

* Assisting companies in using creative accounting for mergers and
acquisitions that did not reflect economic reality.

» Assisting management in meeting earnings targets that helped man-
agers achieve stock option price targets.

Required

a. Describe each of the four activities identified by Levitt and give an
example of each. For example, give an example of how a firm
would use “cookie jar reserves” to manage earnings.

b. If we assume that there were some instances in which auditors acted
the way Levitt described, identify the potential motivation for the
auditors to provide such assistance to management.

c. For each item identified in part (b), describe how the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act addressed the issue.

(Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has
been described as the most far-reaching legislation affecting business
since the passage of the 1933 Securities Act.

Required

a. Identify the portions of the legislation that specifically affect the
external audit profession and discuss how it affects the profession.

b. How does the legislation affect the internal audit profession? Identify
activities that are implied in the legislation as well as activities that
will likely emerge as companies implement various provisions of
the Act.

c. Do you believe the legislation enhances the power and prestige of
the audit profession or, alternatively, does it decrease both the power
and prestige of the profession?
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2-53

2-54

2-55

Discussion and Research Questions

(Sarbanes-Oxley—Management Implications) The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act dramatically changes the responsibilities of top management.

Required

a. Briefly indicate how Sarbanes-Oxley changes the responsibilities of
top management.

b. How has the relationship between management and the external
auditor changed with Sarbanes-Oxley?

c. Who is primarily responsible for the fairness and completeness of
financial statement presentations? Discuss the relative roles of the
following parties:

e Chief Executive Ofticer (CEO)

¢ Chief Financial Officer (CEO)

¢ Director of Internal Audit (CAE)
* Chair of Audit Committee

* External Auditor (CPA)

(Audit Committees) Audit committees are taking on added respon-
sibilities after Sarbanes-Oxley.

Required

a. Describe the changes in audit committee membership and duties
that were mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

b. The audit committee now has the “ownership of the relationship
with the public accounting firm.” What are the implications (a) to
the audit committee, and (b) to the public accounting firm of the
new auditor-client relationship with the audit committee?

c. Assume that management and the auditor disagree on the appropri-
ate accounting for a complex transaction. The auditor has conveyed
the disagreement to the audit committee along with an assessment
that the disagreement is on the economics of the transaction and
has nothing to do with earnings management. What is the responsi-
bility of the audit committee? What skills must exist on the audit
committee to meet their responsibility?

d. Assume the auditor and audit committee disagree with manage-
ment’s proposed accounting treatment and management acquiesces
to the auditor treatment. s it appropriate to refer to the financial
statements as management’s financial statements? Explain.

(Audit Committees) Audit committees are mandatory for all public
companies. The AICPA and IIA have endorsed the formation of audit
committees (or their equivalent) for most organizations, including gov-
ernmental entities and larger privately-held companies.

Required

a. Define the term audit committee. Indicate its composition.

b. What are the responsibilities of the external auditor to communicate
information to the audit committee? Identify all required informa-
tion that must be communicated to the audit committee and briefly
indicate the likely rationale for requiring the communication.

c. Explain why non-public entities might want to have audit commit-
tees. Consider the following entities in formulating your answer:

* Governmental unit, e.g. a school that must be audited
* A charity, e.g., United Way
* A larger, privately-held company

(Audit Commiittees and Auditor Independence) The audit com-
mittee is required to evaluate the independence of both the internal
and external audit function.

Required
a. What factors would you suggest that an audit committee look at in
evaluating the external auditor’s independence?
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Activity b. How can the audit committee influence the independence of the

internal audit function?

c. The audit committee must pre-approve all non-audit services pro-
vided by the external auditor. Assume the audit committee must
make a decision to allow or not allow the external audit firm to
perform the following activities. Indicate whether you would
approve or not approve each activity and state the rationale for your
decision. Use the following format for your answer:

Rationale for Approving
or Not Approving the
Proposed Non-Audit Service Proposed Service
1. Prepare the company’s income tax
return after the completion of the
audit.
2. Prepare the tax returns for all
directors and managers as part of the
tees paid for the overall audit.
3. Prepare tax returns for managers
and directors as requested and paid
for by the individuals.
4. Assist the internal audit department
in their control reviews of an overseas
operation (audit firm has personnel
based in the country that speak the
language while the internal audit
department does not).
5. Perform an independent security
audit of information systems and
report the results to management
and the audit committee.
6. Train operating personnel on internal
control concepts and a framework to
implement to improve the quality of
internal controls.
7. Take over the internal audit function
to provide a full “integrated” audit of
the company’s operations and controls
to achieve audit efficiency.

2-56 (PCAOB) The development of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB) was one of the most significant portions of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Required

a. What is the main rationale that led Congress to develop the
PCAOB as the public company audit standard setter? For example,
why do you think Congress didn’t suggest ways to overhaul the
Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA?

b. Identify the responsibilities of the PCAOB. How does the inspec-
tion process performed by the PCAOB affect the practice of public
accounting?

c. The PCAOB can have no more than two CPAs among its five
members. What might be the rationale for such a requirement?
‘What are the advantages and disadvantages of the limitation of CPA
members on the Board?

d. Do the audit standards set by the PCAOB apply to audits of non-
public companies? Explain.

2-57 (Audit Standards for Non-Public Companies) The PCAOB has
the authority to set audit standards for all audits of public companies.
The AICPA continues to set audit standards for non-public companies
through its auditing standards board.
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Required

a. In what ways might you expect auditing standards for audits of
non-public companies to differ from that of the standards for public
companies? Identify three (there are not necessarily three right or
wrong answers—this is an opinion and discussion question only).
Identify the rationale for your answers.

b. A CPA is performing an audit of a local municipality. Where should
the auditor look to determine audit standards that must be followed?

c. What role should an audit committee play in determining which
standards an audit firm will use in auditing their company? Explain.

2-58 (GAAS) Ray, the owner of a small company, asked Holmes, CPA, to
conduct an audit of the company’s records. Ray told Holmes that the
audit must be completed in time to submit audited financial statements
to a bank as part of a loan application.

Holmes immediately accepted the engagement and agreed to pro-
vide an auditor’s report within three weeks. Ray agreed to pay Holmes
a fixed fee plus a bonus if the loan was granted.

Holmes hired two accounting students to conduct the audit and
spent several hours telling them exactly what to do. Holmes told the
students not to spend time reviewing the controls, but instead to con-
centrate on proving the mathematical accuracy of the ledger accounts
and to summarize the data in the accounting records that support
Ray’s financial statements. The students followed Holmes’ instructions
and after two weeks gave Holmes the financial statements, which did
not include footnotes because the company did not have any unusual
transactions. Holmes reviewed the statements and prepared an unquali-
fied auditor’s report. The report, however, did not refer to GAAP or to
the year-to-year application of such principles.

Required
Briefly describe each of the GAAS and indicate how the action(s) of
Holmes resulted in a failure to comply with each standard.

2-59 (Auditing Standards) The ten generally accepted auditing standards
(GAAS) provide the foundation for the conduct of audits.

Required

a. Define the standard of “due professional care” and indicate how a
court might decide whether an audit firm met the standard.

b. Explain why independence is often considered the cornerstone of
the auditing profession. Explain why independence issues were a
primary concern of Congress when they developed the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.

c. Assume you work on an audit engagement for a client for some
period of time. Further, assume there have never been any audit
issues with the client, management is very honest and forthcoming,
and the company is well run. Explain how you would retain your
professional skepticism.

d. If an auditor is engaged to conduct an audit and finds numerous
mistakes, is it possible for the auditor to resign and not issue an
audit opinion? Explain.

2-60 (Materiality) Materiality is an important audit concept because audits
must be designed to detect “material” misstatements.

Required

a. Define materiality and describe how it is used in both accounting
and auditing.

b. Should the determination of the materiality be discussed with (i)
the audit committee and (i) management before the beginning of
the audit engagement? Explain your rationale.

c. What factors might an auditor look at in determining materiality
for an audit client prior to the start of the audit?
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(Research NI 2-61

2-62

2-63

2-64

(Sarbanes-Oxley Studies) The Sarbanes-Oxley Act required
numerous studies of the accounting profession to be made by the
GAO and reported to the SEC within one year of the enactment
of the Act.

Required

In consultation with your instructor, select one of the following GAO

studies of the accounting profession:

* Consolidation of Public Accounting Firms and the Effect on
Competition

* Principles-Based Accounting

* Mandatory Rotation of Audit Firms

Present a report of the study in class.

(Audit Framework—Audit Procedures) Audits of financial state-
ments are designed to test the correctness of account balances.

Required
a. A construction company shows the following assets on its balance sheet
* Construction equipment $1,278,000
* Accumulated depreciation $ 386,000
* Leased equipment—construction $ 550,000
Explain the difference in the three accounts and the underlying
accounting.

b. Is the equipment held by the company fairly old or new? Explain.

c. Develop an audit procedure to determine that all leased equipment
that should have been capitalized during the year was actually capi-
talized (as opposed to being treated as a lease expense).

d. The construction equipment account shows that the company pur-
chased approximately $400,000 of new equipment this year. Identity
an audit procedure that will determine whether the equipment
account was properly accounted for during the year.

e. Assuming the auditor determines the debits to construction equip-
ment were proper during the year, what other information does the
auditor need to know in order to ensure that the construction equip-
ment—net of depreciation—is properly reflected on the balance sheet?

f. How can an auditor determine that the client has assigned an appro-
priate useful life to the equipment and has depreciated it accurately?

(Accounting and Audit Procedures) It was stated that each
account balance contains assertions about the nature of the item
reflected on the financial statements.

Required

Identify the accounting assertions that are contained in the following
accounts reflected on a company’s financial statements:

» Sales

* Inventory

* Accounts receivable

(Attestation Standards) The AICPA has issued attestation standards
in recognition that attestation services can be much broader than
audits of an entity’s financial statements. One type of an attestation is a
“fairness letter” on a proposed merger or acquisitions. Investment
bankers have usually issued these letters as a source of comfort to
boards of directors and others involved in making decisions on merg-
ers. Essentially, the board of directors asks the investment banker to
develop a report to the board assessing the fairness of a proposed
acquisition (or an offer to be acquired by another company).

Required
a. Could the public accounting profession have performed such an
attestation service? Why or why not? Specifically identify factors
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that might have allowed or prohibited the performance of such
services by the public accounting profession.

b. In what ways would the public accounting profession have a com-
petitive advantage/disadvantage vis-a-vis the investment banking
profession in performing such a service?

2-65 (Evaluating Corporate Governance) With permission of your Activity
instructor, identity either a public company or a company that is near
your university and perform a preliminary review of their corporate
governance. Identify all the sources of evidence for your conclusion
regarding corporate governance. Identify the strengths and weaknesses
of their governance and describe the implications of their governance
structure for the auditor.

2-66 (Audit Committees) Audit committees have taken on much more Activity
responsibility in the past few years. However, it must also be remem-
bered that an audit committee appointment is not a full-time
appointment.

Required

a. (Research). Search annual reports via Edgar, or via looking up the home
page of selected companies. Look up five companies (preferably in dif-
ferent industries) and prepare a report that describes the following:

* An analysis of the audit committee charters that identify the com-
monalities in all the charters, as well as any differences.

* The characteristics of audit committee members, e.g., whether a
CPA, other experience, etc.

* The individual identified as the “financial expert.”

* The number of times and amount of time the audit committee
met during the year.

b. (Group Discussion). To what extent should the audit committee act as a
referee between management and the external auditor on accounting
issues? Discuss and present a conclusion to the class. Consider a
specific example, e.g., a determination of whether inventory is appro-
priately written down to net realizable value.

Cases

2-67 (Audit Committees) A $6 billion privately-held consumer products
company has approached you to help them implement an audit com-
mittee charter and to identify the elements needed to develop an
effective audit committee.

Required

a. Identify the major stakeholders, in addition to the stockholders
(usually a family), who would be likely candidates to serve on the
company’s audit committee.

b. Identity the key attributes that should be used in choosing audit
committee members.

c¢. Outline the elements that should be included in a charter for the
audit committee. Hint: You may want to log on to the annual
reports of selected public companies and use their audit committee
charter as a guide.

d. An audit committee ought to have an effective information system.
Prepare an outline of an effective information system for an audit
committee. Use the following format:

Information Frequency Source of
Required Needed the Information




CHAPTER

Understanding and
Meeting Ethical
Expectations

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

The overriding objective of this textbook is to build a foundation to analyze
current professional issues and adapt audit approaches to business and eco-
nomic complexities. Through studying this chapter, you will be able to:

e Describe the importance of ethics to the success of an organization.

e Describe why ethical behavior is required to justify the public’s trust.

e Discuss the importance of independence to the public accounting profession.
e Discuss the major threats to independence.

e Explain the principles used by the SEC in judging independence.

e Explain the principles used by the AICPA in judging independence.

e Describe and apply the AICPA’s Rules of Conduct.

e Apply an ethical framework to resolve ethical dilemmas.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

A profession that exists to serve the public must ensure that its services are per-
formed at the highest level of independence, integrity, and objectivity. This
chapter explores the importance of ethical behavior to organizations and audi-
tors, the principles used by the SEC and AICPA in developing their rules con-
cerning auditor independence, and the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct.
A framework is also provided to help professionals rationally resolve ethical
dilemmas in situations not covered by a code of ethics.

Introduction
Corporate Culture, Ethics, and Organizational Performance

Research shows that companies with strong corporate governance and high ethical
standards generally perform better than those with weak corporate governance and
a low level of ethical expectations. Investigations into the world’s largest bankrupt-
cies to date (WorldCom and Enron) show that the corporate cultures and weak
governance caused their collapse. Top management was overly concerned about
meeting Wall Street’s earnings expectations and generating personal fortunes and
took extreme measures to create the illusion of companies that looked good on
paper but were actually free-falling toward collapse. The corporate culture was one
where employees knew about, or were concerned about, fraud but were afraid to
report it; the boards of directors were passive and ineftective; the outside auditors
were preoccupied with keeping the clients’ consulting businesses; and bankers were
so permissive they failed to uncover routine warning signs. Management’s philoso-
phy was “Do whatever it takes to increase the market value of our stock.”
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Understanding
Auditor

Responsibilities

Some of the partners of Arthur Andersen, at one time the largest CPA firm in
the world, got drawn into the delusion of sharing these fortunes and turned a
blind eye to the financial reporting frauds management was perpetrating. Barbara
Ley Toffler was partner-in-charge of Andersen’s Ethics & Responsible Business
Practices consulting services. In her book, Final Accounting—Ambition, Greed, and
the Fall of Arthur Andersen, she chronicles how a culture of arrogance and greed
infected her company and led to enormous lapses in judgment among her peers.!
The firm, once regarded by many as the best CPA firm in the world, changed its
philosophy from “we do it right” to “keep the client happy.” Andersen was forced
into bankruptcy after being in business for 88 years.

The key is the tone set by top management. A well-managed organization,
whether it is a business, government agency, not-for-profit organization, or
professional organization, will have and enforce a code of ethics and/or a con-
flict of interest policy to guide its members. Recent frauds have highlighted
the need for such guidance. For example, the top management of Tyco
International was found guilty in a 2005 court case for utilizing corporate
assets as if they were their own. To improve its image and, hopefully, its per-
formance, the new management is putting its entire work force of approxi-
mately 260,000 workers through a training program on legal and ethical issues.
Some companies now have a new kind of CEQO, Chief Ethics Officer, to over-
see the development, training, and enforcement of a code of ethics. CPAs are
now required to earn continuing education credits in ethics to keep their CPA
licenses active.

Accepting a Public Trust

The public accounting profession has worked hard to gain the public trust. For
that trust to be maintained, it is essential that professional integrity be based on
personal moral standards and reinforced by codes of conduct. Whenever a
“scandal” surfaces, the profession is diminished and auditors are personally
ruined. It is not difficult to find oneself in ethically compromising situations
without realizing it. During the course of an audit, for example, an auditor may
become aware of a client’s plans that will likely double the market value of its
stock. Suppose the auditor has a roommate from college who would like to
know about the investment opportunity. The roommate does not have a large
investment portfolio, so sharing this knowledge would not affect the market.
Should the auditor be allowed to share the information with the roommate?
Common sense should answer the question, but sometimes people do not use
common sense. Thus the profession has developed ethical standards to help
address such issues.

Many ethical problems can be resolved by following the code of conduct
established by professional associations. The AICPA, Institute of Internal
Auditors, and the Institute of Management Accountants all have codes of profes-
sional conduct. The individual state boards of accountancy and state societies of
CPAs have generally adopted the AICPA’s Rules of Conduct. When ethical
problems are not specifically covered by these codes, the auditor must use
common sense, moral values, and the general ethical framework of the codes to
resolve these ethical problems. Enforced codes of conduct serve as guides to
behavior and instill public confidence in the profession.

! Barbara Ley Toffler, Final Accounting-Ambition, Greed, and the Fall of Arthur Andersen, Broadway Books, 2003.

Understanding Auditor Responsibilities
I

For What:
Financial Statements
Internal Control Reports
Corporate Governance

Attributes Needed:
Ethics
Standards
Legal Responsibilities
High Quality Decision-
Making
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Chapter 3 Understanding and Meeting Ethical Expectations

Unique Licensure for CPAs

Audit and other attestation reports on financial statements can be signed only by
those who are licensed as CPAs by their state board of accountancy. Anyone can
provide consulting, bookkeeping, and tax services. To become a licensed CPA, a
person must pass the CPA exam, meet specific education and experience
requirements, and agree to uphold the profession and its code of professional
conduct. The auditor is a judge of the fairness of the financial statements and the
reliability of internal control over financial reporting. The credibility of that judg-
ment (the audit opinion) depends on the independence, objectivity, and compe-
tence of the auditors.

Independence: A Foundation Requirement

Independence is the cornerstone of the auditing profession. Without it, the pro-
fession would not have the necessary credibility to add value to corporate gover-
nance. Auditors must be independent in fact and in appearance. To be independent
in_fact, auditors must be objective and unbiased in their actions and evaluations and
not be influenced by management. Auditors must be professionally skeptical as they
gather evidence: they should not accept management’s explanations without cor-
roborating evidence.

To meet the objective of independence in appearance, the auditors must be per-
ceived by knowledgeable users of financial statements as independent. An audi-
tor could be independent in fact but not appear to be independent. For example,
an auditor may have an immaterial investment in an audit client and remain
independent in fact. However, a financial statement user who knows of that
investment may believe the auditor’s judgment is impaired by a desire to increase
the market value of that stock.

Major Threats to Independence

Independence is a state of mind that can be impaired by several potential threats.
It starts with basic objectivity. The auditor and the audit firm must manage these
threats to objectivity. We describe those threats and approaches to mitigate those
threats.

Compensation Schemes Partners’ compensation in many CPA firms has his-
torically been based in large part on attracting and keeping clients. This creates a
temptation to accede to client wishes in order to keep them.The wish to retain
profitable clients can impair independence. The profession has responded in two
ways: (a) the audit committee is increasingly seen as the audit client, and (b) partner
compensation schemes have been changed to focus more on quality of services
rendered and training of staff personnel. Keeping a bad client is not good busi-
ness. And a client who wants the auditor to potentially sacrifice independence is
not a good client.

Who Is the Client? The SEC makes it clear that the audit committee of public
companies should have the authority to hire and fire the auditor and, therefore,
the audit committee is the client. There is a threat to an auditor’s independence
when getting paid by the client. Although the fee is paid by the company, all the
important decisions are made by the audit committee that is charged to act in
the best interests of the shareholders.

For non-public companies, the client is whoever has the authority to hire and
fire the auditor. That may be the owners, management, the board of directors, or,
if it has one, the audit committee. The key point is that no matter who the client is,
the auditor must make an objective, unbiased judgment about the fairness of the
financial statements and should not favor the interests of one party over another.
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An audit firm, therefore, must find ways to reinforce to its auditors that maintain-
ing the public trust is more important than retaining a client where it might appear
that its objectivity could be compromised.

Familiarity with the Client Auditors serving a client for several years may
develop relationships and friendships that cause the auditor to become less skep-
tical than they would have been otherwise. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that
the partner-in-charge of the audit of a public company rotate off the audit at least
every five years. No such requirements exist for auditor rotation on non-public
companies. Some argue that public companies should periodically change CPA
firms to help assure an objective and fresh approach to the audit. The GAO
recently issued a study on the costs of mandatory audit firm rotation and con-
cluded that the costs of firm rotation were high and that other safeguards could
be built into the process.

Time Pressures CPA firms often compete for clients through bids. The low
bidder is likely to get the job. But, in order to make a sufficient return on the
audit, there will be time pressures to get the audit done as quickly as possible.
Those in charge of audits are evaluated not only on the quality of their work but
also on the efficiency with which the audit is conducted. This may create an
environment in which the auditors do not look as deeply into potential problem
areas as they should.

Ability to Rationalize When potential misstatements are detected, it takes
time to investigate and determine if they could be material. To save time, the
auditor may rationalize that the misstatement is not likely to be material, when
in fact it could be. Research has shown that auditors also rationalize potential
misstatements away by assuming that a misstatement that occurred in a small
sample of transactions was a “unique” occurrence and therefore they do not
investigate to determine if other misstatements existed.

Auditing Your Own Work CPAs may help non-public companies or other
organizations improve their information systems, suggest and help the client imple-
ment “best practices,” do the client’s bookkeeping, identify potential candidates for
management positions, and other non-audit tasks. Independence is likely to be com-
promised if auditors are put into the position of auditing their own work, or if audi-
tors identify too closely with the company.

Managing Threats to Independence

Recognizing that there are threats to auditor independence is the first step in
managing independence. Fortunately, firms have developed effective approaches
to manage the threats to independence, including the following:

e Establishing and monitoring codes of conduct

e Balancing compensation schemes

e Implementing independent reviews of decisions to accept or retain clients

e Separating consulting activities from audit activities

e (Conducting independent reviews of audit work and audit documentation

e Establishing peer reviews within the profession

e Improving hiring practices

Codes of Conduct Establishing a strong code of conduct is a first step. However,
the code must be accompanied by an understanding that the firm “lives” the code
and that any deviation from the code will not be tolerated. The tone is established
at the top and is reflected in compensation schemes that reiterate the importance
of the code. It is reinforced through training and constant evaluation.
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Point

The auditor must always view the
real client as a third-party user even
when the primary contact is with
the management of a non-public
company. It is only with such an
attitude that the auditor can main-
tain complete independence and
serve the public interest.
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Point

CPA firms that perform audits of
public companies still retain sub-
stantial services that are not mar-
keted to audit clients. Small firms
continue to provide full-service
audit and consulting services to
audit clients, subject to restrictions
in the AICPA’s Code of Conduct.

Point

Most smaller-sized CPA firms do not
have sufficient numbers of partners
to provide independent internal
reviews of all audit engagements.

Point

One of the major criticisms of the
AICPA's peer review program was
that no qualified reports (meaning
audited firm had quality problems)
were ever issued for a large multi-
national CPA firm. Deloitte &
Touche issued an unqualified opin-
ion (acceptable practices) on the
practices of Arthur Andersen only
weeks before the firm failed.

Chapter 3 Understanding and Meeting Ethical Expectations

Balanced Compensation Schemes There is no doubt that the compensation
schemes utilized by many firms had become unbalanced in the 1990s as indi-
cated in the opening quote about Arthur Andersen. Most firms have changed
their compensation schemes to recognize that walking away from a “bad” client
is in the firm’s best interest, taking hard stances on the acceptability of account-
ing is good business, and reemphasizing the quality of the audit documentation
is also good business.

Reviews of Client Acceptance or Retention Decisions Many audit firms
have a high-level committee that evaluates decisions on accepting and retaining
audit clients. Most of these decisions are based on risk models; i.e., does the
nature of the operations or the quality of management present a risk to the audit
firm? The review of these decisions recognizes that simply increasing fees is not
the sole objective of the firm.The firm must minimize the risk caused by being
associated with an unscrupulous client.

Separation of Consulting Activities There are two kinds of consulting strate-
gies used by public accounting firms that have taken place in the past. They are:

e Audit functions are separated from consulting functions.

e (onsulting-type functions are performed only for non-audit clients.

Many CPA firms continue to perform audits. Audit firms with a non-public
client focus have generally opted to retain consulting services that they provide
for both audit clients and non-audit clients. Often, the consulting function is per-
formed by groups that are distinct from the audit function. For example, infor-
mation system consultants are generally not part of the audit staft.

Most of the Big 4 firms have sold off their consulting services (KPMG’s con-
sulting went public, Andersen Consulting became Accenture, PwC sold their
consulting to IBM, and Ernst & Young sold their consulting arm to Cap Gemini).
However, these firms retained some non-financial statement consulting activities
such as internal audit outsourcing, tax planning, and related services. These firms
serve public companies that are not their audit clients.

Independent Reviews of Audit Work and Audit Documentation Knowing
that your work will be reviewed during and at the end of every engagement tends
to keep people honest. All public accounting firms have audit partners and man-
agers that review the work of staft auditors. In addition, most large firms have
independent groups or managers that perform an independent review of the audit
work and documentation of the audit to determine that (a) the work meets pro-
fessional standards and (b) the work was carried out objectively.

Peer Reviews within the Profession The Public Company Accounting
Opversight Board (PCAOB) now performs independent quality reviews (inspec-
tions) of all firms that are registered with it. The AICPA had mandated similar peer
reviews for all audit firms that audited SEC clients and optional peer reviews for
audit firms that did not audit SEC clients. Most firms undergo peer reviews because
they often lead to practice improvements. The peer review process from within the
AICPA was criticized for (a) being too inbred, i.e., it was one firm looking at
another firm, both from within the profession, and (b) not having a public perspec-
tive. The peer reviewers examined quality control practices, including processes to
maintain independence, and also took samples of audit engagements to determine
whether the engagements were performed in accordance with GAAS.

Improved Hiring Practices Most firms have refocused their hiring practices
on ensuring that they are hiring and retaining people that have both outstand-
ing technical skills and objectivity. There is less emphasis on hiring people who
have outstanding sales skills, but not good technical skills. Many of the firms look
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at the 150 credit-hour education requirement to ascertain whether the graduates
have developed additional analytical skills beyond basic accounting.

Sources of Independence Guidance

The SEC has established independence guidance and rules that apply to auditors
of publicly-held companies. The Government Accountability Office has estab-
lished independence requirements for those who perform audits of state and
local governments under the government auditing standards. The AICPA has
established independence rules and interpretations that apply to all CPAs when
performing attestation services.

SEC’s Principles for Judging Independence and Prohibited
Non-Audit Services

The SEC has been active in pushing for rules that ensure that public accounting
firms act independently. The SEC’s commitment to independence is summarized
in the following two paragraphs:

The independence requirement serves two related, but distinct, public policy goals.
One goal is to foster high quality audits by minimizing the possibility that any exter-
nal factors will influence an auditor’s judgments. The auditor must approach each audit
with professional skepticism and must have the capacity and the willingness to decide
issues in an unbiased and objective manner, even when the auditor’s decisions may be
against the interests of management of the audit client or against the interests of the
auditor’s own accounting firm.

The other related goal is to promote investor confidence in the financial state-
ments of public companies. Investor confidence in the integrity of publicly available
financial information is the cornerstone of our securities market. . . . Investors are more
likely to invest, and pricing is more likely to be efficient, where there is greater assur-
ance that the financial information disclosed by issuers is reliable . . . [that] assurance
will flow from knowledge that the financial information has been subjected to rigor-
ous examination by competent and objective auditors.’

The free flow of capital and the efficient pricing of capital are dependent on
reliable, timely, and fully disclosed financial information. Second, the public
accounting profession must be structured such that the engagement team is able
and willing to make fully informed and unbiased judgments about the fairness
of the client’s financial presentations.

The SEC has been concerned that the non-audit services provided to audit clients
are a threat to the auditor’s independence because (a) the magnitude of the fees may
provide incentives to keep the client by allowing the client to “bend the rules”a little
bit, or (b) the magnitude of the work may create a mutuality of interest with the
client. The “Auditing in Practice—Audit and Non-Audit Fees” box illustrates that
the amount of fees is far greater than most had expected and, in some cases, the non-
audit fees paid to the audit firm reached as high as 40 times the size of audit fees.

The SEC has taken a principles-based approach in dealing with independence
issues. All of the SEC statements on independence follow from four basic princi-
ples that define when an auditor is in a position that impairs independence. Those
principles dictate that auditor independence is impaired when the auditor has a
relationship that:

e (reates a mutual or conflicting interest between the accountant and the audit client
e Places the accountant in the position of auditing his or her own work

e Results in the accountant acting as management or an employee of the audit client
e Places the accountant in a position of being an advocate for the audit client?

2 U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Final Rule: Revision of the Commission’s Auditor Independence
Requirements, February 5, 2001.

3 Op.cit.
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AUDITING IN PRACTICE

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

On April 11, 2000, the European Wall Street Journal reported ¢ Motorola Inc. paid KPMG $3.9 million for audit serv-
that in a study of 307 U.S. listed companies, on average, the ices and $62.3 million for other services.

fees for those other services were nearly three times as large

as the audit fees.

Some of the audit-to-nonaudit fees relationships were:

¢ Delphi Automotive Systems Corp. paid Deloitte &
Touche $6.6 million in audit fees and an additional
$50.8 million for other services.

e Sprint Corp. paid Ernst & Young, LLP $2.5 million for At what point do the additional amounts create a mutuality of
audit services and $63.8 million for other services. interest or an economic dependence on the client that may

« General Electric Co. paid KPMG $23.9 million for audit- impair independence? The SEC is concerned that the numbers

ing work and $79.7 million for other services.

were much higher than had been expected.

e J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. paid PricewaterhouseCoopers
$21.3 million in audit fees and $84.2 million for addi-

tional work.

( Public/Non-Public

The SEC's jurisdiction applies only
to public companies that must reg-
ister with the SEC. The principles
would seem to apply to all audit
firms. However, many CPA firms
that do not have public clients
provide some of these services;
most notably bookkeeping, infor-
mation systems design, appraisals,
and in some cases internal audit
work. The client as well as impor-
tant third-party stakeholders should
make an assessment of the poten-
tial impairment of the auditor’s
independence on the work.

The SEC believes that these four factors provide an appropriate framework
for analyzing auditor independence issues. Subsequently, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 amended the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 by prohibiting a
public accounting firm that audits a public company from providing the follow-
ing non-audit services to the company:

e Bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial state-
ments of the audit client

® Financial information systems design and implementation

e Appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions, or contribution-in-kind reports

e Actuarial services

e Internal audit outsourcing services

e Management functions or human resources

e Broker or dealer, investment adviser, or investment banking services

e |egal services and expert services unrelated to the audit

e Any other service that the Board determines, by regulation, is impermissible

The PCAOB adopted rules in 2005 that prohibit registered public account-
ing firms from performing the following tax-related services for audit clients:

e Providing tax services to certain members of management serving in financial report-
ing oversight roles or to their immediate family members

® Providing services related to marketing, planning, or opining in favor of the tax treat-
ment of certain confidential transactions or based on an aggressive interpretation of
applicable tax laws and regulations

The SEC has shifted the burden of assessing the auditor’s independence to the
audit committees by requiring them to assess the auditor’s independence and
make a written statement on that assessment to the stockholders. The Act also
requires that the client’s audit committee preapprove any non-audit services,
including tax services, not specifically prohibited. Audit committees should con-
sider all factors that might affect the independence of the auditor and should not
approve non-audit services that they believe might impair independence.

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

The AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct is made up of a set of principles
that provide the framework for the rules of conduct. In addition, there are
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AICPA Principles of Professional Conduct

Responsibilities In carrying out their responsibilities as professionals, members should exercise sensitive professional and moral
judgments in all their activities.

Public interest Members should accept the obligation to act in a way that will serve the public interest, honor the public trust, and
demonstrate commitment to professionalism.

Integrity To maintain and broaden public confidence, members should perform all professional responsibilities with the highest
sense of integrity.

Objectivity and independence A member should maintain objectivity and be free of conflicts in discharging professional responsi-
bilities. A member in public practice should be independent in fact and appearance when providing auditing and other attestation
services.

Due care A member should observe the profession’s technical and ethical standards, strive continually to improve competence and
the quality of services, and discharge professional responsibility to the best of the member’s ability.

Scope and nature of services A member in public practice should observe the principles of the Code of Professional Conduct in
determining the scope and nature of services to be provided.

interpretations of the rules as well as ethics rulings. The Principles are shown in
Exhibit 3.1. They provide a broad framework for professional conduct and rep-
resent the highest guide for professional action. Auditors should always look
first to the principles for professional guidance.

The Rules of Conduct are guides to help accomplish the broad principles of the
profession. They provide more detailed guidance to help CPAs in carrying out
their public responsibilities. The rules are specifically enforceable under the bylaws
of the AICPA. Most rules apply to all CPAs, even if not in public practice. The
Rules of Conduct are intended to be specific enough to guide auditors in most
situations they are likely to encounter.

The profession augments the rules with specific interpretations to provide
additional guidance. The rules cover the broad areas of independence, integrity,
adherence to professional pronouncements, and responsibilities to the public and
colleagues. The Rules of Conduct are presented in Exhibit 3.2. The rules begin

AICPA Rules of Conduct

Rule 101 A member in public practice shall be independent in the performance of professional services as
Independence required by standards promulgated by bodies designated by Council.

Rule 102 In the performance of any professional service, a member shall maintain objectivity and integrity,
Integrity and Objectivity shall be free of conflicts of interest, and shall not knowingly misrepresent facts or subordinate his

or her judgment to others.

Rule 201 A member shall comply with the following standards and with any interpretations thereof by bodies
General Standards designated by Council.
A. Professional Competence. Undertake only those professional services that the member or the
member’s firm can reasonably expect to be completed with professional competence.
B. Due Professional Care. Exercise due professional care in the performance of professional
services.
C. Planning and Supervision. Adequately plan and supervise the performance of professional
services.
D. Sufficient Relevant Data. Obtain sufficient relevant data to afford a reasonable basis for con-
clusions or recommendations in relation to any professional services performed.

(continued)
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AICPA Principles of Co t (continued)

Rule 202 A member who performs auditing, review, compilation, consulting, tax, or other professional
Compliance with Standards services shall comply with standards promulgated by bodies designated by Council.

Rule 203 A member shall not (1) express an opinion that the financial statements or other financial data of
Accounting Principles any entity are presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or (2) state that he

or she is not aware of any material modifications that should be made to such statements or data in
order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, if such statements or
data contain any departure from an accounting principle promulgated by bodies designated by council
to establish such principles that has a material effect on the statements or data taken as a whole. If,
however, the statements or data contain such a departure and the member can demonstrate that due
to unusual circumstances the financial statements or data would otherwise have been misleading, the
member can comply with the rule by describing the departure, its approximate effects, if practicable,
and the reasons why compliance with the principle would result in a misleading statement.

Rule 301 A member in public practice shall not disclose any confidential client information without the spe-
Confidential Client cific consent of the client.

Information

Rule 302 A member in public practice shall not:

Contingent Fees (1) perform for a contingent fee any professional services for, or receive such a fee from a client

for whom the member or the member’s firm also performs:
(a) an audit or review of a financial statement, or
(b) a compilation of a financial statement when the member expects, or reasonably might
expect, that a third party will use the financial statement and the member’s compilation
report does not describe a lack of independence, or
(c) an examination of prospective financial information, or
(2) prepare an original or amended tax return or claim for a tax refund for a contingent fee for any
client.
This prohibition applies during the period in which the member or the member’s firm is engaged to
perform any of the services listed above and the period covered by any historical financial state-
ments involved in any such listed services.

Rule 501 A member shall not commit an act discreditable to the profession.
Acts Discreditable

Rule 502 A member in public practice shall not seek to obtain clients by advertising or other forms of soli-
Advertising and Other citation in a manner that is false, misleading, or deceptive. Solicitation by the use of coercion,
Forms of Solicitation overreaching, or harassing conduct is prohibited.

Rule 503 A. Prohibited Commissions. A member in public practice shall not for a commission recommend
Commissions and or refer to a client any product or service, or for a commission recommend or refer any prod-
Referral Fees uct or service to be supplied by a client, or receive a commission, when the member or the

member’s firm also performs (attestation services referred to in Rule 302) for the client.
This prohibition applies to the period covered by the attestation service and the related
historical financial statements.

B. Disclosure of Permitted Commissions. A member in public practice who is not prohibited by this
rule from performing services for or receiving a commission and who is paid or expects to be
paid a commission shall disclose that fact to any person or entity to whom the member rec-
ommends or refers a product or service to which the commission relates.

C. Referral Fees. Any member who accepts a referral fee for recommending or referring any serv-
ice of a CPA to any person or entity or who pays a referral fee to obtain a client shall disclose
such acceptance or payment to the client.

Rule 505 A member may practice public accounting only in a form of organization permitted by state law or
Form of Organization regulation whose characteristics conform to resolutions of Council.
and Name A member shall not practice public accounting under a firm name that is misleading. Names

of one or more past owners may be included in the firm name or a successor organization.
A firm may not designate itself as “Members of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants” unless all of its CPA owners are members of the Institute.
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with a clear definition of professionalism and auditor independence. Next is a
discussion of the AICPA’s approach to independence.

AICPA’s Approach to Independence
The AICPA’s Rule of Conduct 101 on independence states:

A member in public practice shall be independent in the performance of professional
services as required by standards promulgated by bodies designated by Council.

The auditor is required to be independent when providing attestation services.
However, the standards for providing only consulting, tax, or bookkeeping serv-
ices do not require independence.

There are several interpretations of Rule 101 and over 100 rulings that provide
more detailed guidance concerning such matters as financial interests in the client,
family relationships, performance of non-audit services, and business relationships
with the client. One of the more significant interpretations is shown in Exhibit 3.3.

Financial Interest Note that part A of Interpretation 101-1 refers to a covered
member. A covered member is, among other things, defined as:

e An individual on the attest engagement team
e An individual in a position to influence the attest engagement

e A partner in the office in which the lead attest engagement partner primarily prac-
tices in connection with the attest engagement

A covered member’s immediate family is also subject to Rule 101 and its inter-
pretations, with some exceptions. Thus, if you are a new staff person, manager, or
partner working on an audit, you and your immediate family should not have any
direct or material indirect financial interest in that client. A direct financial interest is
a financial interest owned directly by, or under the control of, an individual or
entity, or beneficially owned through an investment vehicle, estate, or trust when
the beneficiary controls the intermediary or has the authority to supervise or par-
ticipate in the intermediary’s investment decisions. An indirect financial inferest is a
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101-1 Interpretation of Rule 101

Independence shall be considered to be impaired if:

A. During the period of the professional engagement a covered member

1. Had or was committed to acquire any direct or material indirect financial interest in the client.
2. Was a trustee of any trust or executor or administrator of any estate if such trust or estate had or was committed to acquire

any direct or material indirect financial interest in the client and

i. the covered member (individually or with others) had the authority to make investment decisions for the trust or estate; or
ii. the trust or estate owned or was committed to acquire more than 10 percent of the client’s outstanding equity securities or

other ownership interests; or

iii. the value of the trust’s or estate’s holdings in the client exceeded 10 percent of the total assets of the trust or estate.

3. Had a joint closely held investment that was material to the covered member.

4. Except as specifically permitted in interpretation 101-5, had any loan to or from the client, any officer or director of the client,

or any individual owning 10 percent or more of the client’s outstanding equity securities or other ownership interests.
B. During the period of the professional engagement, a partner or professional employee of the firm, his or her immediate family, or
any group of such persons acting together owned more than 5 percent of a client’s outstanding equity securities or other owner-

ship interests.

C. During the period covered by the financial statements or during the period of the professional engagement, a firm, or partner or

professional employee of the firm, was simultaneously associated with the client as a

1. director, officer, or employee, or in any capacity equivalent to that of a member of management;

2. promoter, underwriter, or voting trustee; or
3. trustee for any pension or profit-sharing trust of the client.
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The AICPA has issued numerous
rules and interpretations on auditor
independence. Fundamentally, the
individual auditor and audit firm
need to accept responsibility for
maintaining the public trust and
safeguarding independence.
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financial interest in which the beneficiary neither controls the intermediary nor
has the authority to supervise or participate in the intermediary’s investment deci-
sions. For example, an auditor has an investment in a mutual fund that has an
investment in an audit client but the member does not make the decisions to buy
or sell the security. The ownership of mutual fund shares is a direct financial inter-
est. The underlying investments of a mutual fund are considered to be indirect
financial interests. If the mutual fund is diversified, a covered member’s ownership
of five percent or less of the outstanding shares of the mutual fund would not be
considered to constitute a material indirect financial interest in the underlying
investments. For purposes of determining materiality, the financial interests of the
covered member and immediate family should be aggregated.

No partner or professional employee of the CPA firm whether a covered
member or not may be employed by an attest client or own more than 5% of an
attest client’s outstanding equity securities or other ownership interests.

Family Relationships A covered member’s independence would be considered
impaired if an immediate family member were employed by an audit client in a
key position in which they can exercise influence over the contents of the finan-
cial statements such as the CEO, CFO, chief accountant, member of the board of
directors, chief internal audit executive, or treasurer. Independence is impaired if
a covered member has a close relative who has a key position with the client or has
a material financial interest in the client of which the CPA has knowledge.

Loans There are limits on the types and amounts of loans covered members
may obtain from a financial institution that is also an audit client. Essentially,
auditors cannot obtain large loans, or loans for investment purposes, from a client.
However, auditors are permitted to obtain normal loans—if they are at standard
terms, such as automobile loans or leases.

Performing Non-Audit Services Even though the code does not prohibit the
auditor from performing other services such as bookkeeping for their client, the auditor
must take care to ensure that working too closely with the client does not com-
promise the appearance of independence. If, for example, the auditor does book-
keeping, prepares tax returns, performs several management consulting services,
regularly plays golt with members of the client’s management, and goes on vaca-
tions with client personnel, the appearance, if not the fact, of independence has dis-
appeared. Therefore, the members of a CPA firm need to assess all of their
relationships with every client to ensure that independence has not been compro-
mised. Interpretation 101-3 “Performance of Nonattest Services” provides guid-
ance as to the nature of services that would and would not impair independence.
For example, it is acceptable for the auditor of a non-public company to design, install,
or integrate a client’s information system, provided the client makes all manage-
ment decisions. It is not acceptable to supervise client personnel in the daily oper-
ation of a client’s information system.

Independence Safeguard: A Proactive Approach The auditing profession
has dealt with independence rules on a rule-basis for a number of years. While
specific rules help, there is always a tendency to focus on specific rules and often
miss the overall concept. Independence is a simple concept. The difficulty is in
understanding the threats to independence, or even the subtle changes that cause
us to be less skeptical than we should be on any audit engagement. For example,
does our experience in finding that most companies do not engage in fraud make
us less skeptical in examining another company? Does the fact that over the last
ten years, no instances of material fraud have been uncovered on a particular client
make us less skeptical when performing the current audit? The profession, indi-
vidual audit firms, and audit professionals must develop a proactive approach to
maintain the necessary objectivity and professional skepticism. Exhibit 3.4 con-
tains a number of safeguards that should be considered by every firm.
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Safequard Independence: A Proactive Approach

Actions that public accounting firms can take to safeguard independence:

The firm’s leadership sets the proper “tone at the top” by (a) leading by example and (b) stressing the importance of independ-

ence for all professional staff.

Communicate with the client’s audit committee or with the board of directors on matters that may affect the audit firm’s independ-

ence, or the perception of independence by key constituencies.

Participate in peer review programs that include a review of audit documentation, including an analysis of the audit reasoning

process and the processes set up within the firm to assure audit independence.
Implement quality control standards, including regular training.

Set up internal monitoring and compliance procedures to ensure that the firm and its personnel are complying with not only the

independence policies, but also the spirit of those policies.

Require professional staff to communicate to firm senior management any independence and objectivity issues that concern them.

Encourage peer partner review by someone not involved in the audit engagement.
Where appropriate, periodically rotate the partner in charge of the audit engagement.

Constantly monitor threats to independence—whether they be from litigation, economic events, changed business strategies, and

so forth.

Note that the items in Exhibit 3.4 focus on establishing leadership within the
firm that emphasizes the importance of independence. The proactive approach
complements the leadership with quality control processes and independent reviews
of audits.

Other Important Elements of a Professional
Code of Ethics

The following is a description of some of the other Rules of Conduct shown in
Exhibit 3.2.

Integrity and Objectivity—Rule 102

Rule 102 requires the AICPA member to act with integrity and objectivity in all
services that may be provided to a client. Note that this applies also to CPAs who
are no longer in public practice. For example, if the CFO of a company know-
ingly makes or permits others to make materially false and misleading entries in
the financial statements or records, fails to correct an entity’s financial statements
or records, or signs—or directs another to sign—a document containing materi-
ally false and misleading information, that person has violated the AICPA Code
of Ethics. A CPA is a special certificate that holds its owner to a high standard of
ethical conduct, no matter where the individual is in his or her career.

A conflict of interest may occur, for example, if a member serves a client both as
the auditor and legal counsel. Auditors must be objective. Legal counsel is an
advocate for the client. One person cannot be both by turning objectivity on and
off as needed.

Confidentiality—Rule 301

During the course of an audit, the auditor develops a complete understanding of
the client and obtains confidential information such as its operating strengths,
weaknesses, and plans for financing or expanding into new markets. To ensure a
free flow and sharing of information between the client and the auditor, the client
must be assured that the auditor will not communicate confidential information



76

Chapter 3 Understanding and Meeting Ethical Expectations

to outside parties. The only exceptions to this general rule are that auditors are not
precluded from communicating information for any of the following purposes:

® To ensure the adequacy of accounting disclosures required by GAAP or GAAS

e To comply with a validly issued and enforceable subpoena or summons or to comply
with applicable laws and government regulations

e To provide relevant information for an outside quality review of the firm’s practice
under PCAOB, AICPA, or State Board of Accountancy authorization

e To initiate a complaint with, or respond to an inquiry made by, the AICPA’s professional
ethics division or trial board or investigative or disciplinary body of a state CPA society
or Board of Accountancy

Privileged communication means that confidential information obtained
about a client cannot be subpoenaed by a court of law to be used against that client.
Most states allow privileged communication for lawyers but not for auditors.

A potentially troublesome area for accountants is confidential information
obtained in one engagement that may be applicable to another. In the case of
Fund of Funds, Ltd. v. Arthur Andersen & Co. (AA&Co.), a federal court jury found
against the auditors because the jury expected the auditor to use information from
one audit client to protect the interests of another audit client. The Wall Street
Journal reported:

According to court papers in the suit, John M. King, a Denver oil and gas fund pro-
moter, convinced Fund of Funds to purchase natural resource assets from two concerns
he controlled. Fund of Funds eventually paid about $120 million for over 400 natural
resource assets.

Fund of Funds alleged that many of the assets were sold at “unrealistically high and
fraudulent prices” and that AA&Co. had “knowledge of or recklessly disregarded” the
fraudulent activities because AA&Co. was also the auditor for the King concern.*

AA&Co. audited both Fund of Funds and King Resources, the entity that sold
the assets to Fund of Funds. According to the court proceedings, the plaintitfs
alleged that the same key audit personnel were involved in both audits and
knew, or should have known, that the assets in question were sold at a price that
generated profits much higher than comparable sales to other customers of King
Resources. AA&Co. admitted knowledge of these overcharges but stated that it
had a responsibility under the Code of Professional Conduct to keep the informa-
tion confidential. The jury was convinced that information obtained while auditing
King Resources should have been used during the audit of Fund of Funds.?

However, courts do not always give the auditing profession clear signals. In
another case, Consolidata Services v. Alexander Grant, the court found the CPA firm
guilty of providing confidential information to other clients. Alexander Grant
(now Grant Thornton) did tax work for Consolidata Services, a company that
provided computerized payroll services to other companies. On learning that
Consolidata was in financial trouble, Grant warned some of their other clients,
who were also Consolidata customers. Consolidata sued Grant charging that the
accounting firm’s disclosures eftectively put it out of business. The jury found for
Consolidata. Grant was also found guilty of providing the information only to
selected parties: that is, they provided the information only to their clients—not
all customers of Consolidata.

These types of situations create true ethical dilemmas for auditors. Should
they use knowledge obtained during the audit of one client when reporting on
the statements of another client, as the Fund of Funds decision seems to indicate,
or should they follow the Code of Professional Conduct and keep the informa-
tion confidential? Unfortunately, the rules do not directly answer this question.
Two principles, however, seem to evolve from the cases. First, the audit firm was

* The Wall Street Journal, November 6, 1981, p. 24.
5 Fund of Funds, Ltd. v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 545 F Supp. 1314 (S.D.N.Y. 1982).
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common for the two audit engagements with Fund of Funds and therefore could
obtain and apply the information. Second, in the Consolidata case, the jury
believed that the auditor had selectively used confidential information, thus vio-
lating the public trust. Moreover, although the courts generally uphold the con-
fidentiality standard, they have not been reluctant to appeal to a higher standard
of public trust when they perceive a conflict between confidentiality and the
public trust. It is the author’s expectation that this area will continue to evolve.
Auditors facing a potential conflict are advised to consult legal counsel.

Contingent Fees—Rule 302

A contingent fee is defined as a fee established for the performance of any serv-
ice in which a fee will not be collected unless a specified finding or result is
attained, or in which the amount of the fee depends on the finding or results of
such services. An example of a contingent fee is a consulting firm that agrees to
perform an information systems project for a fee of 50% of the defined cost sav-
ings attributable to the system for a period of three years. Contingent fees are
attractive to clients because they do not pay unless the consultant delivers real
value. Consulting firms often use contingent fees to compete with each other.
Contingent fees are prohibited for any client for whom the auditor performs
attestation services. However, an auditor’s fees may vary, depending on the com-
plexity of services rendered or the time taken to perform the services. Contingent
fees have not been prohibited for services provided to non-audit clients. Thus,
during the past decade, many firms collected large contingent fees by marketing
tax shelter plans to non-audit clients. Some of these tax shelters may have been
illegal and a few large CPA firms have been sued by the Internal Revenue Service.

Advertising and Other Forms of Solicitation—Rule 502

Members are prohibited from attracting clients in a manner that involves coer-
cion, overreaching, or harassing conduct because it is not in the public interest.
Interpretation 502-2 states that such activities include those that:

e (reate false or unjustified expectations of favorable results

e Imply the ability to influence any court, tribunal, requlatory agency, or similar body
or official

e (ontain a representation that specific professional services in current or future periods
will be performed for a stated fee, estimated fee, or fee range when it was likely at
the time of the representation that such fees would be substantially increased and the
prospective client was not advised of that likelihood

e (ontain any other representations that would be likely to cause a reasonable person
to misunderstand or be deceived

Commissions and Referral Fees—Rule 503

Rule 503A and B prohibit a CPA from receiving a commission from a person
or organization for recommending its products or services to an attestation
client. However, the CPA can receive a commission on recommending services
or products to a non-attestation client. However, even in situations in which
commissions are permitted, the Code requires disclosure of the nature of the
commissions so that the client can assess the potential influence of the commis-
sion. Many auditors choose not to accept commissions—even when allowed—
to ensure their integrity in recommending the best products to their clients.
Rule 503C allows a CPA to pay or receive a referral fee for professional
services (audits, consulting, tax, and so on) as long as the client is notified of

the fee.
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Many vendors, such as software
services on information system net-
works, pay commissions to all con-
sultants who recommend their
product. Some CPA firms accept
these commissions. However, they
should (a) accept the commission
only if they have formed an objec-
tive opinion that these are the best
products for the client, and (b) dis-
close the fact they are accepting
the commission to the client.
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Form of Organization and Name—Rule 505

Most public accounting firms are organized as partnerships or limited liability
partnerships. Rule 505 requires that CPAs own a majority of the financial inter-
ests in a firm engaged in attestation services. The overriding focus is that CPAs
remain responsible, financially and otherwise, for the attestation work performed
to protect the public interest.

Enforcement of the Code

Compliance with the Code depends primarily on the voluntary cooperation of
AICPA members and secondarily on public opinion, reinforcement by peers, and,
ultimately, on disciplinary proceedings by the Joint Ethics Enforcement Program,
sponsored by the AICPA and state CPA societies. Disciplinary proceedings are ini-
tiated by complaints received by the AICPA’s Professional Ethics Division.

The member’s CPA certificate may be suspended or revoked by the state
board of accountancy. Without that certificate or license, a person is legally pro-
hibited from issuing an audit opinion or a review report on financial statements.
The state board may also require additional continuing education to retain or
reinstate the CPA certificate.

Ethical Theories: Resolving Issues
That Are Not Black or White

Accounting professionals are often faced with ethical situations not explicitly cov-
ered by the Code of Professional Conduct. In such situations, a defined method-
ology is needed to help resolve the situation in a thoughtful manner. An ethical
problem occurs when an individual is morally or ethically required to take an
action that conflicts with his or her immediate self-interest. An ethical dilemma
occurs when there are conflicting moral duties or obligations, such as paying a debt
to one person when there is equal indebtedness to another person and sufficient
funds do not exist to repay both. Complex ethical dilemmas do not lend them-
selves to simple “right” or “wrong” decisions or reference to the code of ethics.
Ethical theories present frameworks to assist individuals in dealing with both eth-
ical problems and ethical dilemmas. Two such frameworks—the utilitarian theory
and the rights theory—provide references that have influenced the development of
codes of conduct and can be used by professionals in dealing with situations.

Utilitarian Theory

Utilitarian theory holds that what is ethical is the action that achieves the
greatest good for the greatest number of people. Actions that result in outcomes
that fall short of the greatest good for the greatest number and those that repre-
sent inefficient means to accomplish such ends are less desirable. Utilitarianism
requires the following:

e An identification of the potential problem and courses of action

e An identification of the potential direct or indirect impact of actions on each affected
party (often referred to as stakeholders) who may have a vested interest in the out-
come of actions taken

® An assessment of the desirability (goodness) of each action

e An overall assessment of the greatest good for the greatest number

Uttlitarianism requires that individuals not advocate or choose alternatives that
favor narrow interests or that serve the greatest good in an inefficient manner.
There can be honest disagreements about the likely impact of actions or the rel-
ative efficiency of different actions in attaining desired ends. There are also poten-
tial problems in measuring what constitutes “the greatest good” in a particular
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circumstance. One problem with the utilitarian theory is the implicit assumption
that the “ends achieved” justify the means. Unfortunately, such an approach can
lead to disastrous courses of actions when those making the decisions fail to ade-
quately measure or assess the potential costs and benefits. Thus, ethicists generally
argue that utilitarian arguments should be mitigated by some “value-based”
approach. The rights approach presents such a framework.

Rights Theory

Rights theory focuses on evaluating actions based on the fundamental rights of
the parties involved. But not all rights are equal. In the hierarchy of rights, higher-
order rights take precedence over lower-order rights. The highest-order rights
include the right to life, to autonomy, and to human dignity. Second-order rights
include rights granted by the government, such as civil rights, legal rights, rights to
own property, and license privileges. Third-order rights are social rights, such as the
right to higher education, to good health care, and to earn a living. The lowest level,
fourth-order rights, are related to one’s nonessential interests or one’s tastes, such as
the right to get rich, to play golf, or to be attractively dressed.

Rights theory requires that the “rights” of affected parties should be examined as
a constraint on ethical decision-making. The rights approach is most eftective in
identifying outcomes that ought to be automatically eliminated, such as the “Robin
Hood approach” of robbing from the rich to give to the poor, or in identifying sit-
uations in which the utilitarian answer would be at odds with most societal values.

An Ethical Framework

The following framework is derived from the utilitarianism and rights theories
and defines an approach to address complex issues not addressed by the profes-
sion’s code or when elements of the code seem to be in conflict.

e Identify the ethical issue(s).

e Determine who are the affected parties and identify their rights.

e Determine the most important rights.

e Develop alternative courses of action.

e Determine the likely consequences of each proposed course of action.

® Assess the possible consequences, including an estimation of the greatest good for
the greatest number. Determine whether the rights framework would cause any course
of action to be eliminated.

e Decide on the appropriate course of action.

The following case, based on an actual situation, is presented to show how to
apply this framework to auditing situations.

Applying the Ethical Framework to the Consolidata Situation

Identify the Ethical Issue(s) The CPAs providing tax services for Consolidata
believe Consolidata is likely to go bankrupt. Several clients of the CPA firm use
the payroll processing services of Consolidata. Should the other clients be pro-
vided with this confidential information?

Determine Who Are the Affected Parties and Identify Their Rights The
relevant parties to the issue include the following:

e (Consolidata and its management

e (onsolidata’s current and prospective customers, creditors, and investors

The CPA firm and its clients

The public accounting profession
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Listing those potentially affected by the decision is easier than identifying their
rights. The following, however, are some of the rights involved:

e Company management has the right to assume that confidential information obtained
by auditors will remain confidential unless disclosure is permitted by the company or
is required by accounting or auditing standards.

e (onsolidata’s current and prospective customers, creditors, and investors have a right
to receive reliable information and not be denied information that others receive.

e The CPA firm has the right to expect its professionals to follow the professional standards.
However, some may feel pressure to protect their existing clients” welfare.

® The public accounting profession has the right to expect all its members to uphold the
Code of Professional Conduct and to take actions that enhance the general reputation
and perception of the integrity of the profession. The ethics ruling on confidentiality
was designed to ensure a free flow of information between the client and the auditor.
Such a flow is considered necessary to the efficient and effective conduct of an audit
engagement.

Determine the Most Important Rights The most important rights are those
of (1) Consolidata to not have confidential information improperly disclosed, (2) the
users to receive reliable information, and (3) the profession to ensure that actions
are taken to ensure effective audits.

Develop Alternative Courses of Action The possible courses of action are
(1) share the confidential information with the other clients of the public
accounting firm, or (2) do not share that information. Recall that Alexander
Grant was performing only tax work for Consolidata. If they were performing
audit work, professional standards would have required that they disclose their
reservations about Consolidata remaining a going concern in their audit report
and that going concern reservation would serve as a flag to anyone who read the
annual report. However, no such report was issued because it was not an audit.

Determine the Likely Consequences Share the Information—Sharing this
information with the other clients may cause them to take their business away
from Consolidata, thus increasing the likelihood of bankruptcy for Consolidata.
It might also increase the possibility of the CPA firm being found in violation of
the rules of conduct and being sued by Consolidata or others for inappropriately
providing confidential information. The CPA may also have his or her license
suspended or revoked. Other Consolidata clients who do not receive the infor-
mation because they are not the CPA firm’s clients will be put at a competitive
disadvantage, and they may sue the auditor because of discriminatory disclosure.

Do Not Share the Information—If the information is not shared with the other
clients, those clients might take their audit business elsewhere if they find out the
auditors knew of this problem and did not share it with them.

Assess the Possible Consequences and Evaluate Rights Sharing the infor-
mation may help other clients move their payroll processing business to other serv-
ice providers in a more orderly manner and more quickly than would otherwise
happen. However, other Consolidata customers may be placed at a disadvantage if
Consolidata does go bankrupt and their payroll processing is disrupted. Consolidata’s
employees will lose their jobs more quickly, and its investors are likely to lose more
money more quickly. Its right to have confidential information remain confidential
will be violated. There may be less confidence in the profession because of discrim-
inatory or unauthorized disclosure of information. Management of other firms may
be reluctant to share other non-financial information with auditing firms.

Decide on the Appropriate Course of Action After assessing the relative ben-
efits of disclosing vs. not disclosing the information, it appears that the greatest good
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is served by not sharing the information selectively with current audit clients.
Conclusion: The CPA should not share the information. The CPA may encourage
Consolidata to share its state of affairs with its clients, but cannot dictate that it do so.

Summary

Certified Public Accountants can serve the public only if they safeguard their
reputation for independence and objectivity. For most of the past century, the
AICPA had the primary responsibility to provide guidance to the profession on
pervasive ethics concepts. All CPAs are expected to follow the basic principles of
the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct. However, as with accounting, the
profession became more rule-focused. In turn, the AICPA issued over 100 inter-
pretations and rulings dealing with independence.

As the accounting profession followed a hyper-growth pattern of expanding the
nature of services during the 1980s and 1990s, the SEC and others, including
Congress, became critical that the profession was losing one of its core values. The
SEC issued a comprehensive bulletin that called for the profession to return to
fundamental concepts. The SEC started with four basic principles and then pro-
vided guidance on specific questions that had impacted the profession by simply
implementing these four principles. The SEC went a step further by prohibiting
some specific non-audit activities for audit clients and, most importantly, set up
procedures to ensure that an outside group—the audit committee—evaluated all
potential impairments to the auditor’s independence before engaging them to
audit a company’s financial statements or to report on the quality of the entity’s
controls. Congress codified these concepts in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

There will be situations for which specific ethics rules have not been devel-
oped. An ethical framework, such as developed in this chapter, can help you
resolve an ethical dilemma in a thoughtful manner.

Significant Terms

commission The payment of a fee for selling an
item or as a percentage of the fees generated for per-
forming a service, which is generally prohibited by the
AICPA but may be allowed in some instances for non-
attestation clients; when a commission is accepted, the
CPA must disclose its nature to the user affected by the
auditor’s service.

confidential information Information obtained
during the conduct of an audit related to the client’s
business or business plans; the auditor is prohibited from
communicating confidential information except in very
specific instances defined by the Code or with the
client’s specific authorization.

contingent fee A fee established for the performance
of any service pursuant to an arrangement in which no
fee will be charged unless a specified finding or result is
attained, or in which the amount of the fee otherwise
depends on the finding or results of such services.

covered member An individual on the attestation
engagement team, an individual in a position to

influence the attestation engagement, or a partner in
the office in which the lead attestation engagement
partner primarily practices in connection with the
attestation engagement.

ethical dilemma A situation in which moral duties
or obligations conflict; one action is not necessarily the
correct action.

ethical problem A situation in which an individual
is morally or ethically required to do something that
conflicts with his or her immediate self-interest.

independence Being objective and unbiased while
performing professional services. It requires being inde-
pendent in fact and in appearance.

privileged communication Information about a
client that cannot be subpoenaed by a court of law to
be used against a client; it allows no exceptions to
confidentiality.

referral fees Fees received or paid for referring busi-
ness to another person or organization.
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rights theory An approach (framework) for address-
ing ethical problems by identifying a hierarchy of rights
that should be considered in solving ethical problems or
dilemmas.

rules of conduct Detailed guidance to assist the
CPA in applying the broad principles contained in the
AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct; the rules have
evolved over time as members of the profession have
encountered specific ethical dilemmas in complying

Understanding and Meeting Ethical Expectations

stakeholders Those parties who have a vested inter-
est in, or are affected by, the decision resulting from an
ethical problem or dilemma.

utilitarian theory An ethical theory (framework)
that systematically considers all the potential stakehold-
ers who may be aftected by an ethical decision and
seeks to measure the effects of the decision on each
party; it seeks to assist individuals in making decisions
resulting in the greatest amount of good for the greatest

with the principles of the Code.

number of people.

Review Questions

3-1
3-2
3-3

3-4

3-6

3-7

3-9

3-10

3-11

3-12

3-13

3-14

3-15

3-16

How is ethical behavior related to organizational success?
Why is it necessary to be a licensed CPA to perform an audit?

Why is independence considered the most important characteristic of
an auditor?

‘What are the major threats to auditor independence? Explain why
each item represents a threat to auditor independence.

What can a CPA firm do to manage the threats to auditor independ-
ence? Explain why each management approach should be effective and
how it would be implemented.

What are the major principles that have guided the SEC’s actions on
auditor independence?

What are the prohibited services that a CPA or CPA firm cannot pro-
vide for a public company audit client?

Describe the principles that form the basis of the AICPA’s Rules of
Conduct.

Are there services that can be performed for non-public companies
that cannot be performed for public companies? Explain.

‘Why might the profession allow some services to be performed for
non-public clients that cannot be performed for public company clients?

How do the AICPA’s and the SEC’s independence rules on providing
data processing and consulting services for an audit client differ?

‘What 1s meant by independence (a) in fact and (b) in appearance? Give an
example of an auditor being independent in fact but not in appearance.

Describe the difference between a direct financial interest and an indi-
rect financial interest in an audit client.

Explain why the audit client might difter for a non-public company as
compared to a public company?

Would independence be impaired, according to the AICPA, if a CPA:

a. Obtained a home mortgage with a bank that later became an audit
client while the mortgage was still in effect?

b. Had been the audit client’s controller during the first six months of
the period covered by the audited financial statements?

c. Obtained a home mortgage while the lending institution was an
audit client?

What role does the audit committee have in making judgments about
auditor independence?



3-17

3-18

3-19

3-20
3-21

Multiple-Choice Questions

Under what circumstances is it appropriate for a CPA to disclose con-
fidential information about a client?

Would a CPA violate the AICPA’s code if he or she served a client
both as its auditor and legal counsel? Explain your answer.

Under what circumstances is it appropriate for a CPA to:

a. Provide services on a contingent fee basis?

b. Accept a commission for referring a product or service to the client?
c. Pay a referral fee to another CPA?

How is the AICPA’s code enforced?

Briefly describe the concepts and approaches underlying the utilitarian
theory and the rights theory.

Multiple-Choice Questions

*3-22

3-23

3-24

3-25

*3-26

Which of the following statements best explains why the CPA profes-

sion has found it essential to promulgate ethical standards and to estab-

lish means for ensuring their observance?

a. Vigorous enforcement of an established code of ethics is the best
way to prevent unscrupulous acts.

b. Ethical standards that emphasize excellence in performance over
material rewards establish a reputation for competence and character.

c. A distinguishing mark of a profession is its acceptance of responsi-
bility to the public.

d. A requirement for a profession is to establish ethical standards that
stress primarily a responsibility to clients and colleagues.

Which of the following is not a major threat to an auditor’s
independence?

a. Audit partner’s compensation based on obtaining and retaining clients.
b. Becoming too friendly with the client’s management.

c. Significant time pressures to get the audit done quickly.

d. Auditing records maintained by the public accounting firm.

e. All of the above are threats.

The PCAOB has prohibited public accounting firms from providing

tax services to higher members of management of audit clients. The

primary rationale for such a prohibition is likely to be:

a. CPAs are not experts in taking tax positions.

b. The fees paid by management were significant in comparison with
audit fees.

c. The close personal relationship with management created a perceived
loss of independence by the investing public.

d. Tax services always involve taking a proactive position for the client.

According to the AICPA’s ethical standards, an auditor would be consid-

ered independent in which of the following instances?

a. The auditor has an automobile loan from a client bank.

b. The auditor is also an attorney who advises the client as its general
counsel.

c. An employee of the auditor donates service as treasurer of a charita-
ble organization that is a client.

d. The client owes the auditor fees for two consecutive annual audits.

A violation of the profession’s ethical standards would most likely have

occurred when a CPA:

a. Purchased a bookkeeping firm’s practice of monthly write-ups for
a percentage of fees received over a three-year period.

* All problems marked with an asterisk are adapted from the Uniform CPA Examination.
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*3-27

*3-28

3-29

3-30

b. Made arrangements with a bank to collect notes issued by a client
in payment of fees due.

c. Whose name is Smith formed a partnership with two other CPAs
and uses Smith & Co. as the firm name.

d. Issued an unqualified opinion on the 2006 financial statements
when fees for the 2005 audit were unpaid.

A CPA is permitted to disclose confidential client information without
the consent of the client to:
I. Another CPA who has purchased the CPA’s tax practice.
II. Another CPA firm if the information concerns suspected tax
return irregularities.
III. A state CPA society’s voluntary quality control review board.
a. Iand III
b. II and III
c. 1T
d. III

Manny Tallents is a CPA and a lawyer. In which of the following situa-

tions is Tallents violating the AICPA’s Rules of Conduct?

a. He uses his legal training to help determine the legality of an audit
client’s actions.

b. He researches a tax question to help the client make a management
decision.

c. He defends his audit client in a patent infringement suit.

d. He uses his legal training to help determine the accounting implica-
tions of a complicated contract of an audit client.

CPA firms performing management consulting services can accept

contingent fee contracts when:

a. The amounts are not material in relationship to the audit billings.

b. The consulting services are for clients for whom the auditor does
not provide any form of attestation services related to a company’s
financial statements.

c. The consulting services are non-attestation services for an audit client.

d. The consulting services are derived from a joint contract with an audit

client to perform consulting services for an independent third party.
e. All of the above.

Applying utilitarianism as a concept in addressing ethical situations

requires the auditor to perform all of the following except:

a. Identity the potential stakeholders that will be affected by the alter-
native outcomes.

b. Determine the effect of the potential alternative courses of action
on the affected parties.

c. Choose the alternative that provides either the greatest good for the
greatest number or the lowest cost (from a societal view) for the
greatest number.

d. Examine the potential outcomes to see whether the results are
inconsistent with the rights or justice theories.

Discussion and Research Questions

3-31

(Purpose of Codes of Conduct) Many professions have developed
codes of conduct. The public accounting profession has developed
detailed guidance in its Code.

Required

a. What is the major purpose of the Codes of Conduct enacted by
the AICPA, state boards of accountancy, state societies of CPAs, and
the 1TA?
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3-33

3-34

Discussion and Research Questions

b. What are the potential sanctions if a CPA is found to have violated
the Professional Code of Conduct?

(Threats to Independence)

Scene 1—You are the senior in charge of the audit of NOB
Company. The CFO is pressuring you to complete the audit in two
weeks. Some of the audit team members are new staft and have
required a significant amount of training to bring them up to speed
for the audit. As a result, your audit is behind schedule. However, you
know that even with extended overtime, your audit team cannot
complete all of the planned audit work in two weeks.

Required
a. What should you do in this situation?
b. What could have been done to prevent this situation?

Scene 2—Partners in the public accounting firm of Noble, Wishman,
& Kant, LLP earn compensation points for (1) obtaining new clients,
(2) retaining clients, and (3) selling additional services to existing clients.
Depending on the number of points, each partner’s compensation can
be increased by up to 150% of their base salary.

Required
a. Explain why this arrangement can be a threat to independence.
b. What could be done to eliminate this threat?

(Corporate Governance Issues) The Sarbanes-Oxley Act mandates
that the audit committee of the board of directors of public companies
be directly responsible for the appointment, compensations, and over-
sight of the external auditors. In addition, the audit committee must
preapprove all non-audit services that might be performed by the
auditing firm.

Required

a. Discuss the rationale for this mandate as opposed to letting the
shareholders, CFO, or CEO have these responsibilities.

b. What factors should the audit committee consider in evaluating the
independence of the external auditor?

(SEC Independence Principles) The following are situations in
which auditors may find themselves.

Required

a. What are the four guiding principles that have been developed by
the SEC for auditor independence?

b. Are the principles applicable only to SEC companies, or do they
apply to auditors of smaller, privately-held companies as well?

c. For each of the situations, indicate whether it appears to violate the
SEC’ independence principles. Explain your answer.

Situation

1. Spencer is the partner in charge of the audit of Flip Company. He
has half interest in a joint venture with Flip’s CFO.

2, Victoria is the senior in charge of the audit of Holder Company.
During the past year, she filled in for the chief accountant who had
emergency surgery and was out for six weeks.

3. Brandon has been asked by an audit client to represent the client in
negotiations with the management of another company that the
client wants to acquire.

4. Sanders is the partner in charge of the audit of the Marshall Co.The
CEO and CFO have asked Sanders to prepare their personal federal
and state income tax returns as well as the tax returns for the company.
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3-35

Activity 3-36

3-37

3-38

(Independence) For each of the following independent situations,
indicate whether it is a violation of the AICPA’s Rule of Conduct 101
on independence and explain your answer.

a. Barnes is a partner in a CPA firm and the firm performs an audit of
Ovats Co.

i. Barnes practices in the same office as the lead engagement part-
ner for the Ovats Co. audit but does not work on the audit.
Barnes owns a few shares of Ovats Co. stock.

il. Barnes practices in the same office as the lead engagement part-
ner for the Ovats Co. audit but does not work on the audit.
Barnes’ wife owns stock in Ovats Co.

b. Putts is a new staff person and works on the audit of the Tate Corp.
Putts owns a few shares of Tate Corp.s stock.

c. Nels is an audit senior and participates in the audit of Varsity, Co.
His non-dependent mother owns shares of stock in Varsity that are
material to her net worth and of which Nels has knowledge.

d. Kard is an audit senior but does not participate in the audit of the
Looney Corp. Kard owns 6% of Looney’s stock.

(Ethical Standards) Discuss the following situations in a group and

report to the class:

a. What rules would you expect the codes of other professions to have
in common with the AICPA? Explain.

b. Examine the SEC’ basic principles regarding independence. Using
only those principles, discuss and reach a conclusion as to whether
the following services performed by a CPA for an audit client vio-
lates audit independence. If you believe that the services can be per-
formed if safeguards are in place, state the safeguards:

1. A CPA firm prepares the client’s tax return.

2. A CPA performs business risk analysis with a focus on economic
and business risk rather than accounting risks.

3. A CPA performs marketing research, but only for non-audit
clients. However, it does have a significant number of clients who
are in the same industry for which it performs marketing research.

4. A client board member performs consulting work for the con-
sulting division of the firm; the audit partner was not aware of
the relationship of the board member to the firm.

5. A professor in a major university is doing a research project for a
public accounting firm and also serves on the board of directors
of one of the company’s audit clients.

(Independence) Public accounting firms have taken many positive
steps to ensure the independence of their firms in conducting audits.

Required

a. Identify five ways in which a public accounting firm can take positive
actions to improve the firm’s independence in conducting an audit.

b. Identify a small public accounting firm that is in the region of your
school. For that firm, visit the web site and determine the scope of
services of the firm. Are independence issues diftferent for small
firms that audit only privately-held companies than for firms that
audit mostly public companies?

c. Identify three unique challenges that smaller public accounting
firms face in maintaining audit independence.

d. What are the requirements for independence and objectivity if an
audit firm performs consulting services for a non-audit client?
Explain the rationale for the requirements.

(Auditor Independence) Independence is often hailed as the “cor-
nerstone of auditing” and recognized as the most important character-
istic of an auditor.
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3-40

Discussion and Research Questions

Required
a. What is meant by independence as it is applied to the CPA?
b. Compare independence of an auditor with that of a
1. Judge
2. Lawyer
c. Describe the difference between the independence of an external
and an internal auditor.
d. For each of the following situations, indicate whether the auditor is
in violation of the AICPA’s Code. Explain your answers.
1. The auditor’s father works for an audit client as
(a) A custodial engineer
(b) The treasurer
2. The auditor’s third cousin twice removed is treasurer of an audit
client.
3. The auditor of a charitable organization is also its treasurer.

(Ethical Scenarios and Standards) The following are a number of
scenarios that might constitute a violation of the Code of Professional
Conduct.

Required

For each of the following situations, identify whether it involves a vio-

lation of the ethical standards of the profession, and indicate which

principle or rule would be violated.

a. Tom Hart, CPA, does the bookkeeping, prepares the tax returns,
and performs various management services for Sanders, Inc. One
management service involved the assessment of the microcom-
puter needs and identification of equipment to meet those needs.
Hart recommended a product sold by Compter Co., which has
agreed to pay Hart a 10% commission if Sanders buys its product.

b. Irma Stone, CPA, was scheduled to be extremely busy for the next
few months. When a prospective client asked if Stone would do its
next year’s audit, she declined but referred them to Joe Rock, CPA.
Rock paid Stone $200 for the referral.

c. Nancy Heck, CPA, has agreed to perform an inventory control
study and recommend a new inventory control system for Ettes,
Inc., a new client. Currently, Ettes engages another CPA firm to
audit its financial statements. The financial arrangement is that
Ettes, Inc. will pay Heck 50% of the savings in inventory costs
over the two-year period following implementation of the new
system.

d. Brad Gage, CPA, has served Hi-Dee Co. as auditor for several years.
In addition, Gage has performed other services for the company.
This year, the financial vice president has asked Gage to perform a
major computer system evaluation.

e. Due to the death of its controller, an audit client had its external
auditor, Gail Klate, CPA, perform the controller’s job for a month
until a replacement was found.

f. Chris Holt, CPA, conducted an audit and issued a report on the 19X1
financial statements of Tree, Inc. Tree has not yet paid the audit fees for
that audit prior to issuing the audit report on 19X2 statements.

(Confidentiality) Rule 301 on confidentiality recognizes a funda-
mental public trust between the client and the auditor and reflects the
manner in which all professionals conduct themselves. However, in
certain instances the auditor may be required to communicate confi-
dential information.

Required
a. Briefly explain the purpose of the confidentiality rule. Why is it
important to ensure the client of confidentiality of information?

87




88 Chapter 3 Understanding and Meeting Ethical Expectations

Activity 3-41

3-42

3-43

b. Under what circumstances is the CPA allowed to communicate
confidential information, and who are the parties to which the
information can be communicated?

c. Assume that an auditor is the partner in charge of two separate
engagements, but during the conduct of the audit of Client A, the
auditor learns of information that will materially affect the audit of
Client B. Client B is not aware of the information (the inability of
Client A to pay its debts). What alternative courses of action are
available to the auditor? Would communication of the information
to Client B be considered a violation of confidentiality? What guid-
ance might the auditor seek other than Rule 301 in developing an
answer to this ethical dilemma?

d. Is the auditor’s report considered a confidential communication?
Explain.

Robert, CPA, has a large one-office firm in a growing city, but his
practice is shrinking.® Several other firms recently opened offices in
the city, and Robert lost several key clients to his new competitors.

Because of the changed competitive climate, Robert decided his
firm needed to ofter a wider array of services and seek clients in
industries in which the firm hadn’t previously ventured. For example,
Robert bid on a nearby community college’s annual audit, even
though his firm never before had audited a college. The college
receives a significant amount of federal financial assistance. The bid was
successful, and Robert’s firm conducted and completed what he
thought was an appropriate audit. Shortly after its conclusion, however,
Robert was informed by the ethics committee that an investigation
was being considered to determine if he had violated any of the
AICPA’s Rules of Conduct or related interpretations.

Required

a. What rules of conduct and interpretations would the ethics
committee most likely refer to for this investigation?

b. How might Robert have avoided violation of those rules and
interpretations?

(Application of Ethical Framework) As the auditor for XYZ
Company, you discover that a material sale ($500,000 sale, cost of
goods of $300,000) was made to a customer this year. Due to poor
internal accounting controls, the sale was never recorded. Your client
makes a management decision not to bill the customer because such a
long time has passed since the shipment was made.You determine, to
the best of your ability, that the sale was not fraudulent.

Required

a. Does GAAP require disclosure of this non-transaction? Cite specific
applicable standards.

b. Regardless of your answer to part (a), utilize the ethical framework
developed in the chapter to determine whether the auditor should
require either a recording or disclosure of the transaction. If you
conclude that the transaction should be disclosed or recorded, indi-
cate the nature of disclosure and your rationale for it.

(Application of Ethical Framework) Your audit client, Germane
Industries, has developed a new financial instrument, the major pur-
pose of which is to boost earnings and to keep a significant amount
of debt oft the balance sheet. Its investment banker tells the firm that
the instrument is structured explicitly to keep it off the balance sheet,

©This case was written by Michael A. Pearson, professor of accounting at Kent State University, and printed in
the June 1995 Journal of Accountancy on pp. 82—83.



Cases

and that she has discussed the treatment with three other Big

Five firms that have indicated some support for the client’s position.
The transaction is not covered by any current authoritative
pronouncement.

Your initial reaction is that the item, when viewed in its substance
as opposed to its form, is debt. The client reacts that GAAP does not
prohibit the treatment of the item it advocates, and that the financial
statements are those of management. The client notes further, and you
corroborate, that some other firms would account for the item in the
manner suggested by management, although it is not clear that a
majority of other firms would accept such accounting.

Required

a. What is the ethical dilemma?

b. Does competition lead to a lower ethical standard in the profession?

c. What safeguards are built into the profession’s standards and Code
of Professional Conduct that would mitigate the potential effect of
competition on the quality of the profession’s work?

Cases

3-44

3-45

(Fairness and Professionalism) In a 1988 article, Arthur Wyatt, a
former member of the FASB, stated: “Practicing professionals should
place the public interest above the interests of clients, particularly when
participating in a process designed to develop standards expected to
achieve fair presentation. . . . Granted that the increasingly detailed nature
of FASB standards encourages efforts to find loopholes, a professional
ought to strive to apply standards in a manner that will best achieve the
objectives sought by the standards. Unfortunately, the auditor today is often

a participant in aggressively seeking loopholes. The public, on the other hand,
views auditors as their protection against aggressive standard application.”
[Emphasis added].

Required

a. What does it mean to find “loopholes” in FASB pronouncements?
How would finding loopholes be potentially valued by the manage-
ment of a client?

b. Explain how auditors could be participants in “aggressively seeking
loopholes” when the independence standard requires the pursuit of
fairness in financial presentation.

c. How is professionalism related to the concept of fairness in financial
reporting? Explain.

(Contflict of Interest) In The Fund of Funds, Ltd. v. Arthur Andersen

& Co., Arthur Andersen auditors completed the audit of Fund of
Funds with no problems encountered and issued an unqualified
opinion. Shortly thereafter, essentially the same audit team began the
audit of King Resources. While conducting that audit, the auditors
realized that there was a significant contract between King Resources
and Fund of Funds. The auditors continued with the audit and were
surprised to find that King Resources had not dealt fairly with Fund
of Funds by selling them property that was significantly overpriced.
Now the auditors were caught in a dilemma: they could tell Fund of
Funds. Alternatively, they could refrain from telling Fund of Funds and
hope that Fund of Funds would never find out.

Required

a. Discuss what course of action you would recommend the auditors
should take and potential results of that action.

b. How could this situation have been avoided?

(Group XTI
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c. Discuss how this case difters from the Consolidata case described in
the chapter in terms of disclosing confidential information. Why do
you think the courts came to different conclusions for these two
cases?

(Ethical Problem) You have been engaged to examine the balance
sheet of Hi-Sail Company, which provides services to financial institu-
tions. Its revenue source comes from fees for performing these services.
Its primary expenses are related to selling and general and adminis-
trative costs. The company has assets and liabilities of approximately

$1 million. Operating losses in recent years have resulted in a retained

earnings deficit and stockholder’s equity close to zero. The assets con-

sist primarily of restricted cash and accounts receivable. Its liabilities
consist of accounts payable, accrued expenses, and reserves for potential
losses on services previously provided.

Your preliminary audit work indicated that the company generates
a high volume of transactions. The internal control system surrounding
these transactions is weak. It is also apparent that management is
involved only moderately in day-to-day activities and spends most of
its time dealing with non-routine transactions and events.

You expended a significant amount of time and cost to complete
your examination of the balance sheet. The client understood the
extended efforts and stated a willingness to pay whatever cost to com-
plete this engagement. However, monthly progress billings have not
been paid.

On completion of the audit fieldwork, you reviewed a draft of the
balance sheet and related notes with the company’s president and chief
financial officer/controller.

With minor wording modification, they agreed with the draft.
They requested that you issue this report as soon as possible. You com-
mitted to the issuance of your opinion, subject to a review of the draft
with the company’s chairperson of the board.

After the chairperson reviewed the draft, she requested a special
meeting outside the company’s office. At the subsequent meeting, she
stated that the drafted balance sheet and notes are severely in error.
Included in her comments are the following:

1. The previous year’s tax returns have not been filed, and the com-
pany has extensive potential tax liabilities.

2. The company has guaranteed significant amounts of debt related to
joint ventures. These ventures have failed, and the company’s part-
ners are insolvent.

3. Significant notes payable to the chairperson have not been recorded.

4. Amounts payable to the chairperson and other officers related to
reimbursement of monies expended by these individuals personally
for travel, entertainment, and related expenses on the company’s
behalt have also not been recorded.

The chairperson surmised that the president and the chief financial
officer/controller did not disclose these items because of their detri-
mental impact on the company. She believed that those officers were
trying to stage a shareholder dispute to unseat her.

You continued to have separate meetings with these individuals.
It became clear that the parties were in dispute, and you found it
increasingly difficult to understand what was factual and what was
not. The two officers, in particular, requested urgent conclusion of’
the audit and delivery of your opinion. They claimed the chairper-
son’s position was self-serving and not representative of the com-
pany’s financial position.

You discovered that the reason the two officers were anxious for
the opinion and balance sheet was that they were attempting to sell
the company. You also learned from the company and from another of
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your clients that the second client was interested in purchasing the
company. This second client has asked you why you have not yet
issued your report on Hi-Sail.

Discussion Issues
a. Refer to the ethical framework in the chapter, and write a report
describing what course of action you would take concerning the
audit and how you decided on that course of action.
b. Indicate what you would do in response to the second client’s
inquiry and why.

3-47 (Ethical Dilemmas) The following case requires you to read pub- Activity
lished academic papers that discuss ethics in auditing and accounting,

and that will provide you with insight on opinions regarding how
ethics training can be accomplished.

Part 1. Read the following two published research papers:

(1) “Hollow men and women at the helm . .. Hollow accounting
ethics?” by Sandra Waddock. Issues in Accounting Education 2005
(Volume 20, 2) pp. 145-150.

(2) “Danish evidence of auditors’ level of moral reasoning and predis-
position to provide fair judgments,” by Bent Warming-Rasmussen
and Carolyn A. Windsor. Journal of Business Ethics 2003, Volume 47,
pp. 77-87.

Part 2.

a. Do you agree with the arguments in the first paper? What are the
strengths of Professor Waddock’s analysis? What are the weaknesses?
What does the fact that there were frauds and unethical behavior
long before the advent of formal business school education imply
regarding Professor Waddock’s views?

b. What was the average level of moral reasoning for the auditors sur-
veyed in the second paper? What does this imply for potential audit
judgments made by those auditors, and the extent to which they
may be influenced by client preferences?

c. Discuss whether you believe that ethics interventions during your
college education will be helpful in ensuring that your ethical
framework will be appropriate for the duties you will be expected
to perform as a professional accountant.

d. Nearly all of the students in your class will be entering the profes-
sional workplace during the next year or so. It is important that you
consciously consider how you might react if you encounter an ethical
dilemma. Most importantly, it will be important for you to recognize
that you are encountering an ethical dilemma, and to think very care-
fully about the nature of that dilemma, how you might handle the sit-
uation itself, and how you might anticipate the outcomes of that
situation. Toward that end, you are to “imagine” an ethical dilemma
that you may encounter in your new professional life.

* Describe the nature of the dilemma.

* Describe how you plan to handle the situation.

* Describe potential outcomes of the situation related to your
reaction to it.




CHAPTER

Audit Risk and a Client's
Business Risk

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

The overriding objective of this textbook is to build a foundation to perform
efficient and effective audits of a company’s financial statements and its
control systems. By thoroughly studying and analyzing this chapter, you will
be able to:

e Identify and analyze the types of risks that an organization faces and to use that risk
knowledge to perform better audits.

e Differentiate between audit risk and business risk; and understand the two concepts
of risk to better design an audit.

e Identify and utilize the components of the COSO Enterprise Risk Management frame-
work and apply that framework to better understand organizational operations.

e Describe the linkage between risk and control.

e Identify the procedures CPA firms use to identify the risk of potential audit clients
and describe how risk will affect decisions about accepting, retaining, or not retain-
ing clients.

e Identify the factors an audit firm should implement to minimize the risk associated
with taking on a new audit client.

e Define audit risk and describe the linkages among the major components of audit
risk.

e  Utilize audit risk to plan the nature of procedures to be performed on an audit
engagement.

e Identify the information the auditor needs to gather to perform a risk analysis of a
client.

e Link the client risk analysis to the design of audit procedures.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

Risk is a natural part of business activity. There is always a risk that a new
product will fail, unanticipated economic events will occur, or an unlikely, but
expected, outcome may occur. Risk always exists. The manner in which the
company manages those risks affects both the financial viability of an organiza-
tion and the auditor’s approach to audit the organization. Some organizations
have management control mechanisms to identify, manage, mitigate, or other-
wise control risks. The COSO Enterprise Risk Management Framework is uti-
lized to manage risks.

The auditor needs to understand (a) the risks that affect the operations
of the client and (b) how well management identifies and deals with those
risks. The auditor’s analysis of risks will affect the proper accounting for
transactions and accounting estimates. In this chapter, we describe the
nature of risks, the procedures the auditor utilizes to identify risks, and the
methodologies the company uses to manage, mitigate, or control the risks.
The analysis of risks directly affects the nature and amount of audit work
performed.



Nature of Risk

Understanding
the Risk Approach

to Auditing

The concept of audit risk is introduced to describe the auditor’s risk that an
audit may fail to detect material misstatements. Audit risk is a concept that is
used to plan the audit and control the auditor’s risk in making an error in issu-
ing an audit opinion.

Nature of Risk

You can observe a lot by watching.'

Risk is a pervasive concept. We are at risk every time we cross the road. Organi-
zations are at risk every day they operate. There are many definitions of risk and
approaches taken to manage risk. In this chapter, we identify four critical com-
ponents of risk that will affect the audit approach and audit outcome. Those four
critical components are:

e [Enterprise Risk—those risks that affect the operations and potential outcomes of orga-
nizational activities.

® [Engagement Risk—the risk auditors encounter by being associated with a particular
client: loss of reputation, inability of the client to pay the auditor, or financial loss
because management is not honest and inhibits the audit process.

e financial Reporting Risk—those risks that relate directly to the recording of transac-
tions and the presentation of financial data in an organization’s financial statements.

e Audit Risk—the risk that the auditor may provide an unqualified opinion on financial
statements that are materially misstated.

Each of the components is interrelated. More importantly, each component can
be managed. The effectiveness of risk management processes will determine
whether a company continues to exist and, indeed, whether the audit firm will con-
tinue to exist. This chapter identifies a framework for identifying and managing risks
to minimize the auditor’s risk associated with issuing an audit opinion on a com-
pany’s financial statements or on the quality of its internal accounting controls.

An overview of the risks is presented in Exhibit 4.1.

Exhibit 4.1 illustrates some of the basic risk relationships that an auditor must
understand in planning and conducting the audit.

The first box in Exhibit 4.1 demonstrates enterprise risk. A number of factors
affect the risk that an organization faces. For example, technological changes rep-
resent a high risk for a company in the computer software business. Competitor
actions also represent enterprise risk. It is up to management to properly manage
enterprise risk. In other words, all organizations are subject to risk; management
reactions to the risk may exacerbate the risk (make it more likely) or, conversely,
good management can act to better manage the risks.

Enterprise risk, in turn, affects the auditor’s assessment of engagement risk, i.e.,
whether it is too risky for an auditor to be associated with a client because such
association will likely have an adverse effect on the auditor. Engagement risk is also
influenced by the integrity and quality of management, as well as the current finan-
cial condition of the organization. For example, if a company is on the verge of
declaring bankruptcy, it is more likely that the auditor’s opinion will be questioned
because investors and lenders will likely suffer economic losses. Further, if the audi-
tor questions management integrity, then the auditor cannot trust responses to

"Yogi Berra, The Yogi Book (New York: Workman Publishing Co.), 1998, 95.
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Risk is cumulative. If enterprise
risk is too large, the auditor should
make a decision to not be associ-
ated with a client because engage-
ment risk will be too high.
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Overview of Risk Elements Affecting an Audit
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audit questions and there is a greater likelihood that management will try to cover
up financial misstatements. Further, as shown in the exhibit, the financial reporting
risk also affect the auditor’s engagement risk. Finally, engagement risk influences
the auditor’s determination of audit risk.

The integrity of management and the quality of the company’s financial con-
dition affects whether an auditor wants to be associated with a client. This is
engagement risk. Audit firms have discovered that being associated with compa-
nies with poor integrity, e.g., a WorldCom, Parmalat, or Enron, creates risks that
can destroy the audit firm or significantly increase costs. Most audit firms have
client acceptance and client retention procedures in place whereby each client is
assessed each year and a decision is made whether to retain the client.

Financial reporting risk, in turn, is affected by all the factors identified in the
exhibit, plus additional issues related to potential management incentives to misstate



Risk Factors Affecting the Audit

the financial statements and financial complexity. Auditors need to understand man-
agement compensation plans and how those plans may motivate individual actions
that might include stretching the limits on acceptable financial accounting.

Finally, the auditor develops a plan to perform an audit that manages the audi-
tor’s risk of being associated with the client, as well as the risk of issuing an
unqualified opinion on financial statements that are materially misstated. As we
will discuss later in this chapter, the auditor needs to both specify and control
audit risk.

The auditor must understand the complexity of the business and its risks as
a basis for determining (a) whether the auditor has sufficient knowledge to
audit the client, (b) whether the auditor understands the approaches taken by
management to manage risks, and (c) how to assess the measurement of the
risks that affect the financial statements, e.g., inventory obsolescence and col-
lectibility of loans.

Risk Factors Affecting the Audit

Does every company have a “right” to a financial statement audit? Failures of
public accounting firms in the last decade have led to a re-thinking of that propo-
sition. Most audit firms have implemented specific procedures to avoid being
associated with audit clients that they think are too risky. To better understand the
audit firm’s approaches, we next explore the concept of engagement risk.

Engagement Risk

Engagement risk has been defined as the risk (resulting in a potential loss) that
an auditor might incur by being associated with a particular client. Engagement
risk increases when an audit firm is associated with any of the following:

e Management with questionable integrity
e A failed company, e.g., the company files for bankruptcy
® A materially misstated financial statement

The auditor reacts to high engagement risk in one of two ways. The first is to
effectively manage engagement risk by not associating with “high risk” audit
clients. That is referred to as the “client acceptance or retention decision.” The
second approach is to set audit risk low, i.e., to manage the risk of materially mis-
stated financial statements by doing an increased amount of audit work to render
an audit opinion. Audit firms use a combination of both approaches to eftectively
manage their overall engagement risk.

Client Acceptance or Retention Decision

Perhaps the most important audit decision made on every audit engagement is
determining whether a client will be accepted or retained. Most audit firms have
developed detailed checklists that are reviewed annually for the continuation of
audit clients. There are a number of factors that affect the auditor’s decision to
accept or retain an audit client, but most factors revolve around management
integrity, management competence, the company’s risk management processes,
corporate governance, and the financial health of the organization.

Corporate Governance and Client Acceptance The quality of corporate
governance is often considered a major factor in determining whether to accept
or retain an audit client. The key factors that a CPA will analyze regarding cor-
porate governance include:

® Management integrity

e Independence and competence of the audit committee

95
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(PublicﬂVon-Public °

The nature of corporate governance
will likely differ in non-public com-
panies. Owner-managers usually
dominate non-public entities while
public companies depend on an
effective outside board.

( Public/Non-Public

Many small businesses will not
have audit committees but may
have a board that acts as an audit
committee. The board may include
outside stakeholders.

Point

Inadequate controls and risk man-
agement processes constitute a
sufficient reason to not accept a
potential audit client.

Chapter 4 Audit Risk and a Client's Business Risk

Quality of management’s risk management process and internal controls

Reporting requirements, including regulatory requirements
e Participation of key stakeholders

Existence of related-party transactions

Management Integrity Probably the most important factor for the auditor to
assess and understand in every audit engagement is management integrity.
The auditor must understand and assess (a) management integrity and (b) eco-
nomic incentives that aftect management. The latter was clearly an influence in
fraudulent financial reporting that occurred in the past decade. There are a
number of potential sources that the auditor should consult in gathering infor-
mation about management integrity. These include:

Auditors—A client acceptance or retention decision should include interviews
with previous partners and audit staff’ to learn of their experiences with the
client. If there is a change in auditors, the auditor should meet with the previous
auditor to find out his or her view of reasons for the change, any disputes with
management, and quality of the firm’s controls. Client permission is required
before the auditor can meet with the previous auditor due to the confidentiality
of the information. Refusal to provide such access should represent a clear warn-
ing signal for the auditor.

Prior-Year Audit Experience—The auditor has a wealth of information if he or she
audited the client in the prior year(s). The auditor should evaluate management’s:

e (Cooperation in dealing with financial reporting problems

e Attitude in identifying and reporting on complex accounting issues
e Disputes regarding accounting treatments

e Attitudes toward private meetings with the audit committee

e (ooperation in preparing schedules for audit analysis
Independent Sources of Information—The auditor should examine the following:

e Independent, private investigations, e.g., those done by a private investigation
firm—used when considering accepting an unknown client with unknown managers

o References from key business leaders such as bankers and lawyers
e Past filings with regulatory agencies such as the SEC

A summary of sources of information about management integrity is shown
in Exhibit 4.2.

Independence and Competence of the Audit Committee and Board In
public companies, the audit committee is the auditor’s client. The auditor should
gather enough information to assess whether the audit committee is both com-
petent and acts in an independent fashion. The auditor should also understand
the audit committee’s commitment to transparent financial reporting and its
approach in supporting internal auditing as an independent review function. The
auditor should also evaluate whether the board, as a whole, is sufficiently knowl-
edgeable and engaged to perform its required oversight role.

Quality of Management’s Risk Management Process and Controls The
auditor should assess management’s commitment to implementing an effective risk
management system. The commitment to risk management and control signals
much about the direction of management and its focus on long-term operations.
A company without such a commitment should be viewed as a higher engagement
risk. Such risk can often be compensated for by additional audit procedures.
However, research has shown that auditors cannot always perform enough audit
procedures to adequately compensate for deficiencies in internal controls.
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Sources of Information Regarding Management Integrity

1. Predecessor auditor. Information obtained directly through inquiries is required by Professional Standards. The predecessor is
required to respond to the auditor unless such data are under a court order, or if the client will not approve communicating
confidential information.

2. Other professionals in the business community. Examples include lawyers and bankers with whom the auditor will normally have
good working relationships and of whom the auditor will make inquiries as part of the process of getting to know the client.

3. Other auditors within the audit firm. Other auditors within the firm may have dealt with current management in connection with
other engagements or with other clients.

4. News media and Web searches. Information about the company and its management may be available in financial journals,
magazines, industry trade magazines, or more importantly on the Web.

5. Public databases. Computerized databases can be searched for public documents dealing with management or any articles on the
company. Similarly, public databases such as LEXIS can be searched for the existence of legal proceedings against the company
or key members of management.

6. Preliminary interviews with management. Such interviews can be helpful in understanding the amount, extent, and reasons for
turnover in key positions. Personal interviews can also be helpful in analyzing the “frankness” or “evasiveness” of management
in dealing with important company issues affecting the audit.

7. Audit committee members. Members of the audit committee may have been involved in disputes between the previous auditors
and management and may be able to provide additional insight.

8. Inquiries of federal regulatory agencies. Although this is not a primary source of information, the auditor may have reason to make
inquiries of specific regulatory agencies regarding pending actions against the company or the history of regulatory actions taken
with respect to the company and its management.

9. Private investigation firms. Use of such firms is rare but would be taken if the auditor becomes aware of issues that merit further
inquiry about management integrity or management’s involvement in potential illegal activities.

Regulatory and Reporting Requirements The auditor should review previ- Point
ous reports to regulatory agencies such as those filed with the SEC. In addition,
some industries such as banking, insurance, proprietary drugs, and transportation  The auditor should always review
are all subject to regulatory oversight. Those agencies often conduct independent  regulatory and internal audit
audits of some aspects of the organization. The auditor should always review the  reports to determine how manage-
regulatory reports to determine if the regulatory auditors have identified problems ~ ment has reacted to problems that
with the company or its management. were identified.
All SEC-registered companies are required to report on Form 8-K a
change in the auditing firm, and the reasons for that change, within five busi-
ness days of the change. The registrant must specifically comment on whether
the company had any significant disagreements with its auditors over account-
ing principles, auditing procedures, or other financial reporting matters and
must indicate the name of the new CPA firm. The dismissed CPA must com-
municate with the SEC stating whether the auditor agrees with the informa-
tion reported by the client.
There is no formal filing of a report describing changes in auditors of a non-
public company. The new auditor of a public company is required to commu-
nicate with the previous auditor and management to determine the reason for

the change. Point

Participation of Key Stakeholders Outside stakeholders often have an impor- 4 ige benefit of meeting with key
tant stake in the audit. When possible, the auditor should make inquiries of such  stakeholders is that it may help the
stakeholders to (a) understand their concerns and (b) understand key compliance auditor in assessing materiality

issues, e.g., lending agreements that will affect the conduct of the audit. levels for the conduct of the audit.
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Point

Related-party transactions should
not be looked at as a part of
normal business. They are always
high risk to the auditor.
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Existence of Related-Party Transactions The auditor should gather informa-
tion, on a preliminary basis, to determine if a potential client is a heavy user of
related-party transactions. While such transactions may have economic motivation,
especially for tax purposes, they often represent a potential breakdown in corporate
governance and often are used to the special advantage of existing management.
Small businesses have historically been heavy users of related-party transactions. But,
such transactions are not limited to smaller businesses. For example, Tyco made
numerous loans to top executives, which were then forgiven by company manage-
ment. WorldCom made loans to its top officers with no apparent schedule for repay-
ment. WorldCom engaged in financial transactions with companies owned by senior
management. All of these transactions represent (a) conflicts of interest and
(b) opportunities to influence the reported financial statement of the entity.

Financial Health of the Organization The auditor is more likely to be sued if
an organization declares bankruptcy than if the organization is financially healthy.
Whenever bankruptcy occurs, there will be a number of investors and creditors who
have lost a great deal of money. While they would like to recover from the company
or management, it is unlikely that they will be able to do so because neither of these
groups has sufficient resources to cover the losses. Thus, plaintift attorneys often turn
to the auditor and allege that the financial statements were misstated, and the audi-
tor should have known they were misstated. Further, they assert that had the finan-
cial statements not been misstated, their clients would have lost less money.

The auditor also needs to understand the financial health of the organization to:
® Assess management’s motivation to misstate the financial statements
e Identify areas that are more likely to be misstated
e Identify account balances that appear to be out of the norm
® Assess the likelihood of financial failure

In addition to performing traditional financial analysis, the auditor should seek
to understand all important financial-based contracts such as bank loan
covenants, employee compensation, regulatory requirements, existing litigation
against the firm, and stock exchange listing requirements. Those contracts may
provide motivation for management to misstate financial results.

Other Factors Affecting Engagement Risk The auditor should also evalu-
ate the economic prospects of the company to help ensure that (a) important
areas will be investigated and (b) the company will likely stay in business. High-
risk companies are generally characterized by the following:

e Inadequate capital

e lack of long-run strategic and operational plans

e Low cost of entry into the market

e Dependence on a limited product range

e Dependence on technology that may quickly become obsolete

e Instability of future cash flows

e History of questionable accounting practices

® Previous inquiries by the SEC or other regulatory agencies

Financial Reporting Risk
Four key factors affect financial reporting risk:

e The quality of the company’s internal controls

e The complexity of the company’s transactions and financial reporting
e Management’s motivation to misstate the financial statements

® The company's financial health
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These four elements are interrelated. For example, if management is motivated
to misstate the financial statements because of economic problems, it is easier to
do so if the company has poor internal controls and complex financial reporting
issues. The auditor will gather information on these issues through reviews of
previous audits, or by talking with a predecessor auditor.

Accepting New Clients: Minimizing Risk

Auditing Standards on Accounting Firm Changes A successor auditor is
required to initiate discussions with the predecessor auditor to gain an under-
standing of the reason for the change in CPA firm. Because of the confidential-
ity rule, the successor auditor must obtain the client’s permission to talk with the
predecessor auditor. The auditor is particularly interested in determining whether
there were any disagreements with the client on auditing or accounting proce-
dures that would have led to the auditor’s dismissal or resignation. Audit standards
suggest inquiries that focus on the following:

e Integrity of management

e Disagreements with management as to accounting principles, auditing procedures, or
other similarly significant matters

e The predecessor’s understanding of the reasons for the change of auditors

e Any communications by the predecessor to the client’s management or audit commit-
tee concerning fraud, illegal acts by the client, and matters related to internal control

The Engagement Letter The auditor and client should have a mutual under-
standing of the nature of the audit services to be performed, the timing of these
services, the expected fees and the basis on which they will be billed, the respon-
sibilities of the auditor in searching for fraud, the client’s responsibilities for
preparing information for the audit, and the need for other services to be per-
formed by the CPA firm. The CPA firm should prepare an engagement letter
summarizing and documenting this understanding between the auditor and the
client. The engagement letter clarifies the responsibilities and expectations of
each party. The client also acknowledges those expectations (see Exhibit 4.3).
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Audit Engagement Letter

Rittenberg & Schwieger
5823 Monticello Court
Madison, WI 53711

June 1, 2007

Mr. Dan Finneran,

President Rhinelander Equipment Co., Inc.
700 East Main Street

Rhinelander, WI 56002

Dear Mr. Finneran:

Thank you for meeting with us to discuss the requirements of our forthcoming engagement. We will audit the consolidated balance

sheet of Rhinelander Equipment Co., and its subsidiaries, Black Warehouse Co., Inc., and Green Machinery Corporation, as of

December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended.

(continued)
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it Engagement Letter (continued)

We will also perform an audit of your internal accounting controls. Our audit work will be performed in accordance with auditing
standards in the United States established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, and will include examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, testing the operation of significant controls,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

The objective of our engagement is the completion of the foregoing audit and, upon its completion and subject to its findings, the
rendering of our report. As you know, the financial statements are the responsibility of the management and board of directors of your
company, who are primarily responsible for the data and information set forth therein as well as for the maintenance of an appropri-
ate internal control structure (which includes adequate accounting records and procedures to safeguard the company’s assets).

Accordingly, as required by the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, our procedures will include obtaining
written confirmation from management concerning important representations on which we will rely.

Also as required by auditing standards, we will plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Accordingly, any such audit is not a guarantee of the accuracy of the
financial statements and is subject to the inherent risk that errors and fraud (or illegal acts), if they exist, might not be detected. If we
become aware of any unusual matters during the course of our audit, we will bring them to your attention. Should you then wish us to
expand our normal auditing procedures, we would be pleased to work with you to develop a separate engagement for that purpose.

Our engagement will also include preparation of federal income tax returns for the three corporations for the year ended December
31, 2007, and a review of federal and state income tax returns for the same period prepared by your accounting staff. However, in
order to maintain a detachment from management, our firm will not be preparing the tax returns of management.

Our billings for the services set forth in this letter will be based upon our per diem rates for this type of work plus out-of-pocket
expenses; billings will be rendered at the beginning of each month on an estimated basis and are payable upon receipt. This engage-
ment includes only those services specifically described in this letter; appearances before judicial proceedings or government organi-
zations, such as the Internal Revenue Service, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or other regulatory bodies, arising out of
this engagement will be billed to you separately.

We are enclosing an explanation of certain of our Firm’s Client Service Concepts. We have found that such explanation helps com-
municate our commitment to the highest level of customer service.

We look forward to providing the services described in this letter, as well as other services agreeable to us both. In the unlikely
event that any differences concerning our services or fees should arise that are not resolved by mutual agreement, we both recognize
that the matter will probably involve complex business or accounting issues that would be decided most equitably to both parties by a
judge hearing the evidence without a jury. Accordingly, you and we agree to waive any right to a trial by jury in any action, proceeding,
or counterclaim arising out of or relating to our services and fees. If you are in agreement with the terms of this letter, please sign
one copy and return it for our files. We appreciate the opportunity to work with you.

Very truly yours,
Lawwy E. Ritlenberg
RITTENBERG & SCHWIEGER

Larry E. Rittenberg
Engagement Partner

LER:Ik
Enc.

The foregoing letter fully describes our understanding and is accepted by us.
RHINELANDER EQUIPMENT CO., INC.

June 1, 2007
Mr. Dan Finneran, President
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Materiality and Audit Risk
Materiality

The auditor is expected to design and conduct an audit that provides reasonable
assurance that material misstatements will be detected. Audit risk and materiality
are interrelated in that audit risk is defined in terms of materiality; i.e., audit risk
is the risk that unknown, but material, misstatement(s) exist in the financial state-
ments after the audit has been performed.

Materiality is a concept that conveys a sense of significance or importance of
an item. But, we must ask: significant to whom? And how important? The audi-
tor and management can often disagree on whether a transaction or misstate-
ment is material. Further, a dollar amount that may be significant to one person
may not be significant to the shareholders of General Electric. Or an accounting
error in recording a complex transaction may be significant to one group of users
but not to others. The concept of materiality is pervasive and guides the nature
and extent of auditing.

The FASB defines materiality as the

magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in light of
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person
relying on the information would have been changed or influenced by the omission
or misstatement.

Thus, materiality includes both the nature of the misstatement, as well as the
dollar amount of misstatement, and must be judged in importance by financial
statement users. Thus, auditors need to understand the use of financial statements
to assist in making materiality judgments.

Materiality Guidance Most public accounting firms provide guidance to their
staff auditors to promote consistent materiality judgments. The guidelines usually
involve applying percentages to some base, such as total assets, total revenue, or
pretax income. In choosing a base, the auditor considers the stability of the base
from year to year, so that overall materiality does not fluctuate significantly
between annual audits. Income is often more volatile than total assets or revenue.

A simple guideline for small business audits could be, for example, to set over-
all materiality at 1% of total assets or revenue, whichever is higher. A traditional
starting point for many companies is 5% of net income. The percentage may be
smaller for large clients. Some CPA firms have more complicated guidance that
may be based on the nature of the industry or a composite of materiality deci-
sions made by experts in the firm. But any guidance is just that. The auditor may
use the guidance as a starting point that should be adjusted for the qualitative con-
ditions of the particular audit. For example, a company may have restrictive
covenants on their bond indenture to maintain a current ratio of at least 2 to 1.
If that ratio per book figures is near the requirement, a smaller overall materiality
may be required for auditing current assets and liabilities.

SEC Guidance on Materiality The SEC has been critical of the accounting
profession for not sufficiently examining qualitative factors in making material-
ity decisions. In particular, the SEC has criticized the profession for:

o Netting (offsetting) material misstatements and not making adjustments because the
net effect may not be material to net income. However, each account item may have
been affected by a material amount.

e Not applying the materiality concept to “swings” in accounting estimates. For example, an
accounting estimate could be misstated by just under a material amount in one direction
one year and just under a material amount in the opposite direction the next year. The
SEC says the materiality amount should be figured by looking at the total “swing” in
estimates over the two-year period rather than by using the “best estimate” each year.
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e (onsistently “passing” on individual adjustments that may not be considered material.
The SEC believes that the auditor should look at the qualitative nature of each mis-
statement and the potential aggregate effect of the misstatement. The SEC cannot
understand any situation in which a client would not be willing to adjust for a known
error. They often ask, if it is not material, why would management object to a change
in the account balance?

Audit Risk Defined The risk that the auditor may give an unqualified opin-
ion on materially misstated financial statements is called audit risk. Audit risk is
determined by the auditor and managed by the auditor. It is intertwined with
materiality and is influenced by engagement risk. The interrelationship of audit
risk and engagement risk is shown in Exhibit 4.4, which shows that the auditor
assesses engagement risk and then sefs audit risk.

Inseparability of Audit Risk and Materiality Audit risk and engagement risk
relate to factors that would likely encourage someone to challenge the auditor’s
work. If a company is on the brink of bankruptcy, transactions that might not
be material to a “healthy” company of similar size may be material to the users of
the potentially bankrupt company’s financial statements. The following factors are
important in integrating concepts of risk and materiality in the conduct of an audit:

1. All audits involve testing and thus cannot provide 100% assurance that the company’s

financial statements are correct without inordinately driving up the cost of audits.

2. Auditing firms must compete in an active marketplace for clients who choose auditors based
on such factors as fees, service, personal rapport, industry knowledge, and the ability to
assist the client.

3. Auditors need to understand society’s expectations of financial reporting to minimize audit
risk and formulate reasonable materiality judgments.

4. Auditors must identify the risky areas of a business to determine which account balances
are more susceptible to material misstatement, how the misstatements might occur, and
how a client might be able to cover them up.

5. Auditors need to develop methodologies to allocate overall assessments of materiality to indi-
vidual account balances because some account balances may be more important to wusers.

The Audit Risk Model The auditor sets the desired audit risk based on the
assessment of engagement risk. Although audit risk is a concept, it is often illus-
trated using numeric examples and many audit firms utilize the measures associ-
ated with statistical sampling to set audit risk, e.g., setting audit risk at a 0.01 level
for high risk clients and 0.05 for lower risk clients. Other auditing firms work
with the broader descriptions of audit risk as high, moderate, or low and adjust
the nature of their audit procedures accordingly.

EXHIBIT 4.4 Relationship Between Engagement Risk and Audit Risk

ENGAGEMENT RISK

High Moderate Low
AUDIT RISK Do not accept client Set very low Set within professional
standards, but can be higher
than companies with higher
engagement risk
NUMERICAL EXAMPLE OF AUDIT RISK None—Do not accept 0.01 0.05

client (0.0)
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The following general observations influence the implementation of the audit
risk model:

e Complex or unusual transactions are more likely to be recorded in error than are recur-
ring or routine transactions.

e The better the organization’s internal controls, the lower the likelihood of material
misstatements.

e The amount and persuasiveness of audit evidence gathered should vary inversely with
audit risk, i.e., lower audit risk requires gathering more persuasive evidence.

These general premises have been incorporated into an audit risk (AR) model
with three components: inherent risk (IR), control risk (CR), and detection risk
(DR) as follows:

AR = f{IR, CR, DR)
Where

Inherent risk (IR) is the initial susceptibility of a transaction or accounting adjustment to
be recorded in error, or for the transaction not to be recorded in the absence of internal
controls.

Control risk (CR) is the risk that the client’s internal control system will fail to prevent or
detect a misstatement.

Detection risk (DR) is the risk that the audit procedures will fail to detect a material mis-
statement.

The audit risk model is sometimes written as a multiplicative model in the
following form to illustrate the logical relationships within the model:

AR = IR X CR X DR

Stated in a different way, audit risk is the risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement. It is influenced by: (IR) the likelihood risk that a transaction, estimate,
or adjustment might be recorded incorrectly; (CR) the likelihood that the client’s
internal control processes would fail to prevent or detect the misstatement and
(DR) the likelihood that, if a misstatement occurred, the auditor’s procedures
would fail to detect the misstatement.

Audit risk is a planning judgment that is sef by the auditor. The auditor assesses
the inherent and control risks (the risk of a material misstatement existing in the
accounting records) for each significant component of the financial statements.
From these two assessments, the auditor determines the level of detection risk
needed to control for the potential misstatement in each significant component
of the financial statements.

Inherent risk recognizes that an error is more likely to occur in some areas
than in others. For example, an error is more likely to occur in calculating for-
eign currency translation amounts or in making deferred income tax projections
than in recording a normal sale. As the auditor identifies accounts that are more
susceptible to material misstatement, the audit plan should be adjusted to reflect
the increased inherent risk.

Control risk is the likelihood that a material misstatement could occur in a
transaction, estimate, or adjustment and will not be detected by the entity’s inter-
nal controls. In other words, control risk reflects the possibility that the client’s
system of controls will allow erroneous items to be recorded and not detected in
the ordinary course of processing.

Internal control may vary with classes of transactions: controls over the record-
ing of receivables, for example, may be strong, but those for recording foreign cur-
rency transactions may be much weaker. Because of the inherent limitations
associated with all internal controls, the professional standards recognize that some
control risk is present in every audit engagement.
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Detection risk is the risk that the auditor’s direct testing or analysis of an
account balance will not detect a material misstatement that exists in an account
balance. Detection risk is controlled by the auditor and is an integral part of audit
planning. The auditor’s determination of detection risk determines the nature,
amount, and timing of audit procedures to ensure that the audit achieves no
more than the desired audit risk.

Illustration of the Audit Risk Model Consider the typical accounting system
as an input-process-output model (Exhibit 4.5). The output is the financial state-
ment account balance. The input and process represent the client’s internal con-
trols and the difficulty in recording the transaction or accounting entry. If the
input and process are reliable, then there is little likelihood that the account bal-
ance 1s misstated. The auditor would need to perform only a minimal amount of
work to ensure that the account balance is correct.

However, if the client’s internal controls are inadequate, or management is
motivated to misstate the account balance, or if the nature of the transaction is
inherently difficult, then the risk of material misstatements occurring and not
being detected and corrected is quite high. Consequently, the auditor will do
more work in testing the account balance. Audit risk is held constant, but the
high levels of inherent and control risk demand that the auditor’s detection risk
be small in order to control audit risk at the predetermined level.

The audit risk model may also be illustrated using a quantitative approach with
probability assessments applied to each of the model’s components. Although
useful, a strictly quantitative approach tends to give the appearance that each com-
ponent can be precisely measured—when they cannot be. Therefore, many public
accounting firms apply subjective, qualitative assessments to each model compo-
nent; control risk, for example, is identified as high, moderate, or low.

Quantitative Example of Audit Risk: High Risk of Material Misstatement
Assume an audit of an organization that has many complex transactions and weak
internal controls. The auditor assesses both inherent risk and control risk at their
maximum implying that the client does not have effective internal control and
there 1s a high risk that a transaction would be recorded incorrectly. Assume that
engagement risk is high and the auditor has set audit risk at the .01 level; i.e., the
auditor does not want to take much of a risk that a misstatement goes unfound in
the financial statements.

The eftect on detection risk, and thus the extent of audit procedures, is as
follows:

AR = IR X CR X DR;
therefore, DR = AR = ( IR X CR)
DR = 0.01 = (1.0 X 1.0) = .01 or 1 percent

Illustration of Risk Components

Environment Risk

Output
—> —> (Accounts Receivable)

T

Detection
Risk
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In this case, detection risk and audit risk are the same because the auditor
cannot rely on internal controls to prevent or detect misstatements. The illustra-
tion yields the intuitive result: poor controls and a high likelihood of misstate-
ment lead to extended audit work to maintain audit risk at an acceptable level.

Quantitative Example: Risk of Material Misstatement Is Low Assume
that the client has simple transactions, well-trained accounting personnel, no
incentive to misstate the financial statements, and effective internal control. The
auditor’s previous experience with the client and the results of preliminary test-
ing this year indicate a low risk of material misstatement existing in the account-
ing records. The auditor assesses inherent and control risk as low at 50% and 20%,
respectively. Audit risk is set at .05 consistent with a low engagement risk.

The auditor’s determination of detection risk for this engagement would be

DR = AR =+ (IR X CR)
DR = 0.05 = (0.50 X 0.20) = 0.50, or 50%

In other words, the auditor could design tests of the accounting records with
a lower detection risk, in this case 50%, because only minimal substantive tests of
account balances are needed to provide corroborating evidence on the expecta-
tions that the accounts are not materially misstated.

Limitations of Audit Risk Model The audit risk model has some limitations
that make its actual implementation difficult. In addition to the danger that audi-
tors will look at the model too mechanically, CPA firms in determining their
approach to implementing the model have considered the following limitations:

1. Inherent risk is difficult to formally assess. Some transactions are more susceptible to error,
but it is difficult to assess that level of risk independent of the client’s accounting system.

2. Audit risk is subjectively determined. Many auditors set audit risk at some nominal level,
such as 5%. However, no firm could survive if 5% of their audits were in error. Audit
risk on most engagements is much lower than 5% because of conservative assumptions
that take place when inherent risk is assessed at the maximum. Setting inherent risk at
100% implies that every transaction is initially recorded in error. It is very rare that
every transaction would be in error. Because such a conservative assessment leads to
more audit work, the real level of audit risk will be significantly less than 5%.

3. The model treats each risk component as separate and independent when in fact the compo-
nents are not independent. It is difficult to separate an organization’s internal controls
and inherent risk.

4. Audit technology is not so precisely developed that each component of the model can be accurately
assessed. Auditing is based on testing; precise estimates of the model’s components are
not possible. Auditors can, however, make subjective assessments and use the audit risk
model as a guide.

Developing an Understanding of Enterprise
and Financial Reporting Risks

Lessons Learned—The Lincoln Savings and Loan Case

Erickson, Mayhew, and Felix make the case for a greater understanding of busi-
ness risk in an article entitled, “Why Do Audits Fail? Evidence from Lincoln
Savings and Loan.”? These authors examined one of the major savings and loan
failures of the 1980s and noted that the auditors had apparently followed standard

2 Merle Erickson, Brian Mayhew, and William L. Felix, Why Do Audits Fail? Evidence from Lincoln Savings
and Loan, Journal of Accounting Research, Spring 2000.
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audit procedures and yet failed to discover major misstatements in the financial
statements. They concluded that the auditors would have done a much better job
of finding the misstatements had they understood more about the business, eco-
nomic trends affecting the client, and the risks inherent in the client’s transactions.
The authors cited two major reasons for their conclusions:

First, in cases of management fraud, auditors are unlikely to receive reliable evidence
from a client. . .. Second, a business understanding approach can provide reliable audit
evidence even in the presence of management fraud. Specifically, economic data and
information in the financial press provided a reliable basis from which Lincoln Savings
and Loan’ (LSL) auditors could have developed expectations about LSL’s operations.>

Let’s examine their conclusions a little further. If there are major problems
within a company, it is likely that the reliability of evidence gathered from within
the company will be reduced. Because of the reduced reliability of internally gen-
erated evidence, the auditor should (a) understand the company, its strategies, and
operations in depth; (b) develop an understanding of the market in which the com-
pany operates, including economic trends, product trends, and competitor actions;
(c) develop an understanding of the economics of the client’s transactions; and (d)
develop a set of expectations about financial results or transaction outcomes.

Lincoln Savings & Loan (LSL), although a savings and loan company, had
made a number of real estate deals in the Phoenix area. If the auditors had fol-
lowed a risk-based approach to determine where and how much audit evidence
was needed, they would have learned the following:

e The company had increasingly moved to high risk real estate transactions; that is,
they moved beyond lending to real estate development and speculation.

e The real estate market in Phoenix, as well as in the rest of the Southwest, was in a
significant downturn with fewer new housing starts.

e Most of the funds used to finance the sales that accounted for most of LSL's net income
came from one single LSL subsidiary; that is, all the risks of the sale remained with LSL.

e Many of the real estate sales transactions would have defaulted because the risks of
default remained with the parent company.

Their description of the audit failure at LSL leads us to a better understand-
ing of how to conduct a risk-based audit. The fundamental concept is simple:

By understanding the nature of the business, management motivation, the client’s con-
trol system, and the complexity of transactions, the auditor can better determine the
risks that a particular account balance may be misstated. The auditor should focus
greater skepticism and greater audit testing on the account balances and disclosures that
contain the highest risk of material misstatement.

Consider the risks and potential causes of misstatement that might be associ-
ated with management’s assertions regarding accounts receivable. There is a risk
that receivables could be overstated because sales were recorded during the
wrong period to improve reported financial performance. There may be a risk
that the accounts may not be collectible because of poor economic conditions
or poor credit decisions. The auditor assesses the risks associated with the cause
of potential misstatement and adjusts auditing procedures accordingly.

Every audit engagement should start with a thorough analysis of the com-
pany’s business, its strategy, the nature of its transactions, its processes to identify
and manage risk, and the economics of'its transactions. The approach is summed
up as follows:

e Develop an independent understanding of the business as well as the risks the organi-
zation faces.

e Use the risks identified to develop expectations about account balances and financial
results.

3 Ibid.
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e Assess the quality of the control system to manage risks.
e Determine residual risks, and update expectations about financial account balances.

® Manage the remaining risk of account balance misstatement by determining the direct
tests of account balances (detection risk) that are necessary.

An overview of this process and the activities involved in each step are shown
in Exhibit 4.6. The exhibit also identifies the typical procedures performed in
each step of the audit process. Exhibit 4.6 shows how the auditor analyzes the
risk of financial statement misstatement from the top down. Much of the risk of
misstatement can be analyzed without directly testing the account balance.

Applying the process to the LSL example, the auditor would have seen that
there were significant risks in the real estate loans and that the audit would need
to go beyond traditional confirmations of account balances to gain a better under-
standing of significant transactions, the underlying collateral for the loans, and the
relationship of the loans to other entities that make up the consolidated financial
statements. The financial results that were at odds with the industry should have
alerted the auditor to focus on the accounts that were most out of line and sus-
ceptible to financial manipulation. This point is important enough to repeat: the
risk-based approach to auditing is dependent on the auditor’s ability to under-
stand the business sufficiently to identify account balances that are more likely to
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Management should have a risk
management process in place to
address significant risks. The audi-
tor should gain an understanding
of this process to assist in develop-
ing expectations of potential mis-
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Implementing the Audit Risk Approach

Risk Assessment

Understand
Management’s
Risk Processes

Develop
Understanding of
Business and Risks

Develop
Expectations

Assess Quality
of Control
System

Determine
Residual Risk

Manage Remaining
Audit Risk

Typical Procedures

Interview management and the audit committee;
review policies; review board of director minutes;
review internal audit reports.

Use online databases; review financial press;
review economic data for industry; review prior
audit documentation; interview management.

Use analytical procedures: analyze business,
competitors, etc. to develop a set of
expectations about financial results.

Analyze quality of company’s control system,
particularly controls that monitor activity
(discussed in more detail in Chapter 5).

Utilize detailed understanding of business,
the economy, competitors, analysis of company
operations, etc., to determine potential
risk of account misstatement.

Perform follow-up procedures with the level of
detection risk determined from the assessment
procedures. Utilize a solid understanding of
business transactions to assess
economics of material transactions.
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be materially misstated, and then adjust audit procedures to increase the likelithood
of detecting material misstatements—if they had occurred.

Understanding Management’s Risk Management Process

To understand the processes in place, the auditor will normally utilize some or
all of the following techniques:

e Develop an understanding of the processes utilized by the board of directors and man-
agement to periodically evaluate risks.

e Review the risk-based approach used by internal auditing with the director of internal
auditing and the audit committee.

e Interview management about their risk approach, risk preferences, risk appetite, and
the relationship of risk analysis to strategic planning.

e Review outside regulatory reports, where applicable, that address the company’s poli-
cies and procedures toward risk.

e Review company policies and procedures for addressing risk.

e Gain a knowledge of company compensation schemes to determine if they are consis-
tent with the risk policies adopted by the company.

e Review prior years” work to determine if current actions are consistent with risk
approaches discussed with management.

e Review risk management documents.

If the auditor determines, through inquiry and testing, that the company has
strong risk management processes in place, the auditor may be able to focus the
audit program on testing internal controls and developing corroborative evi-
dence on account balances (an integrated audit—discussed in later chapters). On
the other hand, if the company does not have a risk management process in
place, the auditor will identify areas where account balances are more likely to
be misstated and concentrate audit tests on those areas.

One way of looking at risk management is to think of material misstatements as
analogous to water from a rain shower getting us wet. Risks may result in material
misstatements (rain). Management is responsible for keeping the financial statements
free of material misstatements (dry). The auditor’s objective is to gather enough
information to objectively assess how well management is doing in keeping the
financial statements free from material misstatement (dry). Exhibit 4.7 shows that
client A has an effective risk management and control system (the umbrella with-
out holes) that prevents material misstatements (rain) from getting into the account-
ing records. But, we know that umbrellas are not always perfect—they may spring
leaks when least expected, or one of the supporting arms may fail and all of the rain
may come through on one side. The auditor has to test the umbrella (controls) to
see that it is working, but must do enough direct testing of the account balance
to determine that leaks (misstatements) had not occurred in an amount that would
be noticeable (material misstatement). Client B’s umbrella has holes in it (weak risk
control system), resulting in wet accounting records (they are likely to contain mate-
rial misstatements). Thus, the auditor must perform extensive direct tests of the
account balance to identify the misstatements and get them corrected.

Developing an Understanding of Business and Risks

The auditor will utilize a variety of tools to understand the client’s business and
its business risk. Much of the work will be done by monitoring the financial
press, SEC filings, reading broker analyses, and developing a firm and industry-
based knowledge management system, and utilizing other online information
sources about a company. Some traditional approaches will continue to be used,
including inquiries of management, inquiries of business people, and review of
legal or regulatory proceedings against the company.
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Effect of Risk Analysis on Audit Plan

Client’s Risks That

Could Create Client B

Misstatements
(Rain)

Effectiveness of
Risk Control System
(Umbrella)

Residual Risk of Material
Misstatements Flowing
through to the
Low Financial Statements High
(Due to Wet
Accounting Records)

Extent of Evidence
Minimal Needed to Test the Extensive
Account Balance

¢ Less Persuasive Evidence, Smaller ¢ More Persuasive Evidence,
Samples, Test at Interim Date Larger Sample Sizes, Test as of
¢ Analytical Review of Accounts Year End, etc.

Electronic Sources of Information The following are some of the major
online resources an auditor can use to learn more about a company:

o Intelligent agents—Internet software is emerging that allows an auditor to train an elec-
tronic agent to go out on the Web and gather all the available information on a company.

e Knowledge management systems—Public accounting firms have developed these sys-
tems around industries, clients, and best practices. These systems also capture infor-
mation about relevant accounting or regulatory requirements for the companies and
can be utilized to develop “risk alerts” for the companies.

e Online searches—Internet search companies such as Hoovers On-Line are an excellent
source of information about companies. Other online searches can be conducted through
other portals such as Google or Ask.com. Yahoo has two excellent sources of information:
(1) its financial section provides data about most companies and (2) its “chat” line con-
tains current conversations about the company (much of which may be unreliable).

® Review of SEC filings—The SEC filings can be searched online through the Edgar
system. The filings include company annual and quarterly reports, proxy information,
and registration statements for new security issues. These filings contain substantial
information about the company and its affiliates, its officers, and directors.

e (ompany web sites—A company’s web site may contain information that is useful in
understanding its products and strategies. As companies move to provide more finan-
cial information online, auditors will want to review these websites to keep abreast of
developments.

e Fconomic statistics—Most industry data, including regional data, can now be found
online. The auditor can compare the results of a client with regional economic data.
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For example, the auditor could easily question why a company is growing at a rate of
50% while the overall industry is declining by 20% or more. But that question can be
asked only if the auditor has industry information.

® Professional practice bulletins—The AICPA publishes “Audit Risk Alerts” online, and
the SEC often issues practice bulletins to draw the profession’s attention to impor-
tant issues.

e Stock analysts’ reports—Brokerage firms invest millions of dollars in conducting
research about companies, their strategies, competitors, quality of management, and
likelihood of success. Many of the major investment analysts are granted access to top
management and are the beneficiaries of frequent analysts’ meetings. These reports
may contain a wealth of useful information about a client.

Understanding Key Business Processes Each organization has a few key
processes that give it a competitive advantage (or disadvantage). The auditor
should gather sufficient information to understand these processes, the industry
factors affecting key processes, how management monitors the processes and per-
formance, and the potential operational and financial effects associated with key
processes. For example, a major computer manufacturer may have important
processes focusing on distribution and supply chain management. The auditor
wants to gain assurance that management identifies the risks associated with the
supply chain and how those risks might affect:

e Inventory levels

® Potential obsolescence of inventory

e Likelihood of goods being returned because of defective parts
e Ability to charge-back returns to a supplier

If the supply chain is well controlled, inventory levels should be low and there
will be only a small likelihood of obsolete inventory at year end. However, if the
process is not well controlled, the likelihood of obsolete inventory at year end
increases and the auditor will respond with more direct tests of ending inventory
to determine the extent of inventory obsolescence.

Sources of Information about Key Processes The following are other
sources of information about the company:

® Management inquiries—The auditor should interview management to identify their
strategic plans, their analysis of industry trends, the potential impact of actions they
have taken or might take, and their management style.

e Review of client’s budget—The budget represents management’s fiscal plan for the
forthcoming year. It provides insight on management’s approach to operations and to
risks the organization may face. The auditor looks for significant changes in plans and
deviations from budgets, such as planned disposition of a line of business, significant
research or promotion costs associated with a new product introduction, new financ-
ing or capital requirements, changes in compensation or product costs due to union
agreements, and significant additions to property, plant, and equipment.

e Tour of client’s plant and operations—A tour of the client’s production and distribution
facilities offers much insight into potential audit issues. The auditor can visualize cost
centers. Shipping and receiving procedures, inventory controls, potentially obsolete
inventory, and possible inefficiencies can all be observed. The tour increases the audi-
tor's awareness of company procedures and operations, giving him or her direct expe-
rience in sites and situations that are otherwise encountered only in company
documents or observations of client personnel.

e Review of data processing center—The auditor should tour the data processing center
and meet with the center’s director to understand the computing structure and controls.

® Review important debt covenants and board of director minutes—Most bond issues and
other debt agreements contain covenants, often referred to as debt covenants, that
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the organization must adhere to or risk default on the debt. Common forms of debt
covenants include restrictions on the payment of dividends, requirements for main-
taining minimum current ratios, or requiring annual audits.

e Review relevant government regulations and client’s legal obligations—Few industries
are unaffected by governmental regulation, and much of that requlation affects the
audit. An example is the need to determine potential liabilities associated with
cleanup costs defined by the Environmental Protection Agency. The auditor normally
seeks information on litigation risks through an inquiry of management, but follows
up that inquiry with an analysis of litigation prepared by the client’s legal counsel.

Exhibit 4.8 highlights the types of questions the auditor may want to ask when
making inquiries of management and in analyzing the information from other
sources.

Develop Expectations The auditor should, and can, develop informed expec-
tations about company results without having set foot in the company. The
expectations should be documented, along with a rationale for the expectations.
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For a continuing audit client,
such information will normally
be included in a permanent file,
containing a summary of items
of continuing audit significance.

Gathering Information: Sample Questions for Management

SAMPLE QUESTIONS AND AREAS OF INTEREST

Risks—Industry
How is the industry changing?

Who are your major competitors? What are their competitive advantages? What are your competitive advantages?

How fast do you expect the industry to grow over the next five years?

How fast do you expect to grow? What accounts for the difference between your growth expectations and that of the industry?

Risks—Financial and Other
What process do you have in place to identify important business risks to the company?

What are the company’s principal business risks and what procedures are employed to monitor these risks?
What are the company’s principal financial statement and internal control risks, and what procedures are employed to monitor

and manage those risks?

What is the overall level of sophistication of the existing financial systems? Does the level of complexity create unusual business

or financial risks? How does management address these risks?

What subsidiaries, operating divisions, or corporate activities, not subject to audit, offer unusual business or financial risk but are
viewed as “not material” in establishing the external audit scope? How does management view this “exposure”?

Controls

What is your assessment of the overall control environment, including key business information systems? What are the principal

criteria for your assessment of controls?

Are there any significant deficiencies in the accounting systems or accounting personnel that should be addressed?

Where improvements should be made? What process has management implemented to encourage these improvements?

What process is used to assess and assure the integrity of new or revised operating or financial systems?

Have the internal auditors identified control deficiencies? If so, what is management’s view about the seriousness of the control

deficiencies? What is the plan and timetable for corrective action?

Legal and Regulatory Issues

Is there a specific management-level person designated as responsible for knowing and understanding relevant legal and regula-
tory requirements? What are the key risks and how are the risks of noncompliance identified and managed?

Code of Ethical Conduct

Were there any reported conflicts of interest or irregularities or other violations of the code of ethical conduct identified during the
year? What are the procedures for resolution? How were conflicts, irregularities, or other violations resolved?
Were any significant, or potentially significant, regulatory noncompliance issues identified? If so, what is the status and what is the

potential risk?

Does the company have a comprehensive ‘whistleblower policy’ and processes in place to implement the whistleblower function?

Are complaints regularly reviewed by the audit committee and senior management?
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Auditors should use tools similar
to those of financial analysts to
develop expectations about the
industry and the audit client.
Those expectations allow the audi-
tor to better implement a risk-
based approach to the conduct of
an audit.

Point

In the absence of a risk-based
approach, the auditor will apply a
standard audit program for the
audit of material account balances.
Such an approach can be both inef-
fective and inefficient.
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The analysis of the company should be communicated to all audit team mem-
bers, emphasizing an understanding of the areas they are assigned to audit. The
audit is not complete when the expectations are set. However, research has
shown that audits are more effective when auditors develop expectations in
advance.

Assess Quality of Internal Controls Internal controls exist to manage risks.
Controls range from broad policies to effective oversight, starting with the board
of directors and permeating through management to every level in the organiza-
tion. The auditor may gain a great deal of confidence about the correctness of
financial account balances based on their confidence in the client’s system and the
consistency of its operations with objectively developed expectations. We discuss
internal control over financial reporting and its role in an integrated audit in
Chapter 7.

Management should also have controls in place to monitor operations and the
auditor is interested in those controls because operational efficiency will affect
the valuation of some account balances. The auditor will usually inquire whether
a company has implemented feedback on key performance indicators on such
areas as:

e Backlog of work in progress

e Dollar amount of return items (overall and by product line)

e Increased disputes regarding accounts receivable or accounts payable
e Surveys of customer satisfaction

e Employee absenteeism

e Decreased productivity by product line, process, or department

e Information processing errors

e Increased delays in important processes

The key performance indicators may indicate that some areas are managed
very well, while others are not managed as well and constitute a high risk con-
cern. The absence of implementation of key performance indicators may indi-
cate an overall high risk.

Assess Risk that an Account Balance Is Misstated Based on the foregoing,
the auditor develops expectations and makes an assessment of the risk that a par-
ticular account balance may be misstated. If the auditor has a sound basis to
believe the risk of misstatement is low, the auditor may be able to gain satisfac-
tion regarding the account balance without directly testing the account balances.
Other techniques such as using analytical procedures or analyzing the quality of
the control system may yield persuasive evidence about the correctness of an
account balance. This is not meant to imply that an auditor can perform a com-
plete audit without ever directly testing some account balances; it means that the
amount of testing can be minimized if risks are adequately addressed. However,
if there is a high risk that an account balance may be misstated the auditor should
direct more attention to the audit of that account.

Managing Detection and Audit Risk The auditor manages audit risk
through (1) adjusting audit staffing to reflect the risk associated with the client;
(2) developing direct tests of account balances consistent with the detection
risk; (3) anticipating potential misstatements or accounting problems likely to
be associated with account balances; and (4) adjusting the timing of audit tests
to minimize overall audit risk. For example, a company with high audit risk
requires a more experienced audit staff, and direct tests of account balances
performed at year end. In contrast, a company with less audit risk requires less
direct tests of account balances at year end and will rely more on analytical
procedures.
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Preliminary Financial Statement Review:
Techniques and Expectations

The auditor should apply financial analysis techniques to the client’s unaudited
financial statements and industry data to better identify the risk of misstatement in
particular account balances. Most commonly, the auditor will import the client’s
unaudited data into a spreadsheet or a software program to calculate trends and
ratios and help pinpoint areas for further investigation. These trends and ratios will
be compared with expectations developed from previous years, industry trends, and
current economic development in the geographic area served by the client.

Assumptions Underlying Analytical Techniques A basic premise underly-
ing the application of analytical procedures 1s that plausible relationships among
data may reasonably be expected to exist and continue in the absence of known
conditions to the contrary. Typical examples of relationships and sources of data
commonly used in an audit process include the following:

e Financial information for equivalent prior periods, such as comparing the trend of
fourth-quarter sales for the past three years and analyzing dollar and percent changes
from the prior year

e Expected or planned results developed from budgets or other forecasts, such as com-
paring actual division performance with budgeted performance

e Comparison of linked account relationships, such as interest expense and interest-
bearing debt

e Ratios of financial information, such as examining the relationship between sales and
cost of goods sold or developing and analyzing common-sized financial statements

e Company and industry trends, such as comparing gross margin percentages of product
lines or inventory turnover with industry averages

e Survey of relevant non-financial information, such as analyzing the relationship
between the numbers of items shipped and royalty expense or the number of employ-
ees and payroll expense

Two of the most frequently used analytical procedures are trend and ratio
analysis.

Trend Analysis Trend analysis includes simple year-to-year comparisons of
account balances, graphic presentations, and analysis of financial data, histograms of
ratios, and projections of account balances based on the history of changes in the
account. It is imperative for the auditor to establish decision rules in advance in
order to identify unexpected results for additional investigation. One potential deci-
sion rule, for example, is that dollar variances exceeding one-third or one-fourth of
planning materiality should be investigated. Such a rule is based on the statistical
theory of regression models, even though regression is not used. Another decision
rule is to investigate any change exceeding some percentage. This percent threshold
is often set higher for balance sheet accounts than for income statement accounts
because balance sheet accounts tend to have greater year-to-year fluctuations.

Auditors often use a trend analysis over several years for key accounts, as
shown in the following example.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Gross sales ($000) $29,500 $24,900 $24,369 $21,700 $17,600
Sales returns ($000) 600 400 300 250 200
Gross margin ($000) 8,093 6,700 6,869 6,450 5,000
Percent of prior year: sales 118.5% 102.2% 112.3% 123.3% 105.2%
Sales returns 150.0 133.3 120.0 125.0 104.6
Gross margin 120.8 97.5 106.5 129.0 100.0

Sales as a percentage of 2003 sales 167.6 141.5 138.5 123.3 100.0
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The ACL software included with this
text is one of the most effective
tools used by auditors to gather
this kind of information.
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In this example, the auditor would want to gain an understanding about
why gross margin is increasing more rapidly than sales, and why sales returns are
increasing.

Time-series analysis and multiple-regression analysis represent more sophisti-
cated approaches to trend analysis and are increasingly incorporated into CPA
firm software packages.

Ratio Analysis Ratio analysis is more effective than simple trend analysis
because it takes advantage of economic relationships between two or more
accounts. It is widely used because of its power to identify unusual or unexpected
changes in relationships. Ratio analysis 1s useful in identifying significant differ-
ences between the client results and a norm (such as industry ratios), or between
auditor expectations and actual results. It is also useful in identifying potential
audit problems that may be found in ratio changes between years (such as inven-
tory turnover).

Comparing ratio data over time for the client and its industry can yield useful
insights. For example, the percent of sales returns and allowances to net sales for
the client may not vary significantly from the industry average for the current
period, but comparing the trend over time may yield an unexpected result, as
shown in the following example.

SALES RETURNS

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Client 2.1% 2.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.5%
Industry 2.3% 2.1% 2.2% 2.1% 2.0%

This comparison shows that even though the percentage of sales returns for
2007 is close to the industry average, the client’s percentage declined significantly
from 2006 while the industry’s percentage increased. In addition, except for the
current year, the client’s percentages exceeded the industry average. The result is
unexpected, and the auditor should investigate the potential cause. Here are some
possible explanations for the difterences:

e The client has improved its quality control.
e Fictitious sales have been recorded in 2007.

e The client is not properly recording sales returns in 2007.

The auditor must design audit procedures to identify the cause of this differ-
ence to determine whether a material misstatement exists.

Commonly Used Financial Ratios Exhibit 4.9 shows several commonly
used financial ratios. The first three ratios provide information on potential liq-
uidity problems. The turnover and gross margin ratios are often helpful in iden-
tiftying fraudulent activity or items recorded more than once, such as fictitious
sales or inventory. The leverage and capital turnover ratios are useful in evaluat-
ing going concern problems or adherence to debt covenants. Although the audi-
tor chooses the ratios deemed most useful for a client, many auditors routinely
calculate and analyze the ratios listed in Exhibit 4.9 on a trend basis over time.
Other ratios are specifically designed for an industry. In the banking industry, for
example, auditors calculate ratios on percentages of nonperforming loans, oper-
ating margin, and average interest rates by loan categories.
Ratio and trend analysis are generally carried out at three levels:

e Comparison of client data with industry data

e Comparison of client data with similar prior-period data

e Comparison of preliminary client data with expectations developed from industry
trends, client budgets, other account balances, or other bases of expectations
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Commo Used Ratios

Ratio Formula

Short-term liquidity ratios:

Current ratio Current Assets/Current Liabilities
Quick ratio (Cash + Cash Equivalents + Net Receivables)/Current Liabilities
Current debt-to-assets ratio Current Liabilities/Total Assets
Receivable ratios:
Accounts receivable turnover Credit Sales/Accounts Receivable
Days’ sales in accounts receivable 365/Turnover
Inventory ratios:
Inventory turnover Cost of Sales/Ending Inventory
Days’ sales in inventory 365/Turnover
Profitability measures:
Net profit margin Net Income/Net Sales
Return on equity Net Income/Common Stockholders’ Equity
Financial leverage ratios:
Debt-to-equity ratio Total Liabilities/Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities to assets Total Liabilities/Total Assets
Capital turnover ratios:
Asset liquidity Current Assets/Total Assets
Sales to assets Net Sales/Total Assets
Net worth to sales Owners’ Equity/Net Sales

Comparison with Industry Data A comparison of client data with industry
data may identify potential problems. For example, if the average collection
period for accounts receivable in an industry is 43 days, but the client’s average
collection period is 65 days, this might indicate problems with product quality
or credit risk. Or, a bank’s concentration of loans in a particular industry may
indicate greater problems if that industry is encountering economic problems.

Financial service companies such as Dun and Bradstreet, Dow Jones Information
Services, and Robert Morris Associates accumulate financial information for thou-
sands of companies and compile the data for different lines of businesses. Many CPA
firms purchase these publications as a basis for making industry comparisons.

One potential limitation to utilizing industry data is that such data might not
be directly comparable to the client. Companies may be quite different but still
classified within one broad industry. Also, other companies in the industry may use
accounting principles different from the clients (for example, LIFO vs. FIFO).

Comparison with Previous Year Data Simple ratio analysis comparing cur-
rent and past data that is prepared as a routine part of planning an audit can high-
light risks of misstatement. The auditor often develops ratios on asset turnover,
liquidity, and product-line profitability to search for potential signals of risk. For
example, an inventory turnover ratio might indicate that a particular product line
had a turnover of 4 times for the past three years, but only 3 times this year. The
change may indicate potential obsolescence, realizability problems, or errors in
the accounting records.

Comparison with Expectations Developing informed expectations, and
critically appraising client performance in relationship to those expectations, is
fundamental to a risk analysis approach to auditing. The auditor needs to under-
stand developments in the client’s industry, general economic factors, and the
client’s strategic development plans in order to generate informed expectations
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The auditor must be prepared to
discuss the “quality of earnings”
with the board and the audit
committee.
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about client results. Critical analysis based on these expectations could lead the
auditor to detect many material misstatements. Fundamental questions arising
from expectations might be as simple as these:

e Why is this company experiencing such a rapid growth in insurance sales when its
product depends on an ever-rising stock market, and the stock market has been
declining for the past three years?

e Why is this company experiencing rapid sales growth when the rest of the industry is
showing a downturn?

e Why are a bank client’s loan repayments on a more current basis than those of similar
banks operating in the same region with the same type of customers?

This analysis provides a basis for identifying risks and developing expectations
about account balances. The analytical results are critical in implementing the
risk-based approach to auditing. It is only when these expectations are properly
developed that the auditor can determine the amount of residual risk in key
account balances. Please note that the analytical techniques contain a combina-
tion of both quantitative techniques, such as mathematical ratios, and qualitative
techniques, such as comparison with industry data and expectations about the
industry. Although performed at the beginning of the audit, this kind of risk
analysis continues throughout the audit engagement.

Risk Analysis and the Conduct of the Audit

Auditors must be business savvy and business alert. The auditor must understand the
company and its risks as a basis for determining which account balances should be
directly tested as well as which ones can be corroborated by analytical procedures.

Linkage to Direct Tests of Account Balances The auditor assesses the likeli-
hood that an account balance contains a material misstatement. For example, assume
that the auditor concludes there is a high risk that management is using “reserves”
or account balance estimates to manage earnings. In such a case, the auditor must
set materiality at an appropriate level and undertake procedures to determine if
there is an apparent manipulation of the reserves to influence reported net income.

Quality of Accounting Principles Used There is a significant risk that a client
may record a transaction, but not make correct accounting judgments. Further, the
auditor is required to discuss with the audit committee not only whether the finan-
cial statements are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP, but also whether the
accounting principles chosen by management were the most appropriate. Although
the phrase “most appropriate” may be somewhat ill defined, the FASB has devel-
oped guidelines that auditors can implement to help evaluate the most appropri-
ate accounting treatment. These guidelines include the following:

e Representational faithfulness—That is, are the transactions recorded according to their
economic substance, fairly reflecting the relative risks of all parties involved?

e (onsistency—Are the transactions reported consistently over time and across divisions
within the company?

e Accounting estimates—Are the estimates based on proven models? Does the client
reconcile actual costs with estimates over a period of time? Are there valid economic
reasons for significant changes in accounting estimates?

The National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) has suggested spe-
cific items for discussion between the auditor and the audit committee on the
quality of accounting. The nature of the questions posed provides an additional
guide to quality of accounting issues. Selected excerpts from the NACD guide
are shown in Exhibit 4.10.The questions probe the rationale and motivation for
accounting choices.
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EXHIBIT 4.10 Guides in Determining the Quality of Accounting: Selected Excerpts from NACD Blue Ribbon
Commission on Audit Committees

Financial Statements—Accounting Choices
What are the significant judgment areas (reserves, contingencies, asset values, note disclosures) that impact the current-year
financial statements? What considerations were involved in resolving these judgment matters? What is the range of potential
impact on future reported financial results?
What issues or concerns exist that could adversely impact the future operations and/or financial condition of the company?
What is the plan to deal with these future risks?
What is the overall “quality” of the company’s financial reporting, including the appropriateness of important accounting principles
followed by the company?
What is the range of acceptable accounting choices the company has available to it?
Were there any significant changes in accounting policies, or application of accounting principles during the year? If yes, why were
the changes made and what impact did the changes have on earnings per share (EPS) or other key financial measures?
Were there any significant changes in accounting estimates, or models used in making accounting estimates during the year? If yes,
why were the changes made and what impact did the changes have on earnings per share (EPS) or other key financial measures?
What are our revenue recognition policies? Are there any instances where the company may be thought of as “pushing the limits”
of revenue recognition? If so, what is the rationale for the treatment chosen?
Have similar transactions and events been treated in a consistent manner across divisions of our company and across countries
in which we operate? If not, what are the exceptions and the reasons for them?
Do the accounting choices made reflect the economic substance of transactions and the strategic management of the business?
If not, where are the exceptions and why do they exist?
To what extent are the financial reporting choices consistent with the manner in which the company measures its progress toward
achieving its mission internally? If not, what are the differences? Do the financial statements reflect the company’s progress, or
lack thereof, in accomplishing its overall strategies?
How do the significant accounting principles used by our company compare with leading companies in our industry, or with other
companies that are considered leaders in financial disclosure? What is the rationale for any differences?
Has there been any instance where short-run reporting objectives (e.g., achieving a profit objective or meeting bonus or stock
option requirements) were allowed to influence accounting choices? If yes, what choices were made and why?

Source: Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on Audit Committees—A Practical Guide (Washington, D.C.: National Association
of Corporate Directors), 2000, 39-40.

Summary

The auditor must be thoroughly knowledgeable about the company, its industry,
its products, its financing, and its plans to assess the risks associated with the client
and to plan an eftective and efficient audit. Automated news services can assist the
auditors in keeping up-to-date with changes in the industry. However, many of
the key risk elements will come from company management and its procedures
for identifying, managing, and communicating risks.

Risk assessment and business knowledge are integral parts of auditing.
Analytical tools can help the auditor assess risk, develop expectations, and deter-
mine the likelihood that fraud may be present.

Significant Terms

audit risk The risk that an auditor may give an control risk The risk that a material misstatement
unqualified opinion on financial statements that are could occur but would not be prevented or quickly
materially misstated. detected by an organization’s controls.
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debt covenant An agreement between an entity and
its lender that places limitations on the organization;
usually associated with debentures or large credit lines.

detection risk The risk that the auditor will fail to

detect a material misstatement that exists in an account
balance. The auditor controls detection risk after speci-
fying audit risk and assessing inherent and control risk.

engagement letter Specifies the understanding
between the client and the auditor as to the nature of
audit services to be conducted and, in the absence of
any other formal contract, is viewed by the courts as a
contract between the auditor and the client; generally
covers items such as client responsibilities, auditor
responsibilities, billing procedures, and the timing and
target completion date of the audit.

engagement risk The economic risk that a CPA
firm is exposed to simply because it is associated with a
client. Engagement risk is controlled by caretul selec-
tion and retention of clients.

enterprise risk Those risks that affect the operations
and potential outcomes of organizational activities.

financial reporting risk Those risks that relate
directly to the recording of transactions and the pres-
entation of financial data in an organization’s financial
statements.

Audit Risk and a Client's Business Risk

inherent risk The susceptibility of transactions to be
recorded in error or to be influenced by management’s
fraudulent activities.

management integrity The honesty and trust-
worthiness of management as exemplified by past and
current actions; auditors’ assessment of management
integrity; reflects the extent to which the auditors
believe they can trust management and its representa-
tions to be honest and forthright.

materiality The magnitude of an omission or mis-
statement of accounting information that, in view of
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the infor-
mation would have been changed or influenced by the
omission or misstatement.

risk A concept used to express uncertainty about
events and/or their outcomes that could have a material
effect on the organization.

risk-based approach An audit approach that
begins with an assessment of the types and likeli-
hood of misstatements in account balances and then
adjusts the amount and type of audit work to the
likelihood of material misstatements occurring in
account balances.

Review Questions

4-1 Define the following terms:
* Enterprise risk
* Engagement risk
* Financial reporting risk

e Audit risk

4-2 ‘What is enterprise risk management (ERM) and why is it important
that an organization implements an effective ERM? Who has the pri-
mary responsibility for the eftective implementation of an ERM?

4-3 Explain how enterprise risk aftects engagement risk and how both enter-
prise risk and engagement risk affect financial reporting risk.

4-4 Explain why the internal environment is so important and why many
corporate losses are tied to a poor risk management environment.

4-5 How are risks and controls related? Why is it important to assess risks
prior to evaluating the quality of an organization’s controls?

4-6 What kinds of risks does a company encounter if it decides to develop

a new product?

4-7 What are the major procedures an auditor will utilize to identify the
risks associated with an existing or a potential new client?

4-8 Why is the quality of corporate governance a significant determinant
of the auditor’s risk assessment of an entity?

4-9 How would an auditor go about assessing management integrity?
Why is management integrity considered the most important factor
affecting the client acceptance or continuation decision?
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What are the primary factors an auditor will want to investigate before
accepting a new audit client?

‘What 1s a “high risk” audit client? What are the characteristics of
clients that are considered high risk?

Why do related party transactions represent special risks to the auditor
and the conduct of an audit?

What sources of information should an auditor look at in determining
whether to accept a new client? Why is it important that the auditor
systematically make the accept decision?

‘What information should the auditor seek from the predecessor auditor?

What is an engagement letter? What is the purpose of the engagement
letter?

How will an auditor find out if there has been a dispute between the
client and the preceding auditor regarding accounting principles?

What is audit risk? Does the auditor determine audit risk or does the
auditor assess 1t? What factors most influence audit risk?

Explain how the concepts of audit risk and materiality are related.
Must an auditor make a decision on materiality in order to implement
the audit risk model?

Some audit firms develop very specific guidelines, either through
quantitative guidelines or in tables, relating planning materiality to the
size of sales or assets for a client. Other audit firms leave the materiality
judgments up to the individual partner or manager in charge of the
audit. What are the major advantages and disadvantages of each
approach? Which approach would you favor? Explain.

Explain how an accounting estimate would not be materially misstated
for two consecutive years, but because of the “swing” in the account-
ing estimate, net income could be misstated by a material amount.

The SEC is very concerned that auditors recognize the qualitative
aspect of materiality judgments. Explain what the “qualitative” aspect
of materiality means.

A recent graduate of an accounting program went to work for a large
international accounting firm and noted that the firm sets audit risk at
5% for all major engagements. What does a literal interpretation of set-
ting audit risk at 5% mean? How could an audit firm set audit risk at
5% (i.e., what assumptions must the auditor make in the audit risk
model to set audit risk at 5%)?

What is inherent risk? How can the auditor measure it? What are the
implications for the audit risk model if the auditor assesses inherent
risk at less than 100%?

‘What are the major limitations of the audit risk model? How should
those limitations affect the auditor’s implementation of the audit risk
model?

‘What are the major lessons learned in the analysis of the audits of
Lincoln Savings & Loan? Where would the auditor obtain information
regarding the real estate market in the Phoenix area or in the south-
western United States? Why is it important that the auditor have such
information during an audit of a savings and loan organization?

Janice Johnson is an experienced auditor in charge of several clients.
Her approach to an audit is to plan the audit without referring to pre-
vious year’s documentation to ensure that a fresh approach will be
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4-27

4-28

4-29

4-30

4-31

4-32

4-33

4-34

taken in the audit. Explain why Johnson should examine the perma-
nent file, as well as other selected audit documentation, as part of her
risk analysis and audit planning.

Explain the linkage of a risk-based approach to particular account
balances. Use either inventory or accounts receivable to explain
the linkage.

Why is it important for the auditor to use risk analysis to develop
expectations about client performance?

‘What background information might be useful to the auditor in planning
the audit to assist in determining whether the client has potential inven-
tory obsolescence or receivables problems? Identity the various sources
the auditor would utilize to develop this background information.

On accepting a new manufacturing client, the auditor usually arranges
to take a tour of the manufacturing plant. Assuming that the client has
one major manufacturing plant, identify the information the auditor
might obtain during the tour that will help in planning and conduct-
ing the audit.

Explain how ratio analysis and industry comparisons can be useful to
the auditor in identifying potential risk on an audit engagement. How
can such analysis also help the auditor plan the audit?

‘What ratios would best indicate problems with potential inventory obso-
lescence or collectibility of receivables? How are those ratios calculated?

Explain why a thorough understanding of the business, its risks, and
the competitive environment is essential to an auditor in making judg-
ments about the quality of accounting choices used by the client.

How does risk analysis affect the nature of procedures performed on
specific account balances? Use as an example the following accounts
for illustration:

* Allowance for loan losses

e Inventory

 Sales commissions

* Accounts receivable

Multiple-Choice Questions

4-35
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Management integrity affects all of the following risks except:
a. Enterprise risk

b. Financial reporting risk

c. Engagement risk

d. All of the above

An external auditor is interested in whether or not a company has

implemented an effective Enterprise Risk Management process because:

a. It reduces the likelihood that an organization will fail.

b. It provides a framework for the company to develop broad-based
controls.

c. It provides a framework to reduce financial statement misstatements.

d. All of the above.

Which of the following would not be a source of information about
risk of a potential new audit client?

a. The previous auditor

b. Management

c. The Internet

d. The PCAOB
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Multiple-Choice Questions

An engagement letter should be written before the start of an audit

because:

a. It may limit the auditor’s legal liability by specifying the auditor’s
responsibilities.

b. It specifies the client’s responsibility for preparing schedules and
making the records available to the auditor.

c. It specifies the expected cost of the audit for the upcoming year.

d. All of the above.

If the auditor has concerns about the integrity of management, which

of the following would not be an appropriate action?

a. Refuse to accept the engagement because a client does not have an
inalienable right to an audit.

b. Expand audit procedures in areas where management representa-
tions are normally important by requesting outside verifiable
evidence.

c. Raise the audit fees to compensate for the risk inherent in the
audit, but do not plan any extended audit procedures.

d. Plan the audit with a higher degree of skepticism, including spe-
cific procedures that should be effective in uncovering management

fraud.

Which of the following combinations of engagement risk, audit risk,
and materiality would lead to the most audit work?

Engagement Risk Audit Risk Materiality
a. Low High High
b. Moderate Lowest Lowest
c. Low Moderate Lowest
d. High High High

Which of the following would not be considered a limitation of the

audit risk model?

a. The model treats each risk component as a separate and independ-
ent factor when some of the factors are related.

b. Inherent risk is difficult, if not impossible, to formally assess.

c. It is difficult, if not impossible, to formally assess either control or
detection risk.

d. The model provides an overall framework for determining the allo-
cation of audit work to risk areas.

Which of the following models expresses the general relationship of
risks associated with the auditor’s evaluation of control risk (CR),
inherent risk (IR), and audit risk(AR) that would lead the auditor to
conclude that additional substantive tests of details of an account bal-
ance are not necessary?

IR CR AR
a. 20% 40% 10%
b. 20% 60% 5%
c. 10% 70% 5%
d. 30% 40% 5%

‘Which of the following would indicate that inventory would be a high
risk account for the upcoming audit?

a. Inventory has decreased even though sales have increased.

b. Sales growth is lower than inventory growth.

c. Average inventory age is higher than the industry.

d. All of the above.

e. B and C above.

Comparing client data with industry data and with its own results for
the previous year, the auditor finds that the number of days’ sales in
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accounts receivable for this year is 66 for the client, 42 for the industry

average, and 38 for the previous year. Inventory levels have remained the

same. The increase in this ratio could indicate all of the following except:

a. Fictitious sales during the current year

b. A policy to promote sales through less strenuous credit policies

c. Potential problems with product quality and the inability of the
client to meet warranty claims

d. Increased production of products for expected increases in demand

4-45  An auditor suspects that fictitious sales may have been recorded during
the year. Which of the following analytical review results would most
likely indicate that fictitious sales were recorded?

a. Uncollectible account write-ofts increased by 10%, sales increased
by 10%, and accounts receivable increased by 10%.

b. Gross margin decreased from 40 to 35%.

c. The number of day’s sales in accounts receivable decreased from 64
to 38.

e. Accounts receivable turnover decreased from 7.1:1 to 4.3:1.

Discussion and Research Questions

4-46 (Types of Risk) The auditor can control some types of risks, but must
assess other types of risks. A number of different types of risk were
introduced in this chapter.

Required

a. Define each of the following risk concepts that were introduced in
this chapter.

b. Indicate the importance of the risk to the conduct of the audit.

c. Indicate whether the auditor either assesses the risk or whether the
auditor controls the risk.

Use the following format:

Importance Assessed or
Risk Definition to Audit Controlled
Enterprise Risk
Engagement Risk
Financial Reporting Risk
Audit Risk
Inherent Risk
Control Risk
Detection Risk

4-47 (Relationship between Risk and Control) The concepts of risk
and control are integrally related.

Required

a. Explain how risk and control are related. Is one concept broader
than the other? Explain.

b. What risks does a company have in developing and introducing a
new product? Take the example of a new product in any industry
that you are interested in and (a) identify the risks, (b) identify the
controls that you would recommend to address those risks, and (c)
identify the possible effect on the organization and the audit if the
controls are not in place.

4-48 Consider the payment of individuals working in a factory and who
are paid by the hour. According to union contract, they have extensive
benefits.

Required
‘What are the risks that affect the processing and payment of the
employees? What controls do you suggest to address those risks?
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Organize your answer as follows:

Payroll Processing and Payments
Risks Controls

(Risk Analysis: Linkage to Direct Testing) Two auditors were
having the following discussion:

Auditor 1: Risk analysis is good. But, when all is said and done, it
does not add much to the audit.You still need to directly test the
account balances with procedures such as confirmations or observa-
tion.You can’t ever get away from good old-fashioned auditing.

Auditor 2: The problem with “good old-fashioned auditing” is that
there is a tendency to overaudit. We spend a lot of time on areas in
which the likelihood of material misstatement is almost nil. At the
same time, we don’t spend enough time understanding the company’s
strategy and the structure of its transactions to determine where the
real risk of misstatement may be occurring.

Required

a. Analyze the arguments made by the two auditors. Which has the
more persuasive argument? Why is the argument more persuasive?

b. Explain how the two approaches to auditing are complementary,
not conflicting.

c. The SEC and others have worried that (1) the risk analysis
approach isn’t auditing at all, (2) there is a greater likelihood that
auditors can see trends that management makes to look consistent
with previous results, and (3) that auditors will miss major problems
because not enough detailed testing is performed. How would you
address these concerns raised by the SEC?

d. How are tests of account balances linked to the risk analysis?
Describe in detail.

(Management Integrity and Audit Risk) The auditor needs to
assess management integrity as a potential indicator of risk. Although
the assessment of management integrity takes place on every audit
engagement, it is difficult to do and is not often well documented.

Required

a. Define management integrity, and discuss its importance to the
auditor in determining the type of evidence to be gathered on an
audit and in evaluating the evidence.

b. Identify the types of evidence the auditor would gather in assessing
the integrity of management. What are sources of each type of
evidence?

c. For each of the following management scenarios:

1. Indicate whether you believe the scenario reflects negatively on
management integrity, and explain why.

2. Indicate how the assessment would affect the auditor’s planning
of the audit.

Management Scenarios

a. The owner/manager of a privately held company also owns three
other companies. The entities could all be run as one entity, but
they engage extensively in related party transactions to minimize the
overall tax burden for the owner/manager.

b. The president of a publicly held company has a reputation for being a
“hard nose” with a violent temper. He has been known to fire a divi-
sional manager on the spot if the manager did not achieve profit goals.

c. The financial vice president of a publicly held company has worked
her way to the top by gaining a reputation as a great accounting
manipulator. She has earned the reputation by being very creative
in finding ways to circumvent FASB pronouncements to keep debt
off the balance sheet and in manipulating accounting to achieve
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short-term earnings. After each short-term success, she has moved
on to another company to utilize her skills.

d. The president of a small publicly held firm was indicted on tax eva-
sion charges seven years ago. He settled with the IRS and served time
doing community service. Since then he has been considered a pillar
of the community, making significant contributions to local charities.
Inquiries of local bankers yield information that he is the partial or
controlling owner of several corporations that may serve as shells to
assist the manager in moving income around to avoid taxes.

e. James J. James is the president of a privately held company that has a
reputation for running hazardous facilities. The company has been
accused of illegally dumping waste and failing to meet government
standards for worker safety. James responds that his attitude is to
meet the minimum requirements of the law, and if the government
deems that he has not, he will clean up. “Besides,” he asserts, “it is
good business; it is less costly to clean up only when I have to, even
if small fines are involved, than it is to take leadership positions and
exceed government standards.”

f. Carla C. Charles is the young, dynamic chairperson of Golden-Glow
Enterprises, a rapidly growing company that makes ceramic specialty
items, such as Christmas villages for indoor decorations. Golden-
Glow recently went public after five years of 20% annual growth.
Carla has a reputation for being a fast-living party animal, and the
society pages have carried reports of “extravagant” parties at her
home. However, she is well respected as an astute businessperson.

(Sources of Information for Audit Planning) In early summer,
an auditor is advised of a new assignment as the senior auditor for
Lancer Company, a major client for the past five years. She is given the
engagement letter for the audit covering the current calendar year and
a list of personnel assigned to the engagement. It is her responsibility
to plan and supervise the fieldwork for the engagement.

Required

Discuss the necessary preparation and planning for the Lancer
Company annual audit before beginning fieldwork at the client’s
office. In your discussion, include the sources that should be con-
sulted, the type of information that should be sought, the prelimi-
nary plans and preparation that should be made for the fieldwork,
and any actions that should be taken relative to the staft assigned to
the engagement.

(Accepting a New Client) Bob Jones, a relatively new partner for
Kinde & McNally, CPAs, has recently received a request to provide a bid
to perform audit and other services for Wolf River Outfitting, a large
regional retailing organization with more than 50 stores in the surround-
ing five-state area. Wolf River is a fast-growing company specializing in
premium outerwear and outdoor sports equipment. It is not publicly
traded. Bob realizes that bringing in new clients is important to his suc-
cess in the firm. Wolf River looks like a good audit that might provide
opportunity to sell other services. Consequently, Bob is thinking about
“lowballing” the audit (i.e., bidding very low on audit fees) as an effort
to gain a foothold in providing other services to the client.

Required

a. What other information should Bob gather about Wolf River before
proposing to perform the audit? For each item of information, indi-
cate the most efficient way for Bob to gather the information.

* All problems marked with an asterisk are adopted from the Uniform CPA Examination.
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b. Auditing firms are often encouraged to bid low for the audit work
in order to get the more lucrative consulting work. Explain both the
positive and negative effects of such behavior on the public
accounting profession. In particular, discuss the potential effect on
the audit function within a public accounting firm.

c. Explain how the auditor could use the Internet or other data serv-
ices to gather information about the potential client.

d. Explain why Bob would want an engagement letter before begin-
ning the audit.

(Audit Risk Model) A staff auditor was listening to a conversation
between two senior auditors regarding the audit risk model. The fol-
lowing are some statements made in that conversation regarding the
audit risk model.

Required

Indicate whether you agree or disagree with each of the statements.

Present the rationale for your answer.

1. Audit risk can be applied quantitatively or qualitatively. In essence, it
is a concept used to ensure that the auditor gathers sufficient evi-
dence to render an opinion on the financial statements with little
likelihood of being wrong.

2. Setting audit risk at 5% is a valid setting for controlling audit risk at a
low level only if the auditor assumes that inherent risk 1s 100%, or
significantly greater than the real level of inherent risk.

3. Inherent risk may be very small for some accounts (e.g., the record-
ing of sales transactions at a Wal-Mart). In fact, some inherent risks
may be close to .01%. In such cases, the auditor does not need to
perform direct tests of account balances if he or she can be assured
that inherent risk is indeed that low.

4. Control risk refers to both (a) the design of controls and (b) the
operation of controls. To assess control risk as low, the auditor must
gather evidence on both the design and operation of controls.

5. Detection risk at 50% implies that the direct test of the account bal-
ance has a 50% chance of not detecting a material misstatement.

6. Audit risk should vary inversely with engagement risk: the higher
the risk with being associated with the client, the lower should be
the audit risk taken.

7. In analyzing the audit risk model, it is important to understand that
much of it is judgmental. For example, setting audit risk is judgmen-
tal, assessing inherent and control risk is judgmental, and setting
detection risk is simply a matter of the individual risk preferences
of the auditor.

(Audit Assessment of Materiality) The audit report provides rea-
sonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatements. The auditor is put in a difficult situation because mate-
riality is defined from a user’s viewpoint, but the auditor must assess
materiality in planning the audit to ensure that sufficient audit work is
performed to detect material misstatements.

Required

a. Define materiality as used in accounting and auditing.

b. Briefly discuss the difference between a “quantitative” assessment of
materiality and a “qualitative” assessment of materiality. Give an
example of each. Is one dimension more important than the other?
Explain.

c. Once the auditor develops an assessment of materiality, can it
change during the course of the audit? Explain. If it does change,
what is the implication of a change for audit work that has already
been completed? Explain.
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4-55 (Materiality and Audit Adjustments) Assume that the auditor has
set $100,000 as materiality for misstatements affecting income and
$125,000 for asset or liability misstatements that do not affect income.
The auditor tests some accounts and has a great deal of confidence in
the correct determination of the account balance. For other accounts,
such as estimates, the auditor has a best estimate and a range in which
he or she believes the correct amount exists. The following informa-
tion is available upon completion of the audit:

Auditor Last Year
This Year Estimated Unadjusted
Balance Balance Misstatement
Accounts Receivable $1.2 million $1.15 $80,000 over
Range: 1.0-1.25
Prepaid Insurance 120,000 100,000 5,000 under
Prepaid Revenue 1.8 million 1.95 million 90,000 over

Range: 1.92-1.98

Auditors often deal with uncertainty—including uncertainty about
the correct amount of an account balance. The uncertainty occurs
because (a) the auditor uses sampling and (b) some estimates are
imprecise.

Required

a. How should the auditor deal with uncertainty when making mate-
riality judgments regarding account balances and the company’s
financial statements? For example, should the auditor use the best
estimate or the upper or lower limit of the estimated range in deter-
mining whether an account balance is materially misstated? Explain.

b. How much is net income misstated for this year? Is the amount of’
misstatement considered material? Explain.

c. What is the minimum amount of adjustment that needs to be made
this year in order for the financial statements to not be materially
misstated? Explain.

d. What adjustments do you recommend making to the current year’s
financial statements? Prepare a list of adjustments.

e. What is the rationale for not booking immaterial adjustments? Do
you agree with the rationale?

f. An estimate is an estimate; that is, it is not a precise answer. Assume
that management is absolutely convinced that its estimates are cor-
rect and the auditor’s estimates are incorrect. What options are open
to the auditor regarding the account balance? Could the auditor
give an unqualified opinion on the financial statements because the
financial statements are management’s statements and management is
convinced that they are correct?

4-56 (Risks Associated with a Client) James Johnson has just completed
a detailed analysis of a potential new audit client, Rural Railroad and
Pipeline, Inc. (RRP). James reports that the name is deceiving. The
company is no longer in the railroad business but owns a significant
amount of land rights along former railway lines. The land rights have
been leased to pipeline companies for transporting natural gas. It has
also leased some land rights to communications companies for laying
fiber-optic cable. The company is traded over the counter. James inter-
viewed the current auditors and members of management in preparing
the following outline report:

The company is dominated by Keelyn Kravits. Ms. Kravits has recently
acquired the company through a leveraged buyout (LBO). The LBO was
achieved through a substantial borrowing that is now recorded on the books
of RRP.The debt is at 3% over prime and requires the maintenance of min-
imum profitability and current ratios. If those ratios are not attained, the debt
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will either be immediately due—or, at the option of the lender, the interest
rate can be raised anywhere from 2 to 4%.

Ms. Kravits has a reputation for coming into a company, slashing
expenses, and making the company profitable. At the end of three to
five years, she often takes the company back to being publicly traded.
Although most of this is commendable, it should also be noted that
Ms. Kravits has been very aggressive in using the flexibility in account-
ing principles to achieve profitability objectives.

The LBO has generated a large amount of recorded goodwill. In
fact, the recorded goodwill represents 43% of total assets. The company
recently acquired a small communications company that is providing
local phone service in one part of the region covered by RRP.The
company has older technology and appears to have lagged behind the
industry in developing computerized billing procedures. Its billing is all
computerized, but it appears to be more error prone than that of some
of its competitors, judging by the number of phone calls to the cus-
tomer service department.

The company has been subject to governmental investigations and
has constantly pushed the limit in acquiring and marketing additional
rights of way. The governmental complaints have often focused on
environmental issues and noncompliance with land-use approvals for
new developments.

The previous auditor had no significant problems with the com-
pany under its old management. Ms. Kravits believes the previous audit
firm was not large enough to render services needed; she wants an
auditor who acts like a “business partner” and will not be reluctant to
offer constructive suggestions.

Ms. Kravits states that she will look to the new audit firm to do a
substantial amount of consulting work.

One recent acquisition is a small casino that will operate on the
company’s property in Las Vegas. Although the company is not experi-
enced in this area, it plans to retain existing management to run this
operation. Ms. Kravits believes this acquisition is an ideal fit, because
she would like to use communications technology to bring the excite-
ment of Las Vegas to the Internet.

Required

a. The audit partner wants a report summarizing the potential bene-
fits and disadvantages of becoming the auditor for RRP. In your
memo, identify all the pertinent risks the audit partner should con-
sider in determining whether to make a proposal to become the
auditor for RRP.

b. What factors should the audit partner consider in determining how
much to bid to become the auditor for RRP? For each factor identi-
fied, indicate its effect on the cost and conduct of the potential audit.

c. What other information would you want to gather before develop-
ing a proposal for the audit of RRP?

(Understanding a Business: Risk Assessment) The auditor needs
to understand the business in order to assess the risk of potential
account misstatements. In preparing for a new audit, the auditor
arranges to take a tour of the manufacturing plant and the distribution
center. The client is a manufacturer of heavy machinery. Its major distri-
bution center is located in a building next to the manufacturing facility.

Required

The auditor made the following list of observations during the tour of
the plant and distribution center. For each observation, indicate the
following:

a. The potential audit risk associated with the observation.

b. How the audit should be adjusted for the knowledge of the risk.
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Tour of Plant Observations

1. The auditor notes three separate lines of production for three dis-
tinct product lines. Two seem to be highly automated, but one is
seemingly antique.

2. The auditor notes that a large number of production machines are
sitting idle outside, and that a second line of one of the company’s
main products is not in operation.

3. The client utilizes a large amount of chemicals. The waste chemicals
are stored in vats and barrels in the yard before being shipped for
disposal to an independent disposal firm.

4. The distribution center seems busy and messy. Although there
appear to be defined procedures, the supervisor indicates that
during peak times when orders must be shipped, the priority is
to get them shipped. Employees “catch up” on paperwork during
slack time.

5. One area of the distribution center contains some products that
seem to have been there for a long time. They are dusty and the
packaging looks old.

6. Some products are sitting in a transition room outside the receiving
area. The supervisor indicates that the products either have not been
inspected yet, or they have failed inspection and he is awaiting
orders on what to do with them.

7. The receiving area is fairly automated. Many products come pack-
aged in cartons or boxes. The receiving department uses computer
scanners to read the contents on a bar code, and when bar codes are
used, the boxes or containers are moved immediately to the produc-
tion area where they are to be used.

8. One production line uses just-in-time inventory for its major com-
ponent products. These goods are received in rail cars that sit just
outside the production area. When production begins, the rail cars
are moved directly into production. There is no receiving function
for these goods.

9. The company uses minimum security procedures at the warehouse.
There is a fence around the facilities, but employees and others
seem to be able to come and go with ease.

4-58 (Analytical Review in Planning an Audit) Analytical review can
be an extremely powerful tool in identifying potential problem areas in
an audit. Analytical review can consist of trend and ratio analysis and
can be performed by comparisons within the same company or com-
parisons across industry. The following information shows the past two
periods of results for a company and a comparison with industry data
for the same period.

ANALYTICAL DATA FOR JONES MANUFACTURING

Industry
Average
Prior Period Current Period as a
(000 Percent (000 Percent Percent Percent
omitted) of Sales omitted) of Sales Change of Sales
Sales $10,000 100 $11,000 100 10 100
Inventory $2,000 20 $3,250 29.5 57.5 22.5
Cost of goods sold $6,000 60 $6,050 55 0.83 59.5
Accounts payable $1,200 12 $1,980 18 65 14.5
Sales commissions $500 5 $550 5 10  Not available
Inventory turnover 6.3 — 4.2 — (33) 5.85
Average number of
days to collect 39 — 48 — 23 36
Employee turnover 5% — 8% — 60 4
Return on investment 14% — 14.3% — 13.8

Debt/Equity 35% — 60% — 71 30
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Required

a  What are the advantages and limitations of comparing company
data with industry data during the planning portion of an audit?

b. From the preceding data, identify potential risk areas and explain
why they represent potential risk. Briefly indicate how the risk
analysis should affect the planning of the audit engagement.

4-59  (Analytical Review and Planning the Audit) The following table
contains calculations of several key ratios for Indianola Pharmaceutical
Company, a maker of proprietary and prescription drugs. The company is
publicly held and is considered a small- to medium-size pharmaceutical
company. Approximately 80% of its sales have been in prescription drugs;
the remaining 20% are in medical supplies normally found in a drugstore.
The primary purpose of the auditor’s calculations is to identity potential
risk areas for the upcoming audit. The auditor recognizes that some of
the data may signal the need to gather other industry- or company-spe-
cific data.

A number of the company’s drugs are patented. Its number-one
selling drug, Anecillin, which will come oft of patent in two years, has
accounted for approximately 20% of the company’s sales during the
past five years.

INDIANOLA PHARMACEUTICAL RATIO ANALYSIS

Current One Year Two Years Three Years Current

Ratio Year Previous Previous Previous Industry
Current ratio 1.85 1.89 2.28 2.51 2.13
Quick ratio 0.85 0.93 1.32 1.76 1.40
Interest coverage:
Times interest earned 1.30 1.45 5.89 6.3 4.50
Days’ sales in receivables 109 96 100 72 69
Inventory turnover 2.40 2.21 3.96 5.31 4.33
Days’ sales in inventory 152 165 92 69 84
Research & development as a

percent of sales 1.3 1.4 1.94 2.03 4.26
Cost of goods sold as percent

of sales 38.5 40.2 41.2 43.8 44.5
Debt/equity ratio 4.85 4.88 1.25 1.13 1.25
Earnings per share $1.12 $2.50 $4.32 $4.26 n/a
Sales/tangible assets 0.68 0.64 0.89 0.87 0.99
Sales/total assets 0.33 0.35 0.89 0.87 0.78
Sales growth over past year 3% 15% 2% 4% 6%

Required

a. What major conclusions regarding risk can be drawn from the
information shown in the table? State how that risk analysis will be
used in planning the audit.

b. What other critical background information might you want to
obtain as part of the planning of the audit or would you gather
during the conduct of the audit? Briefly indicate the probable
sources of the information.

c. Based on the information, what major actions did the company
enact during the immediately preceding year? Explain.

Cases

4-60 (Risk Analysis) The auditor for ABC Wholesaling Company has Activity
just begun to perform analytical procedures as part of planning the
audit for the coming year. ABC Wholesaling is in a competitive
industry, selling products such as STP Brand products and Ortho
Grow products to companies such as Wal-Mart, Kmart, and regional
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retail discount chains. The company is privately owned and has expe-
rienced financial difficulty this past year. The difficulty could lead to
its major line of credit being pulled if the company does not make a
profit in the current year. In performing the analytical procedures,
the auditor notes the following changes in accounts related to
accounts receivable.

Current Year Previous Year
(000) omitted (000) omitted

Sales $60,000 $59,000
Accounts Receivable $11,000 $7,200
Percent of Accounts Receivable Current 2% 65%
No. of Days’ Sales in Accounts Receivable 64 42
Gross Margin 18.7% 15.9%
Industry Gross Margin 16.3% 16.3%
Increase in Nov.—Dec. Sales over Previous Year 12% 3.1%

The auditor notes the large increase in receivables and decides to
make inquiries of management. Management explains that the change
is due to two things: (1) a new computer system that has increased
productivity; and (2) a new policy of rebilling items previously sold to
customers, thereby extending the due dates from October to April. The
rebilling is explained as follows: many of the clients’” products are sea-
sonal, for example, lawn care products. To provide better service to
ABC’s customers, management instituted a new policy whereby man-
agement negotiated with a customer to determine the approximate
amount of seasonal goods on hand at the end of the selling season
(October). If the customer would continue to purchase from the
client, management would rebill the existing inventory, thereby
extending the due date from October until the following April, essen-
tially giving an interest-free loan to the customer. The customer, in
turn, agreed to keep the existing goods and store them on their site
for next year’ retail sales.

The key to analytical procedures is to determine whether potential expla-
nations satisfy all the changes that are observed in account balances. For
example, does the explanation of a new computer system and the
rebilling adequately explain all the changes? The auditor must be able
to answer these questions to properly apply the risk-based approach
to audit. There are several factors indicating that these explanations
might not hold:

1. The company has a large increase in gross margin. This seems
unlikely, because it is selling to large chains with considerable pur-
chasing power. Further, other competitors are also likely to have
effective computer systems.

2. If the rebilling items are properly accounted for, there should not be
a large increase in sales for the last two months of this year when
the total sales for the previous year is practically the same as that of
the preceding year.

3. If the rebillings are for holding the inventory at customers’ loca-
tions, the auditor should investigate to determine (a) if the items
were properly recorded as a sale in the first place, or if they should
still be recorded as inventory; (b) what is the client’s motivation for
extending credit to the customers indicated; and (c) whether it is a
coincidence that all of the rebilled items were to large retailers who
do not respond to accounts receivable confirmations received from
auditors.

Required
a. What potential hypotheses would likely explain the changes in the
financial data given?
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b. Which hypothesis would best explain all the changes in the ratios
and financial account balances?

c. What is the most likely cause of the changes?

d. What risks are identified and what are the implications for audit
procedures? What specific audit procedures do you recommend as
highest priority? Why

(Using Electronic Information in Performing Risk Analysis)
The auditor increasingly relies on electronic sources of information
to keep up to date on industry developments, new trends in the
economy, regulatory requirements, and other coverage of the client
in the financial press.

Required
Select a publicly owned company that is of interest to you. Log on to the
Web to gather information about the company, the industry, and the risks
associated with the company. In your online search, include the following:
» The company’s annual report, either on its home page or as filed
with the SEC using EDGAR or SEC.gov (look at the management
discussion and analysis section as well as other information)
* A company chat line, such as Yahoo: Finance
* Another source of industry data such as Yahoo Finance or Hoovers
On-Line
* A stockbroker analysis or investment analyst
a. Develop an industry analysis and a business risk analysis for the
company (ask your instructor about length of paper)
b. Consider the online search sources and answer the following
issues for each source:
1. Usefulness of the site in providing relevant background informa-
tion about the company, including its strategies and competitors
2. Ease of use in obtaining the information
3. Reliability of information. Contrast the information received
from (a) the chat line, (b) the stockbroker/investment analyst,
(c) management’s discussion and analysis section of the annual
report, and (d) the other financial sources of industry data
4. Comprehensiveness of information obtained
5. Usefulness of the data in identifying risks
c. Describe “intelligent agents,” and explain how they could be
used to improve your search process as well as the presentation of
information for your analysis.

(Industry Analysis) Auditors cannot effectively audit clients unless
they fully understand the client’s industry and the inherent risks that
may aftect their client. Therefore, an important part of every audit plan
is to understand how current developments in the industry may be
affecting an audit client.

Required
a. Perform a background analysis of one of the following industries:
1. Specialty retailers (e.g., catalog retailers, e-commerce retailers)
2. Financial institutions (e.g., banks, insurance companies)
b. Identify the following:
1. Potential problems identified in the financial press
2. Current economic trends as described in industry publications
3. The regulatory environment affecting the industries, including
pending legislation
4. Components of the balance sheets of companies in each industry
that would represent high risk
c. Select one company in the industry and analyze the specific risks
associated with that company. Consult the periodical index in your
library for news articles and trade statistics. See, for example, Robert
Morris statistics for banks or Best’s Review for insurance companies.

(Internet NIV
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(Semester Analysis of Company Risks) With your instructor’s
consent, identify a company and perform a background review of it to
identify high risk areas for an upcoming audit. Utilize all the electronic
sources that have information available about the company. Obtain the
latest financial results, either from the company’s home page or from
EDGAR (http://www.sec.gov). If your group chooses a local company,
consider arranging an interview with the firm’s controller to find out
more about its operations.

Required

Prepare a detailed analysis of risk for the company, and discuss the
implications of the risk areas for the audit of that company. In prepar-
ing the analysis, be sure to include the following:

Business strategies

Key competitors

Industry trends

Key business processes

Financial resources and availability

Major risks

» Implications of those risks for the conduct of the audit

(Lincoln Federal Savings & Loan) The following is a description
of various factors that affected the operations of Lincoln Federal
Savings & Loan, a California savings and loan (S&L) that was a sub-
sidiary of American Continental Company, a real estate development
company run by Charles Keating.

Required

a. After reading the discussion of Lincoln Federal Savings & Loan, iden-
tify the risk areas that should be identified in planning for the audit.

b. Briefly discuss the risks identified and the implication of those risks
for the conduct of the audit.

c. The auditor saw independent appraisals in folders for loans indicat-
ing the market value of the real estate. How convincing are such
appraisals? In other words, what attributes are necessary in order for
the appraisals to constitute persuasive evidence?

Lincoln Federal Savings & Loan

Savings and Loan Industry Background—The S&L industry was devel-
oped in the early part of the century in response to a perceived need
to provide low-cost financing to encourage home ownership. As such,
legislation by Congress made the S&L industry the primary financial
group allowed to make low-cost home ownership loans (mortgages).

For many years, the industry operated by accepting relatively long-
term deposits from customers and making 25- to 30-year loans at fixed
rates on home mortgages. The industry was generally considered to be
safe. Most of the S&Ls (also known as thrifts) were small, federally char-
tered institutions with deposits insured by the FSLIC. “Get your
deposits in, make loans, sit back, and earn your returns. Get to work by
9 a.m. and out to the golf course by noon” seemed to be the motto of
many S&L managers.

Changing Economic Environment—During the 1970s, two major
economic events hit the S&L industry. First, the rate of inflation had
reached an all-time high. Prime interest rates had gone as high as
19.5%. Second, deposits were being drawn away from the S&Ls by
new competitors that offered short-term variable rates substantially
higher than current passbook savings rates. The S&Ls responded by
increasing the rates on certificates of deposit to extraordinary levels
(15 or 16%) while servicing mortgages with 20- to 30-year maturi-
ties made at old rates of 7 to 8%. The S&Ls attempted to mitigate the
problem by offering variable-rate mortgages or by selling off some of
their mortgages (at substantial losses) to other firms.
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However, following regulatory accounting principles, the S&Ls
were not required to recognize market values of loans that were not
sold. Thus, even if loan values were substantially less than the book
value, they would continue to be carried at book value as long as the
mortgage holder was not in default.

Changing Regulatory Environment—Congress moved to deregulate the
S&L industry. During the first half of 1982, the S&L industry lost a
record $3.3 billion (even without marking loans down to real value). In
August 1982, President Reagan signed the Garn—St Germain Depository
Institutions Act of 1982, hailing it as “the most important legislation for
financial institutions in 50 years.” The bill had two key elements:

* S&Ls would be allowed to offer money market funds free from
withdrawal penalties or interest rate regulation.

* S&Ls could invest up to 40% of their assets in nonresidential real
estate lending. Commercial lending was much riskier than home
lending, but the potential returns were greater. In addition, the regula-
tors helped the deregulatory fever by removing a regulation that had
required a thrift to have 400 stockholders with no one owning more
than 25% to allowing a single shareholder to own a thrift.

* Making it easier for an entrepreneur to purchase a thrift. Regulators
allowed buyers to start (capitalize) their thrift with land or other
“non-cash” assets rather than money.

* Allowing thrifts to stop requiring traditional down payments and to
provide 100% financing with the borrower not required to invest a
dime of personal money in the deal.

* Permitting thrifts to make real estate loans anywhere. They had pre-
viously been required to make loans on property located only in
their own geographic area.

Accounting—In addition to these revolutionary changes, owners of
troubled thrifts began stretching already liberal accounting rules—with
regulators’ blessings—to squeeze their balance sheets into [regulatory]
compliance. For example, goodwill, defined as customer loyalty, market
share, and other intangible “warm fuzzies,” accounted for over 40% of
the thrift industry’s net worth by 1986.

Lincoln Federal S&L. American Continental Corporation, a land
development company run by Charles Keating and headquartered in
Phoenix, purchased Lincoln Federal S&L. Immediately, Keating
expanded the lending activity of Lincoln to assist in the development
of American Continental projects, including the Phoenician Resort in
Scottsdale.* Additionally, Keating sought higher returns by purchasing
junk bonds marketed by Drexel Burnham and Michael Millken. Nine
of Keating’s relatives were on the Lincoln payroll at salaries ranging
from over $500,000 to over $1 million.

Keating came up with novel ideas to raise capital. Rather than rais-
ing funds through deposits, he had commissioned agents working in
the Lincoln offices who sold special bonds of American Continental
Corp. The investors were assured that their investments would be safe.
Unfortunately, many elderly individuals put their life savings into these
bonds, thinking they were backed by the FSLIC because they were
sold at an S&L, but they were not.

Keating continued investments in real estate deals, such as a
planned mega community in the desert outside of Phoenix. He relied
on appraisals, some obviously of dubious value, to serve as a basis for
the loan valuation.

4The Phoenician was so lavishly constructed that a regulator estimated that just to break even, the resort would
have to charge $500 per room per night at a 70% occupancy rate. Similar resort rooms in the area were available
at $125 a night.
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BILTRITE APPENDIX

Biltrite:
A Computerized Audit
Practice Case

Description of the Practice Case

This case has two learning objectives. First, it provides an opportunity to apply
auditing concepts to a “real-life” audit client. The client, Biltrite Bicycles, Inc.,
operates within a unique business climate and internal control environment, and
you must assess inherent risk and control risk accordingly. The case contains
modules involving sampling applications, audit program design, audit documen-
tation completion, audit adjustments, and an audit report upon completion of the
2007 examination.

The second purpose served by the practice case is to enable you to utilize the
computer as an audit assist device. You may use the computer in the Biltrite case
to both automate the fieldwork and assist in decision-making.

The case consists of modules. At the end of each module is a set of require-
ments. You will need an Intel-based computer, an Excel or Excel-compatible
spreadsheet program, and will need to download the data files from the web site
http://www.thomsonedu.com/accounting/rittenberg under the tab “Student
Resources.”

The modules parallel the phases of a financial statement audit. Many of the
modules require both qualitative and quantitative analyses. Based on narrative
material and on partially completed audit documentations, you will be asked to
complete the documentations, arrive at audit conclusions, and/or answer ques-
tions relating to specific auditing standards and interpretations. The following
modules make up the Biltrite case:

Module I: Assessment of inherent risk

Module II: Assessment of control risk

Module III: Control testing the sales processing subset of the revenue cycle
Module IV: PPS sampling—factory equipment additions

Module V: Accounts receivable aging analysis and adequacy of allowance

for doubtful accounts
Module VI: Sales and purchases cutoft tests
Module VII: Search for unrecorded liabilities
Module VIII:  Dallas Dollar Bank—bank reconciliation
Module IX: Analysis of interbank transfers
Module X: Analysis of marketable securities
Module XI: Plant asset additions and disposals
Module VII: Estimated liability for product warranty
Module XIII:  Mortgage note payable and note payable to Bank Two
Module XIV:  Working trial balance
Module XV: Audit report
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For maximum learning benefit, the modules should be completed as follows:

Module I: Following Chapter 4

Module II: Following Chapter 8

Module IIT and IV: Following Chapter 10
Module V: Following Chapter 11
Modules VI and VII: Following Chapter 12
Modules VIII, IX, and X: Following Chapter 13
Module XI: Following Chapter 14
Module XII and XIII: Following Chapter 15
Module XIV: Following Chapter 16
Module XV: Following Chapter 17

Accordingly, the modules are at the ends of the chapters to which
they are related. For purposes of this case, the income tax effects of audit
adjustments have been ignored.

Description of the Company

Biltrite was incorporated in 1970 to manufacture ten-speed touring bikes. An
exercise bike was added to the product line in 1980, and mountain bikes were
added in 1987.

Currently, the company makes the following products:

Grand Prix:  Ten-speed touring bike

Phoenix: Deluxe eighteen-speed racing bike
Pike’s Peak:  Twelve-speed mountain bike
Himalaya: Eighteen-speed deluxe mountain bike
Waistliner: Stationary exercise bike

All of these products are manufactured in one plant, which is located in eastern
Texas.

Derailleurs (front and rear) comprise a major portion of the parts inventory.
Other purchased parts consist of tires, handle grips, pedals, wheels, and spokes.
Materials and supplies consist primarily of paint and steel. Biltrite manufactures
the frames and handlebars, and assembles and paints the bikes.

The factory, which employs 2,000 workers, was built in 1970; was refurbished
and updated in 1999; and is now quite automated. Biltrite’s administrative offices
are located in another building in the same complex. The company has ten
regional distribution locations in various parts of the United States; each loca-
tion consists of a warechouse headed by a warehouse superintendent and a sales
office directed by a regional sales manager.

Products are shipped to the warehouses upon completion, and from the ware-
houses they are shipped to licensed dealers in the respective regions. The dealer
network consists of approximately 1,500 outlets located throughout the United
States and Canada.

All products carry a full one-year warranty covering parts and labor. The
company is known for the quality of its products and for its strong service
support.

As of the end of 2007, the company had a total of 60 customer accounts rang-
ing in amounts from $2,200 to approximately $1,350,000. The cumulative
accounts receivable at year end December 31, 2007, was $12 million.

Biltrite experienced steady growth in sales and profitability of all product lines
from the date of incorporation until the beginning of 1986. From early 1986
until the present time, competition from Asian and European manufacturers has
had a significant impact on Biltrite’s revenue (see Exhibit BR.1).



Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Comparative Income Statements 1998—2007 (in thousands of dollars)

2007* 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Sales $335,000 $280,000 $272,000 $274,500 $266,800 $269,300 $268,700 $265,570  $263,440 $262,890
Cost of Goods Sold 227,800 215,600 209,440 211,365 205,436 188,510 188,090 185,899 184,408 184,023
Gross Profit 107,200 64,400 62,560 63,135 61,364 80,790 80,610 79,671 79,032 78,867
Operating Expenses 45,770 42,330 41,400 42,000 40,680 39,997 40,100 38,965 38,670 37,700
Operating Income 61,430 22,070 21,160 21,135 20,684 40,793 40,510 40,706 40,362 41,167
Other Expenses (net) 15,668 8,960 8,700 8,240 8,150 7,890 7,940 7,760 7,240 7,123
Net Income before Taxes

and Extraordinary Item 45,762 13,110 12,460 12,895 12,534 32,903 32,570 32,946 33,122 34,044
Income Taxes 13,729 4,542 4,150 3,869 3,760 9,871 9,771 9,884 9,937 10,213
Net Income before 32,033 8,568 8,310 9,026 8,774 23,032 22,799 23,062 23,185 23,831

Extraordinary Item
Extraordinary Gain

(Loss)—Net of Tax 0 1,235 0 (2,650) 0 0 (1,540) 0 3,400 0
Net Income $ 32,033 $ 9,803 $ 8310 $ 6,376 $ 8,774 $ 23,032 $ 21,259 $ 23,062 $ 26,585 $ 23,831
*Unaudited.
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Your firm, Denise Vaughan & Co., Certified Public Accountants, has audited
Biltrite since its incorporation in 1970. Denise Vaughan is presently the partner
in charge of the engagement and Carolyn Volmar is the audit manager. The audit
team consists of Richard Derick, senior auditor in charge of the Biltrite audit;
Cheryl Lucas, assistant auditor, in her third year with the firm and her third year
on the Biltrite audit; Shelly Ross, assistant auditor in her second year with the
firm and her second year on the Biltrite audit; and a student (you), assistant audi-
tor, newly hired. Biltrite will be your first audit.

Derick has been in charge of the Biltrite audit fieldwork for the past two years.
Prior to that time he had been a part of the Biltrite audit team as an assistant. He
is completely familiar with the client’s operations and internal controls and works
well with Biltrite personnel.

Gerald Groth, the corporate controller of Biltrite, has been with the company
since receiving his MBA in 1988. Groth is also a CPA and was a staft account-
ant with Denise Vaughan & Co. from 1983 to 1988.

Other Biltrite personnel are Trevor Lawton, president and chief executive offi-
cer; Elmer Fennig, vice president, production; Charles Gibson, vice president,
marketing; Marlene McAfee, treasurer; Laura Schroeder, director of human
resources; John Mesarvey, chief accountant; Glenn Florence, director of internal
auditing; and Malissa Rust, director of computer-based information systems
(CBIS). Mesarvey, Florence, and Rust report to Groth. Emil Ransbottom, the
director of purchasing, as well as the plant manager and the factory supervisors,
report to Fennig,.

Biltrite has three product managers—one for touring bikes, one for mountain
bikes, and one for stationary bikes. The sales staft report to the product managers
and the product managers report to Gibson. Under Mesarvey, the chief account-
ant, are Harriet Smith, transaction processing; Oliver Perna, cost accounting; and
Janice Hollins, financial statements.

Transaction processing is divided into the following sections: general ledger,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, and payroll. The managers of these sections
report to Smith. Three staft auditors report to the director of internal auditing;
three personnel officers report to the director of human resources. Harold
Cannon, information technology manager, and Nancy Karling, management
information systems manager, report to the CBIS director. Cannon’s department
is divided into four sections: data entry, data processing, control, and systems analy-
sis and programming. Karling’s department is divided into three sections: statisti-
cal analysis, budget coordination, and report generation. Reporting to the
treasurer are Lawrence White, credit manager; Paula Penelee, portfolio manager;
and Mark Wilkins, cashier.

Biltrite closes its general ledger on a calendar-year basis. Unaudited financial
statements are prepared quarterly and are reviewed by Denise Vaughan & Co.The
accounting information system, including the general ledger, inventories, receiv-
ables, payables, and plant assets, was computerized in 1982, and was upgraded to
a real-time system in 2004. After extensive debugging, the real-time system seems
to be functioning smoothly.

The company employs approximately 2,000 production workers and 200
salaried administrative employees, including the corporate management staff,
warehouse superintendents, and regional sales managers. In addition, the regional
units employ 100 warehouse personnel and 120 salespersons. Hourly employees,
consisting of the production workers and warehouse personnel, are paid weekly;
salaried employees are paid biweekly. Salespersons receive a salary plus 5% com-
mission, based on gross sales.

All bank accounts have been reconciled on a monthly basis, including the
December 31, 2007, reconciliation. The company has provided the auditors
with a year-end adjusted trial balance and a complete set of financial statements,
together with supporting schedules (see Exhibits BR.2—BR.6). Richard Derick
and his audit team were present at Biltrite’s year-end physical inventory.
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Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Adjusted Trial Balance as of December 31, 2007

Debit
(in thousands of dollars)

Account Number

Credit

Bank Two Demand Deposit

Dallas Dollar Bank Demand Deposit

Dallas Dollar Bank Payroll Account

Petty Cash

Investments in Marketable Securities

All for Decline in Market Value of Securities
Accounts Receivable—Trade

Notes Receivable—Trade

Notes Receivable—Officers

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Raw Materials Inventory

Derailleurs Inventory

Purchased Parts Inventory

Goods in Process—Grand Prix Touring Bike
Goods in Process—Phoenix Touring Bike
Goods in Process—Pike’s Peak Mountain Bike
Goods in Process—Himalaya Mountain Bike
Goods in Process—Waistliner Stationary Bike
Finished Goods—Grand Prix Touring Bike
Finished Goods—Phoenix Touring Bike
Finished Goods—Pike’s Peak Mountain Bike
Finished Goods—Himalaya Mountain Bike
Finished Goods—Waistliner Stationary Bike
Indirect Materials

Repair Parts Inventory

Prepaid Insurance

Deferred Taxes—Warranty

Land

Factory Building

Accumulated Depreciation—Building
Warehouses and Sales Offices

Accumulated Depreciation—Warehouses and Sales Offices
Factory Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation—Factory Equipment
Office Building

Accumulated Depreciation—Office Building
Office Fixtures and Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation—Office Fixtures and Equipment
Autos and Trucks

Accumulated Depreciation—Autos and Trucks
Patents

Copyrights

Deposits

Cost of Goods Sold—Grand Prix Touring Bike
Cost of Goods Sold—Phoenix Touring Bike

1001
1002
1008
1012
1101
1102
1201
1202
1203
1250
1310
1320
1330
1350
1351
1352
1361
1365
1371
1372
1878
1376
1379
1385
1390
1410
1440
1510
1520
1525
1527
1529
1530
I5S5)
1540
1545
1550
1555
1560
1565
1610
1620
1710
5100
5200

$

10,200
2,100
57

B
7,000

11,920
80

6,200
5,500
15,100
800
700
1,500
1,200
300
1,616
2,300
5,800
4,600
1,200
800
2,600
600
400
4,000
50,000

200,000

360,000

20,000

10,000

1,000

4,000

2,000

340

34,448
32,903

$

2,800

220

14,140

105,000

144,660

8,000

6,150

620

(continued)
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Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Adjusted Trial Balance as of December 31, 2007 (continued)

Debit Credit
Account Number (in thousands of dollars)
Cost of Goods Sold—Pike’s Peak Mountain Bike 5300 $ 89,584
Cost of Goods Sold—Himalaya Mountain Bike 5400 22,075
Cost of Goods Sold—Waistliner Stationary Bike 5500 48,790
Direct Labor 6100 35,600
Direct Labor Applied 6200 $ 35,600
Indirect Labor 7201 5,500
Depreciation—Factory Building 7205 2,000
Depreciation—Factory Equipment 7206 42,060
Real Estate Taxes 7210 4,400
Personal Property Taxes 7211 1,600
Manufacturing Supplies 7220 15,042
FICA Tax Expense 7230 3,980
State Unemployment Tax Expense 7231 1,120
Federal Unemployment Tax Expense 7232 880
Workers’ Compensation Premiums 7233 550
Health Insurance Premiums—~Factory 7234 2,860
Employee Pension Expense 7235 3,810
Repairs and Maintenance Expense 7236 1,222
Utilities Expense 7241 16,100
Miscellaneous Factory Expense 7242 2,200
Manufacturing Overhead Applied 7250 103,324
Sales Commissions 8310 16,500
Sales Salaries 8320 1,200
Bad Debts Expense 8325 500
Product Warranty 8330 1,139
Advertising 8340 3,311
Miscellaneous Selling Expense 8350 420
Administrative Salaries 9410 7,550
Research and Development Costs 9420 1,050
Patent Amortization 9425 700
FICA Tax Expense 9431 856
State Unemployment Tax Expense 9432 224
Federal Unemployment Tax Expense 9433 120
Workers’ Compensation Premiums 9434 100
Health Insurance Premiums—Administrative 9435 500
Employee Pension Expense 9436 100
Employee Profit Sharing Expense 9437 345
Depreciation—Office Building 9440 800
Depreciation—Office Fixtures and Equipment 9445 1,875
Depreciation—Autos and Trucks 9447 320
Depreciation—Warehouses and Sales Offices 9449 10,000
Accounting Fees 9450 320
Legal Fees 9451 430

Other Professional Services 9452 20
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EXHIBIT BR.2

Account Number

Debit Credit
(in thousands of dollars)

Supplies Expense

Insurance Expense

Printing and Copying Expense

Postage Expense

Gain/Loss on Disposal of Plant Assets
Miscellaneous Administrative Expense
Interest Expense

Loss on Decline in Market Value of Securities
Federal Income Tax Expense

State Income Tax Expense

City Income Tax Expense

Notes Payable—Trade

Accounts Payable—Trade

Interest Payable

Sales Salaries Payable

Administrative Salaries Payable
Factory Wages Payable

FICA Payable

State Income Taxes Withheld

City Income Taxes Withheld

Unemployment and Workers’ Compensation Premiums Payable

Accrued Profit Sharing Payable
Federal Income Taxes Payable
State Income Taxes Payable

City Income Taxes Payable
Estimated Product Warranty Liability
Accrued Commissions Payable
Mortgage Note Payable (10%)
Deferred Tax Liability—Depreciation
12% Note Payable to Bank Two
10% Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Additional Paid-in Capital
Treasury Stock

Retained Earnings

Dividends

Sales—Grand Prix Touring Bike
Sales—Phoenix Touring Bike
Sales—Pike’s Peak Touring Bike
Sales—Himalaya Mountain Bike
Sales—Waistliner Stationary Bike
Interest Earned

Dividends Earned

Loss on Disposal of Investments

9460
9470
9480
9481
9485
9490
9701
9702
9990
9991
9992
2010
2020
2030
2041
2042
2043
2051
2052
2053
2054
2055
2061
2062
2063
2070
2080
2110
2120
2130
3110
3120
3130
3140
3150
3160
4100
4200
4300
4400
4500
4901
4902
4903

$ 200
450
235
285

$ 4,000
220
12,890
2,800
10,329
1,923
1,477

3,660

10,200

3,400

30

870

1,290

310

150

50

25

345

4,000

1,200

800

544

1,400

60,000

10,600

45,000

120,000

100,000

50,000
8,153

29,574
15,000

50,659

47,360

132,892

34,299

69,790

115

105
198

$1,203,182 $1,203,182
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EXHIBIT BR.3 Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Income Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2007
(in thousands of dollar

Year Ended Year Ended
12/31/07* 12/31/06
Sales Revenue $335,000 $280,000
Cost of Goods Sold:
Beginning Inventories $ 10,142 $ 6,690
Cost of Goods Manufactured (Schedule 1) M M
Cost of Goods Available for Sale 243,316 225,742
Ending Inventories 15,516 10,142
Cost of Goods Sold M M
Gross Profit on Sales 107,200 64,400
Operating Expenses (Schedule 2) 45,770 42,330
Operating Income 61,430 22,070
Financial Income and Expense:
Interest Expense 12,890 9,682
Interest and Dividends Earned (220) (1,022)
Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Investments 198 (100)
Loss on Decline in Market Value of Securities 2,800 400
Net Financial Expense LESESB ﬂ
Net Income before Taxes and Extraordinary Items 45,762 13,110
Income Taxes 13,729 4,542
Net Income before Extraordinary Items 32,033 8,568
Extraordinary Gain from Eminent Domain Sale
(net of tax) - ﬂ
Net Income $ 32,033 $ 9,803
SCHEDULE 1
COST OF GOODS MANUFACTURED
(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended Year Ended
12/31/07* 12/31/06
Beginning Work-in-Process Inventories $ 4,000 $ 4,663
Manufacturing Costs:
Direct Materials:
Beginning Inventories of Materials
and Purchased Parts $ 16,150 $ 15,320
PR _AbE A0 _ EEY
Available for Production 121,550 101,520
Ending Inventories of Materials
and Purchased Parts M ﬁ
Cost of Materials Used in Production 94,750 85,370
Direct Labor 35,600 31,300
Manufacturing Overhead (Schedule 1A) 103,324 101,719
Total Manufacturing Costs M M
Total Work in Process 237,674 223,052
Ending Work-in-Process Inventories 4,500 4,000

Cost of Goods Manufactured $233,174 $219,052
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EXHIBIT BR.3 Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Income Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2007
(in thousands of dollars) (continued)

SCHEDULE 1A
MANUFACTURING OVERHEAD

Year Ended Year Ended

12/31/07* 12/31/06
Indirect Labor $ 5,500 $ 5,300
Depreciation of Factory Building 2,000 2,000
Depreciation of Factory Equipment 42,060 42,860
Property Taxes 6,000 5,800
Manufacturing Supplies 15,042 14,600
Payroll Taxes and Fringe Benefits 13,200 12,400
Utilities 16,100 15,600
Repairs and Maintenance 1,222 1,159
Miscellaneous 2,200 2,000

$103,324 $101,719

SCHEDULE 2
OPERATING EXPENSES
(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

Year Ended Year Ended
12/31/07* 12/31/06
Selling Expenses:
Sales Commissions $ 16,500 $ 13,800
Sales Salaries 1,200 1,180
Bad Debts Expense 500 900
Product Warranty 1,139 1,078
Advertising & 3lil 2,522
Miscellaneous Selling 420 146
$ 23,070 $ 19,626
General Expenses:
Administrative Salaries 7,550 6,677
Research and Development 1,050 2,200
Patent Amortization 700 700
Payroll Taxes and Fringe Benefits 2,245 2,200
Depreciation—Office Building 800 800
Depreciation—Office Fixtures and Equipment 1,875 2,260
Depreciation—Autos and Trucks 320 300
Depreciation—Warehouses 10,000 10,000
Accounting and Legal Fees 750 720
Other Professional Services 20 18
Supplies 200 280
Insurance 450 240
Printing and Postage 520 115
Gain/Loss on Disposal of Plant Assets (4,000) (3,850)
Miscellaneous Administrative 220 44
22,700 22,704

$ 45,770 $ 42,330

*Unaudited.
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EXHIBIT BR.4 Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 20
(in thousands of dollars)

12/31/07* 12/31/06
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash on hand and in banks $ 12,362 $ 15,800
Investments in marketable securities 4,200 5,300
Accounts and notes receivable—trade $ 12,000 $ 13,200
Less allowance for doubtful accounts ﬂ) ﬂ)
11,780 12,400
Inventories
Materials and purchased parts 26,800 16,150
Goods in process 4,500 4,000
Finished goods 15,516 10,142
Indirect materials and repair parts 3,400 3,200
50,216 33,492
Prepaid Expenses 600 560
Deferred Tax Asset—warranty 400 460
Total current assets 79,558 68,012
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Land 4,000 4,000
Factory building 50,000 50,000
Less accumulated depreciation (14,140) (12,140)
35,860 37,860
Warehouses and sales offices 200,000 200,000
Less accumulated depreciation (105,000) (95,000)
95,000 105,000
Factory equipment 360,000 320,000
Less accumulated depreciation (144,660) (147,460)
215,340 172,540
Office building 20,000 20,000
Less accumulated depreciation (8,000) (7,200)
12,000 12,800
Office fixtures and equipment 10,000 9,000
Less accumulated depreciation (6,150) (5,075)
3,850 3,925
Autos and trucks 1,000 900
Less accumulated depreciation (620) (300)
380 600
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment 366,430 336,725
Investments and Other Assets:
Patents and copyrights (net of
accumulated amortization) 6,000 6,700
Deposits 340 340
Total investments and other assets 6,340 7,040

TOTAL ASSETS $452,328 $411,777
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) (continued)

12/31/07* 12/31/06
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Notes payable $ 3,660 $ 14,890
Accounts payable 10,200 18,600
Interest payable 3,400 2,200
Salaries and wages payable 2,190 2,018
Payroll withholdings 510 490
Taxes and fringe benefits payable 370 345
Income taxes payable 6,000 1,800
Estimated product warranty liability 544 860
Accrued commissions payable 1,400 1,200
Total current liabilities 28,274 42,403
Long-Term Liabilities
Mortgage note payable (10%) 60,000 60,000
Deferred tax liability—depreciation 10,600 9,800
12% note payable to Bank Two 45,000
Total long-term liabilities 115,600 69,800
TOTAL LIABILITIES 143,874 112,203

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Invested Capital

Preferred stock—$100 par value, 10%

cumulative, 10,000,000 shares authorized,

1,200,000 shares issued and outstanding 120,000 120,000
Common stock, $10 par value, 90,000,000

shares authorized, 10,000,000 shares issued,

of which 220,000 shares are in the treasury 100,000 100,000
Paid-in capital in excess of par value
of capital stock 50,000 50,000
Total invested capital 270,000 270,000
Retained Earnings 46,607 29,574
Total 316,607 299,574
Less cost of 220,000 shares of treasury stock (8,153) 0
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 308,454 299,574
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

*Unaudited.

$452,328

$411,777
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EXHIBIT BR.5 iltrite Bicycles, Inc., Statements of Retained Earnings for the Years Ended December 31,
2006 and 20

(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ended Year Ended

12/31/07* 12/31/06
Retained Earnings—beginning of year $ 29,574 $ 29,771
Net Income 32,033 9,803
Dividends (15,000) (10,000)
Retained Earnings—end of year $ 46,607 $ 29,574

*Unaudited.

Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2007

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income $ 32,033

Add (deduct)
Increase in inventories (16,724)
Decrease in accounts and notes receivable 620
Increase in prepaid expenses (40)
Increase in deferred tax liability 800
Decrease in deferred tax asset 60
Decrease in accounts payable (8,400)
Increase in interest payable 1,200
Increase in salaries and wages payable 172
Increase in payroll withholdings 20
Increase in taxes and fringe benefits payable 25
Increase in income taxes payable 4,200
Decrease in product warranty liability (316)
Increase in accrued commissions payable 200
Depreciation and amortization 57,755
Loss on sale of investments 198
Gain on disposal of plant assets (4,000)
Loss on decline in market value of securities 2,800

Total Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 70,603

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Disposal of Property and Equipment

Factory equipment 9,000

Office equipment 200
Purchase of Plant Assets

Factory equipment (89,860)

Office fixtures and equipment (2,000)

Autos and trucks (100)
Sale of Marketable Securities 1,102
Purchase of Marketable Securities (3,000)
Purchase of Treasury Stock (8,153)

Total Cash Used in Investing Activities (92,811)
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Biltrite Bicycles, Inc., Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 (continued)

CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of 12% note payable to Bank Two 45,000
Payment of dividends (15,000)
Payment of mortgage note installment (10,000)
Payment of notes payable (1,230)
Total Cash Provided by Investing Activities 18,770

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH $ (3,438)

Module I: Assessment of Inherent Risk
In this module, you will assess inherent risk after you have done the following:

1. Analyzed Biltrite’s organizational structure and prepared an organization chart
2. Applied analytical procedures to Biltrite’s financial data
3. Studied Biltrite’s business operations and the bicycle manufacturing industry generally

In completing this assignment, you may assume that Derick has decided on the
following initial risk assessments:

Inherent risk: 100%
Control risk: maximum
Audit risk: 5%

Study of the Business and the Industry

As part of his continuing study of Biltrite’s operations, Derick has extracted the fol-
lowing data from the computerized permanent file entitled “Business and Industry”:

1. Charles Lawton founded Biltrite in 1970 and successfully led the company during the ensu-
ing twenty-five years. He retired in 2000 and his only son, Trevor, assumed control of the
company. The Lawton family presently owns 25% of the outstanding Biltrite common stock;
the remaining 75% is publicly held. However, Biltrite is not subject to SEC regulation.

2. Biltrite has been known for the quality of its products and its strong after-sale service sup-
port. (All bicycles are under 100% parts and labor warranty for one year following sale.)
These attributes led to many years of steadily increasing sales and profits.

3. Beginning in 1985, imports of bicycles significantly increased industry competition. As a
result, from 1985 to 1991, domestic manufacturers, including Biltrite, experienced
declining sales and profits; from 1992 until recently, earnings stabilized for both Biltrite
and the industry. In response to foreign competition, Biltrite updated its manufacturing
facility in 2002, incorporating the latest technology into its products. These efforts pro-
duced a modest increase in 2006 sales and profits and, based on unaudited data, a more
dramatic increase in 2007.

4. The increased automation resulting from the 2002 manufacturing update enabled
Biltrite to decrease its factory labor force from 3,000 in 2001 to 2,000 in 2007, and to
reduce its sales force from 150 to 120 in response to declining sales volume. Elmer
Fennig, production vice president, observed that the factory refurbishing has enabled the
company to significantly increase the productivity of its production employees. Charles
Gibson, marketing vice president, agrees, and predicts a continued increase in revenues
and profits, at least through 2008. However, Gerald Groth, corporate controller, is con-
cerned about the decline in the operating income margin as a percent of sales. He
attributes the decline to the increased proportion of fixed overhead to total manufactur-
ing costs, given increased automation.
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. In 2007, in the face of increasing liquidity problems accompanying the automation, pay-

ment of trade accounts payable within the specified credit terms became increasingly diffi-

cult. After much discussion with Harvey Bombenmyr, the president of Bank Two, and

Bank Two’s lending officers, Lawton was able to negotiate a ten-year 12% note payable for

$45 million. The note is unsecured and is payable in equal annual installments, together

with interest, beginning March 1, 2007, and contains restrictive covenants. Those relevant

to the Biltrite audit are the following:

a. A minimum balance of $10 million must be maintained in Biltrite’s demand deposit
account with Bank Two.

b. Further borrowing is prohibited until the Bank Two note has been amortized below
$10 million.

c. Dividends may be declared only from retained earnings in excess of $45 million.

In April 2006, Lawton borrowed $3 million from the company in exchange for an unse-
cured note. The transaction resulted in a debit to Account 1203—Notes R eceivable,
Officers. According to Groth, Lawton plans to repay this note prior to December 31, 2007.

Legal action against the company was initiated by Rollfast, a competitor, in late 2006.
The suit alleges that Biltrite infringed on a process already patented by Rollfast. The
process, according to Rollfast’s attorneys, enables a bicycle manufacturer to produce a
frame in one piece, thereby adding strength to the bicycle by eliminating welding.
Biltrite has responded to the action by demonstrating the unique characteristics of its
patented bicycle frame. By July 2007, the suit had neither been heard by the court nor
settled outside the courts by the litigants. Rollfast is suing Biltrite for $50 million.

. Although Lawton and Groth have intensified efforts in recent years to establish and

implement a sound internal control system, the independent auditors have not seen

fit to reduce the assessed level of control risk below the maximum level. If the audi-
tors’ 2006 recommendations have been implemented, however, Derick anticipates a

reduction in the assessed level of control risk in one or more of the transaction

cycles.

Biltrite’s internal audit staff, directed by Glenn Florence, is viewed by our firm as com-
petent, but not outstanding. Because the company does not have an audit committee,
Florence reports directly to Groth, the controller. In the past, our audit team has utilized
Florence and his three staff auditors only when necessary to assist in various phases of
the Biltrite audit.

Requirements

1.

Prepare an organizational chart for Biltrite and identify the major strengths and weak-
nesses in Biltrite’s organizational structure.

Using the downloaded data and the spreadsheet program, retrieve the file titled
“Analy1.” Scroll through the file and locate the following documentation:

e WP A.1—Comparative income statements

e WP A.2—Sales and cost of goods sold—by product line

* WP A.3—Comparative schedule of manufacturing overhead and operating expenses
* WP A.4—Inventories

After scrutinizing the documentation, perform the following:

a. Using the “Comparative Income Statements” data in WP A.1, calculate each income
statement component as a percentage of sales for 2007. (Hint: For help with the cell
equations, examine the comparable cells for 2006.)

b. Using the “Sales and Cost of Goods Sold—By Product Line” data in WP A.2, calcu-
late the cost per unit as a percentage of sales price for 2007 by product line. (You
may examine the comparable 2006 cell equations as you did in requirement (a).)

c. Using the “Comparative Schedule of Manufacturing Overhead and Operating
Expenses” data in WP A.3, calculate each component as a percentage of sales for
2007. (You may examine the comparable 2006 cell equations as you did in require-
ments (a) and (b).)
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d. Using the product line data from requirement (b) and the “Inventories” data from
WP A.4, calculate finished goods inventory turnover for 2007 by product line.
Calculate materials and purchased parts turnover for 2007 by component. (Again,
you may refer to comparable cell equations for 2006.)

e. Print the results of your analytical procedures.

4. Using the downloaded data and spreadsheet program, load the file titled “Budget.”

Examine the worksheet carefully and locate the following schedules:

e WP A.6—Budgeted vs. actual income statements for 2007

» Schedule 1—Cost of goods manufactured

* Schedule 2—Operating expenses

Compare with the results of requirement (3). Do any of the variances, when considered
in relation to the results of requirement (3), raise warning signals? Print the budget.

5. Using the downloaded data and spreadsheet program, load the file titled “Analy2” and
locate the following in WP A.5:
»  Comparative percentage balance sheets for 2007 and 2006
e Comparative ratios:
2007 vs. 2006
Industry ratios for 2007

After reviewing the documentation, perform the following:

a. Using the “Balance Sheets” data, calculate the percent of each asset component as a
percentage of total assets for 2007, and calculate each liability and stockholders’
equity component as a percentage of total liabilities and stockholders’ equity for
2007. (Note: This has been done for 2006; as in requirement (3), you may refer to the
comparable cell equations for 2006 to expedite calculating the 2007 percentages.)

b. Using the “Balance Sheets” and “Comparative Income Statements” data, calculate the
following ratios for 2007:

» Current ratio

* Quick ratio

e Times interest earned

* Return on stockholders’ equity

(Note: The 2006 calculations already have been done for you.)

c. Compare pertinent ratios with industry averages (these are located next to the 2006
Biltrite ratios). Are there any significant disparities between Biltrite’s ratios and the
industry averages?

d. Print the results of your analytical procedures.

e. Wheels-4-U Company is a competitor in the bicycle industry. Using the down-
loaded data, retrieve the file “Wheels-4-U.” Using the data contained in that report,
perform the following:

1. Compare Wheels-4-U’s percentage income statements with Biltrite’s percentage
income statements for the same years.

2. Go to Wheels-4-U’s comparative balance sheets and income statements and calcu-
late the same ratios that you calculated for Biltrite in (b) above.

3. On the basis of (1) and (2) above, what strengths and weaknesses of Biltrite relative
to Wheels-4-U can you identify?

6. What is the purpose of performing analytical procedures during the planning phase of the
audit? What is the purpose of including budgets and performance reports in the application
of analytical procedures? Based on your analytical procedures performed in requirements
(2), (3), (4), and (5), what, if any, concerns do you have? Relate your concerns to manage-
ment’s assertions contained in the financial statements (existence, completeness, accuracy,
etc.). Can you suggest some specific audit procedures to allay your concerns?

7. Based on analytical procedures and study of the business and industry, in what specific
transaction areas are you willing to reduce inherent risk below 100%? In deciding whether
or not to reduce inherent risk, consider audit complexity and the probability of manage-
ment misrepresentation fraud.



CHAPTER

Audit Evidence:
A Framework

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

The overriding objective of this textbook is to build a foundation to analyze
current professional issues and adapt audit approaches to business and eco-
nomic complexities. Through studying this chapter, you will be able to:

e Identify the basic sources of audit evidence.

e Describe the assertions contained in financial statements.

e Discuss what is meant by the sufficiency and competence of evidence.

e Explain what is meant by directional testing.

e Identify basic audit procedures and the assertion(s) of each test.

e Explain the nature and purposes of audit programs.

e Describe the purposes and contents of good audit documentation.

e Explain the uniqueness of procedures for testing management’s estimates.
e Explain the purpose of concurring partner reviews.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

Auditing is a process of objectively gathering and evaluating evidence pertaining to
assertions. In planning an audit, three basic questions need to be answered: What
procedures should be performed, how much evidence is needed, and when should
the procedures be performed (see Exhibit 5.1). Audit programs, no matter what
their size, whether standardized or customized, are designed to provide assurance
on management’s assertions on financial statements or other measures of busi-
ness performance. The specific audit procedures used must address the risk of
potential misstatement. Different types of evidence are identified along with char-
acteristics that affect the persuasiveness of audit evidence. The auditor’s process
of gathering and assessing the evidence must be documented, explaining the evi-
dence gathered, the auditor’s reasoning process, and the conclusions reached.

Overview of the Audit Model

Audit evidence is all the information used by auditors in arriving at the conclu-
sions on which the audit opinion is based. Auditors spend most of their time
obtaining and evaluating evidence concerning the assertions that management
makes in its financial statements and its reports on internal control. The evidence-
gathering process is the core of an audit. Often there are no right or wrong answers
as to the best evidence to gather. Rather, the auditor considers the risk associated
with an account balance or the importance of a control, and the reliability of evi-
dence available to develop an audit approach. This chapter develops a framework
for the evidence-gathering process. We focus primarily on evidence for auditing
financial statements and focus on auditing internal controls in the next chapter.
Management makes assertions about a number of different things: earnings
and financial conditions, the organization’s internal controls and its operations,
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Audit Concepts
and Tools

compliance with governmental regulations, and other measures of business per-
formance such as on-time arrival information for an airline. Auditors may be called
on to perform audits of these assertions. The scope of auditing is limited only by
the demands for reliable information and an auditable information system.

No two audits are exactly the same. Organizations vary in size, complexity,
extent of computerization of information systems, and the extent to which they
are involved in electronic commerce. Organizations are diverse—financial insti-
tutions, public utilities, state and local governments, other not-for-profit entities,
retailers, manufacturers, and service providers. They all require audits.

This chapter develops a framework for approaching the detailed evidence-
gathering process that is common across all audits. This general framework can then
be tailored to the unique risks, controls, and activities of an individual company.

The need for audit evidence 1s driven by two factors. First is the need to min-
imize audit risk, the risk that the auditor may fail to detect a material misstate-
ment in a financial statement or another type of report. The auditor minimizes
that risk through the gathering of sufficient evidence. In planning tests of
account balances and transactions, the auditor is guided by the third standard of
fieldwork, which states:

The auditor must obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through audit proce-
dures performed to afford a reasonable basis for an opinion regarding the financial
statements under audit.

Thus, the auditor must obtain an appropriate amount of reliable evidence
concerning the fairness of the financial statements and their conformity with
GAAP. Exhibit 5.2 shows the various sources of evidence. When the auditor
believes there is more than a minimal risk that an account balance may contain
a material misstatement, the auditor needs to gather sufficient evidence that the
risk of misstatement is minimized. That assurance is gained through a combina-
tion of procedures that ALWAYS includes (a) an evaluation of internal controls
over the financial reporting process and (b) direct tests of the account balance or
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Internal Control

Audit Evidence
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Assertions

Information Technology
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Point

Assurance services are designed to
address assertions broader than
financial statements. Evidence can
be gathered to evaluate a wide
array of assertions.

EXHIBIT 5.1 Basic Evidence Questions

What procedures? When to perform them?

Sufficient, appropriate
evidence

How much?
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Sources of Audit Evidence

Knowledge
of Business
and Industry

Tests of
Controls

Point

Fraud can occur by holding books
open after year end. The cutoff
assertion addresses the possibility
of such a misstatement.

Analytical
Procedures

Audit
Evidence

Direct Tests of
Account Balances
and Transactions

underlying transactions. Evidence is obtained through the combination of con-
trol testing and account balance testing. In the past, many auditors have focused
almost solely on testing the account balances. The recent risk standards from the
AICPA dictate that both approaches be used.

Assertion Model for Financial
Statement Audits

In performing direct tests of account balances, the auditor is guided by the over-
all framework of assertions that are embodied in financial statements and indi-
vidual accounts. The procedures to gather audit evidence are referred to as an
audit program.

The following primary assertions are embodied in the financial statements:
e Existence and occurrence
e Completeness
e Rights and obligations
¢ Valuation and allocation
® Presentation and disclosures

These primary assertions for account balances also have their counterparts for
transactions and events, and disclosures as follows:

Transactions and Events Account Balances Presentation and Disclosures
Occurrence Existence Occurrence and Rights and Obligations
Completeness Completeness Completeness

Rights and Obligations
Accuracy Valuation and Allocation Accuracy and Valuation
Classification Classification and Understandability
Cutoff

The specification of the assertions assists the auditor in planning audit tests.
The following is a more explicit statement of the assertions. For transactions and
events, management is asserting that:
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e Recorded transactions and events have occurred and pertain to the entity.
e All transactions and events that have occurred have been recorded (completeness).

e Amounts and other data relating to recorded transactions and events have been
recorded at the correct amounts (accuracy).

e Transactions and events have been recorded in the proper accounts (classification).

e Transactions and events have been recorded in the correct accounting period (cutoff—
relates to both occurrence and completeness).
Similarly for account balances, management is asserting that:

e The assets, liabilities, and equity interests exist.

o All assets, liabilities, and equity interests that should have been recorded have been
recorded (completeness).

e The entity holds or controls the rights to assets, and liabilities are the obligations of
the entity.

e Assets, liabilities, and equity interests are included in the financial statements at
appropriate amounts and any resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appro-
priately recorded (valuation and allocation).

For presentation and disclosures, management is asserting that:

e Disclosed events and transactions have occurred and pertain to the entity (rights and
obligations).

e All required financial statement disclosures have been included (completeness).

e Information is disclosed fairly and at appropriate amounts (accuracy and valuation).

e Information is appropriately presented and described (classification and under-
standability).

There are overlaps among some of the transaction and account balance asser-
tions (see Exhibit 5.3). For example, if some sales were recorded in the current
year that should have been recorded in the subsequent year (transactions: cufoff),

153

Overlap of Transaction and Account Balance Assertions

Completeness

Classification

COMPLETENESS

VALUATION
AND ALLOCATION

ACCOUNT BALANCE ASSERTIONS ARE IN FULL CAPS.
Transaction Assertions Are In Initial Caps.
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the related accounts receivable do not exist at the balance sheet date (account bal-
ance: existence). If some sales that took place in the current year were not
recorded until the subsequent year (transactions: cutoff ), current year sales and
accounts receivable are not complete (account balances: completeness). If transac-
tions are not properly dassified, for example, some expenses are capitalized, the
related expenses are not complete and the related assets do not exist. If transactions
are not recorded accurately, the related account balances are not properly valued.

The objective of gathering audit evidence is to determine the validity of these
assertions.

To better understand how the auditor approaches the evidence-gathering
process, consider the inventory of Pioneer Hi-Bred. The company develops seed
corn to be sold to farmers and its inventory consists of seed corn that will be sold
for spring planting. The inventory is described as follows:

Finished Seed Products $164,034,000
Unfinished Seed Products 190,070,000

Total $354,104,000

The account represents the culmination of inventory transactions during the
year. A footnote explains that unfinished seed includes the cost of planting seed
as well as other production costs incurred by the company to produce its seed
supply. The account also represents the costs of payments to independent grow-
ers who contract for the production of seed. The account also reflects risks
related to holding the inventory to the next planting season. The total amount
of evidence is obtained from the auditor’s understanding of the process and
evaluation of the internal control over those processes. For illustration purposes,
we discuss the assertions for examining the account balance only in this section.
Chapter 6 discusses the evidence gained through testing of internal control.

Inventories for Pioneer Hi-Bred are valued at the lower of cost or market
(FIFO basis) and include gains or losses on commodity hedging transactions
(futures prices related to corn). Hedging transactions usually have high inherent
risk. There is also a risk associated with the quality of the products held. The seeds
need to be fresh or they will not germinate. The company needs about a year’s
supply, but if there is an excess of supply, it is not likely that all will be sold, or it
will not be sold at current market prices. If there is too much inventory, there
may be a question of whether the current value includes possible losses due to
oversupply. With these risks in mind, the auditor must develop an audit approach
to gather sufficient evidence to determine that inventory exists, is owned by the
company, is properly valued, is recorded during the correct period, and contains
proper disclosure.

Gathering Sufficient, Appropriate Evidence

When considering the best approach to gather audit evidence, the auditor needs
to consider factors affecting the reliability of the financial data: management
integrity, client economic risk, quality of the client’s information system, client’s
internal controls, and current market conditions and competitor actions.
Management’s integrity and competence affect both the design and operation of
the client’s information system. The client’s business, by its nature, carries distinct
risks that require judgments that may affect valuation. Finally, competitors may be
introducing new products that will affect the marketability of inventory on hand.
The auditor cannot prepare an audit program to directly test financial statements
without considering the risk factors that could cause the account balances to be
incorrect. Exhibit 5.4 presents a condensed overview of the audit approach that
reflects audit risk, control risk, and persuasiveness of alternative sources of evidence.
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Overall Audit Approach

Step

Concerns

Action

1. Understand client and industry.

2. Assess risk of material misstate-
ment by assertion for each signif-
icant component of the client’s
financial or other information.

3. Test details of account balances
and transactions.

4. Assess adequacy of evidence
documented and issue a report.

Exhibit 5.4 depicts four important steps in the overall audit process:

1. Understand the client and the industry.

Industry characteristics
Management integrity and
pressures that could influence
reliability of the data

Nature and quality of informa-
tion system

Economic influences

Inherent risk
Control risk
Computer systems

How much
Which procedures
When to perform

Need for adjustments
System deficiencies

Review database on client and industry.
Assess management integrity.

Identify red flags.

Perform preliminary analytical procedures.

Identify factors affecting reliability of client
data.

Obtain an understanding of and, when
appropriate, test internal controls.

Perform analytical procedures, and/or direct
tests of account balances and transactions
to corroborate financial data or other infor-
mation about organizational performance.

Perform final analytical procedures and addi-
tional procedures when necessary.

Decide on the type of report the evidence
supports.

2. Assess the risk of material misstatement, including an assessment of internal controls as

part of an integrated audit of public companies.

3. Directly test transactions and/or account balances.

4. Assess adequacy of evidence.

Each of the first three steps provides important evidence on the overall relia-
bility of the company’s financial statements. For public companies, auditors are
required to report on the quality of a company’s internal controls. Thus, a sig-
nificant portion of audit evidence for these companies will come from the audi-
tor’s tests of internal controls and the processing of the underlying transactions.
In addition to understanding the steps in the process, there are two important
points that need to be understood regarding this process:

1. Reports can be made at periodic intervals, such as quarterly or yearly for financial state-

ments, or the reports can occur almost continuously as companies implement XBRL for

public reporting.

2. The process is intended to be followed in sequence. Risk is assessed. The auditor evalu-

ates internal control over financial reporting and determines whether additional direct

tests need to be performed. If a company moves to a continuous reporting process,
most of the evidence will come from control analysis and tests of transactions.

Current auditing standards for audits of financial statements require that all four
phases presented in Exhibit 5.4 be performed on every audit, and that some direct
tests of material account balances and transactions always be performed. The direct
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Cost and Persuasiveness of Evidence during Each Phase

Phase

Relative

Persuasiveness Situations in Which Evidence

Cost Evidence of Evidence from This Step Is Most Reliable

1. Understand client
and industry.

2. Assess risk of mate-
rial misstatement.

3. Test transactions
and account
balances.

Lowest

Moderate + Prior history of error-free financial statements
High management integrity
Reliable and stable information system
Reliable and stable economic conditions
Accurate public databases about company
Analytical procedures are effective in predicting
problem areas
Company has been conservative in its account-
ing choices and accounting estimates
Company has an active audit committee and
internal audit department

Medium to high Medium to high + Reliable and stable information system

Highest

High management integrity with history of
strong monitoring controls
Company used embedded audit techniques

Highest + Paper-based evidence exists

May be less when - Outside parties can corroborate financial
company has paper- information

less information + Only option when sufficient persuasive evidence
system cannot be obtained from other phases

tests of transactions and account balances, however, can be efficiently performed
when the auditor considers the effectiveness of internal control in reducing the risk
of material misstatements. Auditors focus on risks that may exist in an account bal-
ance as a basis to determine the best way to gather assurance that the account bal-
ance is correct. There is a trade-off between persuasiveness of evidence and audit
cost as shown in Exhibit 5.5. For example, where there is little risk of misstatement,
internal controls are effective, then an integrated audit would require only a min-
imal number of direct tests of transactions and account balances. Conversely, if
there is high risk of misstatement and internal controls are not effective, the audi-
tor must perform more direct tests of transactions and account balances.

Sufficiency

The amount of evidence must be convincing and of sufficient quantity to con-
vince the individual auditor. Similarly, the evidence must stand on its own such
that another unbiased professional would reach the same conclusion. But, how
much is enough? To some extent, it is a matter of experienced audit judgment.
Statistical sampling can help determine how much evidence is enough based on
the quantification of audit judgments about materiality, audit risk, and sampling
risk, as discussed in Chapter 10.

Reliability of Audit Evidence

The reliability of audit evidence means that it is relevant to the audit objectives.
The Auditing Standards Board has established the following presumptions about the
reliability of audit evidence:
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More Reliable Less Reliable

Directly observable evidence Indirectly observable evidence

Evidence derived from a well-controlled Evidence derived from a poorly controlled system
information system or easily overridden information system

Evidence from independent outside Evidence from within the client’s organization
sources

Evidence exists in documentary form Verbal evidence not supported by documentation
Original documents Photocopies or facsimiles

The guidance presented by the Auditing Standards Board is common sense.
Evidence obtained directly by the auditor is preferable to that obtained indi-
rectly. Evidence from well-controlled information systems is preferable to that
from poorly controlled systems. Independent third-party evidence obtained from
knowledgeable individuals with adequate time and motivation to respond to
audit inquiries is preferable to internally generated information. Evidence sup-
ported by original documents is preferable to photocopied documents or verbal
evidence not supported by original documents. But some evidence better
addresses specific assertions, and there will always be a trade-off in each audit. For
example, if the auditor wishes to examine the estimate of warranty liabilities, it
is likely that most of the information resides internally—some in the client’s
accounting system and some in operational data.

Internal Documentation Internal documentation ranges from legal agree-
ments (leases, sales contracts, and royalty arrangements) to business documents
(purchase orders and receiving reports) to accounting documents (depreciation
schedules and standard cost system records) to planning and control documents
(original source documents such as time cards, inventory scrap reports, and
market research surveys). See Exhibit 5.6 for examples of internal documents.
The reliability of internal documentation varies according to the following:

e Effectiveness of internal controls
e Management motivation to misstate individual accounts (fraud potential)

e Formality of the documentation, such as acknowledgment of its validity by parties
outside the organization or independent of the accounting function

e Independence of those preparing the documentation from those recording the
transactions

Documentation may be paper-based or electronic. The quality of electronic
evidence depends on the controls built into the information system; in particu-
lar, it depends on whether access to documents is appropriately restricted. An
example of documentation is a personnel record containing data about an
employee’s pay rates, benefit packages, and wages paid. The document is prepared
by the payroll department but is subject to review by employees. It, therefore,
contains a higher degree of reliability than a document that is not independently
prepared or subject to review.

External Documentation External documentation is generally considered to
be highly reliable, particularly when the auditor receives it directly. Most exter-
nal documentation, however, is directed to the client. Therefore, in high-risk sit-
uations the auditor should confirm the validity of the documentation with the
pertinent outside party.

External documentation can vary in content, ranging from business docu-
ments normally found in the client’s possession (vendor invoices and monthly
statements), to confirmations received directly from the client’s legal counsel,
banker, or customer, to trade and credit information.

External documentation varies in reliability and is influenced by its formality,
its source, and its independence. When an auditor uses a confirmation as a form
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Examples of Internal Documents

Legal Documents Labor and fringe benefit agreements
Sales contracts
Lease agreements
Royalty agreements
Maintenance contracts

Business Documents Sales invoices
Purchase orders
Canceled checks
Payment vouchers
EDI agreements

Accounting Documents Estimated warranty liability schedules
Depreciation and amortization schedules
Standard cost computations and schedules
Management exception reports

Other Planning and Control Documents Employee time cards
Shipping and receiving reports
Inventory movement documents such as scrap reports and transfer receipts
Market research surveys
Pending litigation reports
Variance reports

Note: Many of the planning and control documents have analyses attached. Market research survey data usually appear as part of the market-
ing department’s opinion of new product potential; variance reports are accompanied by explanations of the causes of the variances and rec-
ommendations with respect to them. These analyses are generally considered to be testimonial rather than documentary evidence.

to gather external evidence, the auditor must also have some assurance that the
outside party treats the request in a conscientious fashion. See Exhibit 5.7 for a
partial list of external documentation examples.

One standard business document normally in the client’s possession is a vendor
invoice (see Exhibit 5.8). A vendor’s invoice shows the purchase price (cost) of

Examples of External Documents

Business Documents Vendor invoices and monthly statements
Customer orders
Sales or purchase contracts
Loan agreements
Other contracts

Third-Party Documents Confirmation letters from legal counsel
Confirmation statements from banks
Confirmation replies from customers
Vendor statements requested by auditors

General Business Information Industry trade statistics
Credit rating reports
Data from computer service bureaus
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Nature Sporting Goods Manufacturing Company
200 Pine Way
Kirkville, WI 53800
Phone (607) 255-3311 Fax (607) 256-1109

Sold To: Ship To: Invoice # 44779
Bain’s Sporting Goods Bain’s Sporting Goods Invoice Date 8/30/07
123 Lock Avenue 123 Lock Avenue PO # 32348
Cedar Rapids, lowa 52404 Cedar Rapids, lowa 52404
Shipped Via Terms: Account # 127000
Roadway 8/30/07 Net 30
Quantity Back Item Number & Unit
Ordered Shipped Ordered Description Price u/m Extension
125 125 0 T-332B 2-person tents 34.99 Each 4,373.75
50 50 (0] T-500Y Umbrella tents 55.75 Each 2,787.50
Freight Collect Comments: Sale 7,361.25
Tax
Finance charge of 1%%
per month on overdue invoices. Total 7,361.25

items in the client’s inventory, dates of invoice and shipment, payment and own-
ership terms, shipping address (inventory location), purchase order reference, pur-
chasing agent (evidence of authorization), and amount due (liability as well as asset
valuation evidence). Because a vendor invoice is formal, it is generally not altered
by clients, even though it is in the client’s possession. It is therefore considered reli-
able except for situations in which the auditor questions management’s integrity
and has assessed the client and account balance being tested as high risk.

Paper vs. Electronic Documentation Assume that all the information found in a
typical invoice shown in Exhibit 5.8 was not on a paper invoice, but was on an
electronic invoice received by the client via electronic commerce and was avail-
able only in electronic form in the client’s computer system. Would that make a
difterence to you? If yes, why would it make a difference? What safeguard con-
trols would have to be built into the computer system to conclude that the elec-
tronic document was a reliable representation of the client’s purchase, the
purchase price, the items and quantity purchased, and so forth?

A major challenge for auditors is to determine which electronic data have the
same degree of reliability as paper-based documents. Fortunately, computer sys-
tems can be designed to provide safeguards similar to those that surround paper-
based documents. Electronic commerce often is guided by contracts between
trading partners. As evidence is increasingly held in electronic form, auditors must
develop an understanding of the client’s computer system and the controls devel-
oped to safeguard electronic data from manipulation or accidental destruction.

Point

An increasing amount of evidence
is developed and maintained in
electronic form. The reliability of
the evidence is dependent on the
quality of internal controls over
computer access and document
development.
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Nature of Audit Testing

Direct tests of account balances and transactions are designed by determining the
most efficient manner to substantiate the assertions embodied in the account or
transactions. There are many alternatives open to the auditor in planning audit
tests. The following table summarizes some of those alternatives and provides an
example of each type of test.

Types of Audit Tests

Example

Purpose

Tests of
Effectiveness of
Internal Control

Dual Purpose Tests
(a combination of
tests of controls
and direct tests of
transactions)

Substantive Tests:
Analytical
Procedures

Direct Tests of
Account Balances

Direct Tests of
Transactions

a. Test a sample of cash disburse-
ments for evidence that vendor
invoices are matched with receiv-
ing reports and purchase orders
before authorizing payment.

b. Process test transactions
through the client’s computer
system to test the operation of
computer controls.

Same as tests of controls plus the
auditor matches the information
on the vendor’s invoice with the
receiving report and purchase
order and verifies that the appro-
priate account was charged for the
purchase (e.g., inventory, expense,
or equipment).

a. Calculate the number of day’s
sales in accounts receivable and
compare with prior years and
industry information.

b. Estimate depreciation expense

using the average of the beginning
and ending balances of a class of
equipment.

Confirm customer balances with a
sample of customers.

Select a sample of recorded sales
and vouch them back to evidence
the sale actually took place (evi-
dence of shipment and customer
orders).

a. Determine whether the controls
are effective and utilize in planning
an integrated audit of controls and
account balances.

b. Determine whether controls in
the application program work.

Determine whether the controls are
effective to help plan the nature,
timing, and extent of other audit
tests; and test the accuracy of
recording the related transactions.

a. Help determine whether
account relationships meet expec-
tations, including the possibility
that some of the receivables are
not collectible.

b. Establish the reasonableness
of depreciation expense. Further
testing may not be needed.

To test the existence and dollar
accuracy of account balances.

To test the occurance of sales
transactions.

The auditor’s task is to determine, for each significant component of the

financial statements and related assertions, what types of tests to perform, how
much to do, and when to perform them.

When directly testing an account balance or related transactions, the auditor
considers two basic types of evidence:

e The underlying accounting records, including evidence of controls, as well as support-
ing records such as checks, invoices, contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers;
journal entries; and worksheets supporting cost allocations, computations, reconcilia-
tions, and disclosures.
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Corroborating information that validates the underlying accounting records, such as
minutes of meetings, confirmations from independent parties, industry data, inquiry,
observation, physical examination, and inspection of documents.

Auditors have traditionally focused most audit procedures on the direct tests of

asset and liability account balances, as opposed to examining transactions during
the year, because:

There are usually fewer items in the ending balance than are contained in the transac-
tions that have taken place during the year. Most companies, for example, have fewer
items in ending inventory than the number of purchase and sales transactions
recorded during the year.

Reliable evidence, which can be gathered efficiently, usually exists for items making
up an ending balance more so than for transactions. Ending inventory can be physi-
cally observed, but goods sold are gone and cannot be observed.

There is a preference to focus on changes. For many long-term assets and liabilities,
and for owner equity accounts—such as fixed assets, bonds payable and contributed
capital—audit attention is often directed toward the changes in the account balances
during the year if the opening balances were audited the previous year.

In the remainder of this chapter we will focus on the nature of direct tests of

account balances and will develop an integrated approach to auditing both con-
trols and balances in the next two chapters.

Audit Procedures

Overview of Audit Procedures Audit procedures vary according to the risks
associated with the client and the methods used to record transactions. The fol-
lowing framework identifies audit approaches and procedures according to the
three major phases of the audit:

1.

Preliminary Planning and Risk Analysis

a. Review prior year audit work.

b. Review publicly available data about the organization.
c. Perform analytical procedures.

d. Inquire of management and employees.

e. Perform internal control walkthroughs.

. Understand and Test Internal Controls and System Processing

a. For all systems:
(1) Inquire of management and supervisory personnel.
Review system documentation and perform a “walk-through” of processes.
Observe system in operation.
Document process flow and control points.
Select transactions and trace through processing to determine if controls are
working properly.
b. Additional work for computerized systems:
(1) Test important computer controls such as input edit checks, access, and other
safeguarding controls.
(2) Use computer software to trace transactions through system.
(3) Use software to select transactions for further verification.

3. Test Account Balances or Other Business Measurements

a. Review of authoritative documents and client records:
(1) Vendor invoices and monthly statements.
(2) Receiving and shipping records.
(3) etc.
b. Testimonial evidence:
(1) Inquire of client personnel.
(2) Inquire of outside parties.



162

Chapter 5 Audit Evidence: A Framework

c. Auditor-generated evidence:
(1) Direct observation.
(2) Perform recomputations, including recalculations and mathematical tests.
(3) Reprocess transactions from origin to final records.
(4) Vouch transactions from final records back to origin.
(5) Physically examine assets.
(6) Perform analytical procedures.
(7) Auditor analysis through reasoning and examining integrated portions of the
evidence.

Each of these procedures has strengths and weaknesses that should be consid-
ered on each audit engagement. Some procedures are more persuasive than
others, some address specific management assertions, and all vary in the cost to
perform.The auditor looks at the relative weight of evidence from the three basic
phases of the audit, including the test of controls, and considers the costs of pro-
cedures and the persuasiveness of evidence needed for a particular account bal-
ance and related management assertion(s).

Directional testing involves testing balances primarily for either over- or
understatement and creates audit efficiency by taking advantage of the double-
entry bookkeeping system. Directional testing leads to audit efficiency because:

e Misstatements of some accounts are more likely to occur in one direction than the other.
For example, management may be more motivated to overstate sales and assets than to
understate them. Alternatively, a company is more likely to understate liabilities.

e Directional testing of an account balance provides evidence on a complementary set
of accounts. For example, testing accounts receivable for overstatement provides
evidence on the possible overstatement of sales.

e Some assertions are directional by nature. Existence assertions address overstatement,
whereas completeness assertions address understatement.

Following the concepts of directional testing, assets are most often tested for
overstatement. The tests of assets provide indirect evidence on the overstatement
of revenue and liabilities and potential understatement of other asset or expense
accounts. For example, if accounts receivable are overstated, it is likely that rev-
enue is overstated or cash is understated if the collection of the receivable has not
been recorded.

Similarly, testing liabilities for understatement provides indirect evidence on
the potential understatement of expenses or assets, or the potential overstatement
of revenue and other liabilities. For example, if there are unrecorded liabilities,
such as a failure to accrue payroll expense, the related payroll expense is under-
stated, and possibly inventory is understated if payroll costs are not properly allo-
cated to inventory.

Commonly Used Audit Procedures for Direct Tests of Account Balances
and Transactions A wide variety of audit procedures are used to perform direct
tests of account balances and transactions. The primary types of procedures used by
auditors include the following:

e (Qbservation of client personnel and procedures

® Physical examination of client assets

e Inquiries of client personnel

* (onfirmations with outside parties

e Examination of documents including internal and external documents and electronic
documents

e Recomputation or recalculation of data

e Reprocessing transactions by tracing documents from origination through accounting
records to the general ledger
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e Vouching of transactions by selecting recorded transactions and tracing backward
through accounting records to original documentation

e Analytical procedures

Observation Observation is the physical process of observing activities. It is most
often used to gain an understanding of a client’s processing system, including a
“walkthrough” of processes. It is very effective in understanding the nature of
processing. It is also a common practice to observe the client’s process of taking
physical inventory.

Although intuitively appealing, observation suffers from major limitations.
Observation of processing is rarely unobtrusive. Individuals who know they are
being observed typically act difterently than when not observed. There is also a
problem in generalizing the results. Observation of processing on one day does
not necessarily indicate how the transactions were processed on a different day.

Physical Examination Physical examination is useful in verifying the existence of
tangible assets and in identifying potential obsolescence or signs of wear and tear.
Although examining inventory establishes existence, it does not provide evidence
on completeness, ownership, or proper valuation. The inventory might be held on
consignment from others or be on consignment to others. Further, the auditor’s
physical examination of inventory does not provide evidence about the cost of
inventory items and may not uncover problems of obsolescence or quality control.

Inguiries of Client Personnel Inquiry is used extensively to gain an understand-
ing of the following:

e The accounting system

® Management's plans for such things as marketable investments, new products, disposal
of lines of business, and new investments

e Pending or actual litigation against the organization
e (Changes in accounting procedures or accounting principles

e Management’s assessment of the valuation of key accounts, such as the collectability
of accounts receivable or the salability of inventory

e Management’s or the controller's assessment of potential problems related to the audit

Inquiry is a strong source of evidence that can be corroborated through other
forms of audit evidence. Further, the strength of inquiry is strongly related to
management integrity and the business risk associated with the client.

Confirmations with Outside Parties Confirmations consist of sending an inquiry to
an outside party to corroborate information. The outside parties are asked to
respond directly to the auditor as to whether they agree or disagree with informa-
tion that is reflected in the client’s account. For example, outside parties are often
asked to confirm the amount that the client shows that the customer owes them.

Confirmations often include requests to legal counsel for an assessment of
current litigation and the client’s potential liability, letters to customers asking
whether they agree with the client’s accounts receivable records, and letters to
banks confirming bank balances and loans. In some cases, the auditor will con-
firm the terms of sales agreements or other contracts.

Although confirmations can be a strong source of evidence, auditors must not
rely on them unduly. If the auditor is utilizing confirmations with outside par-
ties, the auditor must gain assurance that the party:

e Exists

e Is able to respond objectively and independently

e Is likely to respond conscientiously, appropriately, and in a timely fashion
e Is unbiased in responding

Point

The PCAOB requires the use of
“walkthroughs” as an important
part of the auditor’s process of
evaluating internal control.
Walkthroughs represent a combina-
tion of inquiries, observations, and
physical examination.
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FOCUS ON FRAUD

Parmalat Confirmation Fraud

In the Parmalat fraud, the auditor confirmed the existence of of an actual Bank of America employee from another docu-
$3.2 billion cash in Parmalat’s account with the Bank of ment and put it on a copy of the confirmation form. A
America in New York. Unfortunately, the auditor put the con- Parmalat employee flew to New York from Italy just to mail

firmation letter in the client’s mail room and it was intercepted  that confirmation to the auditors. The cash did not exist!
by management. Management was able to scan the signature

Professional standards presume, but do not require, that the auditor separately
confirms accounts receivable. Often, however, the auditor complements confirma-
tions with other sources of evidence, such as the customer’s subsequent payment
of the outstanding balance, as persuasive evidence of the amount owed at year end.

Confirmations primarily address the existence assertion and only indirectly
address the valuation assertion. Confirmation that the customer owes an amount
to the client does not necessarily indicate that the client will collect the full amount
due (valuation) or that the receivable has not been sold to a third party (rights).
Finally confirmations must be sent independently of the client. (See the Focus on
Fraud—Parmalat Confirmation Fraud feature.)

Examination of Documents Much of the audit process depends on examining
documents—either in paper or electronic form. Documents exist in forms such
as invoices, payroll time cards, and bank statements. Auditors examine invoices
from suppliers, for example, to establish the cost and ownership of inventory or
various expenses. They also read contracts to help establish the potential exis-
tence of liabilities.

Recomputation or Recalculation of Data Auditors often find it useful to recalcu-
late a number of client computations. Recalculations include the following:

® Footing—Adding a column of figures to verify the correctness of the client’s totals

e (ross-footing—Checking the agreement of the cross-addition of a number of columns
of figures that sum to a grand total. (The sum of net sales and sales discounts should,
for example, equal total sales.)

e Tests of extensions—Recomputing items involving multiplication (for example, multi-
plying unit cost by quantity on hand to arrive at extended cost)

® Recalculating estimated accounts or allowances (recomputing the allowance for
doubtful accounts based on a formula related to the aging of accounts receivable
ending balances)

Although it may seem redundant in today’s computerized environment to
perform recalculations, some major frauds have been covered up by mathemati-
cal manipulation. There are many court cases involving auditors where the detail
in the records did not agree with the balances in the financial statements.
Moreover, many of the client’s estimated figures are derived from calculations
made using computer spreadsheets. Auditors can test the accuracy of the esti-
mates by recalculating them using an auditor-developed spreadsheet or evaluat-
ing the logic incorporated in the client’s spreadsheet.

Reprocessing of Transactions Reprocessing involves selecting a sample from a pop-
ulation of source documents and reprocessing them to be sure they have all been
properly recorded. For example, reprocessing would include taking a sample from
the client’s shipping records and tracing that sample through internal processes and
into the sales journal and general ledger (see Exhibit 5.9). Reprocessing provides
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Reprocessing and Tracing Sales Transactions

Customer Sales Journal
Orders &
Shipping
Records Vouching
(Tests for
Occurrence)

Reprocessing
(Tests for
Completeness)

General
Ledger

evidence that valid transactions have been recorded (completeness). Auditors often
use reprocessing to test the operation of controls. For example, when testing sales
transactions, the auditor might also examine whether controls involving credit
approval, sequencing of shipping documents, authorized billing prices, and so forth
are operating properly.

Vouching of Transactions Vouching is complementary to reprocessing. Vouching
involves taking a sample of already recorded transactions and tracing them back to
their original source. For example, a sample of items recorded in the sales journal is
traced back to shipping documents and customer orders (see Exhibit 5.9).Vouching
provides evidence on the assertion that recorded transactions are valid (occurrence).

Analytical Procedures Analytical procedures involve comparisons, either judg-
mentally or statistically, of data over time, across operating units, or between com-
ponents of the financial statements to develop insight concerning expected
relationships. If there are no unexpected differences and the organization has
good internal controls over financial reporting, the auditor may conclude that
little additional audit evidence needs to be examined. However, if there are
unexpected differences, the auditor will need to perform extensive additional
tests of the underlying account balance.

Application to Assertions An audit procedure may provide evidence for one or
more assertions affecting an account balance. The following table presents exam-
ples of procedures that address specific assertions regarding fixed assets and con-
tingencies. The procedures are organized according to the assertion and you
should note that some of the procedures cover more than one assertion. An audit
program consolidates the procedures to gain audit efficiency.

Fixed Assets Physical examination addresses the existence assertion for many
assets, including fixed assets. Vouching to vendor invoices helps establish existence,
ownership (rights), and the obligation to pay as well as establishing that what was
purchased was an asset, not an expense. Inquiry of management can help identity
the acquisition of assets that may not have been recorded (completeness) and the
unrecorded disposals of assets (existence). Examining the repairs and maintenance
expense account may uncover costs that should have been capitalized (complete-
ness). Recalculating depreciation expense or estimating depreciation expense using
analytical procedures helps determine the appropriateness of the book value of

Audit software can be used to

extract information from computer
records for subsequent processing,

to foot a file, and to calculate
inventory extended costs.



Chapter 5

Audit Evidence: A Framework

Existence

Completeness

Rights/
Obligations

Valuation/
Allocation

Fixed Assets

Contingencies
(pending
litigation)

Physically exam-
ine the assets

Vouch selected
new additions
to vendor’s
invoice to
determine it is
an asset not an
expense

Inquiry

Inquiry of man-
agement

Send confirma-
tion request to
legal counsel

Vouch repairs/
maintenance
expense to
determine if a
fixed asset was
inappropriately
expensed

Inquiry

Inquiry of man-
agement

Vouch legal
expense

Review nature of
legal services
to determine if
a liability might

Vouch to
vendor’s
invoice recog-
nizing owner-
ship

Review purchase
contracts

Inquiry of man-
agement

Confirmation
from legal
counsel

Examine pay-
ments related
to in-progress

Vouch to vendor’s
invoice to estab-
lish purchase
price

Recalculate
depreciation
expense

Estimate total
depreciation
using analytical
procedures

Inquiry of manage-
ment

Confirmation from
legal counsel

Review court
rulings

exist litigation

depreciable assets (valuation). Related notes to the financial statements should be
reviewed to ensure appropriate disclosures have been made by management.

Contingencies (Pending Litigation) Management is the primary source of infor-
mation concerning the existence of pending litigation, the probability of an
unfavorable outcome, and the potential amount of damages. Vouching major
legal expense transactions will help establish the reasons the client is paying
lawyers. This may identify litigation issues that need to be investigated for possi-
ble accrual and disclosure. Corroboration of management’s information is
obtained from the client’s legal counsel. The lawyers will be asked to comment
on the completeness and reasonableness of the information provided by man-
agement. Related notes to the financial statements should be reviewed to ensure
appropriate disclosures have been made by management.

Timing of Procedures In addition to determining which procedures to perform,
the auditor must determine when to perform them—as of or after the balance sheet
date, or at an interim date. Performing procedures prior to the balance sheet date
will allow earlier completion of the audit and require less overtime of the audit staff.
It may also meet management’s desire to distribute the financial statements shortly
after year end. However, performing the procedures at an interim date increases the
risk of material misstatements occurring between the interim date and the year-end
balance. The intervening period may require additional corroborating procedures if
unusual transactions are recorded in the interim period. The timing decision is usu-
ally based on the assessment of risk associated with the account, the effectiveness of
internal controls, the nature of the account, and the availability of audit staff.

When an organization has eftective internal controls over financial reporting,
the risk of misstatements occurring between the interim audit date and year end
is decreased. For example, if internal controls surrounding accounts receivable trans-
actions are effective, the auditor may decide to confirm balances with customers as
of a month prior to the balance sheet date and review subsequent transactions for
unusual entries. Customer balances can be compared between the confirmation
date and the balance sheet date to identity any that have significantly increased
and may warrant an additional confirmation.
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There are several accounts for which the auditor can more effectively and
efficiently test the transactions during the year rather than the final balance.
For example, if the beginning balances for property, plant, and equipment were
previously audited, the auditor will test the additions and disposals during the
year. A major portion of this testing can be done prior to the balance sheet date
and completed later. A similar approach can often be used for other non-current
assets, long-term debt, and owners’ equity transactions.

Extent of Procedures How much evidence is needed? Audit standards require
that the evidence gathered be persuasive. The persuasiveness is dependent on the
quality of the procedures and the amount of testing performed. The extent of
testing is affected by (a) risk of a misstatement, (b) materiality, and (c) persua-
siveness of the procedures performed. When the risk of material misstatements
in an account is high, more persuasive evidence is required. Individual auditor
judgment is required. However, auditors cannot tolerate significant differences in
individual judgments. Therefore, they promote consistent judgments through
training on determining sample sizes, review of evidence, and minimum require-
ments on direct testing of material account balances.

Audit Programs and Documenting
Audit Evidence

Audit Program Development

Audit procedures are designed to gather evidence regarding management’s asser-
tions on the effectiveness of internal control and the fairness of financial state-
ment presentations. An audit program specifies the audit objectives; the
procedures that should be followed in gathering, documenting, and evaluating
audit evidence; and the auditor’s reasoning process in reaching an audit conclu-
sion. Audit programs address issues such as how many transactions need to be
examined, or what population should be sampled to determine the validity of a
particular account balance. The auditor makes decisions on the best combination
of procedures to use in testing assertions for each client.

Consider the Pioneer Hi-Bred inventory of seed corn example at the begin-
ning of the chapter. Physical examination of corn held in storage provides evi-
dence on the existence and condition of the corn, but not its ownership or
valuation. Examination of purchase documents provides evidence of ownership
and valuation because the documents indicate the cost of the purchases as well
as transfer of ownership to the company. An examination of current market con-
ditions provides evidence on marketability and indicates whether there may be a
permanent decline in inventory value. Examination of year-end shipping and
receiving documents provides evidence on the proper cutoff of transactions.
Finally, reading the footnotes to the financial statements will help the auditor
determine whether footnotes are properly disclosed.

However, the procedures identified only partially address the question: “What is
the optimal amount and type of evidence to be gathered?” Pioneer will have its
inventory stored in hundreds of storage sites all around the world. It would be very
costly to visit each site. How should the auditor determine which sites to visit, or
how many sites should be visited? There are two answers. First, part of the auditor’s
inferences about the correctness of the inventory account comes from an overall risk
analysis. Analytical procedures can help the auditor determine whether the overall
inventory account is likely to be over- or understated. The auditor can use analyti-
cal procedures to compare corn storage across all storage locations and identify any
locations that seem out of line. Second, the quality of the internal controls will affect
the extent of direct testing needed. If internal controls are effective and the infor-
mation system reliable, the auditor can sample the locations to visit and documents
to examine. The better the controls, the smaller the sample; the poorer the controls,
the larger the sample and more persuasive the direct tests have to be.

Point

Evidence is persuasive only when
other trained professionals in the
field would reach a similar conclu-
sion of the audit inference based
only on the evidence examined.
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Most auditors use computers and
data files that are shared among
the audit team. Thus, most of the
audit evidence exists in electronic
form and must be saved and backed
up for subsequent review.

Chapter 5 Audit Evidence: A Framework

Documenting Audit Evidence

Auditors like to assume that their work will never be questioned; but that is not
the case. It is important that evidence shows that each audit is carefully planned,
the process of gathering and evaluating evidence is properly documented, and the
auditor’s conclusions and reasoning process be properly documented. The docu-
mentation of audit work needs to stand on its own: it should be possible for an
experienced auditor to evaluate the evidence independently of the individuals
who performed the audit and reach the same conclusion.

Audit documentation, paper and/or electronic, should typically include the
following:

e Evidence of planning, including the audit program
e The client’s trial balance and any auditor adjustments to it
e (opies of selected internal and external documents

® Memos describing the auditor’s approach to gathering evidence and the reasoning
process in support of account balances

e Results of analytical procedures and tests of client records
e Auditor-generated analysis of account balances

Together, these items serve as the primary evidence in support of audit con-
clusions. A key aspect of good audit documentation is that it should enable some-
one to (a) clearly understand the work performed, who performed it, and when
it was performed; and (b) repeat the work performed to verify audit conclusions.
Audit documentation will contain confidential information about the client that

should be safeguarded.

Revisions and Retention of Audit Documentation Audit documentation should
be completed and assembled within 60 days following the audit report release
date. After that date, the auditor must not delete or discard audit documentation
before the end of the retention period of at least five years. Occasionally, because
of an internal or external quality review process, it may be determined that pro-
cedures considered necessary were omitted from the audit or the auditor subse-
quently becomes aware of information related to financial statements that have
already been issued. The auditor should then perform any necessary procedures
and make the necessary changes to the audit documentation.

Audit Planning Documentation The planning process lays the foundation for
the audit and should be carefully documented. Interviews with key executives
should be summarized with implications clearly drawn for the conduct of the
audit. Analytical procedures should be documented with a clear identification of
accounts requiring special audit attention. The auditor’s assessment of material-
ity, overall audit approach, and personnel needed should also be summarized. The
documentation serves an important planning function for the audit; it also serves
as evidence that the auditors took their responsibilities seriously in evaluating
potential problems or special circumstances involved in, or related to, the audit.

The Audit Program An audit program specifies the actual procedures to be per-
formed in gathering audit evidence and provides a space to indicate the success-
ful completion of each step in an audit program. The audit program is the single
most important piece of documentation in an audit engagement and provides an effec-
tive means for:

¢ Organizing and distributing audit work

e Monitoring the audit process and progress

e Recording the audit work performed

e Reviewing the completeness and persuasiveness of procedures performed
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Standard Audit Program for Accounts Receivable

AUDIT OBJECTIVES

1. Determine that accounts receivable are authentic obligations owed to the company (existence, rights).

2. Verify that accounts receivable include all amounts owed to the company (completeness).

3. Determine that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate but not excessive. Determine that all significant doubtful accounts
have been written off (valuation).

4. Verify that pledged, discounted, or assigned accounts receivable are properly disclosed. Related-party receivables are properly dis-
closed (presentation and disclosure).

5. Determine that accounts receivable are appropriately classified in the balance sheet (presentation).

Audit Procedures Performed by Ref

1. Test the accuracy and competence of the underlying accounting records by
footing the accounts receivable file and agreeing it to the general ledger.

2. Take a sample of recorded accounts receivable balances and confirm the
balances with the customers (existence, valuation, rights).

3. Vouch aging details to supporting documents, discuss collectibility of
receivables with responsible officials, and review correspondence with
customers (valuation).

4. Analyze allowance for doubtful accounts; compare to past history and
industry trends to determine adequacy (valuation).

5. Take a sample of recorded receivables and prepare a list of subsequent
cash receipts to determine if they are fully paid before the end of the
audit (existence, valuation, rights).

6. Verify cutoff for sales, cash receipts, and returns by examining transactions
near the end of the year (completeness, existence).

7. Determine adequacy of disclosure of related-party, pledged, discounted, or
assigned receivables (presentation).

Most audit firms have standardized audit programs that can be modified to Point
correspond to a client’s unique features. For example, the audit of accounts
receivable in many commercial enterprises is about the same, but may differ in  Once the audit programs have been
regards to specific processing or credit terms of the audit client. The differences  developed, they may need to be
affect the selection of procedures and sample sizes to be taken. Standardized audit ~ modified to address unexpected
programs are designed to address the assertions embodied within each particular ~ Pproblems or issues that arise.
account and are expected to be modified, as necessary, for individual clients. A
partial audit program for accounts receivable is presented in Exhibit 5.10.

Copies of Documents Some client documents are of such importance that a copy
should be included in the audit documentation. Such documents usually have legal
significance, such as lease agreements, bond covenant agreements, significant por-
tions of the board of directors’ minutes, government correspondence regarding
client investigations, and loan agreements. Responses to the auditor’s confirmation
requests for accounts receivable, pending litigation, or bank loans are examples of
documents from outside parties that are retained. Finally, management representa-
tions are formally documented in a management representation letter.

Aunditor-Generated Memos Auditors piece evidence together and reach an opin-
ion as to whether a particular account balance is fairly stated. The auditor’s
reasoning process in assembling and analyzing evidence is important and should
be documented.
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Electronic audit documentation is
often used because of the ability
to download client data and per-
form fairly simple calculations such
as footing or cross-footing data.
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Characteristics of Good Audit Documentation Audit documentation serves as the
primary evidence of an audit. Well-developed audit documentation contains the
following:

e A heading that includes the name of the audit client, an explanatory title, and the
balance sheet date

e The initials or electronic signature of the auditor performing the audit test and the
date the test was completed

e The initials or electronic signature of the manager or partner who reviewed the docu-
mentation and the date the review was completed

e A description of the tests performed and the findings
e Tick marks and legend indicating the nature of the work performed by the auditor

e An assessment of whether the tests indicate the possibility of material misstatement
in an account

e An index to identify the location of papers
e A cross-reference to related documentation, when applicable

The public accounting firm must have a policy on the length of time docu-
mentation should be retained. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that the audit
documentation for audits of public companies be retained for at least seven years.

An example of an audit document used as the basis to document the per-
formance of a price test on a client’s inventory is shown in Exhibit 5.11. The
documentation indicates the tests performed, the source of evidence examined,

Working Paper for Inventory Price Test

C-1/3
CMI Manufacturing Company Prepared by: ACM
Inventory Price Test Date: 7/27/08
Year Ended December 31, 2007 Reviewed by: 323
Item Cost Per Extended
No. Item Name Quantity Unit Cost
4287 Advanced Micro stamping machine 22% $5,128+ 112,816.00%
5203 1/4 HP electric motor 10* $39+1 390.00%
2208 Assembly kit for motor housing 25% $12+ 300.00%
1513 Micro stamping machine, Model 25 200* $2,100t 420,000.00%
0068 Rack & Pinion component 300* $42+ 12,600.00+
8890 Repair kits for stamping machines 1,000* $48+t 48,000.00%+
Total value of items tested 594,106.00
Items not tested 1,802,000.00
Balance per general ledger 2,396,106.00§
FT/B

Sampled items were selected utilizing a dollar unit sampling technique with materiality set at $50,000, and internal control judged to be good.

Tick Mark Legend:

*Quantities agree with client physical inventory tested earlier.

TTraced to client’s standard cost system that was independently tested. Amount agrees with client’s standard cost.

FTested extension, no exceptions.

§ Footed, no exceptions; agrees with trial balance.

Conclusion: In my opinion, the pricing and clerical accuracy of inventory is proper.
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and the conclusion of the audit tests. It also indicates the dollar amounts tested
and those not tested. If exceptions had been noted, the auditor would have doc-
umented them and would have projected the potential misstatement to the total
account balance to determine whether the work might indicate material mis-
statements in the account balance.

Example of Audit Program to Directly Test Account Balances An audit
program starts with audit planning and risk analysis. The auditor assesses the risk
and determines how much testing of internal controls needs to be performed
and how much direct testing of account balances should be performed.

We illustrate the design of an audit program by examining the inventory
account of Shirt Shak Stores, Inc. For illustration purposes, we focus only on the
direct tests of inventory and wait to examine internal control tests in subsequent
chapters. Shirt Shak is a retailer of swimwear, water sport equipment, and gifts
with several locations along the Florida coast. Its home office is in Cocoa Beach
and serves as the central purchasing and distribution center. The inventory
account represents assertions made by management as to the existence, com-
pleteness, ownership, and valuation of the inventory.

An example of an audit program for the direct testing of inventory is shown in
Exhibit 5.12. The audit program is based on these assumptions: (1) the company
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Example of an Audit Program

Shirt Shak Stores, Inc.
Audit of Inventory, Year Ended December 31, 2007

Audit Procedures

Done by

Ref

1. General
a. Review industry trends and determine potential implications for the
realizability of Shirt Shak’s inventory.
b. Inquire of management regarding any changes in lines of business
or product mix that may affect inventory
c. Review prior year documentation to identify problem areas and determine
the potential effect on this year’s audit.

2. Planning

a. Perform an analytical review of inventory by product line and by location to
determine whether there are any significant changes from the prior period.

b. Perform a cross-sectional analysis of inventory by store to identify any
outliers. If there are outliers, include them in step 3a.

c. Inquire of management as to whether any product lines have been disposed
of or added.

d. Inquire of management as to whether there have been any significant pricing
or other changes that may affect the valuation of inventory.

e. Determine the location of computer records and the computer applications
and file structures on which inventory data are located.

f. Determine the need for specialized personnel, either computer audit or
inventory specialists.

3. Audit Procedures
a. Select specific locations including the distribution center and any outliers
identified in 2b. Take a statistical sample of items at those locations from
the client’s perpetual inventory records, and do the following:
(1) Identify the location of the items, observe their existence, and count
them. Statistically analyze any exceptions and determine whether the

(continued)
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Example of an Audit Program (continued)

Audit Procedures Done by Ref

exceptions could lead to a material error in the inventory account
balance (existence).

(2) For items selected, observe their condition and determine whether they
appear to be in saleable condition (valuation).

b. Using a computerized audit program (such as ACL), do the following:

(1) Foot the inventory file and verify that it agrees with the general
ledger (valuation).

(2) Select a statistical sample for performing price tests by examining
purchase documents (valuation).

(3) Compute inventory turnover by product and prepare a printout of any
product whose turnover is less than 6. Inquire of management as to the
possibility that the goods cannot be sold (valuation).

(4) Based on previous tests that show net realizable value to be 93% of
sales price, compute net realizable value by multiplying sales price by
0.93 and prepare a printout of all items for which net realizable value is
less than cost. Determine the amount of write-down needed to reflect
LOCOM (valuation).

(5) Verify extensions by multiplying quantity by cost for all items (valuation).

c. For the items selected in 3b (2), perform price tests by tracing the product FIFO
cost per the printout to the latest purchases.

(1) Note and statistically analyze any exceptions and project the results to the
population as a whole.

(2) Based on the exceptions, determine whether there is any pattern to the errors
such that they might be isolated to a particular time period, product, or location.

(3) Based on the exceptions and any pattern to the errors found, determine
whether there is an unacceptable risk of material error existing in the
account balance. If such a risk exists, consult with the partner in charge
regarding the expansion of audit tests.

(4) Determine the ownership of the items by inspecting relevant purchase
documents, receiving documents, and other related documentation.

d. Observe the receiving and sales cutoff procedures of the client to determine
that all goods are recorded in the proper period. Obtain the last number of
receiving documents at the distribution center. Review the December and January
purchases journal to determine that all purchases have been recorded in the
proper time period (cutoff, completeness, existence).

e. Review the client’s presentation of the balance sheet inventory items and
related footnotes for completeness and accuracy of presentation (disclosure).

4. Completion

a. Perform an analytical review of inventory by comparing current year inventory
by product line with previous inventory levels in relation to sales. Determine
whether there are any large or unusual increases in inventory that have not
been adequately explained. Determine the extent to which our investigation
ought to be extended.

b. Formulate an opinion on the fairness of the financial statement presentation.
Document that conclusion and the adequacy of the testing performed on
inventory in a memo to be included in the inventory file.



Auditing Account Balances Affected by Management’s Estimates

has effective internal control, (2) the inventory is relatively homogenous and is
valued according to the FIFO cost assumption, and (3) the client’s records are com-
puterized. The auditor has previously tested purchase and sales transactions and has
determined that they have been appropriately recorded in the inventory accounts.
The audit program does not indicate the sample size for items selected.
Determining the appropriate sample size is covered in Chapter 10.

Auditing Account Balances Affected
by Management’s Estimates

Many account balances are based on information gathered related to making
estimates, appraisals, or other management assumptions. These accounts include
estimated warranty liability, allowance for doubtful accounts or loan loss reserves,
pension costs and liabilities, evaluations of fixed assets, and analysis of goodwill
for possible impairment. Although based on management judgments, those
judgments should be based on objective, verifiable data that support the esti-
mates. Unfortunately, accounting estimates have too often been subject to earn-
ings manipulation. (See the Earnings Management feature.) Auditors must take
special care in evaluating the reasonableness of these estimates.

Evidence

There is usually objective data that can be gathered in evaluating accounting esti-
mates. Auditors should find out and evaluate the processes used by management
in making its estimates. The results of management processes can be tested. For
example, actual warranty costs or bad debt write-offs can be compared with the
estimates over recent years to determine the reasonableness of the estimates.
When making these comparisons, changes in product quality or economic con-
ditions need to be considered.

Estimates that are based on industry-wide or economy-wide trends need to
be independently evaluated. For example, the earnings assumptions related to
returns on pension funds are based on how well stocks are doing within the
economy and predicted performance in the future. Other pension data include
actuarial reports on life expectancies and benefits. The auditor ought to review
economic reports, actuarial reports, and other data for consistency with other
clients and with other companies in the same industry.

EARNINGS MANAGEMENT
“General Motors, Ford Offset Losses by Dipping into Cookie-Jar Funds”

The Wall Street Journal reported the following:

General Motors Acceptance Corp (GMAC), the credit arm of General Motors, and Ford Motor Credit, the credit arm of Ford Motor Company, must
establish reserves to cover bad loans, such as foreclosures or repossessions. They have flexibility with these rainy-day funds and have allowed
their loan-loss reserves to dwindle during 2005. The auto makers each lost more than $1.3 billion in the third quarter of 2005 in their world-wide
automotive operations. GMAC reduced its reserves through the first three quarters of 2005 by $525 million that helped boost GMAC'’s pretax
profit by nearly 20% for the year. Ford Motor Credit’s reserves fell $1.85 billion between 2002 and 2004 and another $813 million during the

first three quarters of 2005.

The Wall Street Journal also reported that the reserves (allowance for uncollectible accounts) had decreased even though (a) the
amount of total loans were increasing, and (b) economic signs pointed to a downturn for the portion of the economy that held those
loans. The Journal was questioning whether the estimates were realistic assumptions or ploys to meeting earnings objectives.
General Motors and Ford responded that their previous estimates were too high and that these changes just brought the estimates
more in line. The auditor has to determine which “story” is correct before signing off on audit reports, i.e. the estimates should be

reasonable based on the data available at the time of the audit engagement.

Source: The Wall Street Journal Online, November 22, 2005.
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Asset impairment is based on either appraisals of current market value or estimates
of future cash flows. If appraisals are done by professional appraisers, the auditor
should determine the qualifications and reputation of the appraisers. Estimates of
future cash flows provided by management need to be analyzed for the reasonable-
ness of the assumptions and consistency with current and predicted future results.

Importance of Quality Review

Audits of corporations subject to SEC regulation (public companies) must be
subjected to a concurring (independent) partner review before the audit
report is issued. Such reviews are also a good idea for all audits. The concurring
partner should be a partner who is not otherwise involved in the audit, but who
has knowledge of the client’s business and industry. The purpose of this review is
to help ensure that the evidence documented adequately supports the audit
opinion. It serves as a double check on the quality of the audit.

Summary

Each audit is unique, but the approach to all audits is essentially the same. Implicit
assumptions exist in financial statements. These assumptions are embodied in the
form of assertions that are directly tested during an audit. The strength of any
particular audit depends on the relevance and reliability of the evidence gath-
ered. Relevance is determined by the assertions tested; that is, some evidence will
be relevant to an existence assertion but only tangentially relevant to a valuation
assertion. Reliability relates to the quality of the evidence gathered and is affected
by the independence of the evidence from the influence of the client or by the
quality of the client’s overall control structure. The auditor uses the risk assess-
ments discussed in previous chapters to assist in determining the potential
reliance on internally generated audit evidence. An effective audit combines rel-
evant and persuasive audit evidence to provide reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free of material misstatement when the auditor renders
an opinion on the financial statements. It is also important to perform each audit
as efficiently as possible without jeopardizing quality. Determining the suffi-
ciency of evidence is a matter of professional judgment. This judgment can be
assisted by the use of statistical sampling, described in Chapter 10.

Significant Terms

audit documentation The primary documentation expenses for overstatement, and liabilities and rev-

of the work performed by the auditor; documents the
items sampled, the work done, the conclusions reached,
the auditor performing the tests, the date completed,
and the auditor’s assessment of potential misstatements
in the account balance tested.

concurring partner review A review of the audit
conducted by a partner not otherwise involved in the
audit to help assure that the evidence in the documen-
tation adequately supports the audit report.

directional testing An approach to testing account
balances that considers the type of misstatement likely
to occur in the account balance and the correspon-
ding evidence provided by other accounts that have
been tested. The auditor normally tests assets and

enues for understatement, because (1) the major risks
of misstatements on those accounts are in those direc-
tions, or (2) tests of other accounts provide evidence
of possible misstatements in the other direction.

evidence The underlying accounting data and all
corroborating information utilized by the auditor to
gain reasonable assurance as to the fairness of an entity’s
financial statements.

relevance of audit evidence Evidence that per-
tains to the assertion(s) of the account being tested.

reliability of audit evidence A key characteristic
of the evidence that must be evaluated by the auditor in
determining the persuasiveness of the evidence-gather-
ing procedures.
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Review Questions

5-1
5-2

5-3

5-4

5-5

5-6

5-7

5-10

5-11

5-12

5-13

5-14

What is “audit evidence”? Describe the basic sources of audit evidence.

What are the three basic decisions auditors must make concerning
audit evidence during the planning process?

Explain the importance of audit assertions for financial statement
audits. Define each of the following types of assertions:

* Existence

e Occurrence

* Completeness

* Cutoff

* Accuracy

* Rights and obligations

* Valuation or allocation

* Understandability

The valuation assertion is often difficult to audit. Identify all the com-
ponents of the valuation assertion for short-term investments in mar-
ketable securities.

The third standard of fieldwork requires the auditor to gather sufficient
appropriate evidence to afford a reasonable basis for an opinion regard-
ing the financial statements. What are the basic presumptions about the
reliability of audit evidence?

Are the concepts of reliability of evidence and audit risk interrelated,
or are they two separate concepts? For example, could the auditor
accept less reliable audit evidence for an engagement in which audit
risk has been set high as opposed to an engagement in which audit
risk has been set lower than normal? Explain.

Explain how the following transaction assertions are related to the
account balance assertions:

Transaction Assertions Account Balance Assertions
a. Cutoff Existence and Completeness
b. Classification Existence and Completeness
c. Accuracy Valuation and Allocation

Discuss the relative reliability and usefulness of internal and external
documentation. Give two examples of each.

‘What 1s directional testing? How can the concept of directional testing
assist the auditor in attaining audit efficiency?

Explain how testing an asset account for overstatement provides evi-
dence on potential overstatements of revenue and understatement
of expenses. [llustrate using accounts receivable and inventory as
examples.

‘Which assertions are best tested by observation? What are the relative
strengths and weaknesses of observation as an audit procedure?

Are inquiries of management considered reliable evidence? Under
what conditions and for what assertions would inquiry of management
be considered reliable evidence?

Is paper-based evidence more reliable than the same evidence gener-
ated through EDI and stored on a computer system? Explain. Under
what conditions is electronically stored evidence as reliable as paper-
based evidence?

What is the difference between reprocessing a transaction and
vouching a transaction? What underlying assertion does each test
address?
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5-15

5-16

5-17

5-18
5-19

5-20

5-21

5-22

5-23

5-24

5-25

Assuming that the client has external documentation on hand, such as
correspondence with its lawyers or payments from its customers, why
is sending confirmations to those same parties considered necessary?

Confirmations at times may be unreliable even if they involve external
documentation. What assumptions should the auditor address concern-
ing confirmations before concluding that utilizing confirmations will
result in reliable audit evidence?

Why is it generally more efficient to test ending account balances
rather than testing transactions throughout the year? Explain why the
efficiency might change in a computerized environment with eftective
internal controls.

‘What are the purposes of an audit program?

What are the important considerations (judgments) that determine
what is included in an audit program?

What is audit documentation? What key components should each
audit document contain?

Is a memo that explains the rationale for an auditor’s conclusion
about the correctness of an account balance considered an audit
document?

Many organizations are consciously eliminating paper documents by
integrating their computer system with those of their suppliers and
customers. Paper documents, such as purchase orders, are being
replaced by machine-generated purchase orders. How is this change in
documentation likely to affect the audit approach for such clients?
Explain and give an example.

‘What 1s meant by the phrase, “Audit documentation ought to stand on
its own”? What is the importance of this concept?

Assume an auditor wishes to estimate an account balance by reference
to outside data or other information generated from outside the
accounting system. Under what conditions would such a procedure
generate reliable audit evidence?

What 1s a concurring partner review, and what is its purpose?

Multiple-Choice Questions

5-26

The auditor wishes to gather evidence to test the assertion that the

client’s capitalization of leased equipment assets is properly valued.

Which of the following sources of evidence will the auditor find to be

the most persuasive (most reliable and relevant)?

a. Direct observation of the leased equipment.

b. Examination of the lease contract and recomputation of capitalized
amount and current amortization.

c. Confirmation of the current purchase price for similar equipment
with vendors.

d. Confirmation of the original cost of the equipment with the lessor.

*¥5-27 Which of the following is the least persuasive documentation in sup-

port of an auditor’s opinion?

a. Schedules of details of physical inventory counts conducted by the
client.

b. Notation of inferences drawn from ratios and trends.

* All questions marked with an asterisk are adopted from the Uniform CPA Examination.



5-28

5-29

5-30

*5-31

*5-32

5-33

Multiple-Choice Questions

c. Notation of appraisers’ conclusions in the auditor’s documentation.
d. Lists of confirmations and the nature of responses received from the
client’s customers.

An auditor determines that management integrity is high, the risk of
account misstatements is low, and the client’s internal controls are
effective. Which of the following conclusions can be reached regarding
the need to perform direct tests of account balances?

a. Direct tests should be limited to material account balances, and the
extent of testing should be sufficient to corroborate the auditor’s
assessment of low risk.

b. Direct tests of account balances are not needed.

c. Direct tests of account balances are necessary if audit risk was set
at a low level, but are not necessary if audit risk was set at a high
level.

d. Direct tests should be performed on all account balances to inde-
pendently verify the correctness of the financial statements.

A test of inventory for overstatement provides corresponding evi-
dence on:

Cost of Goods Sold ~ Revenue Accounts Payable
a. Overstatement Overstatement Understatement
b. Understatement Overstatement Overstatement
c. Understatement Understatement Understatement
d. Overstatement Overstatement Overstatement

Observation is considered a reliable audit procedure but one that is

limited in its usefulness. Which of the following does not represent a

limitation of the use of observation as an audit technique?

a. Individuals may act differently when being observed than they do
otherwise.

b. It is rarely sufficient to satisfy any assertion other than existence.

c. It can provide an overview of the client’s processing, but that pro-
cessing may be different than the client’s procedures specify.

d. It is difficult to generalize from one observation as to the correct-
ness of processing throughout the period under audit.

Confirmation is most likely to be a relevant form of evidence with
regard to assertions about accounts receivable when the auditor has
concern about the receivables’

a. Valuation

b. Classification

c. Existence

d. Completeness

An auditor would most likely verify the interest earned on short-term

bond investments by:

a. Examining the receipt and deposit of interest checks.

b. Confirming the bond interest rate with the issuer of the bonds.

c. Recomputing the interest earned on the basis of face amount, inter-
est rate, and period held.

d. Recomputing interest according to the face of the bond and adjust-
ing by a bond discount or premium amortization.

An auditor observes inventory held by the client and notes that some
of the inventory appears to be old, but in good condition. Which of
the following conclusions is justified by the audit procedure?
I.  The older inventory is obsolete.
II. The inventory is owned by the company.
III. Inventory needs to be reduced to current market value.

a. T only

b. II only
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5-34

c. T'and III only
d. I only

Which of the following statements is not true concerning the auditor’s

documentation?

a. The auditor should document the reasoning process and conclu-
sions reached for significant account balances even if audit tests
show no exceptions.

b. Documentation review is facilitated if a standard documentation
format is utilized.

c¢. Audit documents should cross-reference other documents if the
other documents contain work that affects the auditor’s overall
assessment of an account balance contained in the documentation.

d. The client should not prepare documentation schedules for the
auditor even if the auditor independently tests them.

Discussion and Research Questions

5-35

5-36

(Financial Statement Assertions for a Liability Account)
Accounts Payable is generally one of the larger, and most volatile, lia-
bility accounts to audit. However, the auditor can use the assertion
approach developed in this chapter to develop an overall audit pro-
gram for accounts payable.

Assume that you are auditing the Accounts Payable account for
Appleton Electronics, a wholesaler of hardware equipment.You can
assume that the company has good internal controls and is not desig-
nated as a high risk audit client. You are the continuing auditor.
During the previous audit, adjustments were made regarding Accounts
Payable, but none of them were considered material.

Required

a. Identify the financial statement assertions that apply to Accounts
Payable.

b. For each assertion identified, list two or three types of audit evi-
dence that would address the assertion and the procedures used to
gather the audit evidence. Organize your answer as follows:

Financial Statement Assertion — Audit Evidence and Procedures

c. How would the evidence-gathering procedures be aftected if you
had assessed the client as a high risk client because (1) there are
questions of management integrity, (2) the company is in a perilous
financial situation, and (3) the company has inadequate internal
controls? Be specific in your answer, explaining what additional
evidence, or alternative types of evidence, you would gather.

(Financial Statement Assertions) Several of the financial statement
assertions are interrelated.

Required

a. For each of the following, indicate what transaction assertion is
violated and describe the aftect on related account balance asser-
tions and, where appropriate, on the disclosure assertions.

1. Sales shipped FOB destination are recorded when shipped.
Some of these are in transit at the balance sheet date.

2. An inventory purchase shipped FOB shipping point is in transit
at the balance sheet date. The client records the purchase when
the shipment is received.

3. Certain repair costs that should be expensed are capitalized.

4. No loss is recorded or disclosed for a pending lawsuit against
the client that is material, probable, and can be estimated.
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5. Sales shipped FOB shipping point are recorded before the bal-
ance sheet date but not shipped until after the balance sheet
date.

6. Wages earned but not paid by the balance sheet date are not
recorded.

7. Some checks in payment of accounts payable are recorded
before the balance sheet date but not mailed until after the bal-
ance sheet date.

8. Collections from customers received after the balance sheet date
are recorded as of the balance sheet date.

9. A capital lease is improperly accounted for as an operating lease.

10. A $56,000 sale on account near year end was recorded at $65,000.
b. Under what circumstances might the recording of FOB destination
sales that are in transit at the balance sheet date be acceptable to the
auditor?
c. Do all of the items in part (a) affect net income? Explain.

5-37 (Procedures and Assertions—Inventory) You are planning the audit
of the Pagemate Company’s inventory. Pagemate manufactures a variety
of office equipment.

Required
Describe how each of the following procedures could be used in the
audit of inventory and the related assertion(s) it tests:

Procedure How used Assertion(s) tested
Observation

Physical Examination

Inquiry

Confirmation

Examination of Documents

Recomputation

Reprocessing

Vouching

Analytical Procedures

5-38 (Classification and Reliability of Audit Evidence) The following
are examples of documents typically obtained by auditors.

Required

For each example:

a. Classify the document as internal or external evidence.

b. Classify the document as to its relative reliability (high, moderate,
or low).

c. Identify an account balance and related assertion(s) for which the
auditor might use the document.

Documentary Evidence Utilized in an Audit:

Vendor invoices

Vendor monthly statements

Sales invoices

Shipping documents for sales

Bank statements

Employee payroll time cards

Receiving reports for goods received from vendors

Sales contracts

Purchase commitment contracts

Lease agreements

. Estimated warranty schedules

. Purchase order stored on client computer and received by EDI
. Credit rating reports

. Vendor invoice stored on client computer and received by EDI
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5-39

5-40

5-41

(Reliability of Audit Evidence) In this chapter, several difterent
kinds of audit evidence were identified. The following questions con-
cern the reliability of audit evidence.

Required

a. Explain why confirmations are normally considered more reliable
than inquiries of the client. Under what situations might the opposite
hold true?

b. Give three examples of reliable documentation and three exam-
ples of less reliable documentation. What characteristics distin-
guish them?

c. Explain why physical examination is considered strong, but limited,
evidence. Under what circumstances would the auditor’s physical
examination of inventory be considered of limited use?

d. Identify characteristics of internal evidence that would lead the
auditor to assess its reliability as high.

e. Explain why tests of details may be more reliable than analytical
procedures.

f. Explain how analytical procedures might lead to insight about the
correctness of an account balance that might not be obtained
through tests of details.

g. Identify three instances when an auditor is likely to use recomputa-
tion as audit evidence. Why is it important that recomputation take
place? Is an auditor-prepared spreadsheet a recomputation or an
independent estimate of an account balance? Explain.

(Account Relationships and Audit Efficiency) One way that the
auditor might achieve audit efficiency is to recognize the interrelation-
ship between accounts. In many situations, evidence gathered in audit-
ing a balance sheet account (asset, liability, or equity) can be easily
expanded to audit a related income statement account.

Required

a. For each of the following accounts:

1. Identify one or more related accounts that could be audited effi-
ciently by expanding on the audit evidence gathered during the
audit of the account.

2. Identity how the evidence gathered from auditing the balance
sheet account could be used in auditing the related income,
equity, or expense account.

b. Explain why auditors generally consider it more efficient to directly
test a year-end balance sheet account rather than testing transactions
during the year. Does this mean that auditors do not need to test
the transactions that make up an account balance; that is, they need
to test only the year-end balance? Explain your answer in terms of
the reliability and persuasiveness of audit evidence.

Account Balances Audited

. Marketable Equity Securities

. Bond Payable

. Property, Plant, and Equipment

. Equity Method Investments

. Capitalized Leases

. Capitalized Lease Obligations

. Notes Payable

. Estimated Warranty Liability (Reserve)
. Preferred Stock

(Complementary Effect of Audit Tests) With the double-entry
accounting system, testing one account balance produces audit evi-
dence concerning another account balance or class of transactions. For
example, testing for overstatement of current marketable 